Portland State University PDXScholar

Dissertations and Theses

Dissertations and Theses

Spring 6-10-2014

Exploring Capability Maturity Models and Relevant Practices as Solutions Addressing IT Service Offshoring Project Issues

Rosine Hanna Salman Portland State University

Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Follow this and additional works at: https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/open_access_etds Part of the <u>Operations and Supply Chain Management Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Salman, Rosine Hanna, "Exploring Capability Maturity Models and Relevant Practices as Solutions Addressing IT Service Offshoring Project Issues" (2014). *Dissertations and Theses*. Paper 1843.

10.15760/etd.1842

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of PDXScholar. For more information, please contact pdxscholar@pdx.edu.

Exploring Capability Maturity Models and Relevant Practices as Solutions Addressing IT

Service Offshoring Project Issues

by

Rosine Hanna Salman

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Technology Management

Dissertation Committee: Tugrul U. Daim, Chair Timothy R Anderson Robert Fountain David Raffo Wayne Wakeland

Portland State University 2014

© 2014 Rosine Hanna Salman

Abstract

Western countries' information technology and software intensive firms are increasingly producing software and IT services in developing countries. With this swift advancement in offshoring, there are many issues that can be investigated which will enable companies to maximize their benefits from offshoring. However, significant challenges can occur throughout the lifecycle of offshoring IT service projects that turn the potential benefits into losses. This research investigated CMM/CMMI best practices and their effects on managing and mitigating critical issues associated with offshore development.

Using a web-based survey, data was collected from 451 Information Technology and software development firms in the US. The survey instrument was validated by an expert panel which included practitioners and researchers. The survey population consisted of Information Technology and software engineering managers who work on offshore IT and software development projects. Statistical methods including Chi-Square and Cramer's V were used to test the research hypotheses.

The results of the analysis show that IT companies applying CMM/CMMI models have fewer issues associated with IT offshoring. When US IT companies utilize and incorporate different practices from TSP and People-CMM into CMMI-DEV/SVC and CMMI-ACQ, they have fewer offshoring issues related to language barriers and cultural differences. The results of this research contribute to the existing body of knowledge on the offshoring of IT services from the client management perspective and provide practitioners with increased knowledge regarding IT offshoring decisions.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to express my immense gratitude to my committee chair and Ph.D. advisor, Dr. Tugrul U. Daim, who continuously supported and guided me through the completion of this dissertation. His support in many forms gave me strength and confidence. He gave me the freedom to explore on my own approach and, at the same time, he guided me through the process. Without his guidance and persistent help, this dissertation would not have been possible. His endless encouragement helped me through the Ph.D. process and he was instrumental with my publications in journals and books.

I cannot find words to express my gratitude to my dissertation committee member Dr. Robert Fountain for his statistical expertise that played a significant role in this dissertation and for his valuable time and efforts during the complete on my dissertation.

It is also with great gratitude that I acknowledge the support of my committee member Dr. David Raffo who is the expert in capability maturity models, IT service and software development. His direct and ongoing engagement helped me focus on my research topic. Discussing the results with him helped organize and visualize ideas so that the readers of this dissertation would understand my approach to researching the subject matter that it contains.

I would very much wish to acknowledge the support of my committee members Dr. Timothy R. Anderson and Dr. Wayne Wakeland for their invaluable time and efforts in the completion of my dissertation. Their constructive comments added to and enhanced my dissertation. Additionally, they gave me the opportunity to work with them on the Nike Golf project that allowed me to transform all my experiences into the idea that underlies this dissertation.

My gratitude also extends to Dr. Dundar Kocaoglu, Dr. Antonie J. Jetter and Dr. Charles M. Weber, also members of the Department of Engineering and Technology Management, for their wonderful support, advice and encouragement. Their courses prepared me for the dissertation process.

Without the input and valuable insight of the experts who participated in my dissertation, the findings of my research would not at all have been possible and I thank them for their efforts and time throughout the entire process.

My brother Hani Salman deserves more than a million thanks for offering me wonderful and valuable advice during difficult times. I could have not finished my academic journey without his belief and support. Thank you, Hani. His constant support, kindness, caring, and wisdom helped me to remain resolute during my dissertation process. His infinite support from the start until the end made it all possible.

My deepest gratitude goes to my beloved Mother Ms. Najla Matli for always believing in me. She pushed me out of my comfort zone and convinced me that I could accomplish this goal. Her blessing and support are what kept me steadfast until the end. I will be forever grateful for her love, sacrifice, interest, concern and patience while I pursued my studies.

I would like express my immense appreciation to my husband Mark Freeman as I could have not finished my academic journey without his belief and support. Thank you, Mark. Every word in my dissertation is a result of his support, love, patience and encouragements. I deeply appreciate his love and support during my work. Without his assistance, promptness and flexibility, the process would not have gone as smoothly as it did. I appreciate the amount of time he spent reading my dissertation, doing editorial work, listening to me reciting the presentations and his endless support throughout the entire process.

My dear sisters Marlene and Maggie and brother Ramzi and, my sister-in-law Cherie and my brother in-law Emad provided advice and encouragement. My lovely nephews George, Daniel, Eliyah, Jonathon, Joseph and Kristofer provided love and happy times when I needed them most. Together, their words of encouragement helped me to persevere until the end of the process.

Finally, I want to express my gratitude to my friends and family, whose names are too many to list here, for their abundant encouragement and their warm and sincere good wishes. Without all of them as my support system, the process would not have been as easy. Also, Thanks to God for his countless blessings.

Abstract	i
Acknowledgments	iii
List of Tables	X
List of Figures	xiii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Research Background	3
1.2 Research Objectives	8
1.3 Research Questions	9
1.4 Organization of the Dissertation	10
Chapter 2: Literature Review	12
2.1 Definitions of Sourcing Options	12
2.2 Sourcing Options	17
2.3 Service Industry Characteristics and IT Service Characteristics	21
2.4 Lifecycle of IT Service Offshoring Projects	28
2.4.1 Review of Previous Lifecycle Models of Offshoring	29
2.5 Critical Issues and Challenges of IT Service Offshoring	34
2.5.1 Issues of IT Service offshoring Investigated in this Research	40
2.6 Project Success	47
2.7 Industry Standards and Capability Maturity Models	50
2.7.1 Definitions	54
2.7.2 Background of CMM/CMMI	58
2.7.3 CMM/CMMI Models	62
2.7.4 Maturity Levels (ML)	73
2.7.5 CMM/CMMI Process Areas and Best Practices	77
2.7.6 CMM/CMMI Strengths and Weaknesses	83
2.8 Research Gaps	89
Chapter 3: Research Design	94
3.1 Research Plan	94
3.2 Research Model	95
	vi

Table of Contents

3.3 For	mulation and Defining the Hypotheses	101
Chapter 4:	Data Collection	104
4.1 Inst	trument Design	105
4.1.1	Survey Layout and Usability	105
4.1.2	Delivery Method: Email	114
4.2 Inst	trument Validation	117
4.2.1	Instrument Validation Plan	117
4.2.2	Expert Panel	119
4.2.3	Model Development – Construct Validation	123
4.2.4	Survey Instrument Content Survey Validation	135
4.3 Inst	trument Administration	154
4.3.1	Targeted Population	154
4.3.2	Sampling Frame	155
4.3.3	Sampling Administration	162
4.3.4	Response Rate	165
4.3.5	Respondent Profile	170
4.3.6	Survey Response Representativeness – Goodness-to-Fit	170
4.3.7	Nonresponse Error: Wave Analysis	171
4.3.8	Nonresponse Error: Item Nonresponse	173
4.3.9	Post-survey adjustments	174
4.3.10	Reliability and Validity	174
Chapter 5:	Results	182
5.1 Res	spondent Profile	182
5.1.1	Profile IT Offshoring Issues	186
5.1.2	Profile of IT Projects Success Factors	188
5.1.3	Quality Standards: CMM/CMMI	191
5.1.4	Maturity Level	196
5.1.5	Industry Standards Practices	197
5.2 Tes	sting Hypotheses	202
5.2.1	Cramer's V Test	203
		vii

5.2.2	Bonferroni Correction	204		
5.2.3	5.2.3 Recoding the Answers			
Chapter 6: Hypotheses Test Results and Discussion				
6.1 Adopting CMM/CMMI models and IT offshoring issues2				
6.1.1	CMMI for Development/Services and IT offshoring issues	209		
6.1.2	CMMI for Acquisition and IT offshoring issues	211		
6.1.3 People-CMM and IT offshoring issues				
6.1.4	Adopting Team Software Process (TSP) and IT offshoring issues	215		
6.2 CM	IM/CMMI Maturity Level Achieved and IT Offshoring Issues	217		
6.2.1	CMMI-DEV/SVC maturity level achieved and IT offshoring issues	217		
6.2.2	CMMI-ACQ maturity level achieved and IT offshoring issues	220		
6.2.3	People-CMM maturity level achieved and IT offshoring issues	222		
6.3 CN	MM/CMMI practices and IT offshoring issues	223		
6.4 CM	IM/CMMI and projects success factors (performance outcomes)	232		
6.4.1	Adopting CMM/CMMI models and project success factors	232		
6.4.2	CMM/CMMI maturity level achieved and project success factors	234		
6.4.3	CMM/CMMI practices and project success factors	236		
Chapter 7:	Conclusions, Contributions, Limitations and Future Research	242		
7.1 Co	nclusions	242		
7.1.1	Conclusion of adopting CMM/CMMI models and IT offshoring issues	243		
7.1.2	Conclusion of maturity level achieved and IT offshoring issues	247		
7.1.3	Conclusion of performing practices and IT offshoring issues	248		
7.1.4	CMM/CMMI and projects success factors	248		
7.2 Co	ntributions	256		
7.3 Lin	nitations	258		
7.3.1	Limitation of targeted population	258		
7.3.2	Limitation of methodology	260		
7.3.3	Limitation of research design	261		
7.4 Future research				
Bibliography				
		viii		

Appendix A:	Survey Instrument	289
Appendix B:	Service Characteristics	297
Appendix C:	Content Validation	299
Appendix D:	Validation of Research Results	305
Appendix E:	SEI CMMI/CMMI Data Information	308
Appendix F:	Statistical Results	310

List of Tables

Table 1: Forms of Outsource and Offshore Sourcing
Table 1. Forms of Outsource and Offshore Sourcing
Table 2: The Top 10 Multinational Companies Worldwide
Table 3: IT Services Characteristics in Comparison to the Service Characteristics
Table 4: Lifecycle of Offshoring IT Service Projects in the Literature 29
Table 5: Summary of Lifecycle Research Studies 30
Table 6: Lists Critical Issues of Each Phase of the Lifecycle of Offshoring IT projects . 35
Table 7: Issues Affecting the Performance of Offshoring Projects 41
Table 8: Issues Level Associated with Each Sourcing Option 43
Table 9: List of Definitions Used in CMM/CMMI Models 56
Table 10: Comparisons Between CMMI-ACQ and CMMI-DEV/SVC 68
Table 11: List the process areas and best practices utilized in this research
Table 12: Summary of research gaps, questions and hypothesis of the research
Table 13: List of IT Offshoring Issues and CMM/CMMI Best Practices
Table 14: Research Questions and the Detailed Hypotheses 102
Table 15: Web-Survey Goals Adapted from Dillman
Table 16: Research Questions, Hypotheses and Questionnaire Questions
Table 17: Email invitation design goals adapted from Dillman
Table 18: Represents Survey Instrument Validation and Timeline 118
Table 19: Expert Panel 122
Table 20: Example Surveys that were used as References in this Study
Table 21: Issues and Practices Distributed to the Expert Panel for Validation
Table 22: Results of Construct Validation of the Importance of Issues of Offshoring 130
Table 23: Expert panel evaluation for the importance of the 57 practices
Table 24: Lists the Comments from the SEI Workshop and the Answers Provided 138
Table 25: Number of Expert Panel and Number of Practices 140
Table 26: Feedback and Resulting Modifications from the Pilot Step 141
Table 27: Content Validation Results 146
Table 28: Lists the Characteristics of the IT Companies and Titles of Respondents 152
Table 29: Results of Content Validation of Pilot Test with IT Companies 154

Table 30:	$12,\!000$ companies from Kompass database distributed on size and location. 156
Table 31:	Responses Collected from Four Survey Questionnaires
Table 32:	Collected responses based on region and size of the company 164
Table 33:	Previous PhD Dissertations and Achieved Response Rate
Table 34:	Comparison of Segment Profile with the Sample of U.S. IT Companies 171
Table 35:	Offshoring Issues: Over Expenditures
Table 36:	Offshoring Issues: Poor Execution Plan
Table 37:	Project Success Factors: Time/Schedule
Table 38:	Project Success Factors: Cost/Budget 173
Table 39:	Project Success Factors: Expected Quality
Table 40:	The Breakdown of Responses by Survey Question
Table 41:	Reliability and Validity Analysis Plan
Table 42:	Reliability Results
Table 43:	Demographic overview
Table 44:	Lists Respondent Statistics for the 17 Issues of IT Offshoring 187
Table 45:	Project: Time/Schedule
Table 46:	Project Time/Schedule Statistics
Table 47:	Project: Cost/Budget
Table 48:	Project: Cost/Budget Statistics
Table 49:	Project: Expected Quality
Table 50:	Project: Expected Quality Statistics
Table 51:	CMMI for Development/Services
Table 52:	CMMI for Development/Services Statistical
Table 53:	CMMI for Acquisition
Table 54:	CMMI for Acquisition Statistics
Table 55:	People CMM 193
Table 56:	People CMM Statistics
Table 57:	TSP
Table 58:	TSP Statistics
Table 59:	Maturity Levels and Statistics
	xi

Table 60: Respondent Statistics by Industry Standards Practices for Survey 1 198
Table 61: Respondent Statistics by Industry Standards Practices for Survey 2
Table 62: Respondent Statistics by Industry Standards Practices for Survey 3
Table 63: Respondent Statistics by Industry Standards Practices for Survey 4
Table 64: Research Hypotheses and Bonferroni Correction Values Applied
Table 65: Respondents' Answers Recoding
Table 66: Summary of H1.1 adopting CMMI for DEV/SVC and offshoring issues 210
Table 67: Summary of H1.2 Adopting CMMI for Acquisition and Offshoring Issues. 212
Table 68: Summary of H1.3 adopting People-CMM and IT Offshoring Issues
Table 69: Summary of H1.3 Adopting (TSP) and IT Offshoring Issues 216
Table 70: H2.1-CMMI-DEV/SVC Maturity Level Achieved and IT Offshoring Issues 217
Table 71: H2.2 -CMMI-ACQ Maturity Level (ML) Achieved and Offshoring Issues . 220
Table 72: H2.3 - People-CMM Maturity Level Achieved and IT Offshoring Issues 222
Table 73: Results of Adopting CMM/CMMI Models and Project's Success Factors 233
Table 74: Results of Maturity Level Achieved and Project Success Factors 235
Table 75: Results of CMM//CMMI Practices and Project's Success Factors
Table 76: Summary of Results of Four CMM/CMMI Models and Offshoring Issues 244
Table 77: Summary of Results of H2 Maturity Level Achieved and offshoring issues 247
Table 78: Hypothetical Scenarios 253
Table 79: Future Research Relationship Tests

List of Figures

Figure 1: Sourcing Options	18
Figure 2: Outsourcing and Offshore Options	21
Figure 3: The product-service continuum	27
Figure 4: The Lifecycle of IT Service Offshoring Projects	34
Figure 5: Project Main Components	48
Figure 6: Characteristics of CMM/CMMI Maturity Levels	60
Figure 7: CMM/CMMI Model Component	61
Figure 8: Five Maturity Levels of CMMI-DEV	65
Figure 9: CMMI-ACQ Maturity Levels	67
Figure 10: P-CMM maturity levels	70
Figure 11: CMM for Team Software Process TSP	73
Figure 12: Process Areas associated with each of the CMM/CMMI models	78
Figure 13: Research Plan	95
Figure 14: General Research Model	95
Figure 15: Survey First Research Question Page	. 108
Figure 16: Survey Questions 4 and 5 Page	. 109
Figure 17: Questionnaire Design	. 112
Figure 18: Invitation Email	. 115
Figure 19: Second Follow-up Email Invitation	. 116
Figure 20: Third Follow-up Reminder Email	. 116
Figure 21: Validation Plan	. 118
Figure 22: Sample of Expert Panel Invitation Email	. 121
Figure 23: Email Sent to the Expert Panel for the Survey Construct Validation	. 127
Figure 24: Example of Level of Effectiveness and Importance of Practices	. 128
Figure 25: Example of Importance of Issues	. 129
Figure 26: Content Validation Questions for Intention and Ease of Use	. 136
Figure 27: Survey Validation Email Invitation	. 142
Figure 28: Survey Instrument Validation Introduction Page	. 143

Example Question from the Online Validation Survey	144
Survey Question 1 and the Modifications Applied	147
Survey Question 2 and the Modifications Applied	148
Survey Question 3 and the Modifications Applied	148
Survey Question 4 and the Modifications Applied	149
Survey Question 6 and the Modifications Applied	149
Survey Question 10 and the Modifications Applied	150
Distribution of Practices into Four Surveys	151
A Screen-shot of an Example Question of the Pilot Test of Questionnaire.	153
NAICS CODES for Software Development and IT Firms	156
Randomly distributing the 12,000 IT Company into four surveys	157
Number of IT Companies Reached	158
Final Number of IT Companies Sample Frame	159
An Example of Government Contactor Company	160
Strategy Used to Add 4000 Contact Names to Increase the Response Rate	162
Survey Responses Over Time	165
CMM/CMMI Responses	185
Percentage of Responses of Companies Adopting Quality Models	186
Distribution of Responses of Companies that adopted CMMI-DEV/SVC	192
Distribution of responses of companies that adopted CMMI-ACQ	193
Distribution of responses of companies that adopted P-CMM	194
Distribution of Responses of Companies Adopted TSP	195
Research Model	202
	Example Question from the Online Validation Survey Survey Question 1 and the Modifications Applied Survey Question 2 and the Modifications Applied Survey Question 3 and the Modifications Applied Survey Question 4 and the Modifications Applied Survey Question 6 and the Modifications Applied Survey Question 10 and the Modifications Applied Survey Question 10 and the Modifications Applied Survey Question of Practices into Four Surveys A Screen-shot of an Example Question of the Pilot Test of Questionnaire . NAICS CODES for Software Development and IT Firms Randomly distributing the 12,000 IT Company into four surveys Number of IT Companies Reached Final Number of IT Companies Sample Frame An Example of Government Contactor Company Strategy Used to Add 4000 Contact Names to Increase the Response Rate Survey Responses Over Time CMM/CMMI Responses Percentage of Responses of Companies that adopted CMMI-DEV/SVC Distribution of responses of companies that adopted CMMI-ACQ Distribution of Responses of Companies that adopted TSP Research Model

Chapter 1: Introduction

Information Technology (IT) service offshoring describes the transfer of IT services to an offshore supplier in a near or far away country. The services themselves are partially or totally transferred (Carmel and Agrawal, 2002a, Hirschheim et al., 2005, Jahns et al., 2007, Mirani, 2006, Lacity and Rottman, 2008, Agrawal et al., 2003, Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b). IT offshoring is worthy of research because it has specific characteristics that distinguish it from the well-researched field of IT outsourcing. IT services and software development offshoring is becoming a dominant paradigm in the IT services and software development industry (Rottman and Lacity, 2008, Raffo and Setamanit, 2005).

Western countries' information technology and software intensive firms are attracted to offshoring in developing countries because of the promised benefits of: lower costs, faster delivery, the ability to focus their in-house IT staff on higher value work, access to supplier resources, capabilities and process improvement (Carmel and Beulen, 2005). Not all IT service and software development projects benefit from offshoring as half of the organizations that shifted processes offshore failed to realize the benefits they expected (Ferguson, 2004a, Ferguson et al., 2004, Lacity and Rottman, 2008, Lacity et al., 1996). The literature indicates that 20% of offshore software development contracts are cancelled in the first year, more than 25% of all offshore software development projects overrun their budgets (Kendall et al., 2007, Jørgensen, 2014, Ebert, 2013).

IT services and software development offshore projects pose substantial issues and challenges to the client companies in managing these projects (Ebert et al., 2008). In IT service offshoring, delivery occurs under the additional condition of distance between the service supplier and the client in terms of physical distance, time zone differences or cultural differences. Additionally, complexity increases due to the higher degree of geographical dispersion among team members (Holmström et al., 2008, Yalaho and Nahar, 2009, McIvor, 2000, Raffo and Setamanit, 2005). Therefore, there is a need to utilize different methods to effectively and efficiently mitigate the issues and challenges of offshoring.

A growing number of organizations are adopting the Software Engineering Institutes' (SEI) Capability Maturity Model (CMM) and Capability Maturity Model Integrate (CMMI) to improve their IT service and software development process. CMM/CMMI models were originally developed as methods for the objective evaluation of contractors in military software projects (outsourcing) (Humphrey, 2002, 2010b, Philips, 2011). The CMM/CMMI models are internationally adapted and have received great publicity in the software development industry (Biberoglu and Haddad, 2002). CMM/CMMI models became an industry standard based on industry best practices and features an industry standard appraisal methods (Olson, 2008, Dubey, 2003).

The literature reveals that CMM/CMMI has been well researched and proven to mitigate the issues and challenges of *outsourcing* IT services and software development projects (Ramasubbu et al., 2005, April et al., 2005, Lutteroth et al., 2007, Davis and

Mullaney, 2003, McHale, 2003, Paulk et al., 1993, Gibson et al., 2006, Garcia et al., 2006, Humphrey, 2005a, Sutherland et al., 2008, Jiang et al., 2004, Dion 1993, Gopal et al., 2002a, Evaristo et al., 2004, Humphrey et al., 1991, Adler et al., 2005, Goldenson and Gibson, 2003). However, there is limited research and investigation of CMM/CMMI best practices and how they mitigate the issues and challenges of *offshoring* of IT services and software development projects (Sengupta et al., 2008, Gopal et al., 2002b). Therefore, this study examined the relationship between CMM/CMMI software process development and 1) the issues and challenges of offshoring IT services projects and 2) offshore IT services project performance outcomes.

This Chapter introduces the research. Section 1.1 presents the research background. Section 1.2 provides the objective of the study. Section 1.3 defines the research questions that are the focus of this study. Finally, section 1.4 provides the organization of the dissertation.

1.1 Research Background

Offshoring is the outsourcing or/and insourcing of information technology (IT) work to a third party supplier located on a different continent than the client (Rottman and Lacity, 2008). The globalization of resources has resulted in a dramatic increase in offshoring. Although client companies have offshored manufacturing services for decades, the practice of offshoring IT services is still maturing.

The offshoring of IT services (primarily in India) will conservatively represent 25% of the global US\$ 1 trillion in 2014 (Kathpalia and Raman, 2014).

Gartner reported that the top five Indian IT vendors namely TCS, Cognizant, Infosys, Wipro and HCL Technologies grew 13.3 percent in 2012 to reach \$34.3 billion in 2012, exceeding global IT services industry growth rate of 2 percent. The North American markets currently contribute to roughly 70% of the revenue of the Indian IT service companies (Kathpalia and Raman, 2014).

Academics have been studying domestic IT outsourcing since the early 1990s. The first published outputs from academic research appeared in 1991 and documented companies pursuing large-scale domestic IT outsourcing (Applegate and Montealegre, 1991, huber, 1993). However, the global software industry experienced exponential growth since the mid-1990s (Greenemeier, 2002, Correa, 1996, Patane and Jurison, 1994). Many companies used offshoring strategies hoping to reduce costs (Williamson, 1985). However, according to Lacity and Willcocks (2001, pp. xi-xiv) (Lacity and Willcocks, 2001), firms are recently citing new drivers for offshoring such as: 1) increased efficiency regarding faster delivery, 2) access to first class technical professionals, 3) the ability to expand software development capacity at minimal cost, 4) enhanced customer service quality, 5) reduced risks of late project completion and increasing costs, 6) enhanced flexibility and 7) increased competitive ability (Lacity and Willcocks, 2001). On the other hand, contrary to popular perceptions, many companies have had mixed or diverse results. Half of the organizations that shifted processes offshore failed to generate the financial

benefits they expected (Ferguson, 2004a, Lacity and Willcocks, 2001, Lacity and Willcocks, 1998, Lacity et al., 1996) and 50% of the offshoring contracts by North American companies signed between 2001 and 2004 are likely to fail to meet goals, according the predictions of both Gartner and Boston Consulting Group (Aron and J.Singh, 2005). Gartner and Boston Consulting Group found that 50% of the offshoring contracts by North American companies fail to meet their expectations (Moe et al., 2013).

Although offshoring IT is technically possible because any work that can be digitized can be moved to an offshore supplier(s), there are many managerial challenges (Rottman and Lacity, 2008). One common complaint was that overall cost savings were less than anticipated due to the high transaction costs associated with finding suppliers, coordinating and monitoring the work done offshore (Ferguson, 2004b, Golder, 2004). Other common complaints were poor initial quality, late deliveries and personnel issues such as high supplier turnover that interfered with success (Lacity and Rottman, 2008).

IT services contain a range of activities such as: software application development (web design development, e-commerce projects), database administration, software customization, IT calling centers, IT help desk support, software maintenance (remote software maintenance, feature enhancement), operations and facility management (Lacity and Rottman, 2008). IT service offshoring may either be a one-time limited-duration project or a long-term relationship.

In the area of IT offshoring, academics are trying to understand how offshoring differs from domestic outsourcing. So far, researchers have found that offshoring poses

additional challenges compared with domestic outsourcing (Rottman and Lacity, 2006). For example, offshoring is more challenging because of: time zone differences (Carmel, 2006), the need for more control (Chaudhury and Sabherwal, 2003, Choudhury and Sabherwal, 2003), cultural differences (Carmel and Tjia, 2005, Prikladnicki et al., 2003), defining requirements more rigorously (Chaudhury and Sabherwal, 2003, Gopal et al., 2003), the difficulties in managing dispersed teams (Oshri et al., 2008), and politically driven interests between the client and the service provider (Orlikowski, 2002). Researchers are also looking at offshoring at both the decision and relationship levels (Rivard and Aubert, 2007).

In the offshoring selection decision, many organizations use the candidate suppliers' Software Engineering Institute' Capability Maturity Model (CMM) and Capability Maturity Model Integration (CMMI) maturity level as part of the supplier selection criteria. Suppliers want to maximize their chances of winning business from companies that are pursuing offshoring services. Since CMMI maturity level ratings serve as a differentiator, these organizations want to position themselves among the elite. In CMMI terms, maturity level five indicates the world class possible performance.

Applying the CMMI model forces companies to commit to a number of instrumental procedures and assessments. Getting the CMMI accreditation is a great advantage for the client companies. It improves the quality of the products and services as well as improving the productivity of the companies by enhancing work procedures. Getting the CMMI accreditation also promotes and reinforces the company's capabilities to predict a project's schedule, achieve a higher return on investment and enhance the capability to manage challenges and issues associated with the outsourcing of IT services.

CMM/CMMI models including their respective practices have been well researched and they have proven to mitigate the issues and challenges of outsourcing IT services and software development projects (Ramasubbu et al., 2005, April et al., 2005, Lutteroth et al., 2007, Davis and Mullaney, 2003, McHale, 2003, Paulk et al., 1993, Gibson et al., 2006, Garcia et al., 2006, Humphrey, 2005a, Sutherland et al., 2008, Jiang et al., 2004, Dion 1993, Gopal et al., 2002a, Evaristo et al., 2004, Humphrey et al., 1991, Adler et al., 2005, Goldenson and Gibson, 2003, Hu et al., 2012, Kishore et al., 2012, Chang et al., 2012). Although these process improvement approaches were originally developed as methods for the objective evaluation of contractors for military software projects (outsourcing) and were not designed with offshoring development in mind, they are now widely adapted in both domestic and international firms and have received great publicity in the software development industry (Biberoglu and Haddad, 2002, Fitzgerald and O'Kane, 1999, Jiang et al., 2004, Amberg and Wiener, 2005, Dubey, 2003, Meyer, 2006, Gibson et al., 2006). However, there is limited research and investigation of CMM/CMMI best practices and how they mitigate the issues and challenges of offshoring of IT services and software development projects (Sengupta et al., 2006b, Lasser and Heiss, 2005, Prikladnicki et al., 2007, Ebert, 2007, Ebert et al., 2008, Gopal et al., 2002b, Nöhren and Heinzl, 2012).

The literature shows that organizations applying CMM/CMMI practices for their outsourced IT projects improve their ability to deliver on the agreed upon schedule, cost, and quality levels (Gibson et al., 2006, Sutherland et al., 2008, Dion 1993, Butler, 1995, Herbsleb and Goldenson, 1996b, Goldenson and Gibson, 2003, Chang et al., 2012, Kishore et al., 2012, Hu et al., 2012, Kronawitter et al., Kronawitter et al., 2013). However, there is limited research on CMM/CMMI practices and their effects on projects success factors of delivering on time, within budget and meeting the agreed upon quality in offshoring IT services and software development projects (Rottman and Lacity, 2008, Jiang et al., 2004, Nöhren and Heinzl, 2012, Mejia et al., 2013, Simões and Montoni, 2014).

This research investigated how the best practices of CMM/CMMI SEI frameworks can mitigate issues and challenges throughout the lifecycle of offshoring IT service projects from the client management perspective.

1.2 Research Objectives

Critical issues are the challenges that can happen throughout the lifecycle of offshoring IT service projects. This research investigated Software Engineering Institute' Capability Maturity Models and their best practices to manage and mitigate the offshoring issues throughout the lifecycle of IT service projects.

A field survey was developed, validated and tested in multiple ways:

1) A group of students from the Engineering and Technology Management Department (ETM) at Portland State who have experience in IT offshoring.

- 2) Two expert panels:
 - A. Experts in CMM/CMMI models
 - B. Experts in offshoring IT
- 3) Ten IT services companies
- 1.3 Research Questions
 - Q1: What is the impact of client firms adopting industry standards on the frequency of issues experienced by client firms when offshoring IT service projects?
 - Q2: What is the relationship between the maturity level achieved and the frequency of issues experienced by client firms when offshoring IT service projects?
 - Q3: What is the relationship between industry standard practices and the frequency of issues experienced by client firms when offshoring IT service projects?
 - Q4: What is the impact of adopting industry standards on the offshored projects' success?

This research answered questions through a theoretical and empirical study. The study focused on the offshoring of IT services projects from the client management perspective. Although the study was conducted among U.S. IT services companies, the results should be generalizable and applicable to other countries. The literature review indicates that offshoring for IT services does not change significantly from one country to another (Aron et al., 2008, Beaumont and Sohal, 2004, Bernroider, 2002, Bhalla et al.,

2008, Burmistrov, 2006, Christiansen, 2007, Yalaho and Wu, 2002, Islam and Houmb, 2011, Yalaho, 2006, Sharma et al., 2008, Bahli and Rivard, 2005, Goo et al., 2009).

1.4 Organization of the Dissertation

This dissertation has seven chapters. The first chapter introduces the problem and questions, research objectives and the scope of the research. The second chapter presents the literature review. Chapter two is divided into nine sections: 1) definitions, 2) sourcing options, 3) IT service industry characteristics, 4) whole lifecycle of offshoring IT projects, 5) issues and challenging of offshoring, 6) project success factors, 7) CMM/CMMI models, 8) research gaps and 9) the summary of questions and hypothesis.

Chapter three describes the research design for the dissertation including the research model and the formulation of hypotheses. The development of the questionnaire and expert panel makeup is provided. Additionally, testing and validation of the tools along with sampling and mailing strategy are presented in this chapter.

The fourth chapter presents data collection including instrument design, instrument validation, instrument administration, and then discusses sampling and response rate. Chapter five presents the data analysis and results. Chapter five begins by presenting general characteristics of the sample as well as reliability analysis. This chapter focuses on hypotheses testing and related results.

Chapter six presents a discussion of results of hypothesis testing and findings.

Chapter seven includes concluding remarks, including contributions to knowledge, future research and limitations.

The appendices included are: Appendix A, Survey instrument; Appendix B, Service Characteristics; Appendix C, Content Validation, Appendix D, Validation of research results; Appendix E, SEI information about their certified companies; Appendix F, Statistical detailed results.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

In section 2.1, definitions of sourcing options are presented and their respective concepts in literature are presented. Sourcing option descriptions are provided in section 2.2. Service industry characteristics and IT service characteristics are presented in section 2.3. Section 2.4 provides the whole lifecycle of offshoring IT projects. Section 2.5 lists issues and challenges of offshoring IT services and software development projects. Section 2.6 presents the project success factors. Section 2.7 presents the capability maturity models CMM/CMMI. Then, section 2.8 presents the research gaps. Lastly, section 2.9 presents a summary of gaps, questions and hypothesis.

2.1 Definitions of Sourcing Options

Outsourcing: is contracting out of goods or services that were previously produced internally to a domestic third party company (Lacity and Hirschheim, 1993b). The client organization and the supplier enter into a contractual agreement that defines the transferred services and/or goods (Insinga and Werle, 2000, Kern and Willcocks, 2000, Loh and Venkatraman, 1992). For IT outsourcing, the following definition was found: "turning over a firm's computer operations, network operations, software development and maintenance, or other IT functions or services to a provider for a specified time, generally at least a few years" (Pfannenstein and Tsai, 2004).

Outsourcing may be called in-shoring: picking services within a country (Erber and Sayed-Ahmed, 2005); and best-shoring, picking the "best shore" based on various criteria

(Carmel, 2007). Business process outsourcing (BPO) refers to outsourcing arrangements when entire business functions (such as Finance & Accounting, Customer Service, etc.) are contracted out to a third party vendor (outsourced) (Halvey and Melby, 2007, Lacity et al., 1996).

Offshoring is the transfer of an organizational function to another country, regardless of whether the work is outsourced to third party company (vendor) or stays within the same company (Trent and Monczka, 2005, Bhalla et al., 2008, Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b, Kakabadse and Kakabadse, 2002). Whereas Carmel defined Offshoring as performing work for clients in one country using workers located in a different country, this work may be outsourced to an offshore third party provider, or conducted by wholly or partially owned offshore subsidiaries of the onshore parent company (Carmel and Abbott, 2006).

Outsourcing versus offshoring: Outsourcing requires contracting with a supplier, which may or may not involve offshoring, while offshoring is the transfer of a company's function to another country despite whether the work is outsourced or stays within the same company (in-sourced) (Bhalla et al., 2008, Insinga and Werle, 2000). Thus, a company can outsource without going offshore or can offshore without outsourcing (Bhalla et al., 2008).

Offshore outsourcing is defined as a situation where a company (a client) contracts out all or part of its goods or services to a third party company (vendor) who is located in a country other than where that company is headquartered and historically outside of where the product or service will be sold or consumed (Muhammad Ali et al., 2007, Kern and Willcocks, 2000). King defined offshore outsourcing of the software industry as "hiring coders who live overseas, usually in countries where the labor costs are much lower than in developed countries" (Insinga and Werle, 2000).

Near-shoring: Offshoring related concepts include near-shoring, which implies relocation of business processes to (classically) lower cost foreign locations, but in close geographical proximity (e.g., shifting United States-based business processes to Canada/Latin America) (Carmel and Abbott, 2006, Carmel, 1999, Carmel, 2007, Bock, 2008). Moreover, near-shoring, far-shoring and offshoring refer to the fact that some of the duties belonging to a software project are sourced out to a lower wage country (Aspray et al., 2006). The term off or near-shoring seems to be a matter of distance (Carmel and Abbott, 2006). Offshoring is associated with countries being "far away," referring to a distance of more than 1000 kilometers (e. 621 miles) or few hours flight away (Carmel and Abbott, 2006, Carmel, 2007). For example, from a European point of view, the term near-shoring is used for countries closer to their homeland such as Eastern Europe countries while China and India are considered offshoring (Carmel, 2007). Based on the literature, Table 1 lists most of the concepts related to forms of sourcing with their definitions.

Forms	Types	Description
In-sourcing	In-house (Lacity and Willcocks, 1998, Lacity et al., 2008, Metters, 2007) Subsidiary (Lacity et al., 2008, Metters, 2007)	 The clients handle their own IT services and software development projects on their own premises in their home countries. The client builds, owns, staffs, and operates facility in domestic locations in USA (Trent and Monczka, 2005).
	Domestic captive (Lacity et al., 2008, Metters, 2007)	Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b).
	Captive service centers (Carmel and Beulen, 2005, Beulen et al., 2005)	Clients provide IT services from their own premises, employees, equipment, and facilities in domestic locations (Beulen et al., 2005).
	Types of Outsourcing	Description
Outsourcing	Outsourcing (Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b) IT outsourcing (Palvia, 1995)	Firms that outsource only domestically (Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b). An agreement in which one company hands over a part or all of their existing internal activity to another company through a contract (Hanna and Daim, 2009b). Contracting part or all of a firm's IT such as data processing, software, communication network, systems personnel or call centers to a third party vendor (Palvia, 1995).
	Outsourcing with domestic supplier (Lacity et al., 1996, Willcocks and Kern, 1998, Lacity et al., 2008) Outsourcing with multiple domestic suppliers (Lacity et al., 1996, Willcocks and Kern, 1998, Lacity et al., 2008, McFarlan and Nolan, 1995, Hoffmann, 1996) Outsourcing with in-state supplier (Lacity et al., 2008) On-shoring (Laplante et al., 2004)	 Refers to a company contracting out of goods or services that were previously produced internally to a domestic third party company (Amiti and Wei, 2005, Lacity and Hirschheim, 1993b). The third party can be one or multiple domestic/national vendor or instate provider (McFarlan and Nolan, 1995, Hoffmann, 1996). Onshore represent outsourcing to domestic supplier (Laplante et al., 2004).
	Total outsourcing (Lacity and Willcocks, 1998) Complete outsourcing (Allen and Chandrashekar, 2000)	Contract out more than 80% of the work to an external domestic provider while retaining the management (Lacity and Willcocks, 1998). The transfer of the entire business functions from the outsourcing company to the outsourcing vendor (Allen and Chandrashekar, 2000).
	Total in-sourcing (Lacity and Willcocks, 1998) In-sourcing - contracting-in (Lacity et al., 1996) Fee-for-service contracts (Bhalla et al., 2008, Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b)	Execute work internally (Lacity and Willcocks, 1998). The delegation of operations or jobs from production within a business to an internal (but 'stand-alone') entity that specializes in that job (Lacity et al., 1996). In-sourcing is a business decision that is often made to maintain control of critical production or competencies. An alternate use of the term implies transferring jobs to within the country where the term is used, either by hiring local

		subcontractors or building a facility (Hirschheim and Lacity, 2000).
	Selective outsourcing – smart sourcing – right sourcing (Lacity and Willcocks, 1998)	Outsource selected processes while still executing internally between 20% and 80%. The company may outsource to single or multiple vendors (Lacity and Willcocks, 1998).
	Business process outsourcing (BPO) (Halvey and Melby, 2007, Yang et al., 2007)	The biggest difference between outsourcing and BPO is that the BPO third party vendor providers control all issues related to business processes, human resources and technology (Yang et al., 2007).
Offshoring: Multinational company	Multinational company outsourcing Consultancy companies (Schwalbe, 2010) Multinational enterprises (MNEs)	Companies have their headquarters in high-wage countries open subsidiaries in low-wage countries to work on products and services for their domestic and global market. Companies also can have their headquarters in low-wage countries open subsidiaries in high-wage countries to serve the local market (Niosi and Tschang, 2009, Schwalbe, 2010).
	Value Centers (Trent and Monczka, 2005), Profit value centers (Venkatraman, 1997).	The customer owns and runs the facility as a profit center, offering services to other international companies (Trent and Monczka, 2005, Venkatraman, 1997).
	"Greenfield" subsidiaries (Niosi and Tschang, 2009)	A form of foreign direct investment where a parent company in a developing country starts a new venture in a developed foreign country from the ground up (Niosi and Tschang, 2009).
	Body-shopping (Majumdar et al., 2011)	On-shore temporary hiring from a multinational such as (Indian) firm. Onsite consultancy performed at clients' premises, involving software professionals who act as temporary employees of clients. For international clients, body-shopping keeps work within their home nations and premises. Clients' demand determines how much body- shopping is needed (Majumdar et al., 2011). Normally these services are provided by U.S. domestic subsidiaries of multinational companies (Lacity and Willcocks, 1995).
	Types of off-shoring	Description
ing	Near-shore (Laplante et al., 2004)	Relocation of business processes to (classically) lower cost foreign locations, but in close geographical proximity (e.g., shifting United States-based business processes to Canada/Latin America) (Carmel and Abbott, 2006, Carmel, 1999, Carmel, 2007, Bock, 2008, Laplante et al., 2004).
Off-shor	Far-shore/Offshore	Near-shoring, far-shoring and offshoring refer to the fact that some of the duties belonging to software projects are sourced out to a lower-wage country (Aspray et al., 2006). Whether the term off or near-shoring seems to be a matter of distance (Carmel and Abbott, 2006). Offshoring is associated with countries being "far away," referring to a

r							
		distance of more than 1000 kilometers (e. 621 miles) or few hours flight away (Carmel and Abbott, 2006, Carmel, 2007).					
Dedicated offshore outsourcing (Trent and Monczka, 2005, Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b, Palvia, 1995), Fully owned facility (Leiblein et al., 2002)		The offshore vendor owning the operation dedicated part of its facility to the customer (Trent and Monczka, 2005, Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b, Leiblein et al., 2002, Palvia, 1995).					
	Built-operate-transfer (BOT) (Trent and Monczka, 2005, Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b, Colombo, 2003), Strategic alliances/ partnerships (Lacity and Willcocks, 1998)	BOT forms a hybrid between dedicated and captive facilitie The company forms a strategic alliance with an offshorin vendor to set-up and manage an offshore facility with an option to own the facility after the expiration of a specified period (Bhalla et al., 2008, Carmel and Agrawa 2002b, Colombo, 2003).					
	Offshore in-sourcing Captive model (Trent and Monczka, 2005), Wholly owned offshore Captive center (Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b). Subsidiary, Offshore in-sourcing, Global in- sourcing	The client builds, owns, staffs, and operates the offshore facility (Trent and Monczka, 2005, Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b). The company owns and establishes offshore IT centers where foreign technologies workers are employees of U.S. based companies and receive the same training, software tools, and development process guidelines as their western counterparts (Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b, Rao, 2004).					
	Types of Offshore Outsourcing	Description					
Offshore Outsourcing	Offshore outsourcing (Hanna and Daim, 2009b, Trent and Monczka, 2005, Michell and Fitzgerald, 1997) Global outsourcing International outsourcing (Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b, Amiti and Wei, 2005)	A contract or agreement with the vendor for his services. The company offshore outsources one or more project based on a contract(s) for a fixed cost and depending on identified deliverables and time schedules (Hanna and Daim, 2009b, Rivard and Aubert, 2007). The offshore vendor owns, builds, staffs and operates the facility on behalf of the customer (Trent and Monczka, 2005, Lacity and Willcocks, 1998, Michell and Fitzgerald, 1997).					

2.2 Sourcing Options

There are four major types of sourcing options for U.S. IT services and software development projects: 1) in-sourcing, 2) outsourcing, 3) offshoring, 4) offshore outsourcing as shown in Table 1 and Figures 1 and 2.

SOURCING OPTIONS



Figure 1: Sourcing Options

1. In-sourcing: Decision makers decide to keep the IT services and software production in house on their own premises and in their home countries. Clients may also decide to build and operate their own facilities in domestic locations in their own country as domestic subsidiaries (Trent and Monczka, 2005, Carmel and Agrawal, 2002b).

2. Outsourcing: Decision makers decide to contract out part or all of a firm's IT services and software development to a domestic third party vendor (Palvia, 1995). The third party can be one or multiple domestic/national vendors or an instate provider (McFarlan and Nolan, 1995, Hoffmann, 1996).

Outsourcing with multinational companies: Companies have their headquarters in highwage countries open subsidiaries in low-wage countries to work on products and services for their domestic and global markets. Companies also can have their headquarters in low-wage countries and open subsidiaries in high-wage countries to serve their local market(s) (Niosi and Tschang, 2009, Schwalbe, 2010). For instance, some Indian enterprises set-up wholly owned facilities overseas to perform parts of the software development process. The most common practice is to perform systems analysis and design work at the customers' site while the rest of the development process is done from Indian and other locations of offshore development centers (Majumdar et al., 2011, Khan et al., 2003). Key Indian players are Tata Consultancy services (TCS), Wipro and Infosys as shown in Table 2.

	Business Services		Software Development		Call Centers
1.	Hewitt Association U.S.	1.	Tata Consultancy	1.	Convergys U.S.
2.	ACS U.S.		Services India	2.	Wipro India
3.	Accenture U.S.	2.	Infosys Technology	3.	ICICI OneSource India
4.	IBM U.S.		India	4.	ClientLogic U.S.
5.	EDS U.S.	3.	Wipro India	5.	24/7 Customer India
6.	Hewlett-Packard U.S.	4.	Accenture U.S.	6.	SR.Teleperformance
7.	Wipro India	5.	IMB U.S.		France
8.	HCL Technology India	6.	Cognizant Technology	7.	eTelecare International
9.	Tata Consultancy Services		Solutions U.S.		U.S.
	India	7.	Satyam India	8.	SITEL U.S.
10.	WNS Global Services	8.	Patni Computer Systems	9.	Teletech U.S.
	India		Inida	10.	CustomerCorp U.S.
		9.	EDS U.S.		-
		10.	CSC U.S.		

Table 2: The Top 10 Multinational Companies Worldwide

Source: National Association of Software and IT Service Companies (NASSCOM) – India's software regulatory board – <u>http://www.nasscom.org</u> July 2002 (Gold, 2004). Business Week (2006) (Engardio, 2006).

Multinational companies such as Genpact, Accenture, IBM Services, Tata or any other offshoring multinational company (see Table 2) may dispatch teams to thoroughly investigate the workflow of an entire IT department. The team then helps build a new
IT platform, redesigns all processes, administers programs and acts as a virtual subsidiary. The contractor then disperses work among a global network of staff ranging from the U.S. to Asia and to Eastern Europe (Engardio, 2006).

In one example, Tata Consultancy Services TCS is part of the Tata Group. The TCS was founded in 1968 as a consulting service firm for the emerging IT industry. By 2006, TCS had expanded to become a global player with revenue over USD 2 billion with over 74,000 associates and 50 service delivery centers in 34 countries. TCS has developed a global delivery model in which projects are handled mainly by teams located remotely from clients, but are also often handled with small teams at the client's site. Usually, TCS's on-site and offshore teams conduct frequent interaction and collaboration with each other until a task is completed. TCS project teams based onsite, onshore, near-shore and offshore work together depending on the expertise and knowledge that reside within TCS's different locations. In an example from late 2005, Netherlands based ABN AMRO Bank announced a USD 1.2 billion outsourcing contract with five providers. Tata Consultancy Services was one of the five and provided support and application enhancement services. The outsourcing project of the ABN AMRO Bank TCS contract consisted of three arrangements across three continents. Each arrangement type has an on-site component at the client site and a remote component somewhere else (Oshri et al., 2008).

3. Offshoring in-sourcing: Occurs when an organization moves work from one location to another location on a different continent (Rottman and Lacity, 2008, Rottman and

Lacity, 2006). Researchers call it offshore in-sourcing and offshore subsidiaries (King, 2005).

4. Offshore outsourcing: Offshoring of IT Services and software development work to a third party supplier located on a different continent than the client (Rottman and Lacity, 2008, Rottman and Lacity, 2006). Offshore outsourcing and offshore in-sourcing are the focus of this research.



Figure 2: Outsourcing and Offshore Options

2.3 Service Industry Characteristics and IT Service Characteristics

A. Services are "activities, benefits or satisfactions which are offered for sale, or are provided in connection with the sale of goods" (Regan, 1963). Lovelock defined service as "a process or performance rather than a thing" (Lovelock, 1981). Most researchers regard services to be activities, deeds or processes, and interactions (Vargo and Lusch, 2004, Solomon et al., 1985, Lovelock, 1991). Hill defined services as "a change in the condition of a person, or a good belonging to some economic entity, bought as the result of the activity of some other economic entity, with the approval of the first person or economic entity" (Hill, 1977). This definition is accepted by the U.S. Government as the basis for defining service products in the new North American Product Classification System (NAPCS) (Chesbrough and Spohrer, 2006, Mohr and Russel, 2002).

To understand the differences between services and goods, four characteristics that describe the unique nature of services were first proposed in the early services marketing literature, are widely accepted by scholars and are consistently cited in the literature: intangibility, heterogeneity, inseparability and perishability (IHIP) (Regan, 1963, Rathmell, 1966, Shostack, 1977, Zeithaml, 1981, Zeithaml et al., 1985, Edvardsson et al., 2005).

Intangibility of Services: This is the basic difference between services and goods generally cited by authors (Rathmell, 1966, Shostack, 1977, Bateson, 1979, Berry, 1980, Lovelock, 1981, Rathmell, 1974). Since services are performances, rather than objects, they cannot be directly experienced, felt, tasted, touched and smelled as well as tested in the similar way in which goods can be sensed (Levitt, 1981). Inseparability of Services: The simultaneous delivery and consumption of services which characterizes most services (Zeithaml, 1981, Bowen, 1990, Donnelly, 1976, Onkvisit, 1991, Wyckham, 1975). While goods are first produced, then sold and then consumed, services are sold first, then produced and consumed simultaneously such as a haircut and a doctor's visit (Regan, 1963).

Heterogeneity of Services (Non-standardization): As the service performance is delivered by different people and the performance of people can vary from day to day, therefore, heterogeneity is a significant problem for services with a high labor content, (Rathmell, 1966, Zeithaml et al., 1985, Carman and Langeard, 1980, Onkvisit, 1991). However, heterogeneity provides a degree of flexibility and customization of the service (Onkvisit, 1991). Thus, heterogeneity can be introduced as a benefit and a point of differentiation (Wyckham, 1975).

Perishability of Services (Cannot be inventoried): Services cannot be stored and carried forward to a future time period (Rathmell, 1966, Zeithaml et al., 1985, Donnelly, 1976).

B. Considerations on the characteristics of services:

Over the past 20 years, several types of customer service are offered through technology. The majority of these technology-delivered services are started and completed by the consumer and do not require any direct or indirect contact with the service provider (seller). The consumer starts the process using internet technology, completes the interaction without ever being in face-to-face or voice contact with an employee (Barnes et al., 1997). Examples include banking technology based self-service options such as ATMs and online banking services. Other examples include: automated airline ticketing, hotel reservations and room checkout, self-scanning at retail stores and home shopping using the internet. In the education sector, students register for university courses, collect their grades online and schools provide online classes where students and teacher interact virtually on the internet ((Dabholkar, 1997, Dabholkar, 1994).

A series of articles have brought to the forefront the idea of the marketspace transaction as replacing the traditional marketplace transaction. The market-space is "a virtual realm where products and services exist as digital information and can be delivered through information based channels (Rayport and Sviokla, 1994, Rayport and Sviokla, 1995). Based on the evolution in the information technology, it is not necessary for buyer and a physical seller to be present to facilitate a successful transaction (Barnes et al., 1997). Providing service through technology is usually more cost-effective for the service provider. The technology is reliable and consistent in delivering service and it provides high levels of efficiency. It is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. The customer can access the service at any time, from any location and completely at his/her convenience. The level of service provided is consistent from location to location and incident to incident (Barnes et al., 1997).

Moreover, firms from all industries can customize their offerings by providing contact employees with cutting edge technological tools. This front office automation includes various tools such as: powerful databases, sales force automation, call center management, helpdesk applications, product and price configuration tools (Fisher, 1998). Appendix B provides considerations associated with the service characteristics of intangibility, heterogeneity, inseparability and perishability (IHIP).

C. Information Technology Services and Service Characteristics

IT services contain an array of activities such as: database administration, development and customization, calling centers, software development and maintenance and help desk support. Software development consists of three kinds of activities: 1) services designed to produce improved functionality by developing new custom applications, or changing or improving customized or packaged applications; 2) the integration, detailed design, and execution of management services to connect applications to each other and/or with existing IT infrastructure; 3) deployment services provided to support the implementation of new applications (Sadlowski, 1998). An IT service organization may maintain hardware configurations, handle software development, distribution, maintenance and run a computer center (Niessink and Vliet, 2000). Thus, IT

services are offered by "operating, managing, installing, or maintaining the information technology of a customer or supporting the users of that technology" (Niessink and Vliet, 2000). Table 3 provides IT service characteristics in comparison to the service characteristics.

Table 3: IT Services Characteristics in Comparison to the Service Characteristics

Service	IT Services
characteristics	
Intangibility	 Most IT services are entangled with goods, where the choice of software and maintenance is linked to the computer such as specific operating system or software needs specific computer specifications in order to operate perfectly (Miozzo and Soete, 2001). The production or development of many services is, in turn, dependent on inputs from the informational goods such as computers, communications infrastructure, neural networks, electronic circuits, microprocessors, and internet communications, logistic and route planning (Miozzo and Soete, 2001). IBM, Digital, and other computer manufacturers have developed remote support centers to monitor and diagnose problems in computers operated by their customers (Rada, 1987).
Inseparability Of Production And Customer	 Services that were mainly controlled by geographical or time propinquity of production and consumption were mostly affected by the information technology infrastructure which increased the transportability of service activities (Soete, 1987). Therefore, IT made it possible for services to be produced in one place and consumed simultaneously in another, such as the software development and maintenance that can be executed in India or Russia and consumed in America or Europe (Muhammad Ali et al., 2007, Gopal et al., 2002a). Software maintenance, database development and administration and the actual software maintenance are executed separate from the consumer (Niessink and Vliet, 2000). Information technology services are partially, if not fully, "produced" separate from the consumer (Lovelock and Wirtz, 2004).
Heterogeneity (Non- standardization)	 The homogeneous perception of quality due to customer preference idiosyncrasies (or due to customization) can also benefit goods manufacturers. For instance, computer manufacturers (e.g., Dell and Apple) allow customers to specify their options at purchase time resulting in just-in-time manufacturing of heterogeneous goods that meet the customers' needs (Vargo and Lusch, 2004). The infrastructure of IT such as: email, Internet, mobile telephony, IT service applications, and operating systems are standardized (Gummesson, 2007).
Perishability (Cannot be inventoried)	 "The claim that services cannot be stored is nonsense. Services are stored in systems, buildings, machine, knowledge, and people" (Gummesson et al., 2000). Customers that participate in software developments by providing the requirement acquire knowledge which represents part of the stored service's value (Miozzo and Soete, 2001). The ICT enabled codifying and transmitting knowledge as well as the ability to reuse and recombine that knowledge. The information is not consumed in the

exchange but remains available for additional use or reuse by others (Romer,
1986).

The difference between products and services is not clear (Edvardsson et al., 2005, Gummesson, 2007, Baker, 2006, Gronroos, 2007, Grönroos, 2007). As Figure 3 shows, products and services can be entangled. For example, the restaurant meal, the product represented is the food itself, the physical environment and the services are essential to the customer. IT services contain both software development and software maintenance. It was argued that software development results in a product (operation system or financial or inventory system) that can be sold as a final product but still needs a computer to operate. At the same time, while the software maintenance results in service being delivered to the customer but it still needs the computer hardware in order to be able to execute the software maintenance (Niessink and Vliet, 2000).



Figure 3: The product-service continuum

Source: (Berry and Parasuraman, 1991, Niessink and Vliet, 2000, Edvardsson et al., 2005)

2.4 Lifecycle of IT Service Offshoring Projects

The Lifecycle model is partitioning of the life of a product, service, project, work group, or set of work activities into phases(2010a). IT service and software development lifecycle is the implemented process for managing the development of the deliverable product. For software, the development lifecycle includes the following major phases: (1) translating user needs into software requirements, (2) transforming the software requirements into design, (3) implementing the design in code, (4) testing the code and (5) installing and checking out the software for operational use. These activities may overlap and may be applied iteratively or recursively (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010a).

The product lifecycle is the period of time, consisting of phases, that begins when a product or service is conceived and ends when the product or service is no longer available for use. Since an organization can be producing multiple products or services for multiple customers, one description of a product lifecycle may not be adequate. Therefore, the organization can define a set of approved product lifecycle models. These models are typically found in published literature and are likely to be tailored for use in an organization.

A product lifecycle could consist of the following phases: (1) concept and vision, (2) feasibility, (3) design/development, (4) production and (5) phase out (2010a, Kendall et al., 2007, Lutteroth et al., 2007). Offshoring of IT services lifecycle considered for this research consists of the following six phases: 1) strategic analysis, 2) country selection, 3) supplier selection, 4) negotiating the contract, 5) execution of the transition plan, 6) evaluate results and taking corrective actions.

The following section 2.4.1 will review the previous prescriptive lifecycle models in the literature and explains the lifecycle considered for this research.

2.4.1 Review of Previous Lifecycle Models of Offshoring

Tuble II Elle		Jupine			I the Entertai	ui e
Author (s)	Phase 1	Phase 2	Phase 3	Phase 4	Phase 5	Phase 6
	Strategic	Country	Supplier	Negotiating	Execute the	Evaluate and
	Analysis	Selection	Selection	the Contract	Transition	Termination
	Anarysis	Sciection	Selection	the Contract	Dlam	remination
					Plan	
Johnson (1997)						
(Johnson, 1997)	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	
Lonsdale and Cox	✓	✓	\checkmark			✓
(1998) (Lonsdale and						
Cox, 1998)						
Greaver II (1999)	✓		\checkmark	\checkmark		✓
(Greaver-II, 1999)						
Momme, (2002)	✓			\checkmark	✓	✓
(Momme, 2002)						
Franceshini, Galetto,	✓		✓	✓		✓
Pinnatelli, Veretto						
(2003) (Franceschini et						
al 2003)						
Valabo Wu Nabar	<u> </u>	√	<u> </u>	✓		1
I alallo, Wu, Nallal, Walaba	•	·	•	·		•
Kakola (2004) (Yalaho						
et al., 2004)						
Yalaho, Nahar (2009)	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
(Yalaho and Nahar,						
2009)						
/		1	1		I	Í.

Table 4: Lifecycle of Offshoring IT Service Projects in the Literature

From Table 4 above, several scientists provided offshoring IT project's lifecycles, but each presented limitations. Momme (2002) (Momme, 2002, Momme and Hvolby, 2002) developed a lifecycle model for outsourcing in the manufacturing

industry. This framework is considered one of the important steps toward categorizing and defining the whole lifecycle of outsourcing. He viewed the phases from the operational point of view and listed them sequentially as: 1) competence analysis, 2) assessment and approval, 3) contract negotiation, 4) project execution and transfer, 5) managing the relationship and 6) contract termination. This lifecycle was developed building on the work of three research studies as in Table 5.

Authors	Phases of outsourcing lifecycle
Johnson (1997) (Johnson, 1997)	1) strategic analysis,
	2) identifying the best candidates,
	3) defining the requirements,
	4) selecting the suppliers,
	5) transitioning the operations,
	6) managing the relationship.
Lonsdale and Cox (1998)	1) assessment of the criticality of business activity,
(Lonsdale and Cox, 1998)	2) assessment of the supply market,
	3) selection of appropriate types of supplier
	relationship,
	4) selection of supplier,
	5) supplier management,
	6) re-tender or return in-house.
Greaver II (1999) (Greaver-II,	1) planning initiatives,
1999)	2) exploring strategic implications,
	3) analyzing cost/performance,
	4) selecting providers,
	5) negotiating terms,
	6) transitioning resources,
	7) managing relationships.

 Table 5:
 Summary of Lifecycle Research Studies

Source: Momme (2002) utilized to build on his outsourcing lifecycle

Momme's framework combined the phases of the whole lifecycle into strategic planning. This framework consists of a logical sequence of main actions with incorporated performance measures and the expected output for each of the phases. Momme's lifecycle emphasized all generic phases. However, this lifecycle has some limitations 1) Challenges and issues management as well as identification activities are not formally mentioned in Momme's lifecycle. 2) This lifecycle only addresses the outsourcing while offshoring is not particularly mentioned. 3) More importantly, Momme visualizes relationship management as a phase that comes after project execution and transfer. The argument here is that relationship management starts from the contract negotiation phase, goes through project implementation phase and then the contract may be renewed or terminated. Thus, it is an evolving activity that spans many other phases and is not a stand-alone phase.

Franceshini et al. (2003) (Franceschini et al., 2003) provided, in accordance with the principles of total quality management, a guideline for a structured outsourcing lifecycle. Different decision and analysis tools support this approach utilizing examples such as benchmarking techniques and multiple criteria decision-aiding methods. Their lifecycle consists of four major phases: 1) internal benchmarking, 2) external benchmarking analysis, 3) contract negotiation and 4) outsourcing management. Then, the phases are further divided in sequence of activities. For example, within the internal benchmarking analysis phase, the decision maker monitors processes, analyses efficiencies and determines what to outsource. The external benchmarking phase is focused on the relationship between the client and the service supplier, from the provider selection to strategic relationship management. The contract negotiation phase is the result of the preceding phase of analysis and decision. Lastly, the outsourcing management phase consists of the recognition of the designed outsourcing process. Their model is of great value once the outsourcing decision has been made because it can be used to monitor performance (Franceschini et al., 2003).

Another offshoring lifecycle model was developed by Yalaho *et al.* (2004) (Yalaho et al., 2004). The model was built on the model of Momme (2002) (Momme, 2002). The lifecycle involves seven distinctive phases. Even though the authors adapted the model of Momme (2002) (Momme, 2002) to make it suitable to the offshoring lifecycle, limitations exist in this study. Relationship management is considered a distinctive phase in the process of offshoring and begins after the project implementation. Thus, more research is still required in the offshoring lifecycle.

A conceptual maturity lifecycle model for IT outsourcing relationships was presented by Gottschalk and Solli-Saether (2006) (Gottschalk and Solli-Saether, 2006). They based their study on organizational theories and outsourcing practices and through it they identified three phases of maturity in outsourcing relationships: 1) cost phase, 2) resource phase and 3) partnership phase. They claimed that economic benefits are the first relationship focus, then access to competence is the concern and finally the main focus is development of norms and contract/alliance management. They suggested that a long term IT outsourcing relationship will change focus as it matures. This study is the theory based phase model and is exclusively dedicated to the maturity of outsourcing relationships and does not offer a complete description of how the offshoring lifecycle progress (Gottschalk and Solli-Saether, 2006).

In summary, reviewing the literature reveals that most of the existing offshoring lifecycle models are linear, where all phases of offshoring are plotted on one simple horizontal line as indicated in part 1 of Figure 1 (McIvor, 2000, Kern and Willcocks,

2000, Greaver-II, 1999, Yalaho et al., 2005, Yalaho et al., 2004, Yalaho, 2006, Johansson et al., 2003, Lonsdale and Cox, 1998, Bagchi and Virum, 1998, Fill and Visser, 2000, Pai and Basu, 2007, Bagachi and Virum, 1998). Empirical studies showed that this is not the case. For example, relationship management and risk management are evolving activities that span many other phases and are not standalone phases (Yalaho and Nahar, 2008, Lacity et al., 1996, Willcocks and Lacity, 1999, Beulen et al., 2005, Aron et al., 2008, Ellram et al., 2008, Aubert et al., 2005, Hanna and Daim, 2009b, Hanna and Daim, 2009a).

In this research, I am building on Momme (2002) (Momme, 2002), Yalaho (2004) (Yalaho et al., 2004) and (2009) (Yalaho and Nahar, 2009). The lifecycle of IT service offshoring projects and considered the following stages: 1) Strategic analysis phase, 2) Country selection phase, 3) Supplier selection phase, 4) Negotiating and signing the contract phase, 5) Project execution phase and 6) Evaluation and termination phase. Two phases spanned other phases: (1) the risk (issues) management phase and (2) the relationship management phase as in Figure 4.

PROPOSED OPERATIONAL FRAMEWORK FOR THE OVERALL OFFSHORING PROCESS



Figure 4: The Lifecycle of IT Service Offshoring Projects

Source: (Greaver-II, 1999, Momme, 2002, Yalaho et al., 2004, Momme and Hvolby, 2002, Bagachi and Virum, 1998)

2.5 Critical Issues and Challenges of IT Service Offshoring

Critical issues are the challenges that can happen throughout the lifecycle of offshoring IT service projects. This research investigated CMM/CMMI best practices to manage and mitigate these issues throughout the lifecycle of executed offshoring projects in the IT services industry.

One of the basic challenges of offshoring of IT services is the inability to communicate effectively across distances, cultures and time-zone differences (Sengupta et al., 2006b, Raffo and Setamanit, 2005). These issues were particularly acute in requirements management since it is one of the most collaborative intensive activities in IT services and specifically software development. Several studies reported difficulties in gaining a shared understanding of requirements and in managing requirement changes (Raffo and Setamanit, 2005, Overby, 2003).

Based on the literature review, this section identified issues and challenges associated with each phase of the lifecycle of IT service offshoring projects (Table 6).

Phase	Issues	Description		
	Goals and objectives	Are the client's objectives to reduce costs? Or, to access talents as		
	are unclearly	well as their innovative (Leiblein et al., 2002). The lack of clearly		
	defined	defined objectives may lead to making the decision to offshore		
		without complete information based on internal domestic costs and		
		resources.		
	Lack of top	Offshore sourcing is all about decisions made by senior managers		
	management support	and how involved they are in each phase of the process. Most		
	of the project	importantly, what skill set they own and how they are using it. Early		
	1 5	involvement of top-level management can be fundamental in		
		ensuring that all aspects of the offshored projects are monitored and		
		improved where needed (Hanna and Daim, 2009b).		
	Failure to see the	Many client decision makers fail to see the broader perspective		
	broader perspective	(Carmel and Tjia, 2005) of offshoring. The management		
les	1 1	responsibility also requires the awareness of cultural and legal		
su		differences and of risks associated with offshoring in general (Davey		
1 3.		and Allgood, 2002).		
is	Selecting the wrong	Managers that do not carefully select which IT service activities to		
No.	projects	offshore might be the reason for the IT services offshoring projects		
าล]	1 5	to fail to produce the expected cost savings or other benefits		
$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{I}}$		(Barthelemy, 2001, Faraj and Sproull, 2000). Selecting a wrong IT		
$\frac{1}{2}$		service and software development project for offshoring has great		
g. is		consequences that are discussed in the offshoring literature (Kliem,		
ha ute		2004, Aron and J.Singh, 2005, Gonzalez et al., 2005).		
tra tra	Lack of sufficient	Lack of sufficient financial resources (or human) and unrealistic		
Ś	financial resources	expectations (Londe, 2004, Dubie, 2008) of clients and suppliers can		
р С	and unrealistic	weaken or even fail the IT services and software development		
Ē	expectations	projects. In general, small and medium-sized companies have		
uo Do		neither the financial nor the necessary human resources that big		
fsl		companies usually possess. Consequently, various projects were		
JC		stopped due to lack of financial resources.		
	Organization size	The size of the client firm relative to the service provider is an		
	(size barrier)	important variable in the offshoring situation and strongly increases		
		client's bargaining power. For the offshoring service provider,		
		reputation and size are also important variables (Yalaho and Nahar,		
		2008). As Dubie (2008)(Dubie, 2008) stated, "smaller companies,		
		in particular may lack the resources to commit to an effective long-		
		term offshoring strategy".		
	Poorly developed	The client often faces this type of problem in offshore software		
	and documented	development. Specifications are erroneously written in the same way		
	requirements.	they are for developing software in-house. Offshore software		
		development requires clear, very detailed written specifications.		
		According to Overby (2003)(Overby, 2003), "The ability to write		
		clear specifications is also critical to achieving offshore savings".		

 Table 6: Lists Critical Issues of Each Phase of the Lifecycle of Offshoring IT projects

	Legal requirements	This is concerned with the lack of understanding of employment laws and other legal requirements for an offshoring country (Aubert et al., 1996).					
	Country risks	Country risks depend on the possibility of shifting local political, regulatory and economic conditions (Erber and Sayed-Ahmed, 2005).					
uc	Political risks	For example, an escalation of the India/Pakistan Kashmiri conflict created an intensified awareness of political risks of doing business in India (Rao, 2004).					
cti	Government laws	Because of the variety of regulations and legislations across					
ele el	and regulations	countries, it is necessary to study the security environment of the					
Š		country that the company intends to partner with (Ramanujan and Jane 2006). Issues such as: technology transfers, intellectual					
e2: try		property and copyrights, privacy laws, and trans-border data flows					
as(can seriously affect the offshoring relationship (Rao, 2004).					
e Co	Cultural issues	Working across cultures in offshoring software production is not a trouble-free process (Nicholson and Sahay, 2001). Specific cultures					
ore		tend to have different ways of working and they can prove					
sh		problematic when attempting cross border partnerships (Krishna et al. 2004)					
ΗC	Telecommunication	Offshoring of software development may be constrained due to a					
Ŭ	s infrastructure level	lack of good telecommunications infrastructure (Carmel, 1999, Rao,					
		2004). As Prikladnicki et al. (2003)(Prikladnicki et al., 2003) stated,					
		the telecommunications infrastructure is the foundation for all					
		and Adelakun (2003)(Jennex and Adelakun, 2003) found a list of					
		key attributes that contribute to success or failure, which include					
		telecommunications infrastructure, technical skills of employees and					
		the availability of current hardware and software.					
	the right type of	Michell and Fitzgerald (1997) (Michell and Fitzgerald, 1997) identified five types of service providers. They stated that there are					
Ę	service provider	some specific gaps between the service provider's provision and the					
tio		client's expectations. They also stated that "vendors are clearly not					
ec		all alike and, the vendor selection process must match not only					
Sel		'hard' track record, financial stability, quality and capability					
н. С. С.		vision, culture, background and human resource management					
e e		issues".					
nas Ipp	A lengthy and	Although the service provider selection process can be lengthy and					
PI Sı	expensive service	expensive, making a faster personal decision rather than a thorough					
ore	Culture of the	Culture plays a role in both the guality of service delivery and the					
shc	supplier differences	ease of service process management. Business culture practices and					
ffs	11	regulations are a significant barrier to offshoring (Stratman, 2008,					
0		Ellram et al., 2008). Major differences in norms and values cannot					
		be harmonized since they develop from inherent differences in					
	Language and	Offshoring teams may suffer from communication problems if they					
	communication of	fail to communicate such contextual information as workload,					
	the supplier	personal perspectives and other outside factors affecting their tasks.					
		Virtual teams must communicate continuously, use active listening					
		skills, keep the communication simple and clear, check often for					
		understanding and ask for clarifications (01055c, 2002). Oza et al.					

		(2006)(Oza et al., 2006) found that cultural understanding and skills in the native language and communication skills of the client are					
		essential for establishing initial trust in software offshoring relationships.					
	Time-zone	Time zone differences make it very difficult to schedule meetings, as					
	differences	every time is inconvenient for someone. Time zones were reported					
		to be a particular problem when there was a need for face-paced					
		interactions and to get information to fix bugs during integration and					
		during post-release technical bugs. In both cases, it is necessary to					
		get information about how the code was written at the supplier site.					
		This was very difficult and time consuming to get this information					
		with emails and phone calls (Herbsleb et al., 2005a).					
	Problems of	Client-supplier arrangements are mostly about contracts, not					
	Contracting	(1994)					
uC		(Fitzgerald and Willcocks, 1994).					
1 a		Many things may go wrong in any large project and it is easy to lose					
10		or if the initial estimation was nearly conducted (Cramton and					
ati		Webber 2005)					
oti	Difference in	Differences in meaning of the same technical term and jargon used					
. ŭ	interpretation of	by both client and service provider teams are one important harrier					
4 Z	project requirements	(Yalaho and Nahar, 2008).					
	Not getting the	A clear contract has two benefits. First, it clarifies					
ha	operational issues	1) expectation - it makes feasible to avoid and fix the rising level of					
nt P	resolved in the	client's undocumented expectations, the (Conner, 1991).					
ဂိ	contract before	2) cost control – the contract enables better determination of the					
ں ا	moving on to the	appropriate level of services needed,					
or	legal aspects	3) productivity – the contract provides a platform to both client and					
ų		service provider to measure the productivity and service quality					
ĴĴ		improvements.					
		Second, the service provider uses the contract information to					
		determine its costs and staff hiring requirements to meet those					
		service levels.					

	Length & type of the contract	It is important to remember that in contract negotiation each party tries to protect themselves as much as possible. The best way to do it is to use their own standard contract clauses. Offshore service providers often also have a standard contract that they offer officially to speed up the negotiation process. The problem with such contracts is that they favor the vendor and do not usually include any performance standards or penalty clauses (Tafti, 2005).
	Poor execution plan specifically timing of transition to service provider	The transition period is perhaps the most expensive phase (Erber and Sayed-Ahmed, 2005). It takes from three months to three years (Overby, 2003), depending on the project size, to completely hand the work over to an offshore service provider. Offshoring implementation is where the relationship between the client and service provider is mainly executed. The manager from the client firm must be aware that resources will be required and no savings will be realized but rather significant expenses can occur during this period.
മ	Lack of supplier standardized working practices and methods	Successful offshoring project management, tools and strategies should integrate the suppliers' perspective by taking a 'cooperative norms' development approach. Yalaho et al. (2008) (Yalaho and Nahar, 2008) agreed on the fact that they should agree on procedures and standards of the offshore project management process.
horin	Transition risk and cost	Incompatible methodologies can significantly delay the offshoring of software development.
or Offs	interfacing with the service provider	information systems of both client and the service provider.
Phase 5: Execute the Project Plan fo	Not training the supplier on critical elements of the client's product line or service expectations.	The lack of domain knowledge is the biggest challenge faced by offshoring service providers. Domain knowledge is company specific, tacit by definition and resides most of the time on the client side. Hanna and Daim (2007) (Hanna and Daim, 2007b) stated that "client and vendor must have the right mix of competencies and know-how". However, to achieve success, the client firm must transfer domain specific knowledge to the service provider through training.
	Lack of detailed understanding of the project sent to offshore	Quite often, various client firms think that offshoring is the solution for all software development projects. Research has proven that it is one source of many failures of various systems development projects in the lack of understanding of the very nature of the project (Nicholson and Sundeep, 2004).
	Difficulties in gaining shared understanding of requirements between the client and the supplier	Several studies reported difficulty in gaining shared understanding of requirements due to communication, distance, cultures and time- zone differences. Thus, requirements were frequently misinterpreted with developers at one site often make incorrect assumptions about sub-systems being developed at other sites. These discrepancies remain hidden until integration when they are very expensive to fix (Evaristo et al., 2004, Sengupta et al., 2006b).
	Poor managing and tracking requirement changes of the client company	Sengupta reported that client and supplier teams were unable to hold effective discussions on requirements due to remoteness and time- zone differences that put a severe strain on offshoring IT projects (Sengupta et al., 2006b). Existing requirements management tools do not provide rich support for collaboration. Teams typically use tools only as a shared requirements repository and hold all

	discussions outside of the tool such as emails, chats or phone calls. This involves a significant amount of "context switch" as users have to continually move back and forth between requirements and communication environments. Moreover, it becomes difficult to track and preserve discussions on requirements that are spread across several media. Again, when the requirement changes, the information is often not spread to teams in a timely manner and gaps in understanding creep over time (Prikladnicki et al., 2003, Sengupta et al., 2006b, Prikladnicki et al., 2004).
Unable to build tr between client and supplier employee	 Trust between client and supplier teams lead to more open communications and a higher quality of decision making, risk taking and satisfaction (Sengupta et al., 2006b, Prikladnicki et al., 2004). As a result, a high performance team is associated with the presence of high trust levels within its team members.
Unrealistic timelin	Having an unrealistic timeline for any of the steps of the offshore project can lead to unsatisfactory results (Yalaho and Nahar, 2008).
Lack of a full communication pl between the client and the supplier	It is about the formal communication between the client and the supplier teams such as responsibilities, who is the focal point for communication, project manager, from both sides (client and supplier), reporting schedules, milestones etc.(Sengupta et al., 2006b). Not putting a full communication plan into effect including: escalation processes, regularly scheduled meetings, review periods, and employee communication. According to Pfeffer (1992)(Pfeffer, 1992), "Conflict is largely the result of misunderstanding, and if people only had more communication, more tolerance, and more patience, many (or all) social problems would disappear".
Inadequate inform and unplanned communication between the client and the supplier	 Informal communication (Setamanit et al., 2007, Setamanit et al., 2006) (Raffo and Setamanit, 2005, Kraut and Streeter, 1995) 1) inadequate informal communication and 2) loss of communication richness. Distance, time-zone, language and cultural differences profoundly reduce the amount of informal communications. A reduction in the frequency of communication can lead to difficulty in collaborative work that may lead to longer development cycle times. Moreover, distance, time-zone differences, language and cultural differences have negative impacts on coordination and control effectiveness. It is no longer possible to coordinate by a quick phone call or by walking around the office. Informal and unplanned communication is particularly important in supporting cooperation in the software development processes (Curtis et al., 1988, Raffo and Setamanit, 2005, Kraut and Streeter, 1995). Nevertheless, distance greatly reduces the amount of informal communication (Allen, 1977, Raffo and Setamanit, 2005) which can lead to difficulty in cooperation and collaboration work and may lead to longer development cycle times (Raffo and Setamanit, 2005, Sengupta et al., 1006, Sengupta et al., 2006b).
Loss of communication richness	Rich communication is required for tasks that need coordination and cooperation such as software development. However, distance and time zone difference between sites inhibits the use of rich media such as face to face communication, video conferencing etc. (synchronous communication) (Raffo and Setamanit, 2005, Carmel and Agarwal, 2001). This can contribute to lower productivity rates and lower quality, which can negatively affect negatively the development cycle time.

	Unable to measure	The client should indicate the measurement in the evaluation criteria
ct	performance of the	(Yalaho and Nahar, 2008). It is common to measure the outcome in
<u>ē</u>	supplier	terms of user satisfaction as an indicator of product or service quality
0		as well as financial (the cost of the project against the contract) or
Ы		technical performance (Momme 2002)
e	Delivershlas not	The client needs to sheak the timelines, quality of the service and
th		The cheft needs to check the timennes, quanty of the service and
Jf	according to	software projects against the contract.
	contract.	
OI	Payment methods	The client should adopt flexible payment methods (Nahar et al.,
ati	are not flexible	2002).
nĉ	Unclear strategy for	Sakthivel (2007)(Sakthivel, 2007) stated that synchronous
ni.	the use of	communication aided by telephones, conference calls, and chat
Ц	information and	facilities are not suitable for intensive or prolonged teamwork in
Τe	communication	offshore development, especially when members are separated by
q	technologies to	multiple time zones. Information communication technologies can
n n	support	he nowerful if they are used strategically and effectively
1 5	communication	be powerful if they are used strategreatly and effectively.
OI	Ommunication	Mana IT and adding international and add that their according
ati	Over	Many IT executives interviewed reported that their overall savings
n	expenditure/hidden	were less than anticipated due to the high transaction costs
al	costs that are	associated with finding suppliers, coordinating, and monitoring work
	incurred by client	done offshore (Lacity and Rottman, 2008). Khan et al. (Khan et al.,
	companies	2003) states that labor costs are up to 10 times lower but the
9		transaction costs are much higher and less certain. These transaction
se		costs can be up to 75% of the total costs of offshoring. Transaction
Jac		costs include communication costs, travelling costs, costs of "poor"
Pł		quality and extra testing. These transaction costs are sometimes
		considered as hidden costs (Khan et al., 2003).
		······································

2.5.1 Issues of IT Service offshoring Investigated in this Research

In offshore relationships, users and business analysts usually reside at the client side and technical analysts and developers tend to perform their work from offshore locations (Lacity and Rottman, 2008). Large geographic distances substantially accentuate the complexity of coordination in such global set-ups and demand strategies for working efficiently (Han et al., 2008). Some of the most common challenges faced in offshoring projects relate to: over-expenditure, hidden costs (Tafti, 2005, Barthelemy, 2001, Overby, 2003, Khan et al., 2003), communication problems, differences in project management practices, language barriers, time-zone differences, cultural differences,

security and political issues and supplier site location (Carmel, 1999, Krishna et al., 2004) (Beulen et al., 2005, Cramton, 2001, Lawrence and Karr, 1996, Bhat et al., 2006).

Raffo *et al.* (Raffo and Setamanit, 2005) and Setamanit *et al.* (Setamanit et al., 2006, Setamanit et al., 2007) identified the issues that affect the performance of offshoring for software development projects. Issues were identified and placed into three groups: fundamental issues, strategic issues and organizational issues as listed in Table 7.

Fundamental Issues	Strategic Issues	Organizational Issues	
 Communication issues inadequate informal communication loss of communication richness Coordination and control issues Cultural differences Language differences Time-zone differences 	 Development site location Product architecture Development strategy Module-based Phase-based Follow-the-sun Distribution overhead Distribution effort loss 	Team formulation Team dynamics (building trust)	

Table 7: Issues Affecting the Performance of Offshoring Software Development Projects

Source: (Raffo and Setamanit, 2005, Setamanit et al., 2006, Setamanit et al., 2007)

According to Raffo *et al.* (Raffo and Setamanit, 2005) and Setamanit *et al.* (Setamanit et al., 2006, Setamanit et al., 2007), fundamental issues are the impact from the characteristics of offshoring of software development projects. Thus, a project manager has little or no control over these issues. However, by using the right strategy and tool support, the project manager can mitigate the negative impacts of these issues. Communication issues could be caused by 1) inadequate informal communication and 2) loss of communication richness. Moreover, cultural and language differences are also

identified as main challenges that affect the offshoring projects in many different ways. These include the effectiveness of communication and coordination, group decision making and team performance.

One of the most important global software development challenges is related to the requirements phase of software development (Prikladnicki et al., 2006). The requirements phase asks for a great deal of communication between the client team and supplier team (Sakthivel, 2005), and is particularly acute in offshoring teams (Na et al., 2007). Prikladnicki *et al.* (2003) (Prikladnicki et al., 2003) and Prikladnicki *et al.* (2006) (Prikladnicki et al., 2006) opt for face to face requirements elicitation, because functional business requirements can easily be misunderstood due to the organizational, distance, cultural and language differences (Na et al., 2007). In general, stable business requirements (Gopal et al., 2002a, Herbsleb and Grinter, 1999, Na et al., 2007, Boehm. et al., 2000) and the need for detailed requirements (Chrissis et al., 2006, Sengupta et al., 2006b) are required to overcome the difficulties of global software development. Also, the level of familiarity (precedent requirements) with similar requirements seems to have a positive impact on a project (Tiwana, 2004, Boehm. et al., 2000).

Building on the work of Raffo *et al.* (Carmel and Agarwal, 2001) and Setamanit *et al.* (Setamanit et al., 2006, Setamanit et al., 2007) and other researchers (Lacity and Rottman, 2008, Sengupta et al., 2006b, Greenemeier, 2002, Carmel and Tjia, 2005, Prikladnicki et al., 2003, Erber and Sayed-Ahmed, 2005, Na et al., 2007) in the area of issues and challenges of offshoring IT service projects, the most common issues and

challenges were identified and compared to other sourcing options as shown in Table 8 below.

Issues/challenges	Sourcing types				
issues/chancinges	In-sourcing		Outsourcing		Offshoring
	USA	Offshore	National	Multinational	
	offices	subsidiaries	vendors	companies	
Over expenditure due hidden costs					
incurred by the client (Lacity and	Low	Low	Medium	High	High
Hirschheim, 1993a, Lacity and Willcocks,				6	
1995) Difference in interpretation of project					
requirements (Sengunta et al. 2006b)	Limited	Low	Medium	Medium	High
Poorly developed and documented					
requirements by the client firm	Limited	Low	Medium	Medium	High
Poor tracking and managing					
requirement changes (Sengunta et al	Limited	Low	Medium	Medium	Hioh
2006b)	Linnea	Low	Wiedrum	Weddulli	mgn
Lack of a full communication plan					
(Setamanit et al., 2007, Setamanit et al.,	Limited	Low	Madium	Madium	High
2006) (Raffo and Setamanit, 2005, Kraut	Lillited	LOW	Medium	wiedium	підп
and Streeter, 1995)	-				
Communication and coordination	T · · · 1	Ŧ	TT' 1	XX: 1	TT· 1
problems (Sengupta et al., 2006b, Hanna	Limited	Low	High	High	High
and Daim, 2007a)					
et al. 2004 Pai and Basu 2007 Beulen et	Limited	High	Medium	Medium	High
al., 2005)	Linnea	Ingn	Wiedium	Wiedium	mgn
Time-zone differences (Tafti, 2005,					
Carmel, 1999, Krishna et al., 2004, Vogel	Limited	High	Low	Low	High
and Connolly, 2005, Pai and Basu, 2007,	Liiiiteu	Ingn	LOW	LOW	mgn
Beulen et al., 2005)					
Cultural differences (Khan et al., 2003,					
carmel, 1999, Krisnna et al., 2004, Vogel and Connolly, 2005, Mohtashami et al.	Limited	High	Medium	Medium	High
2006. Beulen et al., 2005, Hanna and	Linned	Ingn	Wiedium	Wiedium	mgn
Daim, 2007a)					
Incomplete and unclear contract (Hanna	N/A	N/A	Modium	Madium	High
and Daim, 2007a)	IN/A	IN/A	Medium	wiedium	IIIgn
Contract renegotiation and termination	N/A	N/A	Medium	Medium	High
Difference in project management	Limited	Low	Medium	Medium	High
practices	Linnea	2011	mean	meurum	1118.0
Unable to measure performance of the	Limited	Low	Medium	Medium	High
supplier					8
Supplier technical/ security & political					
al 2003 Portholomy 2001 Loving and	Limited	Low	Low	Low	High
Ross. 2003. Pai and Basu 2007. Reulen et	Linned	LUW	LOW	LUW	mgn
al., 2005, Hanna and Daim, 2007a)					
No previous experience of the supplier	N/A	N/A	Medium	Medium	High

Table 8:	Issues Leve	el Associated	with Each	Sourcing	Option

Lack of supplier standardized working methods	N/A	N/A	Medium	Low	High
Poor execution plan, timing of transition to supplier (Tafti, 2005, Krishna et al., 2004)	Limited	Low	Medium	Medium	High

The main differences between "outsourcing" and "offshoring" of IT services and software development from a financial point of view are the labor costs and transaction costs (Qu and Brocklehurst, 2003, Lacity et al., 2008, Dibbern et al., 2008). When a company chooses to outsource its IT services, costs are mainly represented by labor costs that are relatively high while the transaction costs are relatively low. When offshoring is chosen, the labor costs are significantly lower and transaction costs are high. Khan Et al. (Khan et al., 2003) states that when companies offshore, labor costs are up to ten times lower than domestic outsourcing but the transaction costs can be up to 75% of the total costs of offshoring. Transaction costs include communication costs, travelling costs, costs of poor quality and extra testing among others. These transaction costs are sometimes considered as hidden costs (Khan et al., 2003). Therefore, in Table 8, offshoring has high degree of challenges on both over expenditure issues and hidden costs issues.

Outsourcing to domestic suppliers has the advantage of personnel speaking the same language and within the same cultural background. The downside is that local outsourcing (for western companies) is expensive due to labor costs (Lacity et al., 2008). Previous research addressed the issue of knowledge transfer due to cultural and language

issues. Indeed, cultural and language issues exist with the domestic service providers, but the cultural, language, communication issues are much higher with the offshoring service providers (Beulen et al., 2005, Beulen and P., 2003, Bhalla et al., 2008).

Issues associated with outsourcing with multinational companies are considered medium degree and similar to outsourcing with domestic suppliers. The reason is that once the decision has been made to outsource with a multinational company, negotiation of the contract and the agreement is signed with the domestic offices of that multinational company (Khan et al., 2003, Majumdar et al., 2011, Kern, 1997). Thus, the domestic office holds legal responsibility for delivering the services according to the specifications in the contract ensuring that savings, service levels, and other outsourcing objectives are attained as stipulated in the contract (Kern, 1997). All communications between client and the international company will be through the specialized technical and legal personnel at the domestic office. Therefore, international companies will be treated the same as the outsourcing vendor with the exception of more expensive contracts to deliver high quality services (Oshri et al., 2008, Niosi and Tschang, 2009, Majumdar et al., 2011). Development of IT services and software costs vary substantially across nations because of labor costs. The cost of offshoring in India is the same regardless of the location of the client, but the labor costs of body-shopping to the US entails higher costs due to the higher wages paid (Niederman, 2004, Majumdar et al., 2011).

For example, Indian vendors such as WiPro and Tata consultancy (TCS) (see Table 2) have recognized the need for closer, personal, day-to-day relationships with major customers and have opened offices and increased staff in North America to provide them (King, 2005). In addition, due to political situations and natural disaster issues (King, 2006, King and Torkzadeh, 2008), many multinational companies are developing backup sites in places such as the Philippines and Canada where English fluency is common (King, 2005).

As IT services and software development have high degrees of interaction between the client and the service provider with more dynamic requirements, communication problems, cultural differences, language and time-zone differences create higher levels of challenges in offshoring compared with in-sourcing and outsourcing options (Beulen et al., 2005, Aspray et al., 2006) as indicated in Table 8.

Offshore subsidiaries are developed to overcome some of the problems with offshoring of IT services and software development to third party suppliers. Many firms have committed themselves to offshore in-sourcing strategy to obtain the advantages of low-cost professionals (Rao, 2004, Laplante et al., 2004). In this model, foreign technology workers are employees of U.S. based companies and receive the same training, software tools and development process guidelines as their western counterparts (Rao, 2004). The main difference between these workers and domestic employees is salary (Rao, 2004, King, 2005).

Researchers have found that offshoring of IT services and software development work poses considerably more challenges than domestic outsourcing as in Table 8. Offshoring is more challenging because of time-zone differences (Carmel and Abbott, 2006, Gokhale, 2007), the need for more controls (Choudhury and Sabherwal, 2003, Kotlarsky et al., 2008), distance and time-zone difference (Oshri et al., 2008, Gupta, 2002), cultural differences (Carmel and Tjia, 2005, Oza et al., 2006, Rao, 2004, Iacovou and Nakatsu, 2008, Smith and Mckeen, 2004), language problems (Beulen and P., 2003, Bhalla et al., 2008, Bock, 2008), having to define requirements more rigorously (Gopal et al., 2002a, Gopal et al., 2003), difficulties in managing dispersed teams (Oshri et al., 2008, Oza et al., 2006), security and political issues (Barthelemy, 2001, Khan et al., 2003, Vogel and Connolly, 2005) as in Table 8. Therefore, critical issues of offshoring of IT services and software development are the focus of this dissertation.

2.6 Project Success

Project success is the delivery of the agreed upon project scope, to the agreed quality measures and within the agreed upon timeframe and budget (Humphrey, 2005b). A project is defined in different ways in the literature. Reiss defined a project as "a human activity that achieves a clear objective against a time scale" (Reiss, 1995). Steiner (1969) (Steiner, 1969) defined a project as "an organization of people dedicated to a specific purpose or objective. Projects generally involve large, expensive, unique or high risk undertakings which have to be completed by a certain date, for a certain amount of money and within some expected level of performance (Williams, 1995). Ives

(2005) (Ives, 2005) defines project management as "the application of knowledge, skills, tools and techniques to project activities to meet project requirements". The extent to which these requirements are met within the constraints of time, cost and performance (or quality) defines success.

However, other literature bounds the project a task that has to be completed within the famous three dimensions of time, cost and expected quality (McFarlan and Nolan, 1995). The following Figure 5 part A shows the triangular representation of a project.



Figure 5: Project Main Components

Source: (Atkinson, 1999) (Alali and Pinto, 2009)

As Erickson and Ranganathan (2006) (Erickson and Ranganathan, 2006) and Grover Et al. (1996) (Grover et al., 1996) indicate, success can be understood and measured in multiple ways, including "the organization's satisfaction with the results of offshoring, an expectations fulfillment view (Lacity and Willcocks, 1998), a cost/benefit approach (Wang, 2002), a psychological contract perspective on fulfilled obligations (Koh et al., 2004) and a strategic fit view of success (Lee et al., 2004, Erickson and Ranganathan, 2006).

Several studies measure success as the satisfaction of outcomes and sometimes calibrated by initial expectations (Balaji and Ahuja, 2005, Grover et al., 1996, Dahlberg and Nyrhinen, 2006, Wüllenweber et al., 2008). Dahlberg and Nyrhinen (2006) (Dahlberg and Nyrhinen, 2006), in their review of IT offshoring success definitions and measures, find that satisfaction with outcomes can be evaluated along four categories which are "strategic factors", "economic factors", "technological factors" and "social factors". Additionally, overall satisfaction forms a part of their success definition. Strategic, economic, technological and social outcome factors may also apply to projects but they are not applicable in all cases.

Success in project management used to be viewed from the perspective of meeting the three dimensions of project management that are illustrated in Figure 5 part A (meeting schedule, budget and performance). However, the relative importance among these three dimensions varies from one project to another. Some have cost or budget as the critical dimension, while others have time as the most important dimension for success (Alali and Pinto, 2009).

For example, the client organization has the need for (new) functionality to be developed in an (existing) application. Project success on this level is reflected primarily by meeting the goals of this functionality, as well as quality service levels, as addressed in Erickson et al. (2006) (Erickson and Ranganathan, 2006). Two other important objective factors according to Na Et al. (2007) (Na et al., 2007) are project budget and time schedule. A project is typically budgeted as well as time-limited and sticking to the budget within time are important parts of project success (Na et al., 2007, Jiang et al., 2004, Erickson and Ranganathan, 2006, Goldenson and Gibson, 2003). Figure 5 part B illustrates how the emphasis on each dimension affects project execution. In all three approaches, the project still has to meet all three criteria but one will be more critical than the others. However, a project is by definition an effort bound by "schedule", "budget" and "quality" (Erickson and Ranganathan, 2006, Rottman and Lacity, 2008, Westner and Strahringer, 2010). Thus, in this research these dimensional factors were utilized for measuring offshore project success.

2.7 Industry Standards and Capability Maturity Models

Companies rely on teams of software analysts, programmers and engineers to develop new custom software, customize functionality, maintain applications and integrate disparate software to meet business needs.

The use of mature, stable software development discipline is proven to yield repeatable processes that translate into greatly reduced errors and reliable delivery against schedule and budget constraints. In the last decade, process improvement programs have become more and more prevalent. Some of the available options are:

- The People Capability Maturity Model (P-CMM);
- The Capability Maturity Model Integration (CMMI) for Development and Services (CMMI-DEV/SVC);
- The Capability Maturity Model Integration (CMMI) for Acquisition (CMMI-ACQ);
- Team Software Process (TSP-CMM);
- The 9001:2000 Quality Management Standard from the International Standards Organization;
- Six Sigma, a methodology for improvement (Bentley and Davis, 2010);
- Control Objectives for Information and related Technology (CobiT) (Campbell, 2005);
- IT Infrastructure Library (ITIL) (Sallé, 2004);
- Project Management Body of Knowledge (PMBOK), is a book which presents a set of standard terminology and guidelines for project management (von Wangenheim et al., 2010);
- ISO-9000, a series of standards, developed and published by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO), that define, establish, and maintain an effective quality assurance system for manufacturing and service industries (Poksinska et al., 2002);

- ISO-9000-3, standards developed to help software development organizations create quality assurance systems (Kehoe, 1996);
- eSCM-SP, the eSourcing Capability Model for Service Providers (eSCM-SP) is a "best practices" capability model with three purposes: (1) to give service providers guidance that will help them improve their capability across the sourcing life-cycle, (2) to provide clients with an objective means of evaluating the capability of service providers, and (3) to offer service providers a standard to use when differentiating themselves from competitors (Hyder et al., 2009);
- eSCM-CL, the eSourcing Capability Model for Client Organizations (eSCM-CL) is a "best practices" capability model that gives client organizations guidance in improving their capability throughout the sourcing life cycle (Hefley and Loesche, 2010).

Out of all the available options, three have moved to the top of the chain. The three leading programs: CMM/CMMI, ISO 9001:2000 and Six Sigma (Sengupta et al., 2006b, Persse, 2006). These recognized and proven quality programs are rising in popularity as more technology managers are looking for ways to help remove degrees of risk and uncertainty from their business equations and to introduce methods of predictability that better ensure success. Process improvement combines the foundation needed to understand process improvement theory with the best practices to help individuals implement process improvement initiatives in their organization.

This research investigated the Capability Maturity Model (CMM) and Capability Maturity Model Integration (CMMI) best practices from the Software Engineering Institute to manage and mitigate the issues and challenges of offshoring projects in the IT services industry.

Capability Maturity Models

The Capability Maturity Model (CMM) and Capability Maturity Model Integration (CMMI) are collections of best practices from leading engineering companies. They describe an evolutionary method for improving an organization from one that is ad hoc and immature to one that is disciplined and mature (April et al., 2005). The CMM/CMMI is internationally recognized and was developed by the Software Engineering Institute at Carnegie Mellon University.

Experience with CMM and CMMI demonstrates that outsourcing organizations appraised to higher levels of CMM or CMMI improve the ability to deliver the projects on schedule, cost, and agreed quality (Lutteroth et al., 2007). A number of governmental organizations worldwide have established CMMI maturity requirements. For example, the Danish Ministry of Science recently proposed regulations to require public organizations to request documentation of their supplier's maturity level (Sokmen, 2009).

In section 2.7.1 definitions will be listed, with the background of CMM/CMMI will be presented in section 2.7.2. Section 2.7.3 presents CMM/CMMI maturity models

under investigation in this research and section 2.7.4 presents the maturity levels. Section 2.7.5 provides CMM/CMMI models and process areas associated with maturity levels. Section 2.7.6 presents strengths and weaknesses of CMM/CMMI models.

2.7.1 Definitions

- The Capability Maturity Model (CMM) and Capability Maturity Model Integration (CMMI) are collections of best practices from leading engineering companies. They provide models that companies can base their processes on (Philips, 2011). Capability Maturity Model: A model that contains the essential elements of effective processes for one or more areas of interest and describes an evolutionary improvement path from ad hoc, immature processes to disciplined, mature processes with improved quality and effectiveness (2010a).
- A process is a set of practices performed to achieve a given purpose; it may include tools, methods, materials, and/or people (2010a, Hefley and Curtis, 1998).
- A process area is satisfied when organizational processes cover all of the generic and specific goals and practices for that process area (Philips, 2011).
- A Process Area (PA) in CMMI, Key Process Area (KPA) in CMM: a cluster of related practices in an area that, when performed collectively, satisfy a set of goals considered important for making significant improvement in that area (Philips, 2011) (Hefley and Curtis, 1998).
- Practices in CMMI are actions to be performed to achieve the goals of a process area. Practices are the major building blocks in establishing the process maturity of an

organization (2010a, Philips, 2011). Key practices in CMM are the infrastructures and activities that contribute most to the effective implementation and institutionalization of a key process area (Hefley and Curtis, 1998).

- Specific goals and practices are specific to a process area. A specific goal applies to a process area and addresses the unique characteristics that describe what must be implemented to satisfy the process area (Philips, 2011).
- Generic goals and practices are a part of every process area. A specific practice is an activity that is considered important in achieving the associated specific goal (Philips, 2011).
- Bidirectional traceability: an association among two or more logical entities that is discernable in either direction (i.e., to and from an entity). Requirements traceability is a discernable association between requirements and related requirements, implementations, and verifications (2010a, Kendall et al., 2007).
- Institutionalization is defined in CMMI as "the ingrained way of doing business that an organization follows routinely as part of its corporate culture (Chrissis et al., 2006)." Others have described institutionalization as simply "this is the way we do things around here (Sutherland et al., 2008)." Note that Institutionalization is an organizational level concept that supports multiple projects. CMMI supports institutionalization through Generic Practices (GP) associated with all process areas (Chrissis et al., 2006, 2010a).
- Institutionalize a Managed Process is a performed process that is planned and executed in accordance with policy, employs skilled people having adequate
resources to produce controlled outputs, involves relevant stakeholders, is monitored, controlled and reviewed and is evaluated for adherence to its process description (2010a, 2010c). Table 9 defines some of the basic terms used in CMMI models.

Table 9: List of Definitions for Some of the Basic Terms Used in CMM/CMMI Models

CMMI Framework	The basic structure that organizes CMMI components including elements of current CMMI models as well as rules and methods for generating models, appraisal
1 fund work	methods (including associated artifacts) and training materials (2010a)
Acquisition	The process of obtaining products or services through supplier agreements (2010a).
Contractual	The result of the analysis and refinement of customer requirements into a set of
requirements	agreements (2010c)
Customer	The party responsible for accepting the product or for authorizing payment (2010c).
Development	To create a product or service system by deliberate effort. In some contexts,
	development can include the maintenance of the developed product (Philips, 2011).
Organizational	The extent to which an organization has explicitly and consistently deployed
maturity	processes that are documented, managed, measured, controlled and continually
	improved. Organizational maturity can be measured via appraisals (Philips, 2011, 2010a).
Organizational	A guiding principle typically established by senior management that is adopted by
policy	an organization to influence and determine decisions (2010b, 2010a).
Organization's	Senior management developed objectives designed to ensure an organization's
business	continued existence and enhance its profitability, market share and other factors
objectives	influencing the organization's success (2010b, 2010a).
Process	A set of interrelated activities which transform inputs into outputs to achieve a given purpose. A sequence of steps performed for a given purpose; for example, the
	software development process (2010b, 2010c, 2010a).
Process area	A cluster of related practices in an area that, when implemented collectively,
	satisfies a set of goals considered important for making improvement in that area (2010a, 2010c, 2010b).
Process	A documented expression of a set of activities performed to achieve a given
description	purpose. A process description provides an operational definition of the major
	components of a process. The description specifies, in a complete, precise, and
	verifiable manner, the requirements, design, behavior, or other characteristics of a
	process. It also can include procedures for determining whether these provisions
	have been satisfied. Process descriptions can be found at the activity, project, work
	group or organizational level (2010a, 2010c, 2010b).
Product	A complete specification of a product or service component including fit, form,
component	function, performance and any other requirement (2010a, 2010c, 2010b).
requirements	
Product	The period of time, consisting of phases, that begins when a product or service is
lifecycle	conceived and ends when the product or service is no longer available for use
	(2010a, 2010b).
	Since an organization can be producing multiple products or services for multiple
	customers, one description of a product lifecycle may not be adequate. Therefore,

	the enconization can define a set of enneaved and dust lifeavels models. These
	the organization can define a set of approved product lifecycle models. These
	models are typically found in published literature and are likely to be tailored for use
	in an organization. A product lifecycle could consist of the following phases: (1)
	concept and vision, (2) feasibility, (3) design/development, (4) production and (5)
	phase out (2010a, 2010c, 2010b).
Product	A refinement of customer requirements into the developers' language making
requirements/	implicit requirements into explicit derived requirements. A condition or canability
Software	that must be met by software needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an
sonware	chiesting (Kendell et al. 2007, 2010b)
requirements	objective (Kendan et al., 2007 , 20100).
specification	Documentation of the essential requirements (functions, performance, design
(SRS)	constraints and attributes) of the software and its external interfaces(Kendall et al.,
	2007).
Project	A managed set of interrelated activities and resources, including people, that delivers
	one or more products or services to a customer or end user.
	A project has an intended beginning (i.e., project startup) and end. Projects typically
	operate according to a plan. Such a plan is frequently documented and specifies
	what is to be delivered or implemented, the resources and funds to be used, the work
	to be done and a schedule for doing the work. A project can be composed of
	to be done and a schedule for donig the work. A project can be composed of
0 1	
Quality	The degree to which a set of inherent characteristics fulfills requirements.
	A planned and systematic pattern of actions necessary to provide adequate
	confidence that a product conforms to established technical requirements (Kendall et
	al., 2007).
Quantitative	Managing a project or work group using statistical and other quantitative techniques
management /	to build an understanding of the performance or predicted performance of processes
quantitatively	in comparison to the project's or work group's quality and process performance
managed	objectives, and identifying corrective action that may need to be taken (2010b).
8	
Requirement	(1) A condition or canability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an
Requirement	(1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product
Requirement	(1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component to service component to service approach.
Requirement	(1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement,
Requirement	(1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented
Requirement	(1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007,
Requirement	(1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b).
Requirement	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work
Requirement Requirements management	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those
Requirement Requirements management	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b).
Requirement Requirements management Service	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service
Requirement Requirements management Service agreement	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer.
Requirement Requirements management Service agreement	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer. Service agreements can be fully negotiable, partially negotiable, or non-negotiable.
Requirement Requirements management Service agreement	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer. Service agreements can be fully negotiable, partially negotiable, or non-negotiable, and they can be drafted either by the service provider, the customer, or both.
Requirement Requirements management Service agreement	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer. Service agreements can be fully negotiable, partially negotiable, or non-negotiable, and they can be drafted either by the service provider, the customer, or both, depending on the situation (2010c, 2010b).
Requirement Requirements management Service agreement	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer. Service agreements can be fully negotiable, partially negotiable, or non-negotiable, and they can be drafted either by the service provider, the customer, or both, depending on the situation (2010c, 2010b).
Requirement Requirements management Service agreement Solicitation	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer. Service agreements can be fully negotiable, partially negotiable, or non-negotiable, and they can be drafted either by the service provider, the customer, or both, depending on the situation (2010c, 2010b). A collection of formal documents that includes a description of the desired form of reasonance from a protection work actomet of user between the service form of the situation (2010c, 2010b).
Requirement Requirements management Service agreement Solicitation package	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer. Service agreements can be fully negotiable, partially negotiable, or non-negotiable, and they can be drafted either by the service provider, the customer, or both, depending on the situation (2010c, 2010b). A collection of formal documents that includes a description of the desired form of response from a potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, we here include and potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and here includes a description of the desired form of response from a potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and here includes a description of the desired form of response from a potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and here includes a description of the desired form of response from a potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and potential supplier and a potential supplier.
Requirement Requirements management Service agreement Solicitation package	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer. Service agreements can be fully negotiable, partially negotiable, or non-negotiable, and they can be drafted either by the service provider, the customer, or both, depending on the situation (2010c, 2010b). A collection of formal documents that includes a description of the desired form of response from a potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and required provisions in the supplier agreement (2010a).
Requirement Requirements management Service agreement Solicitation package Sub-practice	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer. Service agreements can be fully negotiable, partially negotiable, or non-negotiable, and they can be drafted either by the service provider, the customer, or both, depending on the situation (2010c, 2010b). A collection of formal documents that includes a description of the desired form of response from a potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and required provisions in the supplier agreement (2010a). An informative model component that provides guidance for interpreting and
Requirement Requirements management Service agreement Solicitation package Sub-practice	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer. Service agreements can be fully negotiable, partially negotiable, or non-negotiable, and they can be drafted either by the service provider, the customer, or both, depending on the situation (2010c, 2010b). A collection of formal documents that includes a description of the desired form of response from a potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and required provisions in the supplier agreement (2010a). An informative model component that provides guidance for interpreting and implementing specific or generic practices.
Requirement Requirements management Service agreement Solicitation package Sub-practice	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer. Service agreements can be fully negotiable, partially negotiable, or non-negotiable, and they can be drafted either by the service provider, the customer, or both, depending on the situation (2010c, 2010b). A collection of formal documents that includes a description of the desired form of response from a potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and required provisions in the supplier agreement (2010a). An informative model component that provides guidance for interpreting and implementing specific or generic practices. Sub-practices may be worded as if prescriptive, but they are actually meant only to
Requirement Requirements management Service agreement Solicitation package Sub-practice	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer. Service agreements can be fully negotiable, partially negotiable, or non-negotiable, and they can be drafted either by the service provider, the customer, or both, depending on the situation (2010c, 2010b). A collection of formal documents that includes a description of the desired form of response from a potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and required provisions in the supplier agreement (2010a). An informative model component that provides guidance for interpreting and implementing specific or generic practices. Sub-practices may be worded as if prescriptive, but they are actually meant only to provide ideas that can be useful for process improvement (2010a).
Requirement Requirements management Service agreement Solicitation package Sub-practice Sub-process	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer. Service agreements can be fully negotiable, partially negotiable, or non-negotiable, and they can be drafted either by the service provider, the customer, or both, depending on the situation (2010c, 2010b). A collection of formal documents that includes a description of the desired form of response from a potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and required provisions in the supplier agreement (2010a). An informative model component that provides guidance for interpreting and implementing specific or generic practices. Sub-practices may be worded as if prescriptive, but they are actually meant only to provide ideas that can be useful for process improvement (2010a).
RequirementRequirements managementService agreementSolicitation packageSub-practiceSub-process	 (1) A condition or capability needed by a user to solve a problem or achieve an objective. (2) A condition or capability that must be met or possessed by a product, service, product component or service component to satisfy a supplier agreement, standard, specification, or other formally imposed documents. (3) A documented representation of a condition or capability as in (1) or (2) (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010b). The management of all requirements received by or generated by the project or work group, including both technical and non-technical requirements as well as those requirements levied on the project or work group by the organization (2010b). A binding, written record of a promised exchange of value between a service provider and a customer. Service agreements can be fully negotiable, partially negotiable, or non-negotiable, and they can be drafted either by the service provider, the customer, or both, depending on the situation (2010c, 2010b). A collection of formal documents that includes a description of the desired form of response from a potential supplier, the relevant statement of work for the supplier, and required provisions in the supplier agreement (2010a). An informative model component that provides guidance for interpreting and implementing specific or generic practices. Sub-practices may be worded as if prescriptive, but they are actually meant only to provide ideas that can be useful for process improvement (2010a). A process that is part of a larger process. The terms process, sub-process, and process element form a hierarchy with process as the highest, most general term,

	also be called a process element if it is not decomposed into further sub-processes (Kendall et al., 2007, 2010a).
Supplier	(1) An entity delivering products or performing services being acquired. (2) An
	individual, partnership, company, corporation, association, or other entity having an
	agreement with an acquirer for the design, development, manufacture, maintenance,
	modification or supply of items under the terms of an agreement(2010a).
Supplier	A documented agreement between the acquirer and supplier (2010a).
agreement	
Team	A group of people with complementary skills and expertise who work together to accomplish specified objectives.
	A team establishes and maintains a process that identifies roles, responsibilities, and
	interfaces; is sufficiently precise to enable the team to measure, manage, and
	improve their work performance and enables the team to make and defend their
	commitments (2010a).
Validation	Confirmation that the product or service, as provided (or as it will be provided), will
	fulfill its intended use.
	In other words, validation ensures that the company is building the right thing
	(2010a).
Verification	Confirmation that work products properly reflect the requirements specified for
	them (2010a).

2.7.2 Background of CMM/CMMI

The Capability Maturity Model (CMM) was originally developed in the 1980s by the U.S. Department of Defense (DOD) and Software Engineering Institute (SEI) at Carnegie Mellon University as a method for objective evaluation of contractors for military software projects. It has been continuously revised since then. CMM/CMMI is registered in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office by Carnegie Mellon University (Paulk et al., 1993, 2010a, 2010b).

In 1997, development of CMM was superseded by Capability Maturity Model Integration (CMMI) (Chrissis et al., 2006). CMMI was developed by a group of experts from industry, government and the Software Engineering Institute (SEI) at Carnegie Mellon University. The main difference between CMM and CMMI is that the word "software" does not appear in definitions of CMMI. This generalization of improvement concepts makes CMMI extremely abstract. It is not as specific to software engineering as its predecessor, the Software CMM.

CMM/CMMI in software engineering and organizational development is a process improvement approach that provides organizations with the essential elements for effective process improvement. CMM/CMMI can be used to guide process improvement across a project, a division or an entire organization (2010b).

There are numerous instances of large, medium and small software systems suffering unexpected cost increases, schedule delays and even complete failure (2010b, Humphrey, 2005a, Ibbs and Kwak, 2000). As a consequence, the U.S. military and other organizations were looking for ways to rate the reliability of the software development work a contractor could offer. The original CMM and its successors CMMI were, and are still, used for many government projects.

The idea behind CMM/CMMI is that a high-quality process yields a high-quality product at the end. As a consequence, CMM/CMMI aims at providing objective measures for the quality of software development processes and strategies for their improvement. CMM/CMMI tries to define the key elements of an effective process and outlines how to improve suboptimal processes, i.e. the evolution from an "immature" process to a "mature, disciplined" one (2010c, 2010a). It describes key practices for meeting goals for cost, schedule, functionality and product quality.

A maturity model can be viewed as a set of structured levels that describe how well the behaviors, practices and processes of an organization can reliably and sustainably produce required outcomes. CMM/CMMI ranks software developing organizations according to a hierarchy of five maturity levels, with the first being the least mature and the fifth being the most mature. The five levels are: initial, managed, defined, quantitatively managed and optimizing as shown in Figure 6.



Figure 6: Characteristics of CMM/CMMI Maturity Levels

Source: (2010b, 2010a)

CMMI models provide guidance for developing or improving processes that meet the business goals of an organization. A CMMI model may also be used as a framework for appraising the process maturity of the organization (2006). CMMI provides a structured view of process improvement across an organization, not just the organizational parts concerned with software development. CMMI defines 25 key process areas to implement. For each process area, required goals, expected practices and recommended sub-practices are defined. In addition, a set of generic practices must be applied for all processes (2010a, 2010b).

There are two categories of goals and practices: generic and specific. Specific goals and practices are specific to a process area. Generic goals and practices are a part of every process area. A process area is satisfied when organizational processes cover all of the generic and specific goals and practices for that process area as in Figure 7 (2010c).





Figure 7: CMM/CMMI Model Component Source: (2010a, 2010b, Sawyer, 2004)

A software developing organization ranked at a certain maturity level can improve over time and reach the next level of maturity. However, a new level has to be 61 well established before the next level can be achieved, so it is not possible to skip levels. This is because each level builds on the preceding ones and adds features to the process rather than replacing them (2010b).

Institutionalization is an important concept in process improvement. When mentioned in the generic goal and generic practice descriptions, institutionalization implies that the process is ingrained in the way the work is performed and there is commitment and consistency to performing (i.e., executing) the process. An institutionalized process is more likely to be retained during times of stress.

However, when the requirements and objectives for the process change, however, the implementation of the process may also need to change to ensure that it remains effective. The generic practices describe activities that address these aspects of institutionalization. The degree of institutionalization is embodied in the generic goals and expressed in the names of the processes associated with each goal (2010a, 2010c).

2.7.3 CMM/CMMI Models

CMMI best practices are published in documents called models, each of which addresses a different area of interest: development, acquisition and services. CMMI now includes the concept of CMMI "constellations." A constellation is a set of CMMI components designed to meet the needs of a specific area of interest. A constellation can produce one or more related CMMI models as well as related appraisal and training materials. CMMI for Development is the first of these constellations. There are two other constellations, one for improving services and one for acquisition. Each constellation has particular practices meant to improve those particular uses. CMMI for Acquisition and CMMI for Services are now all at v1.3. In the original CMM for Software, the process areas were called "Key Process Areas" or KPAs.

The focus of this research is on the following CMM/CMMI models:

- 1) CMMI for Development/Services (CMMI-DEV, SVC)
- 2) CMMI for Acquisition (CMMI-ACQ)
- 3) CMM for People
- 4) CMM for Team Software Process (TSP)

In the following section, each CMM/CMMI model will be explained along with the process areas of each of the five maturity levels. A discussion of strength and weaknesses of CMM/CMMI model will be mentioned.

1. CMMI for Development/Services

CMMI for Development (CMMI-DEV), current version 1.3 was released in November 2010. It addresses product and service development processes within an organization and to external customers. The main difference between CMMI for Development and CMMI for Services is that in process area names, purpose statements, and throughout the text, in CMMI for Services, the notion of "project" has largely been replaced with the term "work". For example, in CMMI for Services, "Project Planning" becomes "Work Planning" and so forth. The rationale for that is the result of months of debate over the relevance and subsequent confusion over the concept of a "project" in the context of service work. While the concept of a "project" is appropriate for many types of services, it is quite inappropriate for most services and substituting the term "work" for "project" has effectively zero negative consequences in a service context. Therefore, in this research CMMI for Development and CMMI for Services will be considered the same. Moreover, in this research we are focusing on projects that have time schedule, budget, expected functionality and expected quality.

The CMMI-DEV model provides guidance for applying CMMI best practices in a development organization. Best practices in the model focus on activities for developing quality products and services to meet the needs of customers and end users. The CMMI-DEV model is a collection of development best practices from government and industry that is generated from the CMMI architecture and framework (2010b). It addresses practices that cover the product's lifecycle from conception through delivery and maintenance. The emphasis is on the work necessary to build and maintain the total product. CMMI-DEV contains 22 process areas. Of those process areas, 16 are core process areas shown in Figure 8 and Figure 12.

All CMMI-DEV model practices focus on the activities of the developer organization. Five process areas focus on practices specific to development: addressing requirements development, technical solution, product integration, verification and validation shown in Figure 8 and Figure 12.

Maturity Level	Characteristics	Improvement Focus	Results
5 Optimizing	Continuous improvement	Still human intensive process Maintain organization at optimizing level	Productivity & Quality
4 Managed	Measured process (quantitative basis for improvement)	Defect prevention Technology change management Process change management	
3 Defined	Process defined and institutionalized (qualitative basis for improvement)	Quantitative process management Software quality management	
2 Repeatable	Process still dependent on individuals (intuitive)	Organization process focus Organization process definition Peer reviews Training program Intergroup coordination Software product engineering Integrated software management	
1 Initial	Crisis-driven (ad hoc/chaotic)	Software project planning Software project tracking Software subcontract management Software quality assurance Software configuration management Requirements management	Risk

Figure 8: Five Maturity Levels of CMMI-DEV

Source: (Chrissis et al., 2006)

CMMI for Development is a reference model that covers activities for developing both products and services. Organizations from many industries such as aerospace, banking, computer hardware, software, defense, automobile manufacturing and telecommunications adopt CMMI for Development. CMMI for Development contains practices that cover project management, process management, systems engineering, hardware engineering, software engineering and other supporting processes used in development and maintenance (2010b, Babar et al., 2007).

2. CMMI for Acquisition

The latest version of CMMI for Acquisition (CMMI-ACQ) v.1.3 was released in November 2010. It includes acquisition best practices from government and industry for acquiring products and services. CMMI-ACQ addresses the growing trend in business and government for organizations to purchase or outsource required products and services as an alternative to in-house development or resource allocation.

Acquisition is "the process of obtaining products or services through a supplier agreement". This would include outsourcing where supplier agreements are established (2010a). All CMMI models, including CMMI-ACQ, rank software developing organizations according to a hierarchy of five maturity levels with the first being the least mature and the fifth being the most mature. The five levels are: initial, managed, defined, quantitatively managed and optimizing. CMMI-ACQ Level 1: Processes are usually ad hoc and chaotic. Level 2: The acquirer establishes agreements with suppliers supporting the projects and manages these agreements to ensure each supplier delivers on their commitments. The acquirer develops and manages customer and contractual requirements. Level 3: Acquirers use defined processes for managing projects and suppliers. They embed tenets of project management and acquisition best practices, such as integrated project management and acquisition technical management, into the standard process set as in Figure 9.



Source: (2010a)

All CMMI-ACQ model practices focus on the activities of the client company that are specific for acquisition. Those activities and process areas include: agreement management, acquisition requirements development, acquisition technical management, acquisition validation, acquisition verification, solicitation and supplier agreement development, supplier sourcing, developing and awarding supplier agreements and managing the acquisition capabilities as in Figure 12 and Figure 9.

The CMMI-ACQ model is designed to influence the outcome of the acquisition process so that it delivers the right capabilities to users on schedule and at predictable costs through the disciplined application of efficient and effective acquisition processes. The main differences between CMMI-ACQ and CMMI-DEV and CMMI-

SVC are listed in Table 10.

CMMI-ACQ	CMMI-DEV, CMMI-SVC
For the acquirer (i.e., those who acquire,	For the product and service developer (i.e., those
procure, or otherwise select and purchase	who develop or maintain products and services
products and services for business	for business purposes)
purposes, or those who outsource	
development and support)	
Focus on the acquisition of products and	Focus on the development and maintenance of
services	products and services
Generic practices are covered only in the	Generic practices are covered both in the
Generic Goals and Generic Practices	Generic Goals and Generic Practices section
section	and at the end of each process are
Explicit coverage of services	Implicit coverage of services through the
	definition of the term "product," which covers
	both products and services
Contains an Acquisition process area	Contains an Engineering process area category,
category, but no Engineering category	but no Acquisition category
Stages Acquisition Requirements	Stages Requirements Development at maturity
Development at maturity level 2	level 3
Categorizes Requirements Management as	Categorizes Requirements Management as an
a Project Management process area	Engineering process area
Contains typical work products and typical	Contains typical work products
supplier deliverables	

 Table 10:
 Comparisons Between CMMI-ACQ and CMMI-DEV/SVC

3. CMM for People

The People Capability Maturity Model (P-CMM) is a framework that helps organizations successfully address their critical people issues. The P-CMM utilizes the process maturity framework of the highly successful Capability Maturity Model for Software (SW-CMM) as a foundation for a model of best practices for managing and developing an organization's workforce. The Engineering Institute's (SEI) Capability Maturity Model (CMM) focuses primarily on the production aspects of software development. The People-Capability Maturity Model (P-CMM) complements this by

Source: (2010a, 2010c, 2010b)

explaining how people can best change their behaviors to fit the CMM approach (Sawyer, 2004).

Based on the best current practices in fields such as human resources knowledge management and organizational development, the People CMM guides organizations in improving their processes for managing and developing their workforces. The People-CMM helps organizations characterize the maturity of their workforce practices, establishes a program of continuous workforce development, sets priorities for improvement actions, integrates workforce development with process improvement and establishes a culture of excellence (Curtis et al., 2001, Curtis et al., 2010).

The People CMM consists of five maturity levels that establish successive foundations for continuously improving individual competencies, developing effective teams, motivating improved performance and shaping the workforce. Each maturity level is a well-defined evolutionary plateau that institutionalizes new capabilities for developing the organization's workforce. It describes an evolutionary improvement path from ad hoc, inconsistently performed practices to a mature, disciplined and continuously improving development of the knowledge, skills, and motivation of the workforce that enhances strategic business performance.

The People CMM applies the principles of the process maturity framework to the domain of workforce practices. Each of the People CMM's five maturity levels represents a different level of organizational capability for managing and developing the workforce. Each maturity level provides a layer in the foundation for continuous improvement and equips the organization with increasingly powerful tools for developing the capability of its workforce. The nature of the transformation imposed on the organization's workforce practices to achieve each level of maturity is depicted in Figure 10 (Curtis et al., 2001).

Initial Level typical characteristics are: inconsistency in performing practices, displacement of responsibility, ritualistic practices and emotionally detached workforce. When the company reaches the optimizing Level 5, the entire organization is focused on continual improvement. These improvements are made to the capability of individuals and workgroups, to the performance of competency based processes and to workforce practices and activities as in Figure 10.

5 Continuous Improvemen	t		Optimizing Continuous Workforce Innovation Organizational; Performance Alignment Continuous Capability Improvement
4 Empower and integrated workforce co	mpetend	ies, Pr	edictable
manage qualities		Me Ori Qu Co Em Co	ntoring ganizational Capability Management antitative Performance Management mpetency-Based Assets powered Workgroups mpetency Integration
Develop workforce competencies:	and	Define	1
workgroups and align with business st	rategy	Participal Workgrou Competer Career De Workforc Competer	tory Culture up Development tcy-Based Practices evelopment e Planning tcy Analysis
Managers take responsibility for	Ma	naged	
managing and developing their peop	ple Con Trai Peri Wor Con	opensation ning and D formance N fk Environ munication	Development Lanagement ment n and Coordination
1 Korkforces practices applied	Initial		
without analysis of impact	Workford	es practice	s applied without analysis of impact



Source: (Hefley and Curtis, 1998)

4. CMM for Team Software Process (TSP)

Team Software Process (TSP) guides engineering teams that are developing software-intensive products. Using TSP helps organizations establish a mature and disciplined engineering practice that produces secure, reliable software in less time and at lower costs. The primary goal of TSP is to create a team environment for establishing and maintaining a self-directed team while simultaneously supporting disciplined individual work as a base of Personal Software Process (PSP) framework (Humphrey, 2000b). A Self-directed team means that the team manages itself, plans and tracks their work, manages the quality of their work and works proactively to meet team goals (Humphrey, 2005b).

PSP and TSP were designed to support CMM/CMMI goals at the individual and project team levels respectively (McHale, 2003). The CMM/CMMI goals are to produce quality products on committed schedules for the lowest possible costs. CMM/CMMI improves the organization's capability and management focus. The scope of the TSP is the mainly the project, whereas the scope of the SW-CMM covers both the organization and the projects in an organization (Humphrey et al., 2003). TSP strongly supports the key practices of the SW-CMM and especially the project-level practices it targets (Humphrey et al., 2003).

TSP improves team performance, team and product focus. PSP improves individual skills, discipline as well as personal focus. The TSP can be used for all aspects of software development: requirements elicitation and definition, design,

implementation, test and maintenance. The TSP can support multidisciplinary teams that range in size from two engineers to over a hundred engineers (Davis and Mullaney, 2003).

TSP has two principal components: team-building and team-working (Davis and Mullaney, 2003) as depicted in Figure 11. Team-building is a process that defines roles for each team member and sets up teamwork through TSP launch and periodical relaunch. Team-working is a process that deals with engineering processes and practices utilized by the team. TSP, in short, provides engineers and managers with a way that establishes and manages their team to produce the highest quality software on schedule and budget (Davis and Mullaney, 2003).

The primary elements of the TSP process are shown in Figure 11. Team members must know how to do disciplined work before they can participate on a TSP team. Training in the Personal Software Process (PSP) is required to provide engineers with the knowledge and skills to use the TSP. PSP training contains learning how to make detailed plans, gathering and using process data, developing earned value plans, using earned value to track a project, measuring and managing product quality and defining and using operational processes. Engineers must be trained in these skills before they can participate in TSP team building or follow the defined TSP process (Humphrey, 2000b, Humphrey, 2002).

The objective of the PSP is to put software professionals in charge of their work and to make them feel personally responsible for the quality of the products they produce. The objectives of the TSP are to provide a team environment that supports PSP work and to build and maintain a self-directed team. PSP and TSP are powerful tools that provide the necessary skills, discipline and commitment required for successful software projects (Davis and Mullaney, 2003).



Figure 11: CMM for Team Software Process TSP

Source: (Humphrey, 2000a)

2.7.4 Maturity Levels (ML)

Maturity level is the degree of process improvement across a predefined set of process areas in which all goals in the set are attained. An organization cannot be certified in CMMI. Instead, an organization is appraised. Depending on the appraisal, the organization can be awarded a maturity level rating (1-5) or a capability level achievement profile.

Many organizations find value in measuring their progress by conducting an appraisal (2006). Appraisals are typically conducted for one or more of the following reasons:

- 1. To determine how well the organization's processes compare to CMMI best practices and to identify areas where improvements can be made.
- To inform external customers and suppliers of how well the organization's processes compare to CMMI best practices.
- 3. To meet the contractual requirements of one or more customers (2006).

There are five maturity levels. However, maturity level ratings are awarded for levels 2 through 5. The process areas below and their maturity levels are listed for the CMMI for Development, Services and Acquisition and CMM for Software models. In the following, the five maturity levels are described in Figures 8 and 12.

Level - 1: Initial Level

At the Initial Level, an Organization does not provide a stable environment for developing and maintaining their IT processes. When an Organization lacks sound management practices, the benefits of good software engineering practices are undermined by reaction-driven commitments. In a crisis, projects typically abandon any planned procedures and revert to a code and fix methodology. Success depends on having exceptional people. The process capability at Level-1 is considered 'Ad Hoc' because the software development process constantly changes as the work progresses. Schedules, budgets, functionality and product quality are generally unpredictable.

Level - 2: Managed (Repeatable) Level

Level-2 Organizations have installed basic management controls. Establish policies for managing a software project and procedures to implement those policies. Planning and managing projects are based on experience with similar projects. Realistic project commitments are based upon the results observed on previous projects and on the requirements of the current project. Project managers track software costs, schedules and functionality. Problems in meeting commitments are identified when they arise. Software requirements and the work products developed to satisfy them are base-lined and their integrity is controlled.

The capability of Level-2 Organizations is summarized as 'Disciplined' because the ability to successfully repeat planning and tracking of earlier projects results in stability. To be certified at Level-2, organizations must improve the Process Areas (PAs) as depicted in Figures 6, 8, 9, 10 and Table 11.

Level - 3: Defined Level

The standard engineering and management processes for developing and maintaining software across an organization are documented, and these Processes are integrated as a whole. There is a group responsible for the Organization's software process activities like the standards development group. An organization-wide training program is implemented to ensure that the employees and the managers have the knowledge and skills required to fulfill their assigned roles.

The capability of a Level-3 Organization is summarized as 'Standard' and 'Consistent' because engineering and management activities are stable and repeatable. Product lines, Cost, Schedule and Functionality are well under control and quality is tracked. Process definition and deployment focus on the Process Areas (PAs) are depicted in Figures 6, 8, 9, 10 and Table 11.

Level - 4: Quantitatively Managed Level

A Level-4 Organization sets quantitative goals for both software products and processes. Productivity and quality are measured and included in an organization-wide database. Projects achieve control over their Products and Processes by narrowing the variation in their Process performance to fall within acceptable quantitative boundaries. The capability of Level-4 Organizations is summarized as 'Predictable' because the Process is measured and operates within measurable limits. The Process Areas (PAs) of Level-4 are listed in Figures 6, 8, 9, 10 and Table 11.

Level - 5: Optimizing Level

At Level-5, the entire Organization is focused on 'Continuous Process Improvement'. The Organization has the means to identify weaknesses and strengthen the Process proactively with the goal of preventing the occurrence of defects. Software Project teams analyze defects to determine their root causes and lessons learned are disseminated to other Projects.

The capability of Level-5 Organizations is characterized as 'Continuously Improving', because projects strive to improve the process capability and process Performance. The Process Areas (PAs) of Level-5 are listed in Figures 6, 8, 9, 10 and Table 11.

2.7.5 CMM/CMMI Process Areas and Best Practices

In the current version of CMMI for DEVELOPMENT there are 22 Process Areas. The CMMI-DEV, CMMI-ACQ, CMMI-SVC and P-CMM share 16 "core" process areas or CMMI Foundation (CMF), CMMI for Development (CMMI-DEV) and for Services (CMMI-SVC) share the Supplier Agreement Management (SAM) process area. The CMMI for Acquisition (CMMI-ACQ) has a total of 21 (PAs) and People CMM has a total of 20 (PAs) as depicted in Figure 12 and Table 11.

CMM/CMMI Models and Process Areas



Figure 12: Process Areas associated with each of the CMM/CMMI models

Based on literature review, this research includes four CMM/CMMI models: 1)

CMMI for Development, 2) CMMI for Acquisition, 3) People - CMM and 4) TSP -

CMM. This research focused on Ten Process Areas from the CMM/CMMI

Foundation (CMF) that are common to all CMM/CMMI models.

- 1) Project Planning (PP),
- 2) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC),
- 3) Organizational Process Definition (OPD),
- 4) Organizational Process Performance (OPP),
- 5) Quantitative Project Management (QPM),
- 6) Support, Process and Product Quality Assurance (PPQA),
- 7) Risk Management (RSKM),
- 8) Requirements Management (REQM),
- 9) Integrated Project Management (IPM),
- 10) Institutionalize a Management Process.

Four process areas were selected from CMMI for Acquisition (CMMI-ACQ):

- 1) Agreement Management (AM),
- 2) Solicitation and Supplier Agreement Development (SSAD),
- 3) Acquisition Technical Management (ATM),
- 4) Acquisition Requirement Development (ARD).

Supplier Agreement Management (SAM) was selected from CMMI for

Development and Services. And, fourteen practices were selected from People-CMM

and TSP as presented in Table 11.

Table 11: List the process areas and best practices utilized in this research

Process Area (PA)	Best Practices
(CMF): From the 16	Process Areas of Capability Maturity Model Integrated Model (CMMI) Foundation
(CMF) Comm	on to All CMMI Constellations
(CMF) Project	PR1: A project plan is established and maintained as the basis for managing the
Planning (PP)	project (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management,
	Project Planning (PP), SP 2.8, ML2).
Maturity Level 2	PR2: Establish and maintain the overall project plan. (CMM ACQ, CMMI DEV,
	CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Planning (PP), SP 1.7 ML2).
	PR3: Estimate the project's effort and cost for work products and tasks based on
	estimation rationale (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project
	Management, Project Planning (PP), SP 1.4, ML2).
	PR4: Establish and maintain the project's budget and schedule, milestones,
	constraints, dependencies (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project
	Management, Project Planning (PP), SP 2.1, ML2)
	PR5 /: Plan transition to operations and support (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project
	Management, project Planning (PP), SP 1.8, ML2).
(CMF) Project	PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as
(CMF) Project Monitoring and	PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project
(CMF) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC)	PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2)
(CMF) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC)	 PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2) PR44: Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance
(CMF) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC) Maturity Level 2	 PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2) PR44: Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV,
(CMF) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC) Maturity Level 2	 PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2) PR44: Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2)
(CMF) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC) Maturity Level 2	 PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2) PR44: Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 2, ML2) PR45: Deviate the plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 2, ML2)
(CMF) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC) Maturity Level 2	 PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2) PR44: Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 2, ML2) PR45: Periodically review the project's progress, performance, and issues (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI D
(CMF) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC) Maturity Level 2	 PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2) PR44: Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 2, ML2) PR45: Periodically review the project's progress, performance, and issues (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 2, ML2)
(CMF) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC) Maturity Level 2	 PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2) PR44: Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 2, ML2) PR45: Periodically review the project's progress, performance, and issues (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.6 ML2).
(CMF) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC) Maturity Level 2	 PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2) PR44: Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 2, ML2) PR45: Periodically review the project's progress, performance, and issues (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 4. PR45: Periodically review the project's progress, performance, and issues (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.6 ML2). PR46: Review the project's accomplishments and results at selected project milectones (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Man
(CMF) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC) Maturity Level 2	 PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2) PR44: Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 2, ML2) PR45: Periodically review the project's progress, performance, and issues (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.6 ML2). PR46: Review the project's accomplishments and results at selected project milestones (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Management,
(CMF) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC) Maturity Level 2	 PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2) PR44: Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 2, ML2) PR45: Periodically review the project's progress, performance, and issues (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 2, ML2) PR45: Periodically review the project's progress, performance, and issues (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.6 ML2). PR46: Review the project's accomplishments and results at selected project milestones (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.7, ML2). PR48: Actual project performance and progress are monitored against the project
(CMF) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC) Maturity Level 2	 PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2) PR44: Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 2, ML2) PR45: Periodically review the project's progress, performance, and issues (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.6 ML2). PR46: Review the project's accomplishments and results at selected project milestones (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.7, ML2). PR48: Actual project performance and progress are monitored against the project plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management
(CMF) Project Monitoring and Control (PMC) Maturity Level 2	 PR5: Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.5 ML2) PR44: Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 2, ML2) PR45: Periodically review the project's progress, performance, and issues (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.6 ML2). PR46: Review the project's accomplishments and results at selected project milestones (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.7, ML2). PR48: Actual project performance and progress are monitored against the project plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1. ML 2)

	PR58: Monitor transition to operations and support (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.8, ML2).
(CMF) Organizational Process Definition (OPD)Maturity Level 3	PR40: Establish and maintain a usable set of organizational process assets, work environment standards and rules and guidelines for teams (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, Process Management, Organizational Process Definition (OPD), SP 1.1, SP 1.6, SP 1.7, ML 3).
(CMF) Organizational Process Performance (OPP) Maturity Level 4	PR41: Establish and maintain quantitative objectives to address quality and process performance, based on customer needs and business objectives (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Process Management, Organizational Process Performance (OPP), SP 1.1, ML4).
(CMF) Quantitative Project Management (QPM) Maturity Level 4	 PR42: Manage the project using statistical and other quantitative techniques to determine whether or not the project's objectives for quality and process performance will be satisfied (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Quantitative Project Management (QPM), SP 2.2 ML4). PR43: Perform root cause analysis of selected issues to address deficiencies in achieving the project's quality and process performance objectives (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Quantitative Project Management (QPM), SP 2.3, ML4).
(CMF) Support, Process and Product Quality assurance (PPQA)	PR22: Communicate quality issues and ensure the resolution of noncompliance issues with the staff and managers (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Support, Process and Product Quality Assurance (PPQA), SP 2.1, ML2).
Maturity Level 2	PR47: Establish and maintain records of quality assurance activities (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Support, Process and Product Quality assurance (PPQA), SP 2.2, ML2).
(CMF) Risk Management (RSKM)	PR52: Evaluate and categorize each identified issue using defined risk categories, parameters and determine its relative priority (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, Project Management, Risk Management (RSKM), SP 2.2, ML3).
Maturity Level 3	
(CMF) Requirements Management (REQM)	 PR/: Develop an understanding between client and supplier on the meaning of requirements (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, Project Management, Requirements Management (REQM), SP. 1.1, ML2) (TSP-CMM, Humphrey Nov. 2000, CMU/SEI-2000-TR-023 p.23). PR9: Obtain commitment to requirements from project participants (CMMI DEV, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, Project Participants (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI SVC, CMMI SVC, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI SVC,
Maturity Level 2	Management (REQM), SP. 1.2, ML2), (TSP-CMM Humphrey, Davis, McHale 2003, CMU/SEI-2002-TR-008, page 85).
	(CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, Project Management, Requirements Management (REQM), SP. 1.4, ML2).
	PR12: Manage changes to requirements as they evolve during the project (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, Project Management, Requirements Management (REQM), SP. 1.3, ML2).
	PR13: Ensure that project plans and work products remain aligned with requirements (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, Project Management, Requirements Management (REQM), SP. 1.5, ML2).

(CMF) Integrated	PR15: Establish and manage coordination and collaboration between the project
Project Management	and relevant stakeholders (Integrated Project Management (IPM), SP 2,
(IPM) Moturity Lougl 2	ML3).
Institutionaliza a	DD55. Establish and maintain the plan for performing the process (CMMI DEV
Managed Process	CMMI SVC, CMMI ACO, Institutionaliza a Managad Process, GP 2 2)
Generic goal and	CMINITSVC, CIVINITACQ, Institutionalize a Managed Flocess, OF 2.2).
practices	
practices	CMMI for Acquisition
CMML-ACO	PR6: Manage invoices submitted by the supplier (CMMI ACO. Project
Agreement	management Agreement Management (AM) SP 1.4 ML2)
Management	PR37: Select monitor and analyze supplier processes (CMMI ACO Project
(AM)	Management, Agreement Management (AM), SP 1.2, ML2).
()	PR49: Ensure that the supplier agreement is satisfied before accepting the acquired
Maturity Level 2	product (CMMI ACO, Project Management, Agreement Management
Watarity Devel 2	(AM), SP 1.3, ML2).
	PR53: Select, monitor, and analyze supplier processes, (CMMI ACQ, Project
	Management, Agreement Management (AM), SP1.2, ML2).
CMMI-ACQ	PR30: Establish and maintain a mutual understanding of the contract with selected
Solicitation and	suppliers and end users based on acquisition needs and the suppliers'
Supplier	proposed approaches (CMMI ACQ, Project Management, Solicitation and
Agreement	Supplier Agreement Development (SSAD), SP 3.1, ML2).
Development	PR31R: Select suppliers based on an evaluation of their ability to meet specified
(SSAD)	requirements and established criteria (CMMI ACQ, Project Management,
	Solicitation and Supplier Agreement Development (SSAD), SP 2.3,
Maturity Level 2	ML2ML2). DD22. Establish and maintain a formal contract management alon (CMMLACO
	Project Management, Solicitation and Supplier Agreement Davelopment
	(SSAD), SP 3.2, ML2)
	PR35: Establish and maintain negotiation plans to use in completing a supplier
	agreement (CMMI ACQ, Project Management, Solicitation and Supplier
	Agreement Development (SSAD), SP 2.2, ML2).
	PR38R: Identify and qualify potential suppliers (CMMI ACQ, Project
	SP 1.2, ML2).
	PR39R: Suppliers are selected using a formal evaluation (CMMI ACQ, Project
	Management, Solicitation and Supplier Agreement Development (SSAD), SP 2, ML2).
CMMI-ACQ	PR50: Select supplier technical solutions to be analyzed and analysis methods to
Acquisition	be used, (CMMI ACQ, Acquisition Engineering, Acquisition Technical
Technical	Management (ATM), SP 1.1, ML 3).
Management	PR51: Conduct technical reviews with the supplier as defined in the supplier
(ATM)	agreement (CMMI ACQ, Acquisition Engineering, Acquisition Technical
	Management (ATM), SP 1.3, ML 3).
Maturity Level 3	PR54: Supplier technical solutions are evaluated to confirm that contractual
	requirements continue to be met (CMMI ACQ, Acquisition Engineering,
	Acquisition Technical Management (ATM), SP 1, ML3).
CMMI–ACQ	PR8: Validate requirements to ensure that the resulting product performs as
Acquisition	intended in the end user's environment (CMMI ACQ, Project Management,
Requirements	Acquisition Requirements Development (ARD), SP 3.4, ML2).
	PR10R: Stakeholder needs, expectations, constraints, and interfaces are collected
	and translated into customer requirements (CMMI ACQ, Acquisition
	Engineering, Acquisition Requirements Development (ARD), SP1. ML2).

Development	PR32: Customer requirements are refined and elaborated into contractual
(ARD)	requirements (CMMI ACQ, Acquisition Engineering, Acquisition
	Requirements Development (ARD), SP 2, ML2).
Maturity Level 2	PR34: Establish and maintain contractual requirements that are based on client
	company requirements (CMIMI ACQ, Acquisition Engineering, Acquisition
	Requirements Development (ARD), SP 2.1, ML2).
	CMMI for Development and CMMI for Services
Supplier	PR36: Agreements with suppliers are satisfied by both the project and the supplier
Agreement	(CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Supplier Agreement
Management	Management (SAM), SP 2, ML2)
(SAM)	PR56: Determine the type of acquisition for each product or product component to
	A groement Management (SAM) SP 1.1 MI 2)
Maturity Level 2	Agreement Management (SAM), SF 1.1, ML2).
	CMM TSP and People
ISP-CMM	PR14: The Customer Interface Manager leads the team in estimating and
	Configuration Control Roard (CCR) to got approval for changes to
	requirements (TSP CMM Humphray Nov. 2000 CMU/SEL 2000 TR 023
	n 24)
	PR16: Team members track actual results and performance against plans on a
	weekly basis. Team members track progress against individual plans on a
	daily basis (TSP-CMM, Humphrey Nov. 2000, CMU/SEI-2000-TR-023
	p.36).
	PR17: A documented plan is used to communicate intergroup commitments and to
	coordinate and track the work performed (TSP-CMM, Humphrey Nov.
	2000, CMU/SEI-2000-TR-023 p.87).
	PR18: Teams managers are responsible for coordination across all project teams
	(TSP-CMM Humphrey, Davis, McHale 2003, CMU/SEI-2002-TR-008,
	page 84).
	PR20: Representatives of the project's software engineering group work with
	technical activities and resolve technical issues (TSP CVM Humphray
	Nov. 2000. CMU/SEL-2000-TR-023 p.87)
	PR21: Select team roles including the role of Supplier Interface Manager, who is
	the liaison between the team and the supplier company representative, and
	is responsible for requirements change management (TSP-CMM,
	Humphrey Nov. 2000, CMU/SEI-2000-TR-023 p.23).
	PR26: Establish project teams and their responsibilities, authorities, and
	interrelationships (TSP-CMM Humphrey, Davis, McHale 2003, CMU/SEI-
	2002-TR-008, page 21).
	PR28: Teams managers are responsible to track and resolve intergroup issues
	(TSP-CMM Humphrey, Davis, McHale 2003, CMU/SEI-2002-TR-008,
Deemle CMO/	PD10. Communication and Coordination and the literation and the litera
People CMM	PR19: Communication and Coordination practices are institutionalized to ensure
	Coordination process area MI 2 (Managed)
Maturity Levels 2	PR23: The organization establishes and maintains a documented policy for
	conducting its Communication and Coordination activities (P-CMM
	Communication and Coordination process area. ML2 (Managed).
	PR24: Ensure that the workforce has the skills to share information and coordinate
	their activities efficiently (P-CMM, Training and Development process
	area, ML2 (Managed).

PR25: Establish a culture for openly sharing information and concerns across
organizational levels and among team members (P-CMM, Participatory
Culture process area, ML3 (Defined)
PR27: Establish and maintain open and effective project teams' communication
and coordination plan (P-CMM, Communication and Coordination
process area, ML2 (Managed)
PR29: To maintain effective workgroups, interpersonal problems are addressed
quickly and meetings are managed to ensure that workgroup time is used
most effectively (P-CMM, Communication and Coordination process
area, ML2 (Managed)

Source: CMMI for Development, v1.3, Nov. 2010, CMMI for Services, v1.3, Nov. 2010, CMMI for Acquisition v1.3, Nov. 2010

2.7.6 CMM/CMMI Strengths and Weaknesses

A- CMM/CMMI Strengths

The Software Engineering Institute's CMM/CMMI are widely adopted and have received great publicity in the software development industry (Biberoglu and Haddad, 2002). CMM/CMMI became an industry standard based on industry best practices and has an industry standard appraisal method (Olson, 2008, Dubey, 2003).

Applying the CMMI model forces companies to commit to a number of instrumental procedures and assessments. Getting the CMMI accreditation is of a great advantage for both the clients and the employees of an organization. It improves the quality of the products and services as well as improving the productivity of the companies by enhancing work procedures. It also promotes and reinforces the company's capabilities to predict projects schedule and achieve higher return on investment and enhance the capability to manage risks. Experience with CMM and CMMI demonstrates that outsourcing organizations appraised to higher levels of CMM or CMMI improve the ability to deliver projects on the agreed upon schedule, cost, and quality. Increasingly, the industry requires suppliers to be appraised to CMM or CMMI level 3 or higher (Lutteroth et al., 2007).

Supplier assessment is one of the fundamental tasks of offshoring management and requires formal procedures and methodologies (Webster et al., 1999). Capability maturity models CMM/CMMI instruct companies to establish and maintain supplier assessment rules/policies/standards. Determining the type of acquisition, selecting suppliers and establishing supplier agreements are the typical practices of Supplier Agreement Management (SAM) in CMM/CMMI (Chrissis et al., 2006, Vivatanavorasin et al., 2006).

The Software CMM Model (SW-CMM) has been used by software organizations around the world as a template for improving productivity, quality improvements, reducing costs, improving time to market and increasing customer satisfaction (Curtis et al., 2010).

Issues associated with outsourcing require the client company to be precise in terms of their requirements. Although English is used in case of offshoring to India, their English is not strong enough to communicate and consequently understand requirements appropriately (Prikladnicki and Audy, 2009). Therefore, offshore suppliers often rely heavily on Capability Maturity Model (CMM) or Capability Maturity Model Integrated (CMMI) processes to ensure that business requirements are

properly documented (Adler et al., 2005, Rottman and Lacity, 2008). Based on more than 400 projects from 19 information sources, it was confirmed that investment in CMM programs leads to improved software development and maintenance (Harter et al., 2000).

CMMI tools minimize the risks of outsourcing projects of government and industrial companies (Harter et al., 2000). Research shows that it has proven to increase productivity and the quality of outsourced projects (Harter et al., 2000). Research studies have consistently shown results regarding improved productivity, increased quality and reductions in cycle time (Herbsleb and Grinter, 1999, Harter et al., 2000, Curtis et al., 2001, Curtis et al., 2010). CMMI for Acquisition (CMMI-ACQ) helps client companies improve relationships with their suppliers by assisting client companies improve their own processes.

Research based on case studies and interviews with experts support the People CMM approach as a key tool of managing an organization's total performance and evidence indicates that the People CMM improves teamwork, communication and knowledge levels (Vakaslahti, 1998). Since its release in 1995, thousands of copies of the People CMM have been distributed worldwide and were used by organizations small and large such as: IBM, Boeing, BAE Systems, Tata Consultancy Services, Ericsson, Lockheed Martin and QAI (India) Ltd.

The practices of Team Software Process (TSP) help create a team of software developers that can build a quality product on time, on budget and where the team is still

functional after the product is built. According to Humphrey, the Team Software Process (TSP) is designed to build and manage quality software teams (Humphrey, 2002). The practices of Team Software Process (TSP) have proven effective for teams of up to about 100 members as well as for teams composed of multiple hardware, systems and software professionals. They have even worked for distributed teams from multiple geographic locations and organizations.

TSP can help organizations at all maturity levels. The sooner the TSP is introduced to the organization the better. Adopting the TSP also can greatly accelerate CMM-based process improvement. For example, SEI studies show that the mean time required for organizations to improve from maturity level 2 to level 3 is 22 months and that the mean time to improve from maturity level 3 to level 4 is 28 months. However, NAVAIR recently announced that its AV-8B Joint Systems Support Activity moved from maturity level 2 to level 4 in only 16 months instead of the expected 50. They attributed this rapid pace of improvement to the organization's prior introduction and adaptation of the TSP (Humphrey et al., 2003).

B - CMM/CMMI Weaknesses

The CMM/CMMI model requires a considerable amount of time, money and effort to implement and often requires a major shift in the culture and attitude in the organizations that decide to apply it (Brooks, 1987, Ibbs and Kwak, 2000, Jiang et al., 2004). One study found that the median time for an organization to move up one level of the five-level CMM/CMMI is between 21 and 37 months (Herbsleb et al., 1997b).

Over three-quarters of the organizations reported that implementing any Specific Practice (SP) activity took longer than expected. In addition, an organization's culture can be adversely impacted by adding a CMMI rigid bureaucracy and reducing the creativity or freedom of the developers (Jones, 1995).

Those participating in CMM/CMMI complained that it significantly increased their project overhead. Rottman and Lacity (Rottman and Lacity, 2008) reported that "on the smaller projects, the overhead costs of documenting some of the projects exceeded the value of the deliverables. The CMM/CMMI model and primer focus on "what" should be done not "how" it is done. Neither CMMI document prescribes specific implementation approaches.

Many critics accuse CMM of having excessive bureaucratic overhead and it is therefore often thought to be only suited for organizations that exhibit high degrees of bureaucracy such as in government agencies or large corporations. CMM/CMMI may influence an organization to focus on perfectly completed paperwork rather than on productive tasks like application development or sensitivity to client needs and the market. A highly-regulated process may stand in the way when entering a market with some kind of product that is more important than functionality and high quality (Lutteroth et al., 2007).

Several researchers have suggested that CMM/CMMI does not effectively deal with the social aspects of IT organizations. Johansen and Mathiassen (Johansen and Mathiassen, 1998) argue that CMM/CMMI needs a more managerial focus. Nielsen and

Nørbjerg (Iversen et al., 2002) argue that CMM needs to be supplemented with socially oriented theories in order to address organizational change issues and organizational politics. Aaen (Aaen et al., 2001) argue that the scale and complexity of the organizational change proposed by CMM necessitates a managerial rather than technical approach.

U.S. clients often complain that the requirement process is long and requires much more expensive iterations. This is because the U.S. clients often do not understand how the supplier will interpret the requirements. For example, some clients were surprised to learn that supplier teams did not understand the concept of a mortgage (Lacity and Rottman, 2008).

When there is a big difference of maturity level achieved between the client and supplier, such as when the supplier achieved level 5 and the client is operating at CMM/CMMI levels of 2 or below, the relationship may struggle with the issues experienced. Suppliers may have to help clients improve their CMM/CMMI processes, or be flexible by finding ways to fit into the client's requirements analysis process (Rottman and Lacity, 2008).

Notably, a great number of offshoring service providers seem to be applying CMM/CMMI. In India, all top-of-the-line service providers carry at least a CMM level 4 certification, whereas client companies that are offshoring often have problems reaching CMM level 3 (Amberg and Wiener, 2005). The consequential resulting differences in business processes of the outsourcing partners can lead to major complications within the

realms of their interaction. A high level of quality in line with CMM/CMMI requires an acute amount of documentation as well as in-depth processes. If a company is not prepared for the procedures in accordance to CMM level 4 or 5, a great deal of time and expense will be involved in the coordination of the collaborative interface between the two partners (Dubey, 2003).

The practices of Team Software Process (TSP) have proven to improve team performance, team and product focus. Although these TSP methods should scale up to very large projects, the TSP has not yet been tried with projects over 100 members (Humphrey, 2002, Humphrey, 2005b).

2.8 Research Gaps

Existing literature and interviews with offshoring practitioners reveal that there has been relatively little investigation of CMM/CMMI best practices in offshoring projects, making this fertile ground for research (Sengupta et al., 1006, Ramasubbu et al., 2005, 2010b, Sokmen, 2009, Sengupta et al., 2006b).

The literature reveals that the issues and challenges associated with outsourcing and offshoring are well documented and investigated in both:

the *outsourcing* of IT services and software development projects (Sengupta et al., 2006b, King, 2005, Hall, 2003, Fill and Visser, 2000, Cio, 2002, Allen and Chandrashekar, 2000, Gold, 2004, Lonsdale and Cox, 1998, Franceschini et al., 2003, Tafti, 2005, Evaristo et al., 2004) and

2- the *offshoring* of IT services and software development projects (Paulish and Pichler, 2004, Pai and Basu, 2007, Perry et al., 2004, Prikladnicki et al., 2003, Prikladnicki et al., 2004, Prikladnicki et al., 2006, Rao, 2004, Robinson and Kalakota, 2004, Raffo and Setamanit, 2005, Overby, 2003, Setamanit et al., 2006, Setamanit et al., 2007, Tafti, 2005, Mohtashami et al., 2006, Yalaho and Nahar, 2008, Krishna et al., 2004, Sharma et al., 2008, Gurung and Prater, 2006, Carmel and Beulen, 2005, Willcocks et al., 2006, Herbsleb and Grinter, 1999, Bhat et al., 2006).

Popular process improvement approaches like Software Engineering Institute's Capability Maturity Model (CMM) and Capability Maturity Model Integration (CMMI) have been well researched and have proven to mitigate the issues and challenges of outsourcing IT services and software development projects (Ramasubbu et al., 2005, April et al., 2005, Lutteroth et al., 2007, Davis and Mullaney, 2003, McHale, 2003, Paulk et al., 1993, Gibson et al., 2006, Garcia et al., 2006, Humphrey, 2005a, Sutherland et al., 2008, Jiang et al., 2004, Dion 1993, Gopal et al., 2002a, Evaristo et al., 2004, Humphrey et al., 1991, Adler et al., 2005, Goldenson and Gibson, 2003).

Although these process improvement approaches were originally developed as methods for the objective evaluation of contractors for military software projects *(outsourcing)* and were not designed with *offshoring* development in mind, they are widely adapted and have received great publicity in the software development industry (Biberoglu and Haddad, 2002, Fitzgerald and O'Kane, 1999, Jiang et al., 2004, Amberg and Wiener, 2005, Dubey, 2003, Meyer, 2006, Gibson et al., 2006). However, the literature also shows that there is limited research and investigation of CMM/CMMI best practices and how they mitigate the issues and challenges of offshoring of IT services and software development projects (Sengupta et al., 2006b, Lasser and Heiss, 2005, Prikladnicki et al., 2007, Ebert, 2007, Ebert et al., 2008, Gopal et al., 2002b).

Gap 1: CMM/CMMI models and best practices, to mitigate the issues and challenges of offshoring IT services and software development projects, has not been adequately investigated and most evidence is anecdotal.

Research Questions:

Q1: What is the impact of client firms adopting CMM/CMMI industry standards on the frequency of issues experienced by client firms when offshoring IT service projects?

Q2: What is the relationship between the CMM/CMMI maturity level achieved and the frequency of issues experienced by client firms when offshoring IT service projects?

Q3: What is the relationship between performing CMM/CMMI industry standards practices and the frequency of issues experienced by client firms when offshoring IT service projects?
The literature shows that organizations applying CMM/CMMI best practices improved their ability to deliver on schedule, cost and agreed upon quality (Gibson et al., 2006, Sutherland et al., 2008, Dion 1993, Butler, 1995, Herbsleb and Goldenson, 1996b, Goldenson and Gibson, 2003). However, there is limited research and investigation on CMM/CMMI and its effects on offshored projects specifically with regards to delivering on time, within budget and agreed upon quality and functionality in IT service and software development (Rottman and Lacity, 2008, Jiang et al., 2004).

Moreover, the literature reveals that when offshoring IT services was examined, the focus was on the supplier side rather than the client side (Dibbern et al., 2008, Gopal et al., 2002a, Carmel, 2006, Carmel and Agarwal, 2001, Erber and Sayed-Ahmed, 2005, Vijayan, 2004, Pai and Basu, 2007, Carmel and Tjia, 2005, Nahar et al., 2002, Iacovou and Nakatsu, 2008).

Gap 2: CMM/CMMI models and best practices, to improve the ability to deliver on schedule, cost and expected quality of offshoring IT services and software development projects, has not been adequately investigated.

Research Question:

Q4: What is the impact of adopting and practicing CMM/CMMI industry standards on the offshored projects' performance outcomes?

Table 12 provides a summary of research gaps, objective, questions and hypothesis:

Gaps	Research Questions	Hypotheses
Literature reveals: 1) Limited research and investigation of Industrial standards practices and how they mitigate the issues and	Q1: What is the impact of client firms adopting CMM/CMMI industry standards on the frequency of issues experienced by client firms when offshoring IT service projects?	H1: There is a relationship between adopting CMM/CMMI Models and the IT offshoring.
challenges of offshoring IT service and software development projects (Q1, Q2 and Q3).	Q2: What is the relationship between the CMM/CMMI maturity level achieved and the frequency of issues experienced by client firms when offshoring IT service projects?	H2: There is a relationship between the CMM/CMMI maturity level achieved and the IT offshoring issues.
 Limited research and investigation on industrial standard practices and their affects on the projects' success (Q4). 	Q3: What is the relationship between performing CMM/CMMI industry standards practices and the frequency of issues experienced by client firms when offshoring IT service projects?	H3: There is a relationship between performing CMM/CMMI practices and the IT offshoring issues.
	Q4: What is the impact of adopting and practicing CMM/CMMI industry standards on the offshored projects' performance outcomes?	H4: There is a relationship between adopting and performing CMM/CMMI industrial standards and the offshored project performance outcomes.

Table 12: Summary of research gaps, questions and hypothesis of the research

Chapter 3: Research Design

The research hypotheses were derived from the research questions and are summarized in Table 12. The next section 3.1 in this chapter describes the research plan. Section 3.2 shows the integrated research model with each of the hypotheses labeled. Section 3.3 presents the formulation and defines the hypothesis.

3.1 Research Plan

Based on the literature review, the research questions and hypotheses were formed. The questionnaire was designed and two expert panels were formed: 1) CMM/CMMI IT service offshoring expert panel and 2) IT service offshoring expert panel with no CMM/CMMI experience. Testing and validation of the questionnaire was applied. Various iterations were performed to get the final version of the questionnaire. Data were collected, then the analysis phase started, followed by results, discussion and interpretation. Finally, the conclusion and future work as illustrated in Figure 13.



Figure 13: Research Plan

3.2 Research Model

This section explains the development of the research model for the offshoring of IT services and software development research model shown in Figure 14. This research investigated CMM/CMMI best practices to manage and mitigate these issues throughout the whole lifecycle of executed offshoring projects in the IT services industry. The client company is the unit of analysis.

1. Industry standards CMM/CMMI (4)	H1, H2, H3	Issues of offshore outsourcing experienced by the client (17)
2. CMM/CMMI Maturity Levels (5)		
3. CMM/CMMI practices (57)	H4.1, H4.2, H4.3	Project Success Factors (3)

Figure 14: General Research Model

This research focused on four industry standards and their maturity levels to

mitigate 17 IT offshoring issues:

1. Four CMM/CMMI models:

- i. CMMI-Development/Services
- ii. CMMI-Acquisition
- iii. People-CMM
- iv. Team Software Process (TSP)

2) Maturity levels

- i. CMMI-Development/Services (Five Maturity levels)
- ii. CMMI-Acquisition (Five Maturity levels)
- iii. People-CMM (Five Maturity levels)
- 3) Seventeen IT offshoring issues:
 - 1. Over expenditure or hidden costs incurred by the client
 - 2. Difference in interpretation of project requirements between the client and the supplier
 - 3. Poorly developed and documented requirements by the client company
 - 4. Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by the client company
 - 5. Lack of a full communication plan between the client and the supplier
 - 6. Communication and coordination problems between the client and the supplier
 - 7. Language barriers
 - 8. Time-zone differences between the client and the supplier
 - 9. Cultural differences between the client and the supplier
 - 10. Incomplete and unclear contract
 - 11. Early contract renegotiation and termination
 - 12. Difference in project management practices between the client and the supplier
 - 13. Unable to measure the performance of the supplier
 - 14. Supplier technical/security and political issues
 - 15. No previous experience of the supplier
 - 16. Absence or lack of supplier's standardized working methods
 - 17. Poor execution of the plan and timing of the transition to the supplier
- 4. Three project success factors (project performance outcome):
 - 1. Time/Schedule

- 2. Cost/Budget
- 3. Expected Quality
- 57 CMM/CMMI best practices. Table 13 presents the expanded lists of issues/challenges of offshoring and CMM/CMMI best practices that are expected to mitigate these issues.

Both lists are expanded and were validated by two expert panels. 1) SEI CMMI experts reviewed the CMMI best practices list and advise as to which practices they believe to be the most important to mitigate offshoring issues. 2) IT service offshoring experts reviewed the issues list and advised which issues they believe are more important for offshoring projects.

Issues and challenges of offshoring		Industrial CMM/CMMI Best Practices
R1: Over	PR1:	A project plan is established and maintained as the basis for managing the
expenditure		project (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management,
due to hidden		Project Planning (PP), SP 2.8, ML2).
costs incurred	PR2:	Establish and maintain the overall project plan. (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC,
by the client		Project Management, project Planning (PP), SP 1.7 ML2).
company	PR3:	Estimate the project's effort and cost for work products and tasks based on
		estimation rationale (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project
		Management, Project Planning (PP), SP 1.4, ML2).
	PR4:	Establish and maintain the project's budget and schedule, milestones,
		constraints, dependencies (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project
		Management, Project Planning (PP), SP 2.1, ML2)
	PR5:	Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as
		defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project
		Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.6, ML2)
	PR6:	Manage invoices submitted by the supplier (CMMI ACQ, Project
		management, Agreement Management (AM), SP 1.4, ML2).
R2: Differences in	PR7:	Develop an understanding between client and supplier on the meaning of
interpretation		requirements (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, Project
of project		Management, Requirements Management (REQM), SP. 1.1, ML2) (TSP-
requirements		CMM, Humphrey Nov. 2000, CMU/SEI-2000-TR-023 p.23).
between the	PR8:	Validate requirements to ensure that the resulting product performs as
client and the		intended in the end user's environment (CMMI ACQ, Project Management,
supplier		Acquisition Requirements Development (ARD), SP 3.4, ML2).

Table 13: List of IT Offshoring Issues and CMM/CMMI Best Practices

	PR9:	Obtain commitment to requirements from project participants (CMMI
		DEV., CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, Project Management, Requirements
		Management (REQM), SP. 1.2, ML2), (TSP-CMM Humphrey, Davis,
		McHale 2003, CMU/SEI-2002-TR-008, page 85).
R3: Poorly	PR10F	R: Stakeholder needs, expectations, constraints, and interfaces are collected
developed		and translated into customer requirements (CMMI ACQ, Project
and	DD 1 1	Management, Acquisition Requirements Development (ARD), SP 1, ML2).
documented	PRII:	Maintain bidirectional traceability among requirements and work products
requirements		(CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, Project Management,
by the client		Requirements Management (REQM), SP. 1.4, ML2).
D4. Door	DD 12.	Manage changes to requirements as they evolve during the project (CMM
K4. F001	FK12.	DEV. CMMI SVC. CMMI ACO, Project Management, Requirements
managing		Management (REOM) SD 1.2 MI 2)
roquiromont	DD 12.	Ensure that project plans and work products remain aligned with
changes by	FKI5.	requirements (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACO, Project
the client		Management Requirements Management (REOM) SP 15 MI 2)
company		The Customer Interface Manager leads the team in estimating and
company	1 1 1 1 7.	documenting the impact of every requirements change and works with the
		Configuration Control Board (CCB) to get approval for changes to
		requirements (TSP-CMM Humphrey Nov 2000 CMU/SEI-2000-TR-023
		p.24).
R5: Lack of a full	PR15:	Establish and manage coordination and collaboration between the project
communication		and relevant stakeholders (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ,
plan between		Integrated Project Management (IPM), SP 2, ML3).
client and	PR16:	Teams members track actual results and performance against plans on a
supplier		weekly basis. Team members track progress against individual plans on a
		daily basis (TSP-CMM, Humphrey Nov. 2000, CMU/SEI-2000-TR-023
		p.36).
	PR17:	A documented plan is used to communicate intergroup commitments and to
		coordinate and track the work performed (TSP-CMM, Humphrey Nov.
		2000, CMU/SEI-2000-TR-023 p.87).
	PR18:	Teams managers are responsible for coordination across all project teams
		(TSP-CMM Humphrey, Davis, McHale 2003, CMU/SEI-2002-TR-008,
		page 84).
	PR19:	Communication and Coordination practices are institutionalized to ensure
		they are performed as managed processes (P-CMM, Communication and
	DDOO	Coordination process area, ML2 (Managed).
Ko:Communication	PR20:	Representatives of the client project's software engineering group work
and		with representatives of the supplier engineering groups to monitor and
roblems		Humphroy Nov. 2000. CMU/SEL 2000 TD 022 p 87)
problems between the	DD 21.	Fulliphiey Nov. 2000, CMO/SEI-2000-1K-025 p.87).
client and the	F K21.	the ligicon between the team and the supplier company representative and is
supplier		responsible for requirements change management (TSP-CMM Humphrey
supplier		Nov 2000 CMU/SFI-2000-TR-023 p 23)
	PR77.	Communicate quality issues and ensure the resolution of noncompliance
	1 1122.	issues with the staff and managers (CMMI ACO CMMI DEV CMMI
		SVC, Support, Process and Product Quality Assurance (PPOA), SP 2.1
		ML2).
	PR23:	The organization establishes and maintains a documented policy for
		conducting its Communication and Coordination activities (P-CMM,
		Communication and Coordination process area, ML2 (Managed).

R7: Language	PR24: Ensure that the workforce has the skills to share information and coordinate
barrier	their activities efficiently (P-CMM, Training and Development process
between the	area, ML2 (Managed).
client and the	PR25: Establish a culture for openly sharing information and concerns across
supplier	organizational levels and among team members (P-CMM, Participatory
R8: Time-zone	Culture process area, ML3 (Defined)
differences	PR26: Establish project teams establish and their responsibilities, authorities, and
between the	interrelationships (TSP-CMM Humphrey, Davis, McHale 2003, CMU/SEI-
client and the	2002-TR-008, page 21).
supplier	PR27: Establish and maintain open and effective project teams' communication
R9: Cultural	and coordination plan (P-CMM, Communication and Coordination process
differences	area, ML2 (Managed)
between the	PR28: Teams' managers are responsible to track and resolve intergroup issues
client and the	(TSP-CMM Humphrey, Davis, McHale 2003, CMU/SEI-2002-TR-008,
supplier	page 85).
	PR29: To maintain effective workgroups, interpersonal problems are addressed
	quickly and meetings are managed to ensure that workgroup time is used
	most effectively (P-CMM, Communication and Coordination process area,
	ML2 (Managed).
R10: Incomplete	PR30: Establish and maintain a mutual understanding of the contract with selected
and unclear	suppliers and end users based on acquisition needs and the suppliers'
contract	proposed approaches (CMMI ACQ, Project Management, Solicitation and
	Supplier Agreement Development (SSAD), SP 3.1, ML2).
	PR31R: Stakeholder needs, expectations, constraints, and interfaces are collected
	and translated into customer requirements (CMMI ACQ, Acquisition
	Engineering, Acquisition Requirements Development (ARD), SP1. ML2).
	PR32: Customer requirements are refined and elaborated into contractual
	requirements (CMMI ACQ, Acquisition Engineering, Acquisition
	Requirements Development (ARD), SP 2, ML2).
	PR33: Establish and maintain a formal contract management plan (CMMI ACQ,
	Project Management, Solicitation and Supplier Agreement Development
	(SSAD), SP 3.2, ML2)
	PR34: Establish and maintain contractual requirements that are based on client
	company requirements (CMMI ACQ, Acquisition Engineering, Acquisition
	Requirements Development (ARD), SP 2.1,ML2)
R11: Contract	PR35: Establish and maintain negotiation plans to use in completing a supplier
renegotiation	agreement (CMMI ACQ, Project Management, Solicitation and Supplier
and	Agreement Development (SSAD), SP 2.2, ML2).
termination	PR36: Agreements with suppliers are satisfied by both the project and the supplier
	(CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Supplier Agreement
	Management (SAM), SP 2, ML2)
R12: Difference	PR31R: Select suppliers based on an evaluation of their ability to meet specified
in project	requirements and established criteria (CMMI ACO, Project Management,
management	Solicitation and Supplier Agreement Development (SSAD), SP 2.3.
practices	ML2ML2).
between the	PR37: Select, monitor, and analyze supplier processes (CMMI ACO. Project
client and the	Management, Agreement Management (AM), SP 1.2, ML2).
supplier	PR38R: Identify and qualify potential suppliers (CMMI ACO. Project
	Management, Solicitation and Supplier Agreement Development (SSAD)
	SP 1.2, ML2).

	PR39R: Suppliers are selected using a formal evaluation (CMMI ACQ, Project
	Management, Solicitation and Supplier Agreement Development (SSAD),
	SP 2, ML2).
	PR40: Establish and maintain a usable set of organizational process assets, work
	environment standards, and rules and guidelines for teams (CMMI DEV,
	CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, Process Management, Organizational Process
	Definition (OPD), SP 1.1, SP 1.6, SP 1.7, ML 3).
R13: Unable to	PR41: Establish and maintain quantitative objectives to address quality and
measure	process performance, based on customer needs and business objectives
performance	(CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Process Management,
of the	Organizational Process Performance (OPP), SP 1.1, ML4).
supplier	PR42: Manage the project using statistical and other quantitative techniques to
	determine whether or not the project's objectives for quality and process
	performance will be satisfied (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC,
	Project Management, Quantitative Project Management (QPM), SP 2.2
	ML4).
	PR43: Perform root cause analysis of selected issues to address deficiencies in
	achieving the project's quality and process performance objectives (CMMI
	ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Quantitative Project
	Management (QPM), SP 2.3, ML4).
	PR44: Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance
	or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV,
	CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC),
	SP 2, ML2)
	PR45: Periodically review the project's progress, performance and issues (CMMI
	ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring
	and Control (PMC), SP 1.6, ML2).
	PR46: Review the project's accomplishments and results at selected project
	milestones (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management,
	Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1.7, ML2).
	PR47: Establish and maintain records of quality assurance activities (CMMI ACQ,
	CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Support, Process and Product Quality assurance
	(PPQA), SP 2.2, ML2).
	PR48: Actual project performance and progress are monitored against the project
	plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management,
	Project Monitoring and Control (PMC), SP 1, ML2).
	PR49: Ensure that the supplier agreement is satisfied before accepting the acquired
	product (CMMI ACQ, Project Management, Agreement Management
	(AM), SP 1.3, ML2).
R14: Supplier	PR50: Select supplier technical solutions to be analyzed and analysis methods to
technical/secu	be used, (CMMI ACQ, Acquisition Engineering, Acquisition Technical
rity/political	Management (ATM), SP 1.1, ML 3).
issues	PR51: Conduct technical reviews with the supplier as defined in the supplier
	agreement (CMMI ACQ, Acquisition Engineering, Acquisition Technical
	Management (ATM), SP 1.3, ML 3).
	PR52: Evaluate and categorize each identified issue using defined risk categories
	and parameters, and determine its relative priority (CMMI DEV., CMMI
	SVC., CMMI ACQ, Project Management, Risk Management (RSKM), SP
	2.2, ML 3).
R15: No	PR31R: Select suppliers based on an evaluation of their ability to meet specified
previous	requirements and established criteria (CMMI ACQ, Project Management,
experience of	Solicitation and Supplier Agreement Development (SSAD), SP 2.3,
the supplier	ML2ML2).

	PR38R: Identify and qualify potential suppliers (CMMI ACQ, Project Management,
	Solicitation and Supplier Agreement Development (SSAD), SP 1.2, ML2).
	PR39R: Suppliers are selected using a formal evaluation (CMMI ACQ, Project
	Management, Solicitation and Supplier Agreement Development
	(SSAD), SP 2, ML2).
R16: Lack of	PR53: Select, monitor, and analyze supplier processes, (CMMI ACQ, Project
supplier	Management, Agreement Management (AM), SP1.2, ML2).
standardized	PR39R: Suppliers are selected using a formal evaluation (CMMI ACQ, Project
working	Management, Solicitation and Supplier Agreement Development (SSAD),
methods	SP 2, ML2).
	PR31R: Select suppliers based on an evaluation of their ability to meet specified
	requirements and established criteria (CMMI ACQ, Acquisition
	Engineering, Solicitation and Supplier Agreement Development (SSAD), SP
	2.3, ML2).
	PR54: Supplier technical solutions are evaluated to confirm that contractual
	requirements continue to be met (CMMI ACQ, Acquisition Engineering,
	Acquisition Technical Management (ATM), SP 1, ML3).
R17: Poor	PR55: Establish and maintain the acquisition strategy (CMMI ACQ, Project
execution	management, Project Planning (PP), SP 1.1, ML2)
plan	PR56: Establish and maintain the plan for performing the process (CMMI DEV,
specifically	CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, Institutionalize a Managed Process, GP 2.2).
timing and	PR57: Determine the type of acquisition for each product or product component to
type of work	be acquired (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project Management, Supplier
transferred	Agreement Management (SAM), SP 1.1, ML2)
to the	PR58: Plan transition to operations and support (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, Project
supplier	Management, project Planning (PP), SP 1.8, ML2).
**	PR59: Monitor transition to operations and support (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV,
	CMMI SVC, Project Management, Project Monitoring and Control (PMC),
	SP 1.8, ML2).

3.3 Formulation and Defining the Hypotheses

The hypotheses were derived from the research questions (see Table 12 and Table 14). The first hypothesis aimed to test the relationship between adopting industrial standards and the frequency of issues experienced by the client firms when offshoring IT service projects. The second hypothesis is aimed at testing the relationship between the maturity level achieved and the frequency of issues experienced by client firm when offshoring IT service projects. The third hypothesis is intended to test the relationship between adopting industrial standards best practices and the frequency of issues

experienced by client firms when offshoring IT service projects. The fourth hypothesis

is testing the impacts of adopting industrial standards on the offshoring projects' success.

Research Questions	Hypotheses
Research Question 1:	H1.1 There is a relationship between adopting CMMI-DEV/SVC and the IT
	offshoring issues.
What is the impact of	H1.2 There is a relationship between adopting CMMI-ACQ and the IT
client firms adopting	offshoring issues.
industry standards on the	H1.3 There is a relationship between adopting P-CMM and the IT offshoring
frequency of issues	issues.
experienced by client	H1.4 There is a relationship between adopting TSP-CMM and the IT
firms when offshoring 11	offshoring issues.
Besearch Question 2:	H2 1: There is a relationship between the CMMI DEV/SVC maturity level
Research Question 2.	achieved and the IT offshoring issues
What is the relationship	achieved and the 11 offshoring issues.
between the maturity	H2.2: There is a relationship between the CMMI-ACQ maturity level
level achieved and the	achieved and the IT offshoring issues.
frequency of issues	H2.3: There is a relationship between CMM-people maturity level achieved
experienced by client	and the IT offshoring issues experienced by the client firm.
firms when offshoring IT	
service projects?	
Research Question 3:	H3.1: There is a relationship between PR1to PR6 practices and R1 issue.
What is the relationship	H3.2: There is a relationship between PR7 to PR9 practices and R2 Issue.
between industry	H3.3: There is a relationship between PR10, and PR11 practices and R3
standards practices and	
the frequency of issues	H3.4: There is a relationship between PR12 to PR14 practices and R4 issue.
experienced by client	H3.5: There is a relationship between PR15 to PR19 practices and R5 issue.
firms when offshoring IT	H3.0. There is a relationship between PR20 to PR25 practices and R0 issue.
service projects?	and R9 issues
	H3.8: There is a relationship between PR30, to PR34 practices and R10
	issue.
	H3.9: There is a relationship between PR35 and PR36 practices and R11
	issue.
	H3.10: There is a relationship between PR31, PR37, PR38, PR39 and PR40
	practices and R12 issue.
	H3.11: There is a relationship between PR41to PR49 practices and R13
	issue.
	H3.12: There is a relationship between PR50 to PR52 practices and R14
	Issue. U2 12: There is a relationship between DD21 DD29 DD20 are stices and D15
	H3.13: There is a relationship between PK31, PK38, PK39 practices and K15
	H3 14: There is a relationship between DD31 DD37 DD30 DD52 practices
	and R16 issue
	H3.15: There is a relationship between PR54 to PR58 practices and R5
	issue.
Research Question 4:	H4.1: There is a relationship between adopting industrial standards on the
	offshored projects' performance outcomes.

 Table 14:
 Research Questions and the Detailed Hypotheses

What is the impact of	H4.2: There is a relationship between the maturity level achieved and the
adopting industry	offshored projects' performance outcomes.
standards on the	H4.3: There is a relationship between industry standards practices and the
offshored projects'	offshored projects' performance outcomes.
performance outcomes?	

Chapter 4: Data Collection

Internet-based surveys (email, web survey) are becoming increasingly popular because they are believed to be faster, better, cheaper and easier to conduct than surveys using more-traditional telephone or mail methods (Reynolds et al., 2006, Sue and Ritter, 2007, Schonlau et al., 2002). Internet surveys may be preferable to mail or telephone surveys when a list of e-mail addresses for the target population is available as they eliminate the need for mail or phone invitations to potential respondents. Internet surveys also are well-suited for larger survey efforts and for some target populations that are difficult to reach by traditional survey methods (Reynolds et al., 2006, Sue and Ritter, 2007, Schonlau et al., 2002). People such as major corporate executives are difficult to reach in any method other than the email (web) survey (Cooper and Pamela, 2008, Cooper and Schindler, 2006).

A standard survey instrument (Cooper and Pamela, 2008, Cooper and Schindler, 2006, Graziano and Raulin, 2006, Zikmund and Zihmund, 1999) will help to collect data for analysis utilizing Chi-square for testing the hypotheses (Hair et al., 1992, Hair et al., 1995, Dillon and Goldstein, 1984, Johnson and Wichern, 1992).

This chapter describes the data collection activities, which include instrument design section 4.1. Instrument validation is provided in section 4.2. Section 4.3 shows the instrument administration, sampling and response rate. The survey instrument used in this research was a structured questionnaire. Invitations to participants in a web-based survey were sent out by email with a link to the survey (follow-up 2 through 4). Due to

a low response rate with emails, additional contacts for the same companies list were obtained.

4.1 Instrument Design

For this research three instruments were designed:

- Model development Construct Validation: a web-based survey questionnaire that was administered to the expert panel to minimize the number of issues (from 17 to 10), and to minimize the number of practices from (57 to 40) to increase the response rate of the questionnaire.
- 2. Content Validation:
 - A. Web-based survey questionnaire was administered to the expert panel to validate the survey that will be emailed to IT and software development managers;
 - B. Web-based survey questionnaire that was administered to managers at the IT and software companies.
- 3. Web-based survey questionnaire that was administered to IT offshoring managers.
- 4.1.1 Survey Layout and Usability

The development of the survey instrument has multiple phases:

- 1. Creating the questions based on research questions and the literature review, questions by SEI High Maturity Workshop (2011).
- 2. Developing the style of the questions and creation of item scales.
- 3. Modifying the questions after the expert panel evaluation.
- 4. Modifying the questionnaire via preliminary tests through ten IT companies and Graduate students from ETM department.

The web-based survey instrument included three components:

- Introduction page: This page included the consent form along with instructions for taking the survey.
- The survey questions: This page included ten survey questions and an optional contact information section. The complete survey can be found in Appendix A of this document.
- Termination page: A short message notifying the respondent that the survey was successfully submitted and thanking them for participating.

To help reduce errors associated with sampling, coverage, measurement, and non-response in the survey, Dillman, Smyth and Christian identify eight principles for designing web-based survey (Dillman et al., 2009) (Dillman and Bowker, 2001) (Dillman, 2000, Dillman et al.). Yet, attention to these principles is also critical in enhancing the usability of a survey. Table 15 lists the principles used for design the web-survey. Marked up shots of the IT manager's survey, Figure 15 and Figure 16, clarify the manner in which these principles were integrated into the design.

Principles	Description
P1	Introduce survey with a pleasant welcome screen and instructions.
P2	Choose for the first question an item that would be interesting to most respondents.
P3	Present questions in a way similar to paper based self-administered questions.
P4	Restrain use of color to increase readability.
P5	Avoid differences in questions' visual appearance.
P6	Provide specific instructions and clarifications as needed for each question.
P7	Do not require respondents to provide an answer for each question before answering any subsequent question
P8	Avoid open-ended questions.

 Table 15: Web-Survey Goals Adapted from Dillman

Source: (Dillman and Bowker, 2001, Dillman, 2000, Dillman et al.).

Section :	2: Research	Questions
-----------	-------------	-----------

P2: Interesting first question

Question 1 of 10

The table below lists issues that may challenge a company's ability to implement IT off-shoring. For each, indicate the <u>frequency</u> with which your company/department faced each issue while implementing your IT off-shoring in the past 2 years.

*Supplier (Subcontractor) is the company or party that supplies IT process or software development services based on a contract or agreement. Supplier (Subcontractor) could also be a subsidiary that is located outside the US.

	Always	Almost Always	Occasionally	Rarely	Never
Over expenditure due to hidden costs	0	0	0	0	0
Poor execution plan specifically timing and type of work transferred othe supplier*	0	0	0	0	0
Difference in interpretation of project requirements between your company and your supplier	0	0	0	0	0
Poorly developed and documented requirements by your company	0	0	0	0	0
Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by your company	0	0	0	0	0
Lack of a full communication plan between your company and the supplier	0	0	0	0	0
Communication and coordination problems between your company and the supplier	0	0	0	0	0
anguage barriers between your company and the supplier	0	0	0	0	0
Time-zone differences between your company and the supplier	0	0	0	0	0
Cultural differences between your company and the supplier	0	0	0	0	0
ncomplete and unclear contract	0	0	0	0	0
Early contract renegotiation and termination	0	0	0	0	0
Difference in project management practices between your company and the supplier	0	0	0	0	0
Jnable to measure the performance of the supplier	0	0	0	0	0
Supplier technical/security and political issues	0	0	0	0	0
nsufficient previous experience of the supplier	0	0	0	0	0
ack of cupplier standardized working matheda	0	0	0	0	0

Figure 15: Survey First Research Question Page

Emeated Quality The		idad an anasiGad	-	and available of abarad (Transiants)
requirements were fully sa	atisfied.	nueu as specifieu		and overall on-shored in projects
	Very Good	Good	Ade	P6: Provided specific
Project's Expected Quality*	0	0	(instructions and
				clarifications as needed
Does your company/dep	artment apply C	apability mat	inty model	Integration CMMI for
Development (DEV)/Serv development? *Capability Maturity Mod performance. CMMI can b Yes No	Vices (SVC) wher	is a process improvement a	ig <u>off-shori</u> wement approa ross a project, a	ng IT service and software ch that helps organizations improve their division, or an entire organization.
Development (DEV)/Serv development? *Capability Maturity Mod performance. CMMI can b Yes No Question 5.1 of 10 Maturity Level your com Services (SVC)	rices (SVC) wher del Integration (CMMI) e used to guide proces pany/departmen	t achieved in	ovement approa	evelopment (DEV) / CMMI for
Development (DEV)/Serv development? *Capability Maturity Mod performance. CMMI can b Yes No Question 5.1 of 10 Maturity Level your com Services (SVC) Maturity Level 1	rices (SVC) wher lel Integration (CMMI) le used to guide proces pany/departmen	t achieved in P3: Qu	off-shori wement approa ross a project, a <u>CMMI for D</u> estions project	evelopment (DEV) / CMMI for resented similar to paper-
Development (DEV)/Serv development? *Capability Maturity Mod performance. CMMI can b Yes No Question 5.1 of 10 Maturity Level your com Services (SVC) Maturity Level 1 Maturity Level 2	vices (SVC) wher	t achieved in P3: Qu ba: P5: Qu	<u>CMMI for D</u> estions a setions a	evelopment (DEV) / CMMI for resented similar to paper- y
Development (DEV)/Services (CMMI can be considered as a constraint of the constraint	rices (SVC) wher	t achieved in P3: Qu bas P5: Qu P7: Res	<u>CMMI for D</u> estions project a sectors project a constructions project a constructions project a construction of the sectors of the sectors of the sector of	evelopment (DEV) / CMMI for resented similar to paper- y opear visually consistent
Development (DEV)/Serv development? *Capability Maturity Mod performance. CMMI can b Yes No Question 5.1 of 10 Maturity Level your com Services (SVC) Maturity Level 1 Maturity Level 2 Maturity Level 3 Maturity Level 4	<u>vices (SVC)</u> wher lel Integration (CMMI) le used to guide proces pany/departmen	t achieved in P3: Qu ba: P5: Qu P7: Res wit	CMMI for D estions project a pondents pondents hout ans	evelopment (DEV) / CMMI for resented similar to paper- y opear visually consistent s can move to any questions

Figure 16: Survey Questions 4 and 5 Page

The questionnaire (see Appendix A) consisted of two parts: the first part was general questions and the second part was research questions. All questions addressed the hypotheses that were stated earlier in Tables 12 and 14 above. All questions used a numeric response scale. This scale, commonly referred to as a Likert scale (Cooper and Schindler, 2006), is most applicable where evaluative responses are to be arrayed on a single dimension and when the measurement is assumed to be at the interval level. It is

most efficient where several items are all to be rated on the same dimension. A five ordered response level was used as shown in Table 16.

The first part of the questionnaire is about background information and will be used for statistical purposes (questions 1-6). Question 4 of this section confirmed if the company conducts offshoring and, if the answer is no, then the rest of the questionnaire would not be tested since this company would lack the required experience needed for this research. Question 6 of this section investigated the number of offshoring projects in the past two years.

The second part of the questionnaire consisted of ten questions targeting the hypotheses of the research. Question 1 tests the issues and challenges of offshoring IT services projects, the five-point Likert scale and Chi-square analysis were utilized.

Question 2 asked the respondents to indicate the level of their satisfaction with the performance of their offshore outsourced projects regarding time schedule. A five point Likert scale will be used, the last three scales represent the negative performance (About 20% more than planned, 50% more than planned time and double or more of the planned time) the first two options represent the goal achieved (Earlier than planned time and On-time) scenarios. A Chi-square analysis was used on this question.

Question 3 asked the respondents to indicate the level of their satisfaction with the performance of their offshore outsourced projects regarding cost/budget. A five point Likert scale will be used, the first two options represent the goal achieved (Less than estimated budget and On-budget as estimated) scenarios and the last three scales represent the negative performance (More than 10% of estimated budget, More than 20% of the estimated budget and More than 50% of the estimated budget). A five point Likert scale will be used. A Chi-square analysis was used on this question.

Question 4 asked respondents to indicate the level of their satisfaction with the performance of their offshore outsourced projects regarding expected quality. A Chi square analysis was used on this question. A Five point Likert scale (1: Very Good, 2: Good, 3: Adequate, 4: Poor, 5: Bad) was used as shown in Table 16.

Questions 5, 6 and 7 consist of two sections as shown in Figure 17:

Question 5 first asked the respondents if they Apply CMMI for Development

- a) If yes, present the second question, if their company is rated and what maturity level they have achieved (sections 5.1) then ask question 6.
- b) If no, move to question the following question (question 6).

Then, question 6 asked the respondents if they apply CMMI for Acquisition

- a) If yes, present the second question, if their company is rated and what maturity level they have achieved (sections 6.1), then present question 7.
- b) If no, move to ask the following question (question 7).

Question 7 is presented, first to ask the respondents if they apply People-CMM

- a) If yes, present the second question, if their company is rated and what maturity level they have achieved (sections 7.1), then present question 7.
- b) If no, move to ask the following question (question 8).

The last question in the group is question 8 that asked the respondents if they apply TSP-CMM. The respondent will answer either yes or no. Then Question 9 is presented.



Figure 17: Questionnaire Design

For questions 5, 6, 7, 8 and sub-sections 5.1, 6.1, 7.1, a Chi-square test was applied to test the relationship between adopting industrial standards and the frequency of issues experienced. Data was collected and categorized into two groups: 1) companies that adopt industry standards and 2) other companies that did not adopt industry standards.

Question 9 asked the respondents if they apply other quality standards models such as ISO-9000, ISO-900-3, eSCM-CL, eSCM-SP, Project Management Body of Knowledge (PMPOK) and others. This question was added based on the 112 recommendation by members of the expert panel (see instrument design section). Data collected from companies that apply other than CMM/CMMI practices such as ISO-9000, ISO-9000-3, eSCM-CL, eSCM-SP or Project Management Body of Knowledge (PMBOK), was excluded from the analyses, this way their results did not affect our data analysis.

Question 10 asked the respondents to indicate the frequency their companies apply the industry standards practices when they offshoring their IT services projects, a Chi-square test will be applied. A five point Likert scale was used as shown in Table 16.

Research Q/H	Questionnaire questions	Scales and method
RQ1/H1	Questionnaire Question	Five-point Likert scale.
	1 is about issues	
	and challenges	Chi-square and cross-tabulation analysis was performed,
	experienced by	significance level α =0.05 and Bonferroni correction
	client companies	equation was applied.
	when offshoring IT	
	services projects	The strength of the relation was tested with Cramer's V,
		the closer the value to 1:00 the stronger the relationship.
RQ2/H2	Questionnaire	Respondents answer either Yes or No.
	Questions 5,6,7 and	
	8 section 1 is about	Chi-square and cross-tabulation analysis was performed,
	applying industrial	significance level $\alpha = 0.05$ was applied and Bonterroni
	standards.	correction equation was applied, answers were
		categorized into 2 groups: 1) for companies that apply
		industrial standards 2) companies that does not apply
		industrial standards, then applied Chi- Square test that
	Questionneine 2 section	between two esteronical variables
	Questionnaire 2 section	between two categorical variables.
	2 is about the	The strength of the relation was tested with Cramer's V
	achieved	the closer, the value to 1.00 the stronger the relationship
RO3/H3	Questionnaire Question	Five-point Likert scale
KQ5/115	10 is about	Tive-point Likert scale.
	industrial standards	Chi-square was used to test hypotheses and Bonferroni
	practices	correction equation was applied
	precess	
		The strength of the relation was tested with Cramer's V.
		the closer the value to 1:00 the stronger the relationship
RQ4/H4	Questionnaire	Five-point Likert scale is used for answers.
	Questions 2,3 and 4	1
	about projects success	Chi-square was used to test hypotheses and Bonferroni
	factors when offshoring	correction equation was applied.
	IT services	
		The strength of the relation was tested with Cramer's V,
		the closer the value to 1:00 the stronger the relationship

Table 16: Research Questions, Hypotheses and Questionnaire Questions

4.1.2 Delivery Method: Email

The sample population was emailed, inviting them to participate in an online survey by clicking on a link in the invitation email. As listed in Table 17, the invitation email layout was designed using best-practice goals from Dillman's publications (Dillman et al., 2009, Dillman and Bowker, 2001, Dillman, 2000). Figure 18, Figure 19 and Figure 20 highlight the manner in which these goals were incorporated into layout.

Goal	Description		
G1	Create an integrated look and feel between the email invitation letter and the web		
	survey.		
G2	Appeal to respondents, whereby responding they would be helping complete a PhD		
	dissertation.		
G3	Carefully select the Sender Name and Address and the Subject Line Text for email		
	communication to ensure that Emails are not flagged as Spam.		
G4	Emphasize that the survey is short and will not be time consuming.		
G5	Highlight that the request is from an academic institution, rather than, from a		
	marketing business firm.		
G6	Have the survey web address jump out when viewing the email.		
G7	Emphasize the survey is anonymous.		
G8	Personalize all contacts to respondents.		
G9	Highlight the prize drawing to entice respondents.		
G10	Carefully and strategically time all contacts with the population in mind.		
G11	Provide clear instructions for how to access the survey.		
G12	Use multiple contacts and vary the message across them.		
G13	Provide contact information in case there is a need for recipients to contact		
	researcher.		

Table 17: Email invitation design goals adapted from Dillman

Please help Portland State University with your knowledge and expertise

G2: Appeal to respondents, whereby responding they would be helping complete a PhD dissertation.

Rosine Hanna <rosine@pdx.edu> to me -

Dear

G8: Personalize all contacts to respondents

You are being contacted for your knowledge and expertise in the IT and software development industry. We would like to invite you to respond to a survey about "Managing issues through the lifecycle of IT service off-shoring projects".

We are asking experts who are working in the IT service and software development companies that off-shores part or all of its projects to a country outside the United States. Your feedback to this survey is very important and will help further the understanding of the most appropriate standards and best practices used to manage and mitigate issues throughout the life cycle of implemented off-shoring projects in the IT services and software development industry from a client firms' managerial perspective.

You will be asked to complete a short questionnaire about issues and practices in your offshored IT and software projects. The questionnaire consists of 10 questions and will take approximately 10 minutes.

Survey Link: https://portlandstate.gualtrics.com//SE/7SID=SV_cYh0IRRCEmmydKJ _____ G11: Provide clear instructions for how to access the survey

If you are not directly involved with IT Off-shoring, I would appreciate it if you would please forward this email to the appropriate person(s) within your company. Alternatively, you could provide their emails and I would contact them directly. G9: Highlight the prize drawing to entice respondents

Prize drawing: To thank respondents for their participation, we are offering \$100 Amazon gift cards to three randomly selected participants who answered all the questions in the survey. If you choose, you can enter the drawing by keying in your e-mail address at the end of the survey.

Your participation in this survey is entirely voluntarily and all your responses will be kept confidential. No personally identifiable information will be associated with your responses in any reports of this data. Should you have any further questions or comments, please feel free to contact me at rosine@pdx.edu or 503-679-4998.

We appreciate your time and consideration in completing the survey. Please consider that this data collection is in fulfillment of a doctoral degree and your input is vital.

Many thanks,

Rosine Hanna PhD Candidate Department of Engineering & Technology Management Maseeh College of Engineering and Computer Science Portland State University

Figure 18: Invitation Email

Rosine Salman <rosine@pdx.edu></rosine@pdx.edu>	dissertation.
5 MB (1	67. Emphasize the survey is a service and
Dear cosine solman, -	G7: Emphasize the survey is anonymous
Four weeks ago we contacted you asking for your help by filling out an anon best practices used to manage and mitigate issues of implemented off-shorii you!	nymous web-based survey that will assist in understanding the most appropriate standards and ing projects in the IT and software development industry. If you have filled out the survey, thank
The survey is short and should only take you 7-9 minutes to complete. If you Your assistance will make it possible for me to successfully complete my P P	u have not yet had the chance to take the survey, I would appreciate your completing the survey hD dissertation.
Survey Link: https://portlandstate.gualtrics.com//SE/?SID=SV_4lrgFY5Us39	G7: Emphasize the survey is anonymou
This message was sent to everyone in the selected sample population. Sinc dentify whether or not you have already completed the survey.	ce no personal data is retained with the survey for reasons of confidentiality, we are unable to
Prize drawing: To thank respondents for their participation, we are offering you can enter the draw by keying in your e-mail address at the end of the su	\$100 Amazon gift cards to three randomly selected participants in the survey. If you choose, arvey.
Please consider that this data collection is in fulfillment of a doctoral degree	and your input is vital. Thank you for your help by completing the survey.
Sincerely,	G2: Appeal to respondents, whereby responding
Rosine Hanna	they would be helping complete a PhD dissertation.
PhD Candidate	
Veparithent of Engineering & recinitiousy wanagement Maseeh College of Engineering and Computer Science, Portland State University	
Figure 19: Second	I Follow-up Email Invitation G12: Use multiple contacts and
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise •	I Follow-up Email Invitation G12: Use multiple contacts and vary the message across them G/16/13
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise	I Follow-up Email Invitation (12: Use multiple contacts and vary the message across them (16/13 () (16/13
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise Figure Rosine Hanna rosine@pdx.edu <u>via</u> gemailserver.com to me Figure Henna,	I Follow-up Email Invitation G12: Use multiple contacts and vary the message across them 6/16/13 :: G1: Create an integrated look and feel between the email invitation letter and the web survey
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise Rosine Hanna rosine@pdx.edu <u>via</u> qemailserver.com to me Dear Resine Hanna Several weeks ago, we sent you an email asking for your help by filling out a and best practices used to manage and mitigate issues of implemented off-s hank you!	A Follow-up Email Invitation (12: Use multiple contacts and vary the message across them (16/13 (1)) (11: Create an integrated look and feel between the email invitation letter and the web survey an anonymous web-based survey that will assist in understanding the most appropriate standa shoring projects in the IT and software development industry. If you have filled out the survey,
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise Rosine Hanna rosine@pdx.edu <u>via</u> gemailserver.com to me Dear Resine Hanna. Several weeks ago, we sent you an email asking for your help by filling out a and best practices used to manage and mitigate issues of implemented off-s hank you!	A Follow-up Email Invitation (16/13)))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise Rosine Hanna rosine@pdx.edu via qemailserver.com o me Dear Rosine Hanna- Several weeks ago, we sent you an email asking for your help by filling out a and best practices used to manage and mitigate issues of implemented off-s hank you! Please note that the survey does not attempt to collect any personal or f you have already completed the survey, I really appreciate your participati survey. Your assistance will make it possible for me to successfully completed	A Follow-up Email Invitation (12: Use multiple contacts and vary the message across them (16/13 (13)) (11: Create an integrated look and feel between the email invitation letter and the web survey an anonymous web-based survey that will assist in understanding the most appropriate standar shoring projects in the IT and software development industry. If you have filled out the survey, r proprietary information. The survey is short and should only take 6-8 minutes to complete. ion. If you have not yet had the chance to take the survey, I would appreciate your completing the my PhD dissertation.
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise Rosine Hanna rosine@pdx.edu via qemailserver.com o me Dear Resine Hanna, Dear Resine Hanna, Several weeks ago, we sent you an email asking for your help by filling out a and best practices used to manage and mitigate issues of implemented off-s hank you! Please note that the survey does not attempt to collect any personal or f you have already completed the survey, I really appreciate your participati survey. Your assistance will make it possible for me to successfully complet Survey Link: https://portlandstate.qualtrics.com//SE/7SID=SV_cYh0IRRCE	A Follow-up Email Invitation (16/13)
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise Rosine Hanna rosine@pdx.edu via gemailserver.com to me Dear Rosine Hanna. Several weeks ago, we sent you an email asking for your help by filling out a and best practices used to manage and mitigate issues of implemented off-s hank you! Please note that the survey does not attempt to collect any personal or f you have already completed the survey, I really appreciate your participati survey. Your assistance will make it possible for me to successfully complet Survey Link: https://portlandstate.gualtrics.com//SE/?SID=SV_cYh0IRRCEI f you are not directly involved with IT Off-shoring, I would appreciate in	A Follow-up Email Invitation (16/13
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise Rosine Hanna rosine@pdx.edu via gemailserver.com to me Dear Rosine Hanna, Dear Rosine Hanna, Several weeks ago, we sent you an email asking for your help by filling out a and best practices used to manage and mitigate issues of implemented off-s hank you! Please note that the survey does not attempt to collect any personal or f you have already completed the survey, I really appreciate your participatis survey. Your assistance will make it possible for me to successfully completed Survey Link: https://portlandstate.qualtrics.com//SE/?SID=SV_cYh0IRRCEP if you are not directly involved with IT Off-shoring, I would appreciate in Prize drawing: To thank respondents for their participation, you can elect to jift cards to three randomly selected participants in the survey. The winner the drawing by keying in your e-mail address at the end of the survey.	A Follow-up Email Invitation (G12: Use multiple contacts and vary the message across them (G12: Create an integrated look and feel between the email invitation letter and the web survey an anonymous web-based survey that will assist in understanding the most appropriate standa shoring projects in the IT and software development industry. If you have filled out the survey, r proprietary information. The survey is short and should only take 6-8 minutes to complete. ion. If you have not yet had the chance to take the survey, I would appreciate your completing the my PhD dissertation. G6: Have the survey web address jump out when viewing the email it if you would please forward this email to the appropriate person(s) within your compare receive a summary report at the end of study free of charge. We are also offering \$100 Amazon may choose to donate this amount to the charity of their choice. If you choose, you can enter
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise Rosine Hanna rosine@pdx.edu via qemailserver.com o me Dear Resine Hanna. Dear Resine Hanna. Several weeks ago, we sent you an email asking for your help by filling out a and best practices used to manage and mitigate issues of implemented off-s hank you! Please note that the survey does not attempt to collect any personal or f you have already completed the survey, I really appreciate your participati survey. Your assistance will make it possible for me to successfully complet Survey Link: https://portlandstate.qualtrics.com//SE/7SID=SV_cYh0IRCCEI f you are not directly involved with IT Off-shoring, I would appreciate in Prize drawing: To thank respondents for their participation, you can elect to jift cards to three randomly selected participants in the survey. The winner he drawing by keying in your e-mail address at the end of the survey.	A Follow-up Email Invitation (16/13)
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise ■ Rosine Hanna rosine@pdx.edu via gemailserver.com to me ■ Dear Resine Hanna. Several weeks ago, we sent you an email asking for your help by filling out a and best practices used to manage and mitigate issues of implemented off-s hank you! Please note that the survey does not attempt to collect any personal or f you have already completed the survey, I really appreciate your participatis survey. Your assistance will make it possible for me to successfully complet Survey Link: https://portlandstate.qualtrics.com//SE/?SID=SV_cYh0IRRCE if you are not directly involved with IT Off-shoring, I would appreciate in Prize drawing: To thank respondents for their participation, you can elect to jft cards to three randomly selected participants in the survey. The winner the drawing by keying in your e-mail address at the end of the survey. Thank you in advance for completing the survey. Your responses are very in Sincerely,	A Follow-up Email Invitation (16/13) (16/13) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise Rosine Hanna rosine@pdx.edu via gemailserver.com o me Dear Resine Hanna. Dear Resine Hanna. Several weeks ago, we sent you an email asking for your help by filling out a and best practices used to manage and mitigate issues of implemented off-s hank you! Please note that the survey does not attempt to collect any personal or f you have already completed the survey. I really appreciate your participati survey. Your assistance will make it possible for me to successfully completed Survey Link: https://portlandstate.gualtrics.com//SE/7SID=SV_cYh0IRRCE f you are not directly involved with IT Off-shoring, I would appreciate in Prize drawing: To thank respondents for their participation, you can elect to jift cards to three randomly selected participants in the survey. The winner he drawing by keying in your e-mail address at the end of the survey. Thank you in advance for completing the survey. Your responses are very in Sincerely, Rosine Hanna	A point of the server of the s
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise Resine Hanna rosine@pdx.edu via gemailserver.com o me Dear Resine Hanna. Several weeks ago, we sent you an email asking for your help by filling out a and best practices used to manage and mitigate issues of implemented off-s hank you! Please note that the survey does not attempt to collect any personal or f you have already completed the survey, I really appreciate your participati survey. Your assistance will make it possible for me to successfully complet Survey Link: https://portlandstate.qualtrics.com/SE/7SID=SV_cYh0IRRCE f you are not directly involved with IT Off-shoring, I would appreciate in Prize drawing: To thank respondents for their participation, you can elect to jft cards to three randomly selected participants in the survey. The winner he drawing by keying in your e-mail address at the end of the survey. Thank you in advance for completing the survey. Your responses are very in Sincerely, Rosine Hanna PhD Candidate	A Follow-up Email Invitation (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)
Figure 19: Second ase help me with your knowledge and expertise ■ Rosine Hanna rosine@pdx.edu via gemailserver.com o me ③ Dear Rosine Hanna Dear Rosine Hanna Dear Rosine Hanna Several weeks ago, we sent you an email asking for your help by filling out a and best practices used to manage and mitigate issues of implemented off-s hank you! Please note that the survey does not attempt to collect any personal or f you have already completed the survey, I really appreciate your participatis survey. Your assistance will make it possible for me to successfully complet Survey Link: https://portlandstate.qualtrics.com//SE/?SID=SV_cYh0IRRCE if you are not directly involved with IT Off-shoring, I would appreciate in Prize drawing: To thank respondents for their participation, you can elect to jf cards to three randomly selected participants in the survey. The winner the drawing by keying in your e-mail address at the end of the survey. Thank you in advance for completing the survey. Your responses are very in Sincerely, Rosine Hanna PhD Candidate Department of Engineering & Technology Management Vaseeh College of Engineering and Computer Science	A Follow-up Email Invitation $ \begin{array}{c} \hline $

116

4.2 Instrument Validation

In this survey research, prior to survey administration, the survey went through Model Development and Construct Validation with the expert panel. The experts were asked to: A) Review a CMMI best practices list which I had prepared and advice as to which practices the expert panel believe to be the most important in mitigating offshoring issues and challenges; B) Review the list of offshoring issues, challenges and advise which issues they believe to be the most important for offshoring project. This Phase was done in three steps.

In survey research, prior to survey administration, the instrument must go through content validation. This is done by asking experts to make a judgment about survey items: 1) how well a survey item represents the intention of the intended measurement; 2) how easy is it for the intended target population to answer the survey item. The survey instrument went through Content Validation in six steps resulting in nine survey revisions over a nine month period. Table 18 lists the steps for both Phase 1 and Phase 2

4.2.1 Instrument Validation Plan

The instrument used in the research was validated in nine steps, three steps in phase 1 and six steps in phase 2 of the validation, resulting in ten survey revisions over a nine month period. Figure 21 depicts the validation plan and Table 18 lists the steps and the proceeding sections describe the steps in detail.



Figure 21: Validation Plan

Step	Description	Resulting Survey Version		
Model Development – Survey Instrument Construct Validation				
Step 1: Create initial draft of issues and practices of offshoring IT services	Initial version of issues and practices was created based on existing literature and Software Engineering Institute publications and brainstorming with the dissertation committee.	Initial list of issues and practices		
Step 2: Pre- validate	Initial draft was 1) read-aloud, 2) tested by committee members and	Version $1 - 3$ of issues and practices. Version 3 was distributed into 3 surveys each contained 17 issues and 21 practices. 3a, 3b and 3c.		
Step 3: Expert Panel Validation	Version 3 of the list was incorporated into a web-based validation survey and was administered to an expert panel of 21 members	Expert panel found all issues and practices to be important. The decision was to keep all issues and practices but distribute the practices in two surveys instead of one and send each survey to 6000 IT companies. Version 4a and 4b of issues and practices		

Table 18:	Represents	Survey	Instrument	Validation	and Timeline
14010 101	representes	Darie,	inou winone	, and an on	

	Survey Instrument Development and Content Validation				
Step 4: Create Initial Draft	Initial version of web survey was created based on existing surveys from literature and brainstorming with the dissertation committee.	Initial version of the online survey (1a and 1b)			
Step 5: Pre- validate (Read- aloud)	The initial draft was tested using PhD students at the department by administrating the read aloud method.	version 2(a, b) through 3(a,b)			
Step 6: Pre- validated (2)	The survey was reviewed by experts at the SEI High Maturity Workshop (Washington, D.C., September 2011)	Version 4(a, b)			
Step 6: Pilot (ETM PhD Students)	Survey version 4 was administered to a group of PhD students at the department.	version 5(a, b) and 7(a, b)			
Step 7: Pilot (subset of Expert Panel)	Version 8 of the survey was verified with subset of expert panel who have IT managerial experience and worked in IT offering companies; using the walkthrough method through one-on-one (face-to-face) or email discussion.	version 8 (a, b)			
Step 8: Expert Panel Validation	Version 7a and 7b of the survey was incorporated into a web-based validation survey and was administered to an expert panel of 21 members.	The decision was to distribute the practices on 4 questionnaires instead of and distribute each questionnaire to 4000 IT companies. Version 9 (a, b, c, d).			
Step 9: Pilot (IT companies in Portland, Oregon)	Version 9 (a, b, c, d) was sent out to (12 IT companies in Portland) to pilot testing the survey.	Version 10 (a, b, c, d)			

4.2.2 Expert Panel

Two Expert Panels were formed to help with the validation of the survey instrument, clarify, interpret and validate the research results: (1) SEI CMM/CMMI expert panel and (2) IT services offshoring expert panel.

The expert panels composed of experts from several sectors of the IT services industry. They were asked to (1) Construct validate the survey instrument by revising the survey instrument to minimize the number of issues and practices according to their importance; (2) Content validate the survey instrument and (3) then, validate and clarify the results attained through the field study. They were selected using the following criteria:

- Expertise in the decision making process for offshoring of U.S. IT services and software development by selecting them from multiple sectors and industries.
- Objective viewpoint in a group to compensate for individual biases on the outcome.
- Ensure the absence of evident conflicts among the panel members by selecting the members from organizations that do not have conflicts among them.

Initially, 37 candidates were contacted with an invitation. Following Don Dillman's books: "Internet and Mixed Mode Survey" (Dillman et al., 2009), "How to Conduct Your Own Survey" (Salant and Dillman, 1994), and "Mail and Internet surveys" (Dillman, 2000). An invitation letter was sent to the 37 candidates as shown in Figure 22.

Hello,

My name is Rosine Hanna and I am a PhD candidate at the Department of Engineering & Technology Management (ETM), Maseeh College of Engineering and Computer Science, Portland State University. My research is part of doctoral degree requirements in Engineering and Technology Management titled: *Managing issues through the lifecycle of IT service off-shoring projects*.

Western countries' information technology and software intensive firms are increasingly producing software and IT services in developing countries. With this swift advancement in off-shoring, there are many issues that can be investigated to enable companies to maximize their benefit from off-shoring. However, significant challenges can happen throughout the lifecycle of off-shoring IT service projects which turn the potential benefits into losses. This research investigates CMM/CMMI best practices and their effect on managing and mitigating critical issues associated with off-shore development.

I would like to invite you to be on my expert panel for my PhD dissertation research. Professor David Raffo of Portland State University (with joint appointments in the Business Administration, Engineering, and Computer Science) recommended you based upon your knowledge and expertise. The expert panel members will be asked to provide feedback in two phases.

 Phase one:

 A.
 Review a CMMI best practices list which I have prepared and advise as to which practices you believe to be the most important in mitigating off-shoring issues and challenges.

 B.
 Review the list of off-shoring issues and challenges and advise which issues you believe to be

 the most important for off-shoring projects.

Providing this feedback should take between 10 and 15 minutes to complete.

Phase two: Respond to a construction validation survey (9 questions). This phase will be sent out for your review 1-2 weeks after the results of phase one have been analyzed and incorporated into the construct validation instrument.

This review should take approximately 20-30 minutes to complete.

At the end of the research, you will receive a copy of the report and results of the research.

Your acceptance and participation in this research panel is very important and greatly appreciated as it adds not only to the completion of my doctoral dissertation but also to the body of knowledge in this growing area of off-shoring IT services.

Best regards,

Rosine Hanna

Figure 22: Sample of Expert Panel Invitation Email

Twenty two candidates agreed to be panel members. Twelve of which were

CMM/CMMI experts IT services and ten were IT offshoring experts. Seventeen experts

participated in Phase 2 of the validation.

The experts listed in Table 19 were the main evaluators of the validity of the survey instrument.

Title	2	Education	Institution	Experience	Location
1	Process Director,	PhD	IT Services and 15 years of IT industry		Wayne, NJ
Senior Member of			Software Development		
the Technical Staff			Company		
			(CMM/CMMI)		
2	Senior Member of	PhD	Software Engineering 10 years of academia,		Pittsburgh,
	the Technical Staff		Institute	40 years of IT Industry	PA
			(CMM/CMMI)		
3	Faculty (Professor)		Software Engineering	10 years of academia,	Pittsburgh,
	in IT and Software		Institute	6 years of IT industry	PA
	Engineering		(CMM/CMMI)		
4	1), Director of	PhD	IT and Software	15 years of academia,	Pittsburgh,
	ITSqc. LLC.		Engineering University	10 years in the IT	PA
			(CMM/CMMI)	industry	
5	Senior Member of	PhD	University	20 years of academia,	Pittsburgh,
	Technical Staff		(CMM/CMMI)	10 years of IT industry	PA
6	Chief Scientist and	PhD	Software Engineering	5 years of academia,	Deutschland,
	Partner		Research	20 years of IT industry	Ireland
_		DI D	(CMM/CMMI)		XX 1. 1
1	Senior Lecturer in	PhD	University	20 years of academia,	United
	Computer Science		(CMM/CMMI)	/ years of Industry	Kingdom
8	CEO	PhD	hD Quality Standard Over 30 yea		San Diego,
			Solutions Company	industry	CA
			(CMM/CMMI)		
9	Present	PhD	Process standard	13 years of academia,	Rockville,
			Company Inc.,	15 years of IT industry	MD
1.0			(CMM/CMMI)		
10	Associate Professor	PhD	University	30 years of academia,	Washington,
	at Department of		(CMM/CMMI)	10 years in the 11	DC
	Information			industry	
11	Dimentary Dramon	DLD	IT and Cafferrage	O	Dedende
11	Management	PIID	Engineering Commonly	over 50 years of 11	Redondo Reach CA
	Management		CMM/CMMD	industry	Deach, CA
12	Engineering Fellow	DhD	(CMIM/CMIMI)	Over 24 years of IT	Malhauma
12	Engineering renow	PIID	Engineering Company	over 24 years of 11	FI
			(CMM/CMMI)	illausti y	I'L
13	Business	MS	IT and Software	17 years of IT	Portland OP
15	Development		Engineering Company	industry	
	Manager		(Non CMM/CMMI)	induoti y	
14	Professor	PhD	University (Non	Over 20 years of	Washington
17	Information		CMM/CMMI)	academia	DC
	Technology Dent			ucudomiu	
15	Corporate Research	PhD	IT and Software	Over 30 years of IT	Princeton, NI
	- siperate resourch		Engineering Company	industry	
			(Non CMM/CMMI)		
16	Associate Professor	PhD	University (Non	10 years of academia.	Canada
-	of IT and Software		CMM/CMMI)	5 years of IT industry	
	Development		,		

Table 19: Expert Panel

17	Professor of IT and Software Development	PhD	University (Non CMM/CMMI)	10 years of academia	Deutschland
18	Researcher and Scientist	PhD	Labs Research	8 years of academia, 15 years of IT industry	Basking Ridge, NJ
19	Fellow and Associate Professor	PhD	University (Non CMM/CMMI)	10 years of academia	United Kingdom
20	Project Manager and Lecturer of Technology	PhD	University (Non CMM/CMMI)	15 years of academia,15 years of IT industry	Helsinki, Finland
21	Senior Lecturer, Department of Computer Science and Information Systems	PhD	Software Engineering Research Centre	20 years of academia	Ireland
22	Research Staff Member	PhD	IT Company Research Center	9 years of IT industry	USA and India

4.2.3 Model Development – Construct Validation

There are three main steps for the survey instrument construct validation.

4.2.3.1 Step 1: Create the initial Draft of Issues and Practices

As a first step of construct validation, a literature review was conducted to gather evidence from studies using similar types of instruments. Among others, a similar study surveyed IT managers in Irvine California where the topic was offshore software development with issues such as obstacles, performance and practices (Dedrick et al., 2009). The actual survey instrument was obtained through the Publishing Journal. Table 20 lists example surveys that were used as references in this study.

Sponsor	Title	Date
University of California, Irvine	Offshore Software Development: Survey Results	2009
	(Dedrick et al., 2009)	
IBM Research	A Research Agenda	2006
	for Distributed Software Development (Sengupta et	
	al., 2006a)	
San Jose State University, USA	Risks, benefits, and challenges in global IT	2006
	outsourcing: Perspectives and practices (Dhar and	
	Balakrishnan, 2006)	
Software Engineering Institute,	An empirical study of global software development:	2005
Carnegie Mellon University	distance and speed (Herbsleb et al., 2005b)	
Pittsburgh, PA		
MIT Sloan School of Business	Software Development Worldwide (Cusumano et al.,	2003
	2003)	
Software Engineering Institute,	Software quality and the capability maturity model	1997
Carnegie Mellon University	(Herbsleb et al., 1997a)	
Pittsburgh, PA		
Software Engineering Institute,	A systematic survey of CMM experience and results	1996
Carnegie Mellon University	(Herbsleb and Goldenson, 1996a).	
Pittsburgh, PA		
IEEE Transactions on Software	Components of software development risk: How to	2000
Engineering	address them? A project manager survey. (Ropponen	
	and Lyytinen, 2000)	

Table 20: Example Surveys that were used as References in this Study

4.2.3.2 Step 2: Pre-Validate Offshoring IT service survey

Once a preliminary version of the survey was completed, it was converted to an online survey. The survey tool was provided by Qualtrics, as online survey vendor, and sponsored by Portland State University: <u>www.qualtrics.com</u>.

The survey was comprised of questions about the importance of the issues experienced when offshoring IT services and regarding the importance of industry best practices used to mitigate these issues.

The survey was activated and PhD students from the Department of Engineering and Technology Management were recruited to participate in a read-aloud review of the survey. In the read-aloud method, common in usability studies, the subject is asked to perform a series of instructions. The subject is requested to speak aloud their thoughts and feelings as they go about completing the assigned tasks.

Below are examples of feedback and the resulting modifications from the read aloud activity:

Recruited participant: "What do you mean with offshoring?"

Modification: Added definition of offshoring to clarify survey item. "What is this for?"

Modification: Added instruction to explain survey element"

- **Recruited participant:** "The list of practices 57 is too long; experts will not have the time to review all of them why don't you distribute them on two or three surveys instead of one"
- **Modification:** Because we had 17 issues and 57 practices to track, we decided to distribute the practices over three questionnaires. The intent was to increase the response rate from the expert panel.

4.2.3.3 Step 3: Expert Panel Validates Offshoring IT Services Issues and Practices

During this most critical model development and construct validation step, the expert

panel was contacted to:

- 1) Review a CMMI best practices list which I have prepared and advise as to which practices the expert panel believes to be the most important in mitigating offshoring issues and challenges;
- 2) Review the list of offshoring issues, challenges and advise which issues they believe to be the most important for offshoring project.
- 4.2.3.4 Results and Summary of Model Development and Survey Instrument Construct Validation

This Model Development and construct validation were done in three steps. The instrument contained 17 issues and 57 practices.

Because we had 17 issues and 57 practices to track, we decided to distribute the practices over three questionnaires. The intent was to increase the response rate from the expert panel. Providing this feedback, the survey was expected to take between ten and fifteen minutes to complete.

As for the practices, we have 57 practices and they were distributed as in Table 21.

	-	
7 Expert Panel	7 Expert panel	7 Expert panel
4 CMM/CMMI experts and 3 IT offshoring services experts	4 CMM/CMMI experts and 3 IT offshoring service non CMM/CMMI experts	3 CMM/CMMI experts and 4 non CMM/CMMI experts
Questionnaire 1: contains 17 issues and 21 practices	Questionnaire 2: contains 17 issues and 22 practices	Questionnaire 3: contains 17 issues and 21 practices
Q1 and Q2 17 Issues Q3 contains 6 practices Q4 contains 3 practices Q10 contains 5 practices Q14 contains 3 practices Q17 contains 4 practices	Q1 and Q2 17 Issues Q5 contains 2 practices Q7 contains 5 practices Q8 contains 4 practices Q9 contains 6 practices Q11 contains 2 practices Q15 contains 3 practices	Q1 and Q2 17 Issues Q6 contains 3 practices Q12 contains 6 practices Q13 contains 9 practices Q16 contains 4 practices

Table 21: Issues and Practices Distributed to the Expert Panel for Construct Validation

Invitations to the construct validation were sent via email to 21 expert panel members and validation activity was conducted using a web-based survey. Using multiple follow-ups contacts, this step took five weeks to complete. 21 experts started and completed the survey.

The expert panel was provided a link to a web-based survey. Figure 23 shows the email page.

From: Rosine Salman (<u>survey@pdx.edu</u>) on behalf of Rosine Salman [<u>rosine@pdx.edu</u>] Sent: 18 June 2012 07:55 Personalize all
To: DR. Hannes of the survey validation contacts
Dear Dertriningen Windig
Thank you for accepting to be on my expert panel for the Ph.D. dissertation research. This is part of the survey validation. This survey is the data collection part of my dissertation at Portland State University.
You have been selected to participate in the survey validation because of your expertise in one or more areas that are the focus of this research. As I mentioned in my invitation letter, the expert panel members will be asked to provide feedback in two phases.
At this survey of Phase one you are asked to: A: Review the list of off-shoring issues and challenges and advise which issues you believe to be the most important for off-shoring projects. B: Review a CMMI best practices list which I have prepared and advise as to which practices you believe to be the most important in mitigating off-shoring issues and challenges.
The goal of this phase is to minimize the number of issues from 17 to 10 and the number of practices by 25% in order to increase the survey response rate. There are 8 questions in this validation phase and it will take approximately 10-20 minutes to complete.
Please follow this link to the Survey: <u>Take the Survey</u> <u>Ink</u>
Or copy and paste the URL below into your internet browser:
nigs//poruanosiae.quantics.com//wk.quantics.ou/ve/engine/(Q_SS=0)/we/zz/kci0/nicst_0/iszzilochov/reka_=1
Follow the link to opt out of thutte emails: Click here to unsubscribe
I really thank you for taking the time to validate this survey. Your participation in this research panel is very important and greatly appreciated as it adds not only to the completion of my doctoral dissertation but also to the body of knowledge in this growing area of off-shoring IT services.
Best regards,

Rosine

Figure 23: Email Sent to the Expert Panel for the Survey Construct Validation

For the purpose of construct validation, the experts were expected to (1) review a

CMMI best practices list which I prepared and advise as to which practices the expert panel

believes to be the most important in mitigating offshoring issues and challenges as in Figure
24, (2) Review the list of offshoring issues, challenges and advise as to which issues they believe to be the most important for offshoring projects as in Figure 25.

	How e	effective	is it?		Level	of importan	ce?	
	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Of little Importance 1	Moderately Important 2	Important 3	Very Important 4	Extremely Important 5
Client Company establishes and maintains a project plan as the basis for managing the project	Ø	0	Ø	Ø	0	Ø	ø	Ø
Client Company establishes and maintains the overall project plan.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Client Company estimates the project's effort and cost for work products and tasks based on estimation rationale	Ø	©	0	Ø	0	0	0	Ø
Client Company establishes and maintains the project's budget and schedule, milestones, constraints, dependencies	o	Θ	0	0	0	0	0	0
Client Company monitors off-shoring supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	0	0	Ø	Ø
Client Company manages invoices submitted by the supplier	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Figure 24: Example of Level of Effectiveness and Importance of Practices

	Not at all important	Somewhat Unimportant	Neutral	Somewhat Important	Extremely Important
Over expenditure due to hidden costs incurred by the client company	6	0	0	6	0
Difference in interpretation of project requirements between the client and the supplier	O	Ø.	٢	Ö	۲
Poorly developed and documented requirements by the client company	0	Ø	0	Ø	Ø
Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by the client company	0	0	0	0	0
Lack of a full communication plan between the client and the supplier	0	Ø	O	Ø	0
Communication and coordination problems between the olient and the supplier	0	0	0	O	0
Language barriers	0	O	0	0	O
Time-zone differences between the client and the supplier	0	0	O	0	O
Cultural differences between the client and the supplier	0	Ø	Ø	0	0
Incomplete and unclear contract	0	0	0	0	O
Contract renegotiation and termination	0	Ø	Ø	0	O
Difference in project management practices between the client and the supplier	0	0	0	0	0
Unable to measure performance of the supplier	0	O	0	0	0
Supplier technical/security and political issues	0	0	O	0	O
No previous experience of the supplier	0	Ø	Ø	0	Ø
Lack of supplier standardized working methods	0	0	0	0	O
Poor execution plan specifically timing and type of work transferred to the supplier	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø
Q2: Optional: In your opinion, is there anything a	nissing fror	n the issues l	listed abo	ove? Or	

Figure 25: Example of Importance of Issues

The results of phase one were clear and indicated that the expert panel found all issues to be important where the minimum average was 3.48 of 5 points on the Likert scale. On the issue of *Time Zone difference*, thirteen experts voted between 4 and 5 "somewhat important" and "extremely important" as depicted in Table 22.

Experts	Over expenditure	Difference in interpretation of project	Poorly developed and documented requireme	Poor tracking & managing requirement chan	Lack of a full communication plan	Communication and coordination problem	Language barriers	Time-zone differences	Cultural differences	Incomplete and unclear contract	Contract renegotiation and termination	Difference in project management practice	Unable to measure performance	Supplier technical/security and political issu	No previous experience of the supplier	Lack of supplier standardized working methe	Poor execution plan
Expert 1	4	4	3	3	5	5	3	4	4	3	3	4	3	4	4	2	3
Expert 2	2	5	4	4	3	3	3	4	3	5	4	4	4	4	5	5	4
Expert 3	5	4	4	4	5	5	5	4	5	5	5	4	5	4	5	4	5
Expert 4	2	4	4	2	3	4	5	5	5	3	3	2	3	3	3	3	3
Expert 5	5	5	4	4	4	5	4	4	4	3	3	4	4	3	5	4	4
Expert 6	4	4	4	5	3	3	3	3	4	4	3	5	5	3	4	4	3
Expert 7	4	5	5	5	5	4	4	2	4	4	3	4	4	4	4	4	4
Expert 8	4	5	5	5	3	4	3	2	3	4	4	5	5	4	5	5	5
Expert 9	4	5	4	4	4	5	4	4	4	3	3	4	4	3	4	4	4
Expert 10	3	4	5	5	4	4	4	3	3	4	2	3	3	3	5	4	5
Expert 11	5	5	4	4	4	4	2	2	2	5	5	4	5	5	4	4	5
Expert 12	3	5	5	5	4	5	4	3	4	5	4	4	5	5	5	4	4
Expert 13	1	5	3	4	3	3	3	4	5	4	4	1	3	3	4	3	4
Expert 14	3	5	4	5	5	5	4	4	4	5	4	4	4	4	4	3	4
Expert 15	5	5	4	4	5	4	3	3	3	4	2	2	4	2	4	5	2
Expert 16	3	3	5	5	3	5	3	5	5	5	3	4	5	4	5	4	5
Expert 17	5	5	5	5	5	5	4	4	4	5	4	4	4	4	4	4	5
Expert 18	5	4	5	4	5	5	4	4	5	4	4	3	4	4	5	3	2
Expert 19	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	4	4	5	4	4	5	5	5	5	5
Expert 20	5	5	5	5	5	5	3	4	5	4	4	4	5	3	5	5	5
Expert 21	5	5	5	5	4	5	3	1	1	4	3	2	3	2	4	2	4
Average	3.9	4.6	4.4	4.4	4.1	4.4	3.6	3.5	3.9	4.2	3.5	3.5	4.1	3.6	4.4	3.9	4
Number of 4 & 5s	14	21	19	19	15	18	11	13	15	17	11	15	16	12	20	15	16

 Table 22: Results of Construct Validation of the Importance of Issues of IT Offshoring

 Image: State of the Importance of Issues of IT Offshoring

 Image: State of Image: State o

The expert panel also found that all 57 practices to be important as in Table 23 with most of the practices were found to be above 2.5 out of 3 points on the Likert scale. Therefore, after a meeting with committee members, the decision was to keep all issues and practices but distribute the practices in four surveys instead of one and send each survey to 3000 IT companies.

Issue I	OVER EX	PENDITURI	1			
#	Question	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses	Mean
1	Client Company establishes and maintains a project plan as the basis for managing the project	0	3	4		2.57
2	Client Company establishes and maintains the overall project plan.	0	5	2	2 7	2.29
3	Client Company estimates the project's effort and cost for work products and tasks based on estimation rationale	0	3	4	. 7	2.57
4	Client Company establishes and maintains the project's budget and schedule, milestones, constraints, dependencies	0	2	5	i 7	2.71
5	Client Company monitors offshoring supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract	1	1	5	5 7	2.57
6	Client Company manages invoices submitted by the supplier	0	2	5	; 7	2.71
Issue 2	DIFFERENCES IN INTERPRETATION OF P CLIENT AND THE SUPPLIER	ROJECT RE	EQUIRE	MENTS I	BETWEEN	THE
#	Question	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses	Mean
7	Client Company develops an understanding with offshoring supplier on the meaning of requirements	0	1	6	5 7	2.86
8	Client Company validates requirements to ensure that the resulting product performs as intended in the end user's environment	0	1	6	5 7	2.86
9	Client Company obtains commitment to requirements from project participants	0	2	5	5 7	2.71
Issue 3	POORLY DEVELOPED AND DOCUMENTE COMPANY	D REQUIR	EMENT	S BY TH	E CLIENT	
#	Question	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses	Mean
10	Client Company stakeholder needs, expectations, constraints and interfaces are	0	1	6	j 7	2.86

 Table 23: Expert panel evaluation for the importance of the 57 practices

 OVER EXPENDITURE

	collected and translated into customer requirements					
11	Client Company maintains bidirectional traceability among requirements and work products	0	2	5	7	2.71
Issue 4	POOR TRACKING AND MANAGING REQU COMPANY	JIREMENT	CHANC	GES BY C	LIENT	
#	Question	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses	Mean
12	Client Company manages changes to requirements as they evolve during the project.	0	1	6	7	2.86
13	Client Company ensures that project plans and work products remain aligned with requirements	0	1	6	7	2.86
14	Client Company's Customer Interface Manager leads the team in estimating and documenting the impact of every change in requirement and works with the Configuration Control Board (CCB) to get approval for changes to those requirements	1	1	5	7	2.57
Issue 5	LACK OF A FULL COMMUNICATION PLA SUPPLIER	N BETWEE	EN THE	CLIENT A	AND THE	
#	Question	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses	Mean
15	Client Company establishes and manages the coordination and collaboration between the project and relevant stakeholders	0	1	6	7	2.86
16	Client Company's team members track actual results and performance against plans on a weekly basis. Team members track progress against individual plans on a daily basis.	0	2	5	7	2.71
17	Client Company develops a documented plan to be used to communicate inter-group commitments and to coordinate and track the work performed.	0	3	4	7	2.57
18	Client Company team managers are responsible for the coordination across all project teams	0	3	4	7	2.57
19	Client company communication and coordination practices are institutionalized to ensure they are performed as managed processes	1	2	4	7	2.43
Issue 6	COMMUNICATION AND COORDINATION THE SUPPLIER	PROBLEM	S BETV	VEEN TH	E CLIENT	AND
#	Question	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses	Mean
20	Representatives of the client company project's software engineering group work with representatives of the supplier engineering groups to monitor and coordinate technical activities and resolve technical issues	0	2	5	7	2.71

21	Client Company selects team roles, including the role of Supplier Interface Manager, who is the liaison between the team and the supplier company representative, and is responsible for requirements change management	1	2	4	7	2.43
22	Client Company communicates quality issues and ensures the resolution of noncompliance issues with the staff and managers	0	2	5	7	2.71
23	Client Company establishes and maintains a documented policy for conducting its Communication and Coordination activities	2	2	3	7	2.14
Issues 7.8 &9	7) LANGUAGE BARRIERS 8) TIME-ZONE BETWEEN THE CLIENT AND THE SUPPLI	DIFFEREN ER	CES 9) (CULTURA	AL DIFFER	ENCES
#	Question	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses	Mean
24	Client Company ensures that the workforce has the skills to share information and coordinate their activities efficiently	0	1	6	7	2.86
25	Client Company establishes a culture for openly sharing information and concerns across organizational levels as well as among team members	0	1	6	7	2.86
26	Client Company establishes project teams as well as their responsibilities, authorities and interrelationships	1	1	5	7	2.57
27	Client Company establishes and maintains open and effective project teams' communication and coordination plan	0	2	5	7	2.71
28	Client Company team managers are responsible to track and resolve inter-group issues	0	2	5	7	2.71
29	Client Company maintains effective work- groups, interpersonal problems are addressed quickly and meetings are managed to ensure that work-group time is used most effectively	0	2	5	7	2.71
Issue 10	INCOMPLETE AND UNCLEAR CONTRACT	Г				
#	Question	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses	Mean
30	Client Company establishes and maintains a mutual understanding of the contract with selected suppliers and end users based on acquisition needs and the suppliers' proposed approaches	0	1	6	7	2.86
31	Client Company stakeholder needs, expectations, constraints and interfaces are collected and translated into customer					
	requirements.	0	1	6	7	2.86
32	elaborated into contractual requirements.	0	1	6	7	2.86
33	Client Company establishes and maintains a formal contract management plan.	0	2	5	7	2.71
34	contractual requirements.	0	1	6	7	2.86

Issue 12	INSUFFICIENT PREVIOUS EXPERIENCE OF	THE SUPP	LIER			
#	Question	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses M	lean
35	Client Company selects suppliers based on an evaluation of their ability to meet specified requirements and established criteria	0	1	6	7	2.86
36	Client Company identifies and qualifies potential suppliers	0	2	5	7	2.71
37	Client Company selects suppliers using a formal evaluation	0	3	4	7	2.57
Issue 13	POOR EXECUTION PLAN SPECIFICALLY T TO THE SUPPLIER	IMING AND) TYPE	OF WORI	K TRANSFE	RRED
#	Question	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses	Mean
38	Client Company establishes and maintains the offshoring strategy	0	2	5	7	2.71
39	Client Company establishes and maintains the plan for performing the offshoring	1	1	5	7	2.57
40	Client Company determines the type of acquisition for each product or product component to be offshored	0	1	6	7	2.86
41	Client Company Plan transition to operations	0	2	5	7	2.71
Issue			1			
14	SUPPLIER TECHNICAL/SECURITY /POLITIC	LAL ISSUES			D	14
#	Question Client Company selects supplier technical solutions to be analyzed and analysis methods to	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses	Mean
42	be used.	2	2	3		2.14
43	the supplier as defined in the supplier agreement.	0	2	5	7	2.71
44	identified issue using defined risk categorizes each parameters and determines its relative priority.	0	2	5	7	2.71
Issue		Ĵ		U		
15	EARLY CONTRACT RENEGOTIATION AND	TERMINA	ΓΙΟΝ			
#	Question	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses	Mean
	Client Company establishes and maintains					
45	negotiation plans to use in completing a supplier agreement.	0	3	4	7	2.57
	Client Company insures that agreements with suppliers are satisfied by both the project and the					
46	supplier.		2	4	7	2.43
Issue 16	DIFFERENCE IN PROJECT MANAGEMENT I THE SUPPLIER	PRACTICES	S BETW	EEN THE	CLIENT AI	ND
#	Question	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses	Mean
47	Client Company stakeholder needs, expectations, constraints and interfaces are collected and translated into customer requirements.	0	1	6	7	2.86
	Client Company selects suppliers based on an evaluation of their ability to meet specified					
48	requirements and established criteria	0	3	4	7	2.57

49	Client Company identifies and qualifies potential suppliers	C) 2	5	7	2.71
50	Client Company selects, monitors, and analyzes supplier processes	C) 4	. 3	7	2.43
Issue 17	UNABLE TO MEASURE PERFORMANCE OF	THE SUPP	LIER			
#	Question	Ineffective	Neutral	Effective	Responses	Mean
51	Client Company establishes and maintains quantitative objectives to address quality and process performance, based on customer needs and business objectives.	0	2	5	7	2.71
52	Client Company manages the project using statistical and other quantitative techniques to determine whether or not the project's objectives for quality and process performance will be satisfied.	0	3	4	7	2.57
53	Client Company performs root cause analysis of selected issues to address deficiencies in achieving the project's quality and process performance objectives.	1	0	6	7	2.71
54	Client Company manages corrective actions to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan	0	1	6	7	2.86
55	Client Company periodically reviews the project's progress, performance and issues experienced.	1	0	6	7	2.71
56	Client Company reviews the project's accomplishments and results at selected project milestones.	1	1	5	7	2.57
57	Client Company establishes and maintains records of quality assurance activities.	1	1	5	7	2.57

4.2.4 Survey Instrument Content Survey Validation

The instrument used in the research was content validated in six steps as in Table 18 and Figure 21 above, resulting in nine survey revisions over a nine month period. In the survey research, prior to survey administration, the instrument must go through a content validation. This is done by asking experts to make a judgment about the survey items: (1) How well a survey item represents the intention of the intended measurement;

(2) How easy is it for the intended target population to answer the survey item. Figure 26 shows an example of questions for intention and ease of answering. Responses are based on a 5-point Likert scale.



Figure 26: Content Validation Questions for Intention and Ease of Use

4.2.4.1 Content Validation: Step 4: Create Initial Draft of the Survey Instrument

As a first step of content validation of the survey instrument, a literature review was conducted to gather evidence from studies using similar types of instruments. The actual survey instrument was obtained through publishing journals. Table 23 above lists example surveys that were used for reference in this study. 4.2.4.2 Content Validation: Step 5: Pre-validate (1)

The survey was activated and nine PhD students from the Department of Engineering and Technology Management were recruited to participate in a read-aloud review of the survey. In the read-aloud method, common in usability studies, the subject is asked to perform a series of instructions. The subject is requested to speak aloud their thoughts and feelings as they go about completing the assigned tasks. A researcher is seated next to the participant and observed the interaction of the participant with the survey. The researcher may make additional notes that were not mentioned by the participant that would be helpful in improving the survey.

Below are examples of feedback and the resulting modification from the read-aloud activity:

"What do you mean with this item?"

Modification: Added explanation to clarify survey item.

Recruited participant: "What is this for?"

Modification: Added instruction to explain survey element"

4.2.4.3 Content Validation: Step 6: Pre-validate (2)

Then, the initial survey was presented to researchers and IT specialists at the SEI High Maturity Workshop (Washington, D.C., September 2011). The concept of the study was presented to them along with asking some of them to review the expanded list of risks and CMMI practices that would mitigate those risks. Table 24 lists the comments from the SEI researchers and the answers provided.

Initial list of questions for SEI CMM/CMMI colleagues:

- 1. Are we missing any major issues that are experienced by the client firm on offshoring projects?
- 2. Are we missing any CMMI practices that you believe would mitigate the issue?
- 3. Any comments you have regarding study construction?
- 4. Any people/organizations you recommend be included in the survey or interviews?

Table 24. Lists the	Commonte from	a the SEI Workshop	n and the Anexyore	Drovidad
Table 24. Lists the	Comments non		p and the Answers	FIOVIDED

No.	Questions/Comments	Answers/ Modifications
1	You need to clarify who is applying the CMMI. Is it the client organization or the software service provider? Also, it may be that the client firm's development group is following CMMI, but the contracting organization is not. How are you handling that?	The study is focuses on the client organization. I added the client company to the practices.
2	The Cutter consortium wrote a famous article that lists offshore outsourcing risks. You should be sure to include that set of risks.	The issues of Cutter consortium article matches the list of issues of offshoring IT services in this study.
3	We understand that you are interested in what practices in the CMMI could be associated with mitigating each risk. Have you considered practices from ISO 9000? From PIM-BOK?	The focus of the research is CMM/CMMI best practices because it focuses on software development and it is widely adapted and has received great publicity in the software development industry and used by many companies. There are other industry standards such as ISO- 9000 but for this research we wanted to limit our set of practices to CMMI to get a reasonable size of questionnaire.
4	Have you listed the security of data and a company's IP as part of the risks associated with offshore outsourcing. That is the main reason most DoD contractors do not offshore outsource.	In issue number 14 (R14: Supplier technical/security/political issues), I mentioned the security and political issues of the offshore outsourcing supplier. However, CMMI was developed to aid the U.S. Department of Defense in evaluating the capability of software contractors as part of awarding contracts which is only outsourcing to same country suppliers. Thus, in the CMMI for acquisition and CMMI for Development there are no specific practices to check the supplier security and political issues. Yet, these issues are critical for offshore outsourcing. The main objective of this research is to know if an organization adheres to the CMMI, does it mitigate the risks associated with offshore outsourcing.
5	What is the sample frame of companies that you will survey? Client firms? Service providers? End customers? Those who apply the CMMI and those who	The sample companies include client companies that apply CMM/CMMI and those who don't. The companies that don't apply CMM/CMMI will be the (control group) to compare their results in mitigating offshore outsourcing issues and

	don't? This is a critical issue that will	challenges with the companies that apply the
	affect the validity of your work.	CMM/CMMI practices.
6	What will you do if you survey a company	I added question 9 for ISO and PMBOK (when I
	that does not use the CMMI but uses ISO	ask about the industrial standards applied by the
	9000 or PIM-BOK instead? Will that	client company). Data collected from companies
	skew your results? In other words, a	that apply other than CMM/CMMI practices such as
	company that participates in a process	ISO-9000, ISO-9000-3, eSCM-CL, SSCM-SP or
	improvement model other than the CMMI	Project Management Body of Knowledge
	will be advanced and perhaps actually	(PMBOK) will be excluded from the analyses, this
	participate in advanced practices so they	way their results will not affect our data analysis.
	will do well. How will you control for	
	that?	
7	How many companies will you survey?	The target sample will be 12000 companies,
		therefore, the web survey will be sent to 12000
		client companies.
8	CMMI ACQ has a unique practice	Yes, it is included in issue number 17 (R17: Poor
	associated with establishing and	execution plan specifically timing and type of work
	maintaining an acquisition strategy. Have	transferred to the supplier) practice number 55
	you included this?	(PR55: Establish and maintain the acquisition
		strategy (CMMI ACQ, Project management, Project
		Planning (PP), SP 1.1, ML2)
9	Be sure to use good survey software	I am using Qualtrics that is supported by Portland
		State University.

The results of phase one were clear and indicated that the expert panel found all issues and practices to be important. Therefore, after a meeting with committee members, the decision was to keep all issues and practices but distribute the practices in four surveys instead of one and send each survey to 3000 IT companies as illustrated in Table 25.

Content validation survey (10 questions). This review was expected to take approximately 20-30 minutes to complete. Phase Two started on October 1 and ended on October 28th 2012.

11 Expert Panel 6 CMM/CMMI expert and	10 Expert panel 5 CMM/CMMI experts and 5
5 non CMM/CMMI expert	non CMM/CMMI experts
Questionnaire 1: contains 17 issues and 29 practices	Questionnaire 2: contains 17 issues and 28 practices

Table 25: Number of Expert Panel and Number of Practices for Each of the Two Surveys

4.2.4.4 Content Validation: Step 7: Pilot (PhD Experienced Students)

Step seven of the content validation was pilot tested with PhD experienced students. Respondents were asked to respond to the survey. The intention of the test deployment of a web survey to a group of respondents and test the back-end system, ensuring that data was being collected and stored electronically in the desired format. Feedback on content was not the goal of this step and respondents were specifically notified as such.

Twenty PhD students from the Engineering and Technology Department at Portland State University were recruited. They were shown a copy of the eventual survey that IT and software development managers would take and asked to answer all of the questions. At the end, a large text-based comment box asked for their overall comments and feedback regarding the survey in which they just participated. Twenty started and fifteen completed it to the end. Table 26 provides some examples of feedback and resulting modifications from the pilot step.

No.	Participants' comments	Modifications
1	Question 3 in general questions "What	Changed question layout to radio button format
	Number of employees" it is currently	(single answer)
	allowing multiple answers!	
2	Why to put "* Required" questions 3 and	Removed the word "Required" from all the
	4?	questions
3	Why do you have the word "offshore"	Removed the word "offshore" from the all
	after each functional area in question 5	answer options in this question
4	Question 1 option 5 "Poor tracking and	Removed
	by "the" your company and	
	"remove "the before your company	
5	Introduction of Question 1 is too long	Shorten the question
6	Question 4 "it is better to put a	Definition is added
	definition" for quality	
7	If question 5 is "no", then question 6	Added Qualtrics "skip logic" to questions 5, 6,
	does not apply. I can suggest to add in	and 7 - when a person answers No it
	question 5 a note such as: "if the answer	automatically skip the "level question" to the
	is no, please skip question 6"	following question.
8	Size of font differs from question to	Checked all fonts – unified them
	question	
9	I could add a State option that is not a	Added Qualtrics validation for US State to the
	State – how can you make sure that it is	State option
	validated??	

Table 26: Feedback and Resulting Modifications from the Pilot Step

4.2.4.5 Content Validation: Step 7: Pilot (Subset of Expert Panel)

Version 7 of the survey was verified with a subset of expert panel members who had IT managerial experience and worked in IT offshoring companies. This was done using the walkthrough method, through a one-on-one (face-to-face) or email discussion.

4.2.4.6 Content Validation: Step 8: Expert Panel Validation

During this most critical validation step, the expert panel was contacted to content validate the survey questions for (1) relevance and (2) ease of answering. Invitations were emailed to start the content validation phase. The content validation was conducted using a web-based survey. With multiple follow-ups, this step took six weeks to complete. Of the total twenty one expert panel members who accepted the invitation, twenty one started the survey and sixteen completed it.

The expert panel was provided a link to a web-based survey. Figure 27 shows the invitation email with the link to the web-based link for the survey validation and Figure 28 shows the introduction page. Both show the instructions as to the nature of the activity and what was expected.

-	Rosine Salman 3:58 PM (0 minutes ago) 🙀 🧄
	Dear
	Thank you for your feedback on phase one of my survey validation. Your feedback was extremely important to my research as well as to the field of IT service offshoring and enhanced the survey instrument.
	This phase two is part of the construct validation survey for a survey of IT off-shoring. As you know, this survey is the data collection part of my dissertation at Portland State University.
	The construct validation survey will be conducted by walking you through each question in the survey by providing figures depicting the questions of the survey and by asking you two questions about each survey question: 1) How closely does the text of each question and its options represent the intention of the question?, 2) How easy is it for off-shoring IT managers to answer each question? If you think a question(s) can be improved at each step, you will have the opportunity to write in your comments.
	There are 10 questions in the survey and 24 questions in the validation of the survey. This review should take approximately 20-30 minutes to complete.
	Please Take the Survey
	Or copy and paste the URL below into your internet browser: https://portlandstate.qualtrics.com//WRQualtricsSurveyEngine/?Q_SS=ebKTqkmOj2R4kdf_0TWlbpFWKf1Kzdj&_=1
	Upon the conclusion of this phase of the survey construct validation activity, I will compile the survey instrument before sending it out. The survey will target a random sample of companies in the United States that: are of varying size, are among the 12,000 companies that off-shore IT services, consist of companies that do/do not participate in the SEI CMM/CMMI. Lastly, the survey tests the IT offshore practices from the client-firm management perspective.
	At the end of the research, you will receive a copy of the report and the results of the research.
	I would appreciate it if you could respond by October 28, 2012. If I have not received your responses by that date, I will send you a reminder.
	If you have any questions, please email me at: rosine@pdx.edu.
	I really thank you for taking the time to validate this survey. Your participation in this research expert panel is very important and greatly appreciated as it adds not only to the completion of my doctoral dissertation but also to the body of knowledge in this growing area of off-shoring IT services.
	Best regards,
	Rosine

Figure 27: Survey Validation Email Invitation



Figure 28: Survey Instrument Validation Introduction Page

The questions from the IT offshoring survey were presented to the expert panel one-by-one (one per page). For each question, the experts were provided with a textual definition of the intention, along with any relevant background information. A screen capture from the IT offshoring survey, showing the question and response, was also presented. Then the experts were asked to answer three questions. First, score how well the question captured the intention on a scale of 1 to 5 where 1 is "Not At All Closely" and 5 is "Very Closely". Second, score how easy it would be for the IT managers to answer the particular question on a scale of 1 to 5 where 1 is "Very Difficult" and 5 is "Very Easy". Third, is an optional opportunity for additional feedback for each question. Figure 29 presents a screen capture of an example question and how these steps were provided and integrated.

nis question asks abou fshore projects regard lease answer questions	t the level of the ing time schedule 7 and 8 below.	respondent's e.	s satisfaction w	ith the perform	nance of of the question
Figur	e 3: Depicts quest	ion 2 of the r	esearch questior	IS	
Question 2 of 10 Please indicate the level of <u>schedule</u>	your satisfaction with	n the performan	nce of your offshore	projects regardin	g <u>time</u>
	Earlier than planned time	On time	20% more than planned time	50% more than planned time	Double the planned time
Projects Time/ Schedule	0	0	Ø	0	0
		-	1		
In your opinion, how cl Not At All Closely Not	Ques osely does the tex Very Closely	t of the quest	tion represent the Somewha	e intention of the	rvey (not clicks e question? Score relevance
In your opinion, how cl Not At All Closely Not	Ques osely does the tex Very Closely	t of the quest	ented with screen s tion represent the Somewha	e intention of the	rvey (not clicka e question? Score relevance
In your opinion, how cl Not At All Closely Not O In your opinion, how ea Very Difficult	Ques osely does the tex Very Closely O sy is it for off-shor Difficult	t of the quest Neutral Ing IT manag Neutral I	tion represent the Somewha C lers to answer the Eas	e intention of the	e question? Score relevance
In your opinion, how cl Not At All Closely Not O In your opinion, how ea Very Difficult O Optional: In your opinic y feedback for this ques	Ques osely does the tex Very Closely O sy is it for off-shore Difficult O n, is there any thir tion and its options	t of the quest Neutral	ented with screen si tion represent the Somewha C ters to answer the East C bom the text of the bovide it in the box	hot from actual su	e question? Score relevance

Figure 29: Example Question from the Online Validation Survey

Relevance; how well the question captures the intention of the question and ease of answering were scored on a 5-point Likert scale:

Relevance: 1: Not at all Closely; 2: Not Very Closely; 3: Neutral; 4: Somewhat Closely; 5: Very Closely.

Ease of Answering: 1: Very Difficult; 2: Difficult; 3: Neutral; 4: Easy; 5: Very Easy

After incorporating the feedback from the expert panel, the goal was to have all of the survey questions score above a 4: Somewhat closely for relevance and 4: Easy for ease of answering. Achieving these goals would help demonstrate that the survey was well designed, suited for the research objective and easy to fill out.

As shown in Table 27, the validation results were encouraging. The average intention score was 4.34 out of 5 and the average ease of answering was 3.91 out of 5. Consistent with the goal to have both indicators score above a 4-point, ease of answering for question 1 (3.63), Question 2 (3.63), Question 3 (3.69), Question 4 (3.19), Question 6 (3.88) and question 10 (3.25), were specifically identified for modification and improvement.

Question	Intention Mean	Standard Deviation	Ease of Answering Mean	Standard Deviation
General Questions	4.56	0.89	4.31	0.79
Q1	4.56	0.81	3.63	1.02
Q2	4.06	1.12	3.63	1.20
Q3	4.13	1.15	3.69	1.30
Q4	4.13	0.81	3.19	1.17
Q5	4.06	1.18	4.00	1.26
Q6	4.25	1.00	3.88	1.31
Q7	4.44	1.03	4.13	1.26
Q8	4.31	1.01	4.19	1.05
Q9	4.00	1.32	4.00	1.15
Q10	4.63	0.50	3.25	1.44
End of Survey Questions	5.00	0.00	5	0.00
Average	4.34		3.91	

Table 27: Content Validation Results

As mentioned earlier, in addition to scoring for intention and ease of answering, each question provided the experts with an optional comment box. The expert panel responses produced 15 full pages of comments. For each optional comment, each time 6 to 14 experts provided comments. Appendix C provides a list of the comments received and the action taken for each comment. Figures 30 to 35 reflect modified questions 1 to 4, 6 and 10 as well as how the comments were addressed and actions taken to improve their score.

	for service and software development. For each indic	the local states of the	benefit on a	mplement I	1 other	Deing	
	company faced that issue while implementing your IT	off-short	ing in th	e past 2 yea	your rs.		
Supplier	Supplier company (Subcontractor) is the compa	ny or party	that sup	plies IT proc	ess or		
definition	(Subcontractor) could also be a subsidiary that is I	or agreen ocaled out	sent. Sup Iside the	us.	any		
was added		-	Aimost	Anitaria	-	and a	
\checkmark	Over extenditure due to higher wate	- C	- Contraction	Como an	0	0	Channad
	Poor execution plan specifically timing and type of work transferred to the supplier	6	0	0	-	-	"Very
	Difference in interpretation of project requirements between your company and your supplier	0	:0	0	0	1	Frequently
	Poorly developed and documented requirements by your company	0	.0			15	to Almost
	Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by the your company	0	0	0	0	0	Alweys"
	Lack of a full communication plan between your company and the suppley	0					
Changed "No	Communication and coordination problems between your company and the supplier	0	0	0	0	0	
Previous	denguage barriers between your company and the supplier			0	0		
experience of	Time-zone differences between your company and the supplier	0	0	0	0	0	
the supplier"	Cultural differences between your company and the supplier	0		Ċ.	00		
to "Insufficient	Incongriete and unclear contract	0	0	0	0	0	
previous	gortract renegatiation and termination	0.	0	0	0	0	
experience ".	Difference in project management practices between your company and the supplier	0	0	0	0	0	
	Unable to measure the performance of the supplier	6	0	0			
\searrow	Dupplier technical becurity and political issues	0	0	0	0	0	
	insufficient previous exertance of the supplier	01		0	0	0	

Figure 30: Survey Question 1 and the Modifications Applied



Figure 31: Survey Question 2 and the Modifications Applied



Figure 32: Survey Question 3 and the Modifications Applied

Average level was added	"Neither nor bed" changes "Adequet	good wes d to re".	Overall offshored Projects	Ad choo over with	ided (Please se the one that est fits your rall experience the off-shored projects)."
Question 4 of 10	usersan lough of entireft		vtent to which the	overall off sho	red IT
Please indicate your a projects' deliverables v that best fits your over Expected Quality: Th IT projects' requirement	verage rever of satisfa were received on exp rall experience with t e óverall service was nts were fully satisfied	ected quality he off-shored provided as s	in the past 2 year (T projects). pecified in the cor	tracts and ove	2 years added erall offshored

Figure 33: Survey Question 4 and the Modifications Applied



Figure 34: Survey Question 6 and the Modifications Applied



Figure 35: Survey Question 10 and the Modifications Applied

4.2.4.7 Content Validation: Step 9: Final Pilot (IT and Software Development Companies)

After receiving the expert panel comments, a tenth and final version of the survey was created and distributed among four surveys. Each of the four surveys contained the same first nine questions and the tenth question concerning the 57 practices was distributed among the four survey questionnaires as indicated in Figure 36.

No. of firms 3000	Survey 1	Issues	Unable to measure performance	Difference in interpretation of project requirements	Contract renegotiation and termination	<u>Total</u> practices	Total
		17	9	3	2	14	31

No. of firms 3000	Survey 2	Issues	Poor execution plan	Language barriers, Time-zone differences, Cultural differences	Communication and coordination problems	<u>Total</u> practices	Total
		17	4	6	4	14	31

No. of firms 3000	Survey 3	Issues	Over expenditure	Supplier technical/security and political issues	Lack of a full communication plan	<u>Total</u> practices	Total
		17	6	3	5	14	31

No. of firms 3000	Survey 4	Issues	No previous experience of the supplier	Difference in project management practices	Lack of supplier standardized working methods	Incomplete and unclear contract	Poorly developed and documented requirement s	Poor tracking & managing requiremen t changes	Total practices	Total
		17	3	5	4	5	2	3		
Rep	eated prac	tices	31R+38R+ 39R	31R + 37R + 38R + 39R	37R+ 39R + 31R	10R	10R	Non		
To rep	tal without eated prac	the tices	0	5	1	4	2	3	15	32

Figure 36: Distribution of Practices into Four Surveys

After applying the modifications of the expert panel, twelve IT companies were invited and accepted to participate in the survey. Ten IT companies' managers started and finished the survey validation. Characteristics of the IT companies and titles of respondents are listed in Table 28 below.

Company	Size (No of Emp.)	Manager Title	Location	Survey
Company 1	1-20 Employees	CEO	Oregon	Survey 1
Company 2	50-100 Employees	СТО	California	Survey 2
Company 3	101-250 Employees	Project Manager	Oregon	Survey 3
Company 4	250-500 Employees	Software	Oregon	Survey 4
		Manager		
Company 5	500-1000	Project Manager	Oregon	Survey 1
	Employee			
Company 6	1000+ Employees	Software	Oregon	Survey 2
		Engineering		
		Manager		
Company 7	50-100 Employees	Engineering	California	Survey 3
		Manager		
Company 8	250-500 Employees	Information	Oregon	Survey 4
		Technology		
		Manager		
Company 9	101-250 Employees	СТО	California	Survey 1
Company 10	500-1000	Software	Oregon	Survey 2
	Employees	Manager		
Company 11	1000+ Employees	IT Manager	Oregon	Survey 3
Company 12	1-20 Employees	CEO	Oregon	Survey 4

Table 28: Lists the Characteristics of the IT Companies and Titles of Respondents

In this phase, each question was presented to the respondents to answer it (one per page). Then the respondents were asked to answer two questions: (1) how easy it was to answer the particular question on a scale of 1 to 5 and (2) provide any additional feedback (optional). Figure 37 shows a screen of an example question and how these steps were integrated.



Figure 37: A Screen-shot of an Example Question of the Pilot Test of Questionnaire

The data collected at this step was used to insure that the data was collected as designed and the logic of the questions was also as designed. After incorporating the feedback from the managers in ten IT companies, the goal was to have all of the survey questions (specifically questions 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, and 10) score above 4 "Easy" for ease of answering to enhance the previous low score and make sure that the modifications had improved the survey ease of answering. Table 29 shows that all questions had a score of 4 and above.

Question	Ease of Answering Mean	Standard Deviation
General Questions	4.31	0.79
Q1	4.50	0.89
Q2	4.31	0.80
Q3	4.25	1.00
Q4	4.00	1.32
Q5	4.00	1.26
Q6	4.44	1.03
Q7	4.13	1.26
Q8	4.19	1.05
Q9	4.00	1.15
Q10	4.13	0.81
Average	4.27	

Table 29: Results of Content Validation of Pilot Test with IT Companies

4.3 Instrument Administration

4.3.1 Targeted Population

The unit of analysis in this research is "the company" and the key informant is a senior executive and middle management involved in decision making of IT and Software offshored projects (e.g. President, CEO, General Manager, Project Manager, Software Engineering Manager, Engineering Manager, CTO, Operation Manager and Quality Manager Etc.). The rational scope described section 4.3.2 illustrates IT and Software companies in the USA as the population of interest.

4.3.2 Sampling Frame

The Kompass database was used to build the database of target 12,000 IT companies (<u>www.Us.kompass.com</u>). A single contact per company was provided. The offer is to provide one email contact per company. Kompass offers complete coverage of ALL businesses in the U.S. and Canada as well as coverage of the most significant international firms.

One can search by more than 35 individual criteria including: industry, company name, geography, product category, SIC or NAICS, company size, annual sales, job function, job title and more.

North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) is the standard used by Federal statistical agencies in classifying business establishments for the purpose of collecting, analyzing, and publishing statistical data related to the U.S. business economy.

NAICS was developed under the auspices of the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and adopted in 1997 to replace the Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) system.

The focus of this research is on NAICS CODES 541511, 541512, and 511210 that focus on Software development and IT companies as listed in Figure 38. Using Kompass, Location (USA), NAICS and the size of the company were the criteria to select companies.

2002		2007	2012	Corresponding Index
NAICS	NAI	ICS	NAICS	Entries
541511		541511	541511	Applications software programming services, custom computer
541511		541511	541511	Computer program or software development, custom
541511		541511	541511	Computer programming services, custom
2002		2007	2012	Corresponding Index
NAICS	NAI	ICS	NAICS	Entries
541512		541512	541512	Computer-aided design systems integration design services
541512		541512	541512	Computer-aided engineering systems integration design services
2002		2007	2012	Corresponding Index
Corresponding	Index			
Entries				
511210		511210	511210	Applications software, computer, packaged
511210		511210	511210	Computer software publishers, packaged
511210		511210	511210	Computer software publishing and reproduction

Figure 38: NAICS CODES for Software Development and IT Firms

12,000 companies were randomly selected and downloaded from the Kompass database with different sizes: 1-100 employees, 101-500 employees and 501 and more employees. The companies were from all US states and represented in three regions (Central, West and East) as in Table 30.

		1-100 Emp.	101-500 Emp.	500 + Emp.	Total	
Original number of companies contacted	Central	1085	640	279	2004	
	East	3268	896	768	4932	
	West	3258	821	985	6936	
	Total	7611	2357	2032	12000	

Table 30: 12,000 companies from Kompass database distributed on size and location

In order to minimize the number of the practices and increase the response rate, the survey was distributed over four surveys. To ensure that the 12,000 companies were randomly distributed among the four surveys, the 12,000 companies were collected into one spreadsheet, sorted according to their sizes and locations (States) and then they were

distributed over four surveys. A new column was created and listed survey 1, survey 2, survey 3 and survey 4. This step was repeated for all companies. Survey 1 companies were gathered into one spreadsheet and all other companies were gathered according to their survey number. Figure 39 shows this step.

Survey	No of	Region	Function	Survey	Survey No of Employe		Region		Function				Company name			
Survey 1	251-500	Alabama	Chief Financi	Survey 1	251-5	00	Alabama		Chief	Chief Financial Manager			AAA			
Current 2	251 500	Alabama	Business Development Manage	Survey 1				·		-	1.00				1	
Survey 2	251-500	Alabama	Business Development Manager	Survey 1	Survey	No	No of Re		egion Funct		tion			Company		
Survey 3	251-500	Alabama	Chief Financial Office		Survey 1		ipioy	ees								
Survey 4	251-500	Alabama	Chief Financial Office	Survey	Survey 2	25	251-500		labama	abama Business Developn			pment Mgr. BBB		_	
Survey 1	251-500	Alabama	Chief Financial Office	Survey 1	Survey 2	25	1-50	0 A	labama	abama Operati		ations Mgr.		FFF		
Survey 2	251-500	Alabama	Operations Mgr.		Survey 2	25	1-50	0 A	rizona	zona General M		al Manager		ККК		
Survey 3	251-500	Alabama	Chairman of the board	Survey	Survey 2	25	1-50		rkansas	vansas VP Engineering		NNNN				
Survey 4	251-500	Alaska	Treasurer	Survey 1 Survey 2		Surve	Employed		es Re	s Functio		n			name	
Survey 1	251-500	Arizona	CEO	Survey 1	Survey 2	Surve	yЗ	251-500	Ala	bama Chief Financ		nancial Of	incial Office CCC		ccc	
Survey 2	251-500	Arizona	General Manager	ККК	Survey 2	Surve	y 3	251-500	Ala	Alabama Chairman of the		in of the l	ne board GGG		GGG	_
Survey 3	251-500	Arizona	IT Manager	m		Surve	Survey 3 Survey 3		An	No of Region		Function				
Survey 4	251-500	Arizona	President	ш		Surve	Survey 3		Emplo	Employees		Function				name
Survey 1	251-500	Arizona	VP Operations	мммм		Surve	yЗ	Survey 4	251-500		Alabama Chief Fir		Financial Office		DDD	
Survey 2	251-500	Arkansas	VP Engineering	NNNN		Surve	y3	Survey 4	251-50	251-500 A		aska Treasurer				ннн
Survey 3	251-500	Arkansas	Chief Information Officer	000	_		Π	Survey 4	251-50	251-500 A		President				ш
Survey 4	251-500	California	IT manager	PPPP				Survey 4	251-50	10 C	California IT manag		ager		PPPP	
Survey 1	251-500	California	Chief Financial Office QQQ				1	Survey 4	ey 4 251-500		alifornia Operations Mg		ions Mgr.	gr.		FFF
Survey 2	251-500	California	Chief Financial Office	VVVCCC				Survey 4	251-50	10 C	alifornia	Chairman of the board			GGGMN	
Survey 3	251-500	California	Chief Financial Office	RRRR				Survey 4	251-50	1 0 C	alifonia	CEO				IIIRS

Figure 39: Randomly distributing the 12,000 IT Company into four surveys

Previous researchers have reported low response rates in similar research involving survey respondents. Thus, it was expected that low response rates would be present in this research as well.

Figures 40 and 41 illustrate the sampling frame for each follow up. At the conclusion of the third follow-up emails using the Qualtrics software, 236 email failures (2%) were generated for the following reasons: emails no longer active, emails no longer 157

available or invalid emails. An additional 2734 invitees (22%) were asked to be removed for the following reasons: they were federal government contractors and could not participate in any survey (1265), they were IT and software engineer staffing companies (913), they were wholesalers/retailers for IT and software development (378), or they declined to take the survey and had asked to be removed from the mailing list without mentioning any reason (178).



Figure 40: Number of IT Companies Reached

Companies asked to be removed from the email list	Initial Invitation	1 st Reminder	2 nd Reminder	3 rd reminder	Total	%
Companies dealing with Government agencies	556	310	250	149	1265	10%
Staffing for IT Jobs	428	290	143	52	913	8%
Wholesalers, Retailers	153	121	65	39	378	3%
Emails returned	128	47	33	28	236	2%
Asked to be removed from the list	68	42	39	29	178	1%
Total companies removed from the email list	1333	810	530	297	2970	24%
Effective Sample Size						76%

Figure 41: Final Number of IT Companies Sample Frame

The researcher wanted to make sure that there was no mistake with selecting the IT companies due to the large numbers of emails received from companies that deal with the Government/Federal Government, Staffing firms and wholesale companies. Therefore, 3000 randomly selected companies where tested. Using the Kompass data base, we checked "Business Activities" and "Other Products and Services" categories in each company's profile. Figure 42 shows an example of Government Contactor Company that provides services for the federal government and thus cannot offshore and/or could not participate in the survey.



From 3,000 companies tested, 25% were companies dealing with government agencies and could not participate in the survey. 12% were IT staffing companies and 3% were wholesalers or retailers.

Thus, the results received were considered acceptable and 9,030 companies were considered for this survey.

From the 12,000 randomly selected companies, there were many contacts for managers who were not involved in IT decisions such as: Chief Financial Officer, 160

Treasurer, VP HR, Chairman of the Board, Marketing Director and Administration Manager etc. Therefore, 4,000 new contact names and emails were generated from the 12,000 randomly selected Kompass database to increase the response rate.

The following email style for each company provided by the Kompass database one email for each company such as: <u>firstname-lastname@companyname.com</u>, <u>lastname@companyname.com</u>, or <u>firstname.lastnamefistletter@companyname.com</u> etc. was used to generate the additional contacts.

The researcher used the Kompass database (one email contact per company) and searched for additional management personnel through the website of each company name. Using the list of executives, the researcher generated the names of IT executives and put the email that matched the company's style and added to the list of 12,000 contacts available as illustrated by Figure 43.



Figure 43: Strategy Used to Add 4000 Contact Names to Increase the Response Rate

4.3.3 Sampling Administration

The survey invitations were emailed with three follow-ups: The initial invitation was sent on Thursday February 29th early morning at 12:05am. The time of the release was chosen based on Dillman's recommendation on web-survey implementations that *"Email invitations are most successful if they are delivered to recipient's' inboxes early in the morning"* (Dillman et al., 2009). In one study, it was found that people who received their invitation emails first thing in the morning were significantly more likely to reply than those who received it midday (Trouteaud, 2004). Thus, the timing of sending the emails is crucial and the researcher should consider when sample members are most likely to

check their email and be free from other commitments and then attempt to have email invitations distributed to their in-boxes just prior to this time (Dillman et al., 2009).

In this research, twelve IT managers were asked about their best time to check their email and thus had the tendency to reply. Ten out of twelve said early morning between 7am and 9am. Therefore, the invitation email was sent between 12am and 3am of February 29, 2013 so that respondents would receive it first thing in the morning.

After sending the initial invitation, many emails were received with concerns that their jobs involved sensitive data, were of a proprietary and confidential nature and could not respond to this survey. Based on these comments, a bold text sentence was added to the first reminder email "Please note that the survey does not attempt to collect any personal or proprietary information". After sending the first reminder, the response rate increased from 10% after the initial invitation to 22%.

Then, another email was received from a CEO of a software company mentioning that "When I saw your email four weeks ago, I was interested but when I saw the \$100 gift card offer, it certainly took my interest off". Although the gift token was recommended by Dilllman, a sentence was added to the second reminder "To thank respondents for their participation, you can elect to receive a summary report at the end of study free of charge. We are also offering \$100 Amazon gift cards to three randomly selected participants in the survey. The winner may choose to donate this amount to the charity of their choice." This increased the response rate from 31% to 37%. The invitation letter and the three reminders are listed in Appendix D.
The survey letter indicated that the survey would take six to eight minutes to complete. An analysis of timestamps from Qualtrics.com revealed that the average compilation time was 9.20 minutes and the median time was 5.12 minutes. Figure 44 provides breakdown of the survey responses over time.

At the conclusion of data collection, 316 valid responses were considered for this research, 558 responses were received, 451 completed responses, 371 responses offshored their IT projects and 55 responses were excluded from the analyses for companies used other quality assurance models. In this manner, their results will not affect our data analysis. Table 31 shows data collected from the four survey questionnaires and Table 32 lists the collected responses based on region and size of the company (number of employees).

Survey	Started	Completed	Offshored	Valid for this research
1	143	114	91	77
2	142	116	94	81
3	123	106	93	75
4	143	115	93	83
Total	558	451	371	316

 Table 31: Responses Collected from Four Survey Questionnaires

Table 32: Co	ollected responses	based on region	and size of	the company	y
--------------	--------------------	-----------------	-------------	-------------	---

Region	1-100 Emp.	101-500 Emp.	500+ Emp.
Central	46	23	11
East	144	43	34
West	133	38	46



Figure 44: Survey Responses Over Time

4.3.4 Response Rate

The Response Rate (RR) for this survey is as follows:

Initial Invitation:	$RR = \frac{55}{9030} = 0.61\%$
First Reminder:	$RR = \frac{121}{9030} = 1.34\%$
Second Reminder:	$RR = \frac{170}{9030} = 1.88\%$
Third Reminder:	$RR = \frac{205}{9030} = 2.27\%$
Combined:	RR = 558 = 6.14%
	9,030

Researchers recommend 100 to 200 responses for complex models (Hulland et al., 1996, Roscoe and Byars, 1971). Additionally, this response rate is consistent with a typical PhD Dissertation response rate of 5% to 8% as shown in Table 33. Email addresses were used to reach the target population. Email had advantages over phone call and included:

geographic flexibility, time convenience for respondent, elimination of interview bias and low cost compared to other methods.

Study	Sample size	Response Rate
Daim Dissertation - 1998	1,987 electronics manufacturing	226 responses = 11.4%
(Daim, 1998)	Companies	
Nima A. Behkami 2012	1,820 clinics	146 responses $= 8\%$
(Behkami, 2012)		
Iwan Sudrajat 2007 (Iwan,	1,917 US Electronics companies	99 responses $= 5.1\%$
2007, Sudrajat, 2008)		
Trent Randolph Tucker 2011	13,705 Manufacturing companies in	227 responses =1.66%
(Tucker, 2011)	Canada	
This survey 2013	9,030 IT and Software Developing	551 responses = 6.10%
	Companies in the US	

 Table 33: Previous PhD Dissertations and Achieved Response Rate

In this research, based on Dillman's tailored design method, care was taken to create respondent trust, increase rewards, and reduce the cost of being a respondent through the following techniques:

- Rewards: monetary incentives, offer summary of results at the end of the study.
- Make questions interesting.
- Insure confidentiality and anonymity.
- Build trust with respondents: Portland State sponsorship, follow-ups to make completion appear crucial to the research, personalize the emails with name, address and phone number of sender (researcher) and reply spontaneously to all emails with respondents' inquiries. Personalize all contacts to respondents.
- Strategically time all contacts.

- To help respondents open the message: Carefully select the sender name, address and subject line for email communication such as: 1) "From" field shows the sender's professional university address (<u>rosine@pdx.edu</u>); 2) "Subject" field for invitation email "Please help Portland State University with your knowledge and expertise" and follow up emails "Please help me with your knowledge and expertise" and "Please help me collect data for my PhD dissertation".
- Procedure with bounced, undelivered or out of office emails.

At this point, a note about proposed sample size is necessary. At the beginning of the research it was hoped that a 10% response rate would be achieved. However, the combined response rate of initial invitation and three reminders was below the threshold at 6.14%. The proposal included a mitigation plan in case a 10% response rate was not achieved. This included taking one or more of the following actions:

Action 1: Replaced 4,000 non IT managers' contacts with IT managers from the same list of companies provided by the Kompass database.

In the selection process for the IT companies, the researcher could ask for one email contact of senior management from each company and it depended on the available email contact in the data base when the request took place. Therefore, the original email contact list provided by Kompass data base contained 4,000 non IT managers such as Treasurer, VP HR, Admin, Chairman of the Board, Chief Financial Officer, Sales Director, Partner, Marketing Director, VP Finance and Admin. Manager etc.

To increase the response rate from the IT managers, each email style provided by Kompass for each company was applied to the names of IT managers that were listed in the company's website and it had a positive outcome.

Action 2: Distribute the 57 practices into four surveys to increase response rate

The survey contained 17 issues and 57 practices. It was originally planned to have one survey containing the 17 issues and 57 practices. Based on feedback from the expert panel and discussion with committee members later, it was decided to distribute the 57 practices into four surveys to increase the response rate and it had a positive outcome.

Action 3: Additional Follow-ups to increase response rate

Originally it was planned to conduct the research with three follow-ups (including initial invitation). However, a fourth follow-up was conducted to increase response rate and it had a positive outcome.

Action 4: Contacted Software Engineering Institute (SEI)

To ensure that my list of companies included CMM/CMMI appraised companies, I contacted SEI's administration and asked if they could provide a list of their appraised companies (only company names). Their response was that the SEI receives numerous requests from users to reveal the identity and/or maturity level of organizations. As a

federally funded research and development center, the SEI was not able to release any information about an appraised organization's identity or its maturity level. The SEI treats all appraisal information as private property and it is kept confidential within the SEI. An appraisal's results are owned by the appraisal sponsor and the sponsor may publicize this information at their discretion.

However, the SEI provided a link to a current list of companies who have completed appraisals the applying CMMI Models. These companies had provided SEI with written authorization for this release of information and are available on their SEI Web site.

Since written authorization must be received from the sponsor of each appraisal posted, there are companies that are using CMMI that are not on this list. Consequently, this list cannot be perceived as an indicator of all or an exact count of organizations in the world that are using SEI models or appraisal methods.

www.sei.cmu.edu/cmmi/casestudies/profiles/pdfs/upload/2011MarCMMI.pdf.

https://sas.cmmiinstitute.com/pars/ and https://sas.cmmiinstitute.com/pars/pars.aspx

These links provides a filter for CMM/CMMI models, maturity level, year and country. Then, the list will provide the names of the companies, maturity level, model, and appraisal and expiration date.

The SEI list was used to ensure that companies listed in the SEI are available in our database list of 12,000 IT and software development companies. Appendix E provides a copy of the email received from SEI and a copy of the filter and list provided by SEI.

4.3.5 Respondent Profile

The completed surveys indicated that a typical respondent could be described as senior IT manager who had implemented IT offshoring and experienced issues with performing some level of practices to mitigate these issues. They also could have applied one or more of CMM/CMMI methods or models when offshoring their IT projects. The companies they represent could be described as all sizes of US IT and software development companies. Section 5.1 provides more details about the respondent profile.

4.3.6 Survey Response Representativeness – Goodness-to-Fit

For this study, 12,000 IT companies were initially contacted and 2970 of these asked to be removed from the list or were rejected. This brought the total companies contacted to 9,030. Out of 9,030 companies, a total of 551 responses were received. This corresponds to a 6.14 percent response rate. Out of these returned surveys, 451 had valid data.

Although Cook et. al. (2000) discusses response rates in terms of election polls, they note that "the representativeness of our sample is much more important than the

response rate we obtain" (Cook et al., 2000). The main question "Is the sample data from the survey representative of the data from the population being studied?"

Table 34 compares between the observed data (actual survey data received from respondents) and the expected data based on the Kompass directory (sampling frame) across two demographic dimensions: (1) Size of the company (Number of Employees) and (2) Geographic region. Exploring the number of respondents from different segments and comparing them to the expected numbers using Goodness to fit chi square test yielded no significant differences (chi square = 2.33 df. = 8).

	Observed Number	Observed %	Expected %	Expected Number
Central 1-100 Emp	46	8.90%	9.04%	47
Central 101-500Emp	23	4.44%	5.34%	28
Central 500+Emp	11	2.12%	2.32%	12
East 1-100 Emp	144	27.79%	27.23%	141
East 101-500 Emp	43	8.30%	7.47%	39
East 500+Emp	34	6.56%	6.40%	33
West 1-100 Emp	133	25.67%	27.15%	141
West 101-500 Emp	38	7.33%	6.84%	35
West 500+Emp	46	8.89%	8.21%	42
Total	518	100.00%	100.00%	518

Table 34: Comparison of Segment Profile with the Sample of U.S. IT Companies

4.3.7 Nonresponse Error: Wave Analysis

"Response bias is the effect of non-response on survey estimates" (Trent and Monczka, 2005) (Creswell et al., 2005). Wave analysis is one of the methods of evaluating response bias. The proposition being that "persons who respond in later waves are assumed to have responded "because of the increased stimulus and are expected to be similar to nonrespondents" (Armstrong and Overton, 1977).

ANOVA analysis was performed on the data; there was no statistically significant difference between respondents among the four follow-ups. The mean of measurement items from respondents in each of the four follow-ups was compared at (p<0.05) for five important variables measured in the survey: Offshoring Issues: 1) *Over expenditures*; 2) *Poor execution plan specifically timing and type of work transferred to the supplier*. Projects Success Factors: A) *Time/ Schedule*, B) *Cost/Budget*, C) *Expected Quality*. Table 18 through Table 22 summarizes the ANOVA statistical analysis.

Table 35: Offshoring Issues: Over Expenditures **ANOVA**

Over Expenditure					
	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	11.837	3	3.946	1.879	.133
Within Groups	669.965	319	2.100		
Total	681.802	322			

 Table 36:
 Offshoring Issues: Poor Execution Plan

ANOVA

Poor Execution Plar	ו				
	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	8.542	3	2.847	1.440	.231
Within Groups	616.825	312	1.977		
Total	625.367	315			

172

Table 37: Project Success Factors: Time/Schedule

ANOVA

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	5.979	3	1.993	1.117	.342
Within Groups	556.730	312	1.784		
Total	562.709	315			

Project Success Factors: Time/Schedule

Table 38: Project Success Factors: Cost/Budget

ANOVA

Project Success Factors: Cost/Budget

-	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	10.584	3	3.528	1.842	.139
Within Groups	595.499	311	1.915		
Total	606.083	314			

Table 39: Project Success Factors: Expected Quality

Project Success Factors: Expected Quality

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	13.903	3	4.634	2.073	.104
Within Groups	695.240	311	2.235		
Total	709.143	314			

4.3.8 Nonresponse Error: Item Nonresponse

316 responses were considered for this research, 558 responses were received, 451 completed responses, 371 responses offshored their IT projects and 55 responses were excluded from the analyses. These 55 companies used other quality assurance models, this way their results will not affect our data analysis.

There were no survey responses missing measurement items which were part of the proposed hypotheses. This is due to the fact that all related questions were required to

answer (the force-to-answer feature of Qualtrics was applied). There are no incomplete or abandoned survey responses that were used which would have meant missing data. Table 40 shows the breakdown by survey question.

	Validation Type	# of Records	Missing	% of Total
General Information (Company Name)	Optional	451	0	0%
General Information (State)	Required	451	0	0%
Offshore (Yes/No)	Required	451	0	0% (Yes 83%, No 17%)
Issues of offshoring	Required	316	0	0%
Project Success factors	Required	316	0	0%
CMM/CMMI	Required	316	0	0%
Maturity Level	Required	316	0	0%
Best Practices	Required	316	0	0%
General Information (Offshore	Optional	316	10	2.4%
Outsource – Contract out)				
General Information (Own Subsidiary)	Optional	316	10	2.4%
General Information (Functional Area)	Optional	316	8	1.9%
General Information (Number of	Optional	316	8	1.9%
Project offshored)				
Contact Information (Name)	Optional	316	109	34%
Contact Information (Email Address)	Optional	316	109	34%

Table 40: The Breakdown of Responses by Survey Question

4.3.9 Post-survey adjustments

There is no missing data relevant to the hypothesis and no post-survey adjustments are necessary.

4.3.10 Reliability and Validity

The general concept of validity has been traditionally defined as "the degree to which a test measures what it claims, or purports, to be measuring" (Brown, 1996, Field, 2005). There are three basic types of Validity: Content, Construct and Criterion related (Brown, 1996, Field, 2005). Content validity measures the degree to which the content of

the items sufficiently represents all relevant items under study (Rourke and Anderson, 2004). The expert panel was utilized to improve content validity. The purpose of the questionnaire was explained and they were given the questions. They were asked to make comments on the questions. Based on their comments, changes were made. Their ratings of each question were gathered and used to construct validity (Rourke and Anderson, 2004).

Construct validity refers to whether a scale or test measures the construct adequately. It answers the question, "What accounts for the variance in the measure?" and attempts to identify the underlying constructs being measured and determine how well the tool represents them. Expert panel data was also used to confirm construct validity. The experts were given the purpose of each question along with the question text. They were asked to validate each question by rating the relevance and ease of answering each question.

Table 41 presents the reliability and validity analysis plan. Internal consistency was used to measure the reliability. Content validity, construct validity and criterion related validity were assessed to confirm the validity.

Analysis Type	Reliability (Table 15)		Validity	
Approach	Internal Consistency	Content	Construct	Criterion Related
When	After the survey is conducted	Before the survey is conducted	Before the survey is conducted	After the survey is conducted
Application	Examines if the items in a survey assess one, and only one dimension.	Measures the degree to which the content of the items sufficiently represents all relevant items under study.	Whether a scale or test measures the construct adequately. Attempts to identify the underlying constructs being measured and determine how well the tool represents them.	Whether responses are systematically related to other criteria that indicate that the respondent is competent in a criteria area.
How tested	Cronbach's Alpha "Alpha" of 0.6- 0.7 indicates acceptable reliability, and 0.8 or higher indicates good reliability	Ask Expert(s) to make a judgment that the survey items reflect the universe of items in the topic being measured	The experts will be given the purpose of each question along with the question text. They will be asked to validate each question by rating the relevance and ease of answering each question.	Correlate questionnaire responses with the outcomes with some other measure that is already valid that asses the same set of attributes - if they are truly valid or not. Then, the results will be present on the Expert panel for judgment.

Table 41: Reliability and Validity Analysis Plan

Reliability

Chronbach's alpha is used to test for internal consistency and reliability of the scale items (survey instrument). The variables in this study had a Chronbach's alpha coefficient of greater than 0.7, indicating that the factors have a good level of internal reliability (Pallant, 2010) as shown in Table 42.

Factor Name	Factor Code	Number of Items	Chronbach's Alpha
Issues of Offshoring		17	.973
Project Success Factors	Time/ Schedule,	3	.960
	Cost/Budget		
	Expected Quality		
Quality Standards	CMMI for Development	4	.856
	CMMI for Acquisition		
	People CMM		
	TSP		
Quality Standards		3	.773
Levels			
Practices		57	.843

 Table 42:
 Reliability Results

Validity

Validity is the property of a research instrument that indicates that it measures what it is supposed to measure. Criterion-related validity measures the extent to which the predictor is sufficient in capturing the significant aspects of the criterion. The easiest and simplest technique of determining if a questionnaire can be used in a valid fashion in making general statements is to correlate questionnaire responses with the outcomes of the statements - if they are truly valid or not. Then, the results were presented to members from the expert panel to confirm similar results in their companies.

First, the expert panel received a document summarizing the research and the focus of the research questions and hypothesis. The results were presented in two sections: 1) six findings and 2) to explain the statistical results, eight possible hypothetical scenarios were developed based on the company background and the targeted goal. The invitation email and the document emailed to the expert panel can be found in Appendix D. The results validation with the expert panel was conducted through phone meetings with each phone meeting lasting 30-45 minutes.

Below are examples of feedback and the resulting from validation activity:

Researcher: Based on your experience, do you agree with the finding 1 "Applying CMM/CMMI models have fewer issues associated with IT offshoring"?

Validator: Yes, it makes sense for me.

Researcher: Do you agree with finding 2 "Achieving higher maturity levels of CMM/CMMI resulted in fewer issues associated with IT offshoring"?

Validator: Yes, this is very true, the higher the level the better results company realizes.

- **Researcher:** Do you agree with finding 3 "Applying CMM/CMMI models and routinely performing industry practices resulted in fewer issues associated with IT offshoring"?
- **Validator:** Yes, this is significant. From my experience, performing CMMI practices are very important to achieve the desired results.
- **Researcher:** Do you agree with finding 4 "Applying CMM/CMMI models and routinely performing industry practices resulted in better project performance outcomes"?

Validator: What are the project performance outcomes?

Researcher: Project time/schedule, cost/budget and expected quality.

Validator: Yes, this makes sense for me. Seems good.

Researcher: Do you agree with finding 5 "Utilizing and incorporating different practices from TSP and People into CMMI-DEV/SVC and CMMI-ACQ resulting in fewer offshoring issues of language barriers and cultural differences?"

Validator: Yes, it makes sense! I agree, especially TSP because it focuses on teams interactions in software development. As for People-CMM, it was made for human resource training and contains practices that targets cultural issues.

Researcher: Do you agree with finding 6 "Adopting and practicing CMM/CMMI models did not mitigate the offshoring issues of: 1) Time-zone difference between the client company and the supplier company and 2) Supplier Security and Political Issues"?

Validator: Yes! These models were done for outsourcing. I expect project management planning and data management had more practices for these issues!

Here the researcher clarifies that to explain the statistical results, eight possible hypothetical scenarios were developed based on the company background and the targeted goal.

Researcher: Do you agree with the following practices to mitigate over expenditure due to hidden costs incurred by the client company:

179

- "A project plan is established and maintained as the basis for managing the project (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2)
- Establish and maintain the overall project plan. (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2)
- Estimate the project's effort and cost for work products and tasks based on estimation rationale (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2)
- Establish and maintain the project's budget and schedule, milestones, constraints and dependencies (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2)
- Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2)
- Manage invoices submitted by the supplier (CMMI ACQ, ML2)"

Validator: Yes! This makes sense for me! I agree!

Researcher: Do you agree with the following practices used to mitigate the issue of poor

execution plans: timing and type of work transferred to the supplier:

- Establish and maintain the acquisition strategy (CMMI ACQ, ML2)
- Establish and maintain the plan for performing the process (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, ML2)
- Determine the type of acquisition for each product or product component to be acquired (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2)
- Plan transition to operations and support (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2)
- Monitor transition to operations and support (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, and ML2)?

Validator: Yes! I agree! Seems good.

Researcher: Do you agree with the following practices used to manage the issue of

poorly developed and documented requirements by the client company:

- Stakeholder needs, expectations, constraints and interfaces are collected and translated into customer requirements (CMMI ACQ, ML2)
- Maintain bidirectional traceability among requirements and work products (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, ML2)

Validator: I expected more documentation in CMMI practices for these issues! Did you

ask the surveyed managers if they are using other models? Or, if this is the only model?

- **Researcher:** Yes, we asked about other models such as ISO-9000, ISO-9000-3, eSCM-CL, eSCM-SP, PMBOK and if they are using other Models.
- Validator: The companies might not use other models but they might have used other practices that worked for them over the time. Did you ask them specifically about other practices? Or, how important was each practice to mitigate the specified issue?
- **Researcher:** No, we did not ask about other practices or about the importance of each practice. This is a quantitative survey instrument and the response rate was one of the researcher's main concerns. To add more questions, this would increase the survey questions and decrease the response rate. However, the researcher noticed that some companies replied to the question about other quality models applied "homemade methodology" and these companies experienced fewer issues with regard to Time-Zone and Supplier Politics and Security issues. This will be an interesting qualitative future research to investigate what practices these companies do to mitigate these issues.

Chapter 5: Results

In this chapter, the results of the data analysis are discussed, starting with respondent profile, descriptive statistics and testing the hypotheses.

5.1 Respondent Profile

316 valid responses were considered for this research, 558 responses were received, 451 completed responses, 371 responses offshored their IT projects and 55 responses were excluded from the analyses for companies used other quality assurance models. In this manner, their results will not affect our data analysis.

Table 43 lists the top three most frequent responses for each category in the survey. California (19.2%) and New York (12.89%) were the most frequent respondents. In terms of regions, the East region (42.9%) and West region (40.8%) were the most frequent respondents. Regarding the size of the company's responding, 21-100 employees (37.7%) and 1-20 employees (23.2%) were the most frequent respondents.

Of the total responses, 75% offshored their IT project while 25% did not offshore their IT projects. 88% of the IT offshoring companies contracted out their IT project while 50% owned their own subsidiaries. In terms of functional area of respondents, CTO (28.6%), CEO (22%) and Software Engineering Manager (20%) were the most frequent respondents. 30.6% of the total responses offshored 6-15 IT projects in the past 2 years.

Of the total of offshoring companies, 29.6% applied Capability Maturity Model Integration (CMMI) for Development/Services, while 28.5% applied CMMI for Acquisition. Moreover, 24.4% of the offshoring companies applied Team Software Process. 14% applied People CMM and 30% of the total responses did not apply any of the quality standard models.

Of the five Maturity Levels achieved, 29.5% of the companies applied CMMI for Development/Services achieved level 3 and 28.9% of the companies applied CMMI for Acquisition achieved level 4.

Of the three project success factors, for project time/schedule 50% of the IT offshoring companies reported about "50% or more than planned time" or "double or more of the planned time". However, for cost/budget 27.8% of the IT offshoring companies reported "more than 50% of the estimated budget". 23% of the IT offshoring companies simply reported "bad" for the expected quality of the IT offshored projects.

Characteristic	Most Frequent	2 nd Most Frequent	3 rd Most Frequent
	General Ouestions	n=451	
Company Location by the State	California (19.4%)	New York (12.7%)	Texas (7.6%)
Company Location by the Region	East (41.1%)	West (42.1%)	Central (16.8 %)
Company Size (number of	21-100 Employees	1-20 Employees	101-500 Employees
employees in 5 groups -	(35.1)%	(22.2%)	(21.3)%
Questionnaire)			
Company Size (number of	1-100 Employees	101-500 Employees	More than 500
employees in 3 groups)	(60.8)	(21.4%)	Employees (17.8%)
Does your company Offshore	Yes (74.9%)	No (25.1%)	0
Company Offshoring IT Projects	Yes (88.2%)	No (11.8%)	0
by Contracting (n=316)			
Company Offshoring IT Projects	Yes (50%)	No (50%)	0
by Owning Subsidiaries (n=316)			
Respondent Functional Area	Chief Technology	CEO/General	Software
(n=316)	Officer +	Manager (22%)	Engineering
	Chief Information	-	Manager (20.4%)
	Technology +		-
	Information Systems		
	Manager (28.6%)		
Number of IT Projects offshored	6-15 IT Projects	1-5 IT Projects	16-25 Projects
in the past 2 years (n=316)	(30.6%)	(15.5%)	(14.0%)
CMMI/C	CMM and other quality r	nethods used n=316	
CMMI for Development/Services	No (70.6%)	Yes (29.4%)	0
CMMI for Acquisition	No (71.5%)	Yes (28.5)	0
People CMM	No (84.8%)	Yes (15.2%)	0
TSP	No (80.5%)	Yes (19.5%)	0
No Models Applied	30%	0	0
Others (n=55)	PMBOK (30%)	ISO-9000-3 (26%)	ISO-9000 (22%)
	Maturity Level Ac	hieved	
CMMI for Development/Services	Level 3 (29.5%)	Level 5 (26.1%)	Level 4 (18.2%)
Maturity Level	n=88	n=88	n=88
CMMI for Acquisition Maturity	Level 4 (28.9%)	Level 3 (20.5%)	Level 1 (18.1%)
Level	n=82	Level 5 (20.5%)	N=82
		n=82	
People CMM Maturity Level	Level 3 (36.5%)	Level 5 (21.6%)	Level 2 (16.6%)
	n=37	n=37	n=37
	Project Success Factor	rs (n=316)	I
Time/Schedule	Double or more of	On time (24.4%)	About 20% more
	the planned time		than planned time
	(25%)		(22.7%)
Cost/Budget	More than 50% of	On Budget (25.8%)	More than 10% of
	estimated budget		estimated budget
	(32.8%)		(20%)
Expected Quality	Bad (23%)	Good (22%)	Adequate (18%)

Table 43: Demographic overview

Figure 45 shows the respondents adopting CMM/CMMI models. For example, the area numbered 1 represents companies that participated in CMMI-DEV/SVC only; the area 184

numbered 5 represents companies that applied both CMMI-DEV/SVC and CMMI-ACQ. Area numbered 6 signifies companies that applied CMMI-DEV/SVC and TSP. This research focused on companies that applied CMMI-DEV alone, CMMI-ACQ alone, People-CMM alone and TSP alone.



Figure 45: CMM/CMMI Responses

Figure 46 illustrates the total number of responses that included the non-CMM/CMMI models (n=451). 19% applied CMMI-DEV/SVC, 18% applied CMM-ACQ. 18% of the companies did not adopt any quality standard models. 10% of the companies adopted TSP and PMBOK, and 9% adopted ISO-9000-3. Other models applied (2%): Agile, Lean Agile, ITIL, ISO-9001-2008, their own methods (internal systems, in-home methods, home-grown, home-made, home-grown standards).



Figure 46: Percentage of Responses of Companies Adopting Quality Standards Models

5.1.1 Profile IT Offshoring Issues

Table 44 lists the respondent statistics for the 17 issues of IT offshoring. Issues were labeled as being experienced always, almost always, occasionally, rarely or never. Although all of the issues were experienced (Always or Almost Always) by at least 35% of companies, *Time Zone Differences, Cultural differences, Language Barriers problems and Supplier technical/security and political issues* were most frequently experienced in the past two years.

Of the total responses, 72 % of companies experienced *Time Zone Differences* "Always" or "Almost always" in the past two years when offshoring their IT projects, while 60% of the companies experienced *Cultural Differences* issues "Always" or "Almost 186 *always*". Whereas, 54% of the companies experienced *Language Barrier* issues "A*lways*" or "A*lmost always*" with their supplier employees.

		Responses (%) (n=316)		Statistics			Total			
	Always	Almost	Occasionally	Rarely	Never	Min	Max	Mean	Std.	
		Always			-				Dev.	
Over expenditure	25.3%	14.2%	22.5%	22.5%	15.5%	1	5	2.886	1.41	316
Poor Execution Plan	27.2%	16.5%	20.9%	21.5%	13.9%	1	5	2.785	1.41	316
Difference in										
Interpretation of	22.5%	20.3%	19.0%	24.7%	13.6%	1	5	2.867	1.37	316
project										
requirements										
Poorly developed										
and documented	22.5%	16.5%	24.1%	26.6%	10.4%	1	5	2.861	1.32	316
requirements										
Poor tracing and										
managing	23.4%	15.8%	19.6%	27.2%	13.9%	1	5	2.924	1.39	316
requirements										
Lack of full	26%	15%	14%	35%	10%	1	5	2.946	1.39	316
communication plan						_				
Communication and										
coordination	25%	14.2%	18.7%	30.4%	11.7%	1	5	2.896	1.38	316
problems										
Language barriers	34.8%	19%	19.9%	17.4%	8.9%	1	5	2.465	1.35	316
Time Zone	52 5%	19.6%	14 9%	6.6%	6.3%	1	5	1 946	1 23	316
differences	52.570	15.070	14.570	0.070	0.570	-	,	1.540	1.25	510
Cultural differences	35.1%	24.4%	14.9%	16.1%	9.5%	1	5	2.405	1.36	316
Incomplete and	2/ 1%	10.1%	14.2%	37%	19.6%	1	5	3 130	1 /17	316
unclear contract	24.170	10.170	14.270	5270	19.070	-	5	5.150	1.47	510
Early contract	22.2%	12.8%	9.3%	29.7%	26.6%	1	5	3 29/	1 50	316
renegotiation	22.270	12.070	5.570	23.770	20.070	-	,	5.254	1.50	510
Difference in project										
management	24.1%	15.5%	17.4%	24.4%	18.7%	1	5	2.981	1.45	316
practices										
Unable to measure										
the performance of	25.3%	13.9%	19.9%	24.7%	16.1%	1	5	2.924	1.43	316
the supplier										
Supplier										
technical/security	40.5%	12.3%	11.1%	22.2%	13.9%	1	5	2.566	1.53	316
and political issues										
Insufficient previous										
experience of the	24.1%	13%	14.9%	29.1%	19%	1	5	3.060	1.46	316
supplier										
Lack of standardized										
working methods of	22.5%	16.5%	12.3%	32%	16.8%	1	5	3.16	1.38	316
the supplier										

Table 44: Lists Respondent Statistics for the 17 Issues of IT Offshoring

187

5.1.2 Profile of IT Projects Success Factors

1 - Time/Schedule

Table 45 and Table 46 list the respondent statistics by project success factors of Time/Schedule. Companies either experience *earlier than planned time/schedule, on time,* 20% more than planned time, 50% more than planned time or double or more of the planned time to complete the IT offshored projects.

Of the total respondents, 84 (26%) reported *double or more of the planned time* to implement their offshored IT projects. 72 (23.1%) reported *on time*, 70 (22.2%) took *About 20% more than planned time*, 55 (17.4%) *50% more than planned time*, and 35 (11.1%) *Earlier than planned time* to implement their offshored IT projects in the past two years.

Project Success Factor: Time/Schedule					
Answer	Answer Response %				
Earlier than planned time	35	11.1%			
On time	72	23.1%			
About 20% more than planned time	70	22.2%			
50% more than planned time	55	17.4%			
Double or more of the planned time	84	26.2%			
Total	316	100%			

Table 45: Project: Time/Schedule

Table 46:	Project	Time/Schedule	Statistics

Statistics	Value
Min Value (Earlier than planned time)	1
Max Value (Double or more of the planned time)	5
Mean	3.152
Variance	1.786
Standard Deviation	1.3366
Total Responses	316

2 - Cost/Budget

Table 47 and Table 48 list the respondent statistics by project success factors of Cost/Budget. Companies either experience *Less than estimated budget, On budget as estimated, More than 10% of estimated budget, More than 20% of estimated budget or More than 50% of estimated budget* to implement the IT offshored projects.

Of the total responses, 89 (28%) reported implementing their IT offshored projects using *More than 50% of estimated budget*; 82 (25%) *On budget as estimated*; 63 (20%) using *More than 10% of estimated budget*; 53 (17%) *More than 20% of estimated budget* and 29 (9.7%) *Less than estimated budget*.

Table 47: Project: Cost/Budget

Project Success Factor: Cost/Budget				
Answer	Response	%		
Double or more of the planned time	29	9.7%		
On budget as estimated	82	25.3%		
More than 10% of estimated budget	63	20%		
More than 20% of estimated budget	53	17%		
More than 50% of estimated budget	89	28%		
Total	316	100%		

Table 48:	Project:	Cost/Budget	Statistics
		0	

Statistics	Value
Min Value (Double or more of the planned time)	1
Max Value (More than 50% of estimated budget)	5
Mean	3.278
Variance	1.840
Standard Deviation	1.3563
Total Responses	316

3 – Expected Quality

Table 49 and Table 50 list the respondent statistics by project success factors of Expected Quality. Companies either experience Very Good, Good, Adequate, Poor or Bad expected quality when they implement the IT offshored projects.

Of the total responses, 73 (23%) reported bad quality, 69 (22%) reported Good for expected quality, 66 (20%) Very Good expected quality, 57 (18%) Adequate expected quality and 50 (15.8%) Poor quality achieved.

Project Success Factor: Expected Quality			
Answer	Response	%	
Very Good	66	20.9%	
Good	69	22%	
Adequate	57	18%	
Poor	50	15.8%	
Bad	74	23.3%	
Total	316	100%	

 Table 49: Project: Expected Quality

Table 50. Floject. Expected Quality Statistics		
Statistics	Value	
Min Value (Very Good)	1	
Max Value (Bad)	5	
Mean	2.981	
Variance	2.146	
Standard Deviation	1.4648	
Total Responses	316	

Table 50: Project: Expected Quality Statistics

5.1.3 Quality Standards: CMM/CMMI

1 - CMMI for Development/Services

Tables 51 and Table 52 list the respondent statistics for CMMI for

Development/Services.

Of the total responses, 93 (30%) applied CMMI for Development/Services and

223 (70%) did not apply CMMI for Development/Services.

CMMI for Development/Services			
Answer	%		
Yes	93	29.4%	
No	223	70.6%	
Total	316	100%	

Table 51: CMMI for Development/Services

Table 52:	CMMI for	Developm	nent/Ser	vices	Statistical
-----------	----------	----------	----------	-------	-------------

Statistics	Value
Min Value (Yes)	1
Max Value (No)	2
Mean	1.706
Variance	.208
Standard Deviation	.4565
Total Responses	316

Figure 47 shows the percentage of companies that adopted CMMI-ACQ alone (64%), companies that adopted both CMMI-ACQ and CMMI-DEV/SVC (22%), companies that adopted both CMMI-ACQ and TSP (8%).



Figure 47: Distribution of Responses of Companies that adopted CMMI-DEV/SVC

2 – CMMI for Acquisition

Table 53 and Table 54 list the respondent statistics for CMMI for Acquisition. Of the total responses, 90 (28.5%) applied CMMI for Acquisition and 226 (71.5%) did not apply CMMI for Acquisition.

CMMI for Acquisition			
Answer Response %			
Yes	90	28.5%	
No	226	71.5%	
Total	316	100%	

Table 53: CMMI for Acquisition

Table 54: CMMI for Acquisition Statistics		
Statistics	Value	
Min Value (Yes)	1	
Max Value (No)	2	
Mean	1.715	
Variance	.204	
Standard Deviation	.4520	
Total Responses	316	

. . .

Figure 48 shows the percentage of companies that adopted CMMI-ACQ alone (62%), companies that adopted both CMMI-ACQ and CMMI-DEV/SVC (24%), companies that adopted both CMMI-ACQ and TSP (8%).



Figure 48: Distribution of responses of companies that adopted CMMI-ACQ

3 - People for CMM

Table 55 and Table 56 list the respondent statistics for People for CMM. Of the total responses, 48 (15%) applied People-CMM and 268 (85%) did not apply it.

CMMI for Development/Services			
Answer Response 9			
Yes	49	15.2%	
No	267	84.8%	
Total	316	100%	

_	
Statistics	Value
Min Value (Yes)	1
Max Value (No)	2
Mean	1.848
Variance	.129
Standard Deviation	.3595
Total Responses	316

Table 56: People CMM Statistics

Figure 49 shows the percentage of companies that adopted P-CMM alone (60%), companies that adopted both P-CMM and TSP (22%), companies that adopted both P-CMM and other CMM/CMM models (10%), companies that adopted both P-CMM and CMMI-ACQ (4%) and companies that adopted both P-CMM and CMMI-DEV/SVC.



Figure 49: Distribution of responses of companies that adopted P-CMM

4 – Team Software Process (TSP)

Table 57 and Table 58 list the respondent statistics for TSP. Of the total responses, 77 (24.4%) applied Team Software Process (TSP) and 239 (75.6%) did not apply it.

CMMI for Team Software Process (TSP)			
Answer	Response	%	
Yes	77	24.4%	
No	239	75.6%	
Total	316	100%	

Table 57: TSP

Table Jo. 151 Statistics	
Statistics	Value
Min Value(Yes)	1
Max Value (No)	2
Mean	1.756
Variance	.185
Standard Deviation	.4300
Total Responses	316

Table 58: TSP Statistics

Figure 50 shows the percentage of companies that adopted TSP alone (58%), companies that adopted both TSP and P-CMM (14%), companies that adopted both TSP and CMMI-ACQ (12%), companies that adopted both TSP and CMMI-DEV/SVC and Companies that adopted TSP and 2 or more other CMM/CMMI models.



Figure 50: Distribution of Responses of Companies Adopted TSP

CMMI for Development/Services, CMMI for Acquisition and People for CMM

Table 59 lists the respondent statistics for maturity level for (1) CMMI for Development/Services, (2) CMMI for Acquisition and People for CMM.

Of the total responses for CMMI for Development maturity level achieved, 26 (30%) achieved maturity level 3, 23 (26%) achieved maturity level 5, 16 (18%) achieved maturity level 4, 12 (14%) achieved maturity level 1 and 11 (13%) achieved maturity level 2.

Whereas, for CMMI for Acquisition, 24 (29%) achieved maturity level 4, 17 (21%) achieved both maturity levels 3 and 5, 15 (18%) achieved maturity level 1.

As for People-CMM, 13 (36%) achieved maturity level 3, 8 (22%) archived maturity level 5 and 6 (17%) achieved maturity level 2.

		5							
Maturity levels	CMMI for Development/Services		CMMI for		People CMM				
			Acquisition	1					
	Responses	%	Responses	%	Responses	%			
Maturity Level 1	12	13.6%	15	18.1%	5	13.9%			
Maturity Level 2	11	12.5%	10	12%	6	16.7%			
Maturity Level 3	26	29.5%	17	20.5%	13	36.1%			
Maturity Level 4	16	18.2%	24	28.9%	4	11.1%			
Maturity Level 5	23	26.1%	17	20.5%	8	22.2.7%			
CMMI applied but no	2		5		9				
maturity level number									
was determined									
Don't Know	3		2		4				
Statistics									
Min Value	1		2		2				
Max Value	7		7		7				
Mean	3.307		3.217		3.111				
Variance	1.824		2.928		1.759				
Std Deviation	1.3507		1.3885		1.3262				
Total Responses	93		90		49				

 Table 59:
 Maturity Levels and Statistics

5.1.5 Industry Standards Practices

Tables 60, 61, 62 and 63 lists the respondent statistics for industry standards practices collected from surveys 1, 2, 3 and 4 respectively.

Of the total responses for survey 1, 23 (19.5%) reported practicing "1-R6-1: Establishes and maintains quantitative objectives to address quantitative objectives to address quality and process performance" "Always", 20 (25.6%) responded reported performing this practice "Very Frequently", 11 (14%) reported "Occasionally", and 12 (15%) reported for each "Rarely" and "Never".

Survey 1	Responses (%)					Statistics				Total
Practices - Survey 1	Always	Very Frequently	Occasionally	Rarely	Never	Min	Max	Mean	Std. Dev.	
1-R6-1-Establishes and	23	20	11	12	12	1	5	2.61	1.44	78
maintains quantitative	29.5%	25.6%	14.1%	15.4%	15.4%					
objectives to address										
quality										
1-R6-2 -Manages the	28	13 16.7%	12	15	10	1	5	2.56	1.46	78
project using statistical	35.9%		15.4%	19.2%	12.8%					
techniques		40	10	10	- 10		-		1.10	=0
1-R6-3 -Performs root	26	13	16	13	10	1	5	2.59	1.43	/8
cause analysis of issues	33.3%	16.7%	20.5%	16.7%	12.82%		-	2.47	4.40	70
1-R6-4- Manages	26	19 24.4%	15	6	12	1	5	2.47	1.42	/8
corrective actions to	33.3%		19.2%	1.1%	15.4%					
1-R6-5- Periodically	30	16 20 5%	7	8	8	1	5	2 10	1 30	78
reviews the project's	50%	10 20.570	9%	10.3%	10.3%	-		2.10	1.55	70
progress	3070		570	10.570	10.570					
1-R6-6Reviews project's	35	16 20.5%	10	8	9	1	5	2.23	1.41	78
accomplishments	44.9%		12.8%	10.3%	11.5%		-			
1-R6-7Establishes and	33	12	11	16	6	1	5	2.36	1.40	78
maintains records of	42.3%	15.4%	14.1%	20.5%	7.7%					
quality										
1-R6-8- Monitors actual	36	13	14	8	7	1	5	2.19	1.36	78
project performance	46.2%	16.7%	17.9%	10.3%	9%					
1-R6-9 -Ensures that	30	15 19.2%	14	9	10	1	5	2.41	1.43	78
supplier agreement is	38.5%		17.9%	11.5%	12.8%					
satisfied										
1-R2-10- Develops an	36	19 24.4%	9	7	7	1	5	2.10	1.33	78
understanding on	46.2%		11.5%	9.0%	9%					
meaning of requirements						-				
1-R2-11- Validates	36	19	10	4	9	1	5	2.12	1.36	78
requirements to ensure	46.2%	24.4%	12.8%	5.1%	11.5%					
end product performs	0.5	40	10		-		-	0.45		=0
1-R2-12- Obtains	35	18	10	8	7	1	5	2.15	1.34	78
commitment to	44.9%	23.1%	12.8%	10.3%	9%					
requirements from all										
1 P2 12 Establishes and	25	10	0	17	0	1	-	2.40	1.40	70
1-R2-13ESIGDIISTIES driu	35	12.00/	0 10.2%	1/ 21 00/	0 10.20/	T	Э	2.40	1.49	/8
plans	44.9%	12.0%	10.5%	21.0%	10.5%					
1-R2-14 -Ensures	38	13	9	12	6	1	5	2.17	1.38	78
agreements with	48.7%	16.7%	11.5%	15.4%	7.7%					
suppliers are satisfied										

 Table 60:
 Respondent Statistics by Industry Standards Practices for Survey 1

Of the total responses for survey 2, 16 (19.8%) reported practicing "1-R7-1: Establishes and maintains the offshoring strategy plan" "Always", 24 (29.6%) responded reported performing this practice "Very Frequently", 11 (5.6%) reported "Occasionally", 19 (25%) reported for "Rarely" and 11 (19.7) reported "Never" as in Table 61.

Survey 2	Responses (%)				Statistics				Total	
Practices - Survey 2	Always	Very	Occasionally	Rarely	Never	Min	Max	Mean	Std.	
		Frequently	,						Dev.	
2-R7-1 -Establishes and	16	24	11	19	11	1	5	2.82	1.361	81
maintains offshoring	19.8%	29.6%	5.6%	25.4%	19.7%					
strategy										
2-R7-2- Establishes and	20	20	14	15	12	1	5	2.74	1.403	81
maintains the plan	24.7%	24.7%	17.3%	18.5%	14.8%					
2-R7-3- Determines type of	14	21	21	12	13	1	5	2.86	1.321	81
acquisition for product	18.3%	23.9%	19.7%	23.9%	14.1%					
2-R7-4- Plan transition to	13	24	15	21	8	1	5	2.84	1.260	81
operations precisely timing	16.9%	25.4%	15.5%	38%	4.2%					
2-R9-5-Ensures that	27	19	7	18	10	1	5	2.57	1.457	81
workforce has skills to share	33.3%	23.5%	8.6%	22.2%	12.3%					
information										
2-R9-6 -Establishes a culture	23	21	15	12	10	1	5	2.57	1.369	81
for openly sharing	28.4%	25.9%	18.5%	14.8%	12.3%					
information										
2-R9-7- Establishes project	31	13	18	10	9	1	5	2.42	1.395	81
teams and responsibilities	38.3%	16%	22.2%	12.3%	11.1%					
2-R9-8- Establishes	30	13	16	12	10	1	5	2.49	1.433	81
effective communication	37%	16 %	19.8%	14.8%	12.3%					
2-R9-9- Managers are	32	13	11	11	14	1	5	2.53	1.542	81
responsible to track and	39.5%	16%	13.6%	13.6%	17.3%					
resolve inter-group issues										
2-R9-10- Maintains effective	23	17	15	17	9	1	5	2.65	1.380	81
work-groups, interpersonal	28.4%	21%	18.5%	21%	11%					
problems are addressed										
2-R5-11-Representatives of	29	20	9	15	8	1	5	2.42	1.395	81
client company project's SE	35.8%	24.7%	11.1%	18.5%	9.9%					
group work with supplier										
2-R5-12- Selects team roles	26	20	9	13	13	1	5	2.59	1.481	81
	32.1%	24.7%	11.1%	16%	16%					
2-R5-13- Communicates	33	11	10	18	9	1	5	2.49	1.484	81
quality issues	40.7%	13.6%	12.3%	22.2%	11.1%					
2-R5-14- Establishes and	30	14	10	16	11	1	5	2.56	1.492	81
maintains a documented	37%	17.3%	12.3%	19.8%	13.6%					
policy for Communication										

 Table 61: Respondent Statistics by Industry Standards Practices for Survey 2
Of the total responses for survey 3, 37 (48.7%) reported practicing "3-R1-1:

Establishes and maintains a project plan as the basis for managing the project" "Always",

13 (17%) responded reported performing this practice "Very Frequently", 4 (5.3%)

reported "Occasionally", and 14 (18.4%) reported for "Rarely" and 8 (10.5) reported

"Never" as in Table 62.

Survey 3		F	Responses (%)			Statistics			-) -	Total
Practices - Survey 3	Always	Very	Occasionally	Rarely	Never	Min	Max	Mean	Std.	
		Frequ-		,					Dev.	
		ently								
3-R1-1- Establishes and	37	13	4	14	8	1	5	2.25	1.480	76
maintains a project plan	48.7%	17.1%	5.3%	18.4%	10.5%					
3-R1-2- Establishes and	34	12	8	12	10	1	5	2.37	1.504	76
maintain overall project plan	44.7%	15.8%	10.5%	15.8%	13.2%					
3-R1-3- Estimates project's	29	19	6	11	11	1	5	2.42	1.481	76
effort and cost for work	38.2%	25 %	7.9 %	14.5%	14.5%					
3-R1-4- Establishes and	36	15	4	8	13	1	5	2.30	1.558	76
maintains project's budget	47.4%	19.7%	5.3%	10.5%	17.1%					
3-R1-5- Monitors offshoring	33	12	8	10	13	1	5	2.45	1.561	76
supplier project progress	43.4%	15.8%	10.5%	13.2%	17.1%					
3-R1-6- Manages invoices	36	12	4	12	12	1	5	2.37	1.574	76
submitted by the supplier	47.4%	15.8%	5.3 %	15.8%	15.8%					
3-R13-7- Selects supplier	28	19	7	14	8	1	5	2.41	1.416	76
technical solutions analyzed	36.8%	25%	9.2%	18.4%	10.5%					
3-R13-8- Conducts technical	31	13	8	9	15	1	5	2.53	1.587	76
reviews with the supplier	40.8%	17.1%	10.5%	11.8%	19.7%					
3-R13-9- Evaluates and	32	10	9	8	17	1	5	2.58	1.635	76
categorizes identified issue	42.1%	13.2%	11.8%	10.5%	22.4%					
3-R8-10- Establishes and	35	13	6	9	13	1	5	2.37	1.565	76
manages the coordination	46.1%	17.1%	7.9%	11.8%	17.1%					
3-R8-11- Project's team	34	10	9	13	10	1	5	2.41	1.516	76
members track actual results	40%	14.7%	2.7%	22.7%	20%					
3-R8-12- Develops	32	14	7	6	17	1	5	2.50	1.621	76
documented plan to	42.1%	18.4%	9.2%	7.9	22.4%					
communicate commitments										
3-R8-13- Managers are	38	9	7	13	9	1	5	2.29	1.513	76
responsible for coordination	50%	11.8%	9.2%	17.1%	11.8%					
3-R8-14Communication	30	12	9	15	10	1	5	2.51	1.501	76
practices are institutionalized	39.5%	15.8%	12%	19.7%	13.2%					

 Table 62: Respondent Statistics by Industry Standards Practices for Survey 3

Of the total responses for survey 4, 25 (30.5%) reported "Always" for performing practice "4-R17-1: Evaluates supplier technical solutions (designs) to confirm that contractual requirements continue to be met", 15 (18.3%) responded reported performing this practice "Very Frequently", 18 22%) reported "Occasionally", 13 (15.9%) reported for "Rarely" and 11 respondents (13.4) reported "Never" as in Table 63.

Survey 4		Re	esponses (%)			Statistics			Total	
Practices - Survey 4	Always	Very Freque- ntly	Occasionally	Rarely	Never	Min	Max	Mean	Std. Dev.	
4-R17-1- Evaluates supplier	25	15	18	13	11	1	5	2.63	1.410	82
technical solutions to confirm	30.5%	18.3%	22%	15.9%	13.4%					
requirements to be met										
4-2- Selects suppliers based on	25	18	13	15	11	1	5	2.62	1.429	82
evaluation of ability to meet	30.5%	22 %	16 %	18.3%	13.4%					
specified requirements										
4-3- Identifies and qualifies	24	16	16	14	12	1	5	2.68	1.431	82
potential suppliers	29.3%	19.5%	19.5%	17.1%	14.6%					
4-4- Selects, monitors, and	23	14	17	16	12	1	5	2.76	1.428	82
analyzes supplier processes	28%	17.1%	20.7%	19.5%	14.6%					
4-5- Selects suppliers using a	24	13	18	15	12	1	5	2.73	1.432	82
formal evaluation	29.3%	15.9%	22%	18.3%	14.6%					
4-R15-6- Establishes and	29	17	14	18	4	1	5	2.40	1.304	82
maintains a usable set of	35.4%	20.7%	17%	22%	4.9%					
organizational processes										
4-R12-7- Establishes and	23	19	17	12	11	1	5	2.62	1.385	82
maintains a mutual	28%	23.2%	21%	14.6%	13.4%					
understanding of contract										
4-8-Requirements are refined	25	16	19	11	11	1	5	2.60	1.395	82
and elaborated into contractual	30.5%	19.5%	23 %	13.4%	13.4%					
requirements										
4-9- Establishes and maintains	24	19	13	13	13	1	5	2.66	1.451	82
a formal contract management	29.3%	23.2%	16 %	15.9%	15.9%					
plan										
4-10-Establishes and maintains	26	17	14	13	12	1	5	2.61	1.447	82
contractual requirements	31.7%	20.7%	17%	15.9%	14.6%					
4-11- Collects and translates	29	21	11	10	11	1	5	2.43	1.423	82
stakeholder needs, expectations	35.4%	25.6%	13.4%	12.2%	13.4%					
into customer requirements						L				
4-12- Maintains bidirectional	26	18	13	12	13	1	5	2.61	1.464	82
traceability among requirement	31.7%	22%	15.9%	14.6%	15.9%					

 Table 63: Respondent Statistics by Industry Standards Practices for Survey 4

4-13- Manages changes to	33	16	8	16	9	1	5	2.42	1.457	82
requirements as they evolve	40.2%	19.5%	9.8%	19.5%	11%					
during project										
4-14Ensures project plans and	27	18	15	13	9	1	5	2.50	1.381	82
work products remain aligned	32.9%	22%	18 %	15.9%	11%					
with requirements										
4-15- Customer Interface	24	14	10	16	18	1	5	2.88	1.559	82
Manager leads in documenting	29.3%	17.1%	12%	19.5%	22%					
change in requirement										

5.2 Testing Hypotheses

In this section, I investigated the relationship between (1) industry standards CMM/CMMI, (2) CMM/CMMI Maturity levels and (3) CMM/CMMI practices and issues of offshoring IT projects. Then, I investigated the relationship between (1) industry standards CMM/CMMI, (2) CMM/CMMI Maturity levels and (3) CMM/CMMI practices and project success factors as shown in Figure 51.

General Research Model



Figure 51: Research Model

Hypotheses Testing

316 valid responses considered for this research, 558 responses were received, 451 completed responses, 371 responses offshored their IT projects and 55 responses were excluded from the analyses for companies that used other quality assurance models. This way, the results from the 55 responses will not affect our data analysis. In the end, 316 valid responses were considered for this research.

Chi-square analysis was used for testing the hypotheses. A Chi-square test with significance level $\alpha = 0.05$ was applied on Question 1 answers that were categorized into two groups: 1) for companies that followed the hypothesis stages and 2) other answers, then applied a Chi- Square test that detects whether there is a significant association between two categorical variables. The Chi-square test is particularly useful in tests involving nominal data since our data is grouped in two or more nominal categories such as "yes –no", less-frequent, frequent, more frequent, more-important, less important, and 1, 2, 3 (Cooper and Schindler, 2006).

5.2.1 Cramer's V Test

The strength of the relation was tested with Cramer's V where values vary between 0.00 and 1:00. The closer to 1:00 the stronger the relationship, while the closer to 0.00 the weaker the relationship. SPSS software was utilized for analyzing the responses.

Tests of statistical significance such as Chi-square do not measure the strength of association between variables. They can only show if such an association does exist. Measures of association reflect both the strength and nature of the relationship in one single 203 summary statistic. Among the tests available, Cramer's V is considered to be the most versatile for nominal and ordinal data with categorical variables are usually interpreted in the following way (Widmalm et al., 1995, Kotrlik et al., 2011, Parker and Rea, 1997, Allen, 1993, Wilkin and Smith, 1987):

- 0.00 and under 0.10 Negligible association
- 0.10 and under 0.20 Weak association
- 0.20 and under 0.40 Moderate association
- 0.40 and under 0.60 Relatively strong association
- 0.60 and under 0.80 Strong association
- 0.80 to 1.0 Very strong association

5.2.2 Bonferroni Correction

The Bonferroni correction was used to control the Type I error rate or the probability of rejecting a null hypothesis that is actually true. In the worst-case scenario, these error rates can be additive, so that if we do 20 tests, each at the 5% level of significance, our probability of committing a Type I error can approach 100% and virtually guaranteeing that we would claim to find a significant result that is not really significant. Future researchers, attempting to reproduce the results, would likely be unable to find the same items being significant (Holm, 1979, Schumacher et al., 2005, Greene et al., 1990, Parhi et al.).

There are less conservative methods that can be applied in regression and ANOVA settings, but Bonferroni is used when doing a series of Chi-square tests (Rice, 1989, Devlin

and Roeder, 1999). Table 64 shows the Bonferroni correction value applied to each of the research hypothesis tests.

Hypothesis	Description	Bonferroni correction applied
Hypothesis 1	 Test the relationship between: Applying CMMI-DEV/SVC and 17 issues Applying CMMI-ACQ and 17 issues Applying P-CMM and 17 issues Applying TSP and 17 issues 	P= 0.05 P =0.05/68 (17 issues *4 models) P = 0.0007462
Hypothesis 2	Test the relationship between: CMMI-DEV/SVC maturity level achieved and 17 issues CMMI-ACQ maturity level achieved and 17 issues P-CMM maturity level achieved and 17 issues	P=0.05 P =0.05/51 (17 issues *3 Models with maturity levels) P = 0.000980392
Hypothesis 3	Test the relationship between 17 issues and the practices	P=0.05 P = 0.05/64= 0.0007812
Hypothesis 4.1	 Test the relationship between: Applying CMMI-DEV/SVC and 3 Project success factors Applying CMMI-ACQ and 3 Project success factors Applying P-CMM and 3 Project success factors Applying TSP and 3 Project success factors 	P= 0.05 P=0.05/12 (3 project factors *4 Models) P = 0.0041667
Hypothesis 4.2	 Test the relationship between: CMMI-DEV/SVC maturity level achieved and 3 Project success factors CMMI-ACQ maturity level achieved and 3 Project success factors P-CMM maturity level achieved and 3 Project success factors 	P=0.05 P=0.05/9 (3 project factors *3 Models with maturity levels) P = 0.005555556
Hypothesis 4.3	Test the relationship between 17 issues and the 3 Project success factors	P=0.05/171 (57 practices *3 project factors) P = 0.0002923

 Table 64:
 Research Hypotheses and Bonferroni Correction Values Applied

5.2.3 Recoding the Answers

The number of participants on different questions had imbalanced group sizes, which may pose a challenge to the subsequent statistical analysis on group differences due to small cell sizes. Thus, the respondent's answers were recoded as shown in Table 65 to 205

obtain relatively larger cell sizes (Ribbens et al., 2008, Bloemer et al., 2002, Al-Senaidi et al., 2009, Keiningham et al., 2007, Grigorian, 2010, Honkala et al., 2006)

Question 1 - 5 Categories	Recode1 - 3 categories	Recode 2 - 2 categories
1 Always	1) Always +	1) Always +
2 Almost Always	Almost Always	Almost Always +
3 Occasionally	2) Occasionally	Occasionally
4 Rarely	3) Rarely + Never	2) Rarely + Never
5 Never		
Ouestion 2	Recode1	Recode 2
5 Categories	3 categories	2 categories
1 Earlier than planned	1) Forlier then alonged time	1) Earlier than planned time + On
2 On time	(1) Earlier than planned time +	time
	J On time	ume
3 About 20% more than	2)About 20% more than	
planned time	planned time	2) About 20% more than
4 50% more than planned	3) 50% more than planned	\downarrow planned time + 50% more than
time	\downarrow time + Double or more of	planned time + Double or more
5 Double or more of the	the planned time	of the planned time
planned time	۶ 	<u>ر</u>
Question 3	Recode1	Recode 2
5 Categories	3 categories	2 categories
1 Less than estimated	1) Less than estimated budget	1) Less than estimated budget $+$ On
budget	+ On budget as estimated	budget as estimated
2 On budget as estimated	J	
3 More than 10% of	2) More than 10% of	2) More than 10% of estimated
estimated budget	estimated budget	budget + More than 20% of
4 More than 20% of	3) More than 20% of	estimated budget + More than
estimated budget	estimated budget + More	50% of estimated budget
5 More than 50% of	than 50% of estimated	
estimated budget	J budget	
Question 4	Recodel	Recode 2
5 Categories	3 categories	2 categories
1 Very Good	1) Very Good + Good	1) Very Good + Good
2 Good		
3 Adequate	2) Adequate	2) Adequate + Poor + Bad
4 Poor	3) Poor + Bad	
5 Bad	J	
Questions 5.1, 6.1, 7.1	Recode1	Recode 2
5 Categories	3 categories	2 categories
1 Maturity Level 1	(1) ML 1 + ML 2	1) ML 1 + ML 2
2 Maturity Level 2	μ	
3 Maturity Level 3	2) ML 3	2) ML 3 + ML 4 + ML5
4 Maturity Level 4] 3) ML 4 + ML 5	17
5 Maturity Level 5	L	

Table 65: Respondents' Answers Recoding

Question 10	Recode1	Recode 2
5 Categories	3 categories	2 categories
1 Always	1) Always + Very	1) Always + Very Frequently
2 Very Frequently	Frequently	
3 Occasionally	2) Occasionally	2) Occasionally + Rarely + Never
4 Rarely	3) Rarely + Never	
5 Never		1

5.2.4 Testing Hypotheses

All statistical results are provided and covered in the following chapter 6 of the Hypotheses Test Results and Discussion due to the volume of the results. Detailed statistical results are provided in Appendix F.

Chapter 6: Hypotheses Test Results and Discussion

This section summarizes the status for each hypothesis. First, I will discuss adopting CMM/CMMI models and IT offshoring issues. The second section of this chapter will discuss the CMM/CMMI maturity level achieved and IT offshoring issues. The third section will discuss the CMM/CMMI practices and IT offshoring issues. The last section will discuss adopting CMM/CMMI models and performing their practices and the project success factors.

6.1 Adopting CMM/CMMI models and IT offshoring issues

A growing number of organizations are adopting the Software Engineering Institutes' (SEI) Capability Maturity Model (CMM) and Capability Maturity Model Integrate (CMMI) to improve their IT service and software development process. CMM/CMMI became an industry standard based on industry best practices and features an industry standard appraisal methods (Olson, 2008, Dubey, 2003). This research examined four CMM/CMMI models: 1) CMMI for Development/Services; 2) CMMI for Acquisition; 3) People-CMM; Team Software Process (TSP). Little is known regarding how adopting CMM/CMMI influences the frequency of IT offshoring issues experienced by the client companies. This research investigated CMM/CMMI best practices and their effect on managing and mitigating critical issues associated with offshore development.

Based on the statistical analysis in Appendix F, the research showed that adopting CMM/CMMI models and best practices is associated with managing and mitigating critical

issue associated with IT offshored development. The following sections will summarize the results and the status for each of the hypotheses.

6.1.1 CMMI for Development/Services and IT offshoring issues

Table 66 shows a summary of the status of hypothesis 1.1 that investigates the relationship between adopting CMMI for Development/Services model and the frequency of IT offshoring issues experienced.

H1.1 There is a relationship between adopting CMMI for Development/Services model and the IT offshoring issues.

Hypoth	esis 1.1	*Status	Strength of
There is a	a relationship between adopting CMMI-DEV/SVC and	Associated	Association
H1.1.1	Over expenditure issue.	Yes	0.610
H1.1.2	Poor execution plan specifically timing and type of work transferred to the supplier issue.	Yes	0.707
H1.1.3	Difference in interpretation of project requirements between Client company and the supplier.	Yes	0.659
H1.1.4	Poorly developed and documented requirements by the client company.	Yes	0.685
H1.1.5	Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by the client company.	Yes	0.681
H1.1.6	Lack of a full communication plan between the client company and the supplier company.	Yes	0.641
H1.1.7	Communication and coordination problems between the client company and the supplier company.	Yes	0.703
H1.1.8	Language barriers between the client company and the supplier.	No	0
H1.1.9	Time-zone differences between the client company and the supplier.	No	0
H1.1.10	Cultural differences between the client company and the supplier.	No	0
H1.1.11	Incomplete and unclear contract.	Yes	0.617
H1.1.12	Early contract renegotiation and termination.	Yes	0.589
H1.1.13	Difference in project management practices between your company and the supplier.	Yes	0.639
H1.1.14	Client company unable to measure the performance of the supplier.	Yes	0.672
H1.1.15	Supplier technical/security and political issues.	No	0
H1.1.16	Insufficient previous experience of the supplier.	Yes	0.645
H1.1.17	Lack of supplier standardized working methods.	Yes	0.626
*P=.05/	58 = 0.0007352 (Bonferroni Adjustment)		

Table 66: Summary of H1.1 adopting CMMI for DEV/SVC and offshoring issues

The analysis showed that firms that adopted CMMI for Development/Services

reported fewer issues with IT offshoring. The analysis showed a significantly associated relationship between thirteen issues (77%) and adopting CMMI for DEV/SVC industrial standards (p=0.0007352). The majority of the following relationships indicated strong association with Cramer's V above 0.60:

- 1. Over expenditure due to hidden costs
- 2. Poor execution plan specifically timing and type of work transferred to the supplier company
- 3. Difference in interpretation of project requirements between the client company and the supplier
- 4. Poorly developed and documented requirements by the client company
- 5. Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by the client company

- 6. Lack of a full communication plan between the client company and the supplier company
- 7. Communication and coordination problems between the client company and the supplier company
- 8. Incomplete and unclear contract
- 9. Early contract renegotiation and termination
- 10. Difference in project management practices between client company and the supplier company
- 11. Client company unable to measure the performance of the supplier
- 12. Insufficient previous experience of the supplier
- 13. Lack of supplier standardized working methods

However, the analysis did not show a significant relationship between adopting CMMI

for Development/Services and:

- 1. Language barriers between the client company and the supplier company
- 2. Time-zone differences between the client company and the supplier company
- 3. Cultural differences between the client company and the supplier company
- 4. Supplier technical/security and political issues

Therefore, this may suggest, consistent with literature, that IT services and software

development offshoring projects pose substantial issues and challenges to the client companies in managing these projects (Ebert et al., 2008). In IT service offshoring, delivery occurs under the additional condition of distance between the service supplier and the client in terms of physical distance, time zone differences or cultural differences. Additionally, complexity increases due to the higher degree of geographical dispersion among team members (Holmström et al., 2008, Yalaho and Nahar, 2009, McIvor, 2000, Raffo and Setamanit, 2005). Therefore, there is a need to utilize different methods to effectively and efficiently mitigate the issues and challenges of offshoring.

6.1.2 CMMI for Acquisition and IT offshoring issues

Table 67 shows a summary of the status of hypothesis 1.2 investigating the relationship between adopting CMMI for Acquisition and the frequency of IT offshoring issues experienced.

H1.2 There is a relationship between adopting CMMI for Acquisition model and the IT

offshoring issues.

Hypothe	esis 1.2	*Status	Strength of				
		Significantly	Association				
There is	a relationship between adopting CMMI for Acquisition and	Associated					
H1.2.1	Over expenditure issue.	Yes	0.769				
H1.2.2	Frequency of poor execution plan	Yes	0.609				
H1.2.3	Difference in interpretation of project requirements	Yes	0.542				
H1.2.4	Poorly developed and documented requirements	Yes	0.532				
H1.2.5	Poor tracking and managing requirement changes	Yes	0.566				
H1.2.6	Lack of a full communication plan	Yes	0.545				
H1.2.7	Communication and coordination problems	Yes	0.613				
H1.2.8	Language barriers	No	0				
H1.2.9	Time-zone differences	No	0				
H1.2.10	Cultural differences	No	0				
H1.2.11	Incomplete and unclear contract issue.	Yes	0.498				
H1.2.12	Early contract renegotiation and termination issue.	Yes	0.642				
H1.2.13	Difference in project management practices	Yes	0.474				
H1.2.14	Unable to measure the performance of the supplier issue.	Yes	0.584				
H1.2.15	Supplier security and political issues.	No	0				
H1.2.16	Insufficient previous experience of the supplier issue.	Yes	0.624				
H1.2.17	Lack of supplier standardized working methods issue.	Yes	0.645				
*P=.05/6	*P=.05/68 = 0.0007352 (Bonferroni's Adjustment)						

Table 67: Summary of H1.2 Adopting CMMI for Acquisition and Offshoring Issues

The analysis showed that firms that adopted CMM for Acquisition reported fewer issue with IT offshoring. Applying the Bonferroni correction, the analysis showed a significantly associated relationship (p=0.0007352) between adopting CMMI for Acquisition industrial standards and thirteen issues (77%). The majority of the following relationships indicated strong association with Cramer's V above 0.60:

- 1) Over expenditure due to hidden costs
- 2) Poor execution plan specifically timing and type of work transferred to the supplier company
- 3) Difference in interpretation of project requirements between the client company and the supplier
- 4) Poorly developed and documented requirements by the client company
- 5) Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by the client company
- 6) Lack of a full communication plan between the client company and the supplier company
- 7) Communication and coordination problems between the client company and the supplier company
- 8) Incomplete and unclear contract
- 9) Early contract renegotiation and termination
- 10) Difference in project management practices between Client Company and the supplier company
- 11) Client company unable to measure the performance of the supplier
- 12) Insufficient previous experience of the supplier
- 13) Lack of supplier standardized working methods

However, the analysis did not show a significantly associated relationship between

adopting CMMI for Acquisition and four IT offshoring issues:

- 1. Language barriers between the client company and the supplier company
- 2. Time-zone differences between the client company and the supplier company
- 3. Cultural differences between the client company and the supplier company
- 4. Supplier technical/security and political issues

Therefore, this may suggest, consistent with literature, that IT services and software

development offshoring projects pose substantial issues and challenges to the client companies in managing these projects (Ebert et al., 2008). In IT service offshoring, delivery occurs under the additional condition of distance between the service supplier and the client in terms of physical distance, time zone differences or cultural differences. Additionally, complexity increases due to the higher degree of geographical dispersion among team members (Holmström et al., 2008, Yalaho and Nahar, 2009, McIvor, 2000, Raffo and Setamanit, 2005). Therefore, there is a need to utilize different methods to effectively and efficiently mitigate the issues and challenges of offshoring.

6.1.3 People-CMM and IT offshoring issues

Table 68 shows a summary of the status of hypothesis 1.3 that investigates the

relationship between adopting People-CMM and the frequency of IT offshoring issues

experienced.

H1.3 There is a relationship between adopting People-CMM model and the IT offshoring

issues.

1 4	Table 08. Summary of TIT.5 adopting reople-clinic and TI Offshoring issues					
Hypothe	sis 1.3	*Status	Strength of			
		Significantly	Association			
There is	a relationship between adopting People-CMM and	Associated				
H1.3.1	Over expenditure issue.	No	0			
H1.3.2	Poor execution plan	Yes	.307			
H1.3.3	Difference in interpretation of project requirements.	Yes	.427			
H1.3.4	Poorly developed and documented requirements by client	Vas	387			
	company.	105	.362			
H1.3.5	Poor tracking and managing requirement changes.	Yes	.342			
H1.3.6	Lack of a full communication plan.	Yes	.499			
H1.3.7	Communication and coordination problems.	Yes	.453			
H1.3.8	Language barriers between the client and supplier.	Yes	.387			
H1.3.9	Time-zone differences between the client company and the	No	0			
	supplier.	110	0			
H1.3.10	Cultural differences between the client company and the supplier	Yes	.413			
H1.3.11	Incomplete and unclear contract issue.	Yes	.335			
H1.3.12	Early contract renegotiation and termination issue.	No	0			
H1.3.13	Difference in project management practices.	No	0			
H1.3.14	Unable to measure the performance of the supplier.	No	0			
H1.3.15	Supplier technical/security and political issues.	No	0			
H1.3.16	Insufficient previous experience of the supplier issue.	Yes	.314			
H1.3.17	Lack of supplier standardized working methods issue.	Yes	.296			
*P=.05/6	58 = 0.0007352 (Bonferroni's Adjustment)					

Table 68: Summary of H1.3 adopting People-CMM and IT Offshoring Issues

After applying the Bonferroni correction, the analysis showed a significantly

associated relationship (p=0.0007352) between adopting People-CMM industrial

standards and eleven issues (65%), the majority of the following relationships indicated

strong association with Cramer's V above 0.60:

- 1. Poor execution plan specifically timing and type of work transferred to the supplier company
- 2. Difference in interpretation of project requirements between the client company and the supplier
- 3. Poorly developed and documented requirements by the client company
- 4. Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by the client company
- 5. Lack of a full communication plan between the client company and the supplier company
- 6. Communication and coordination problems between the client company and the supplier company
- 7. Language barriers between the client company and the supplier company
- 8. Cultural differences between the client company and the supplier company
- 9. Incomplete and unclear contract
- 10. Insufficient previous experience of the supplier
- 11. Lack of supplier standardized working methods

However, the analysis did not show a significantly associated relationship between

adopting People-CMM and six offshoring issues:

- 1. Over expenditure due to hidden costs
- 2. Time-zone differences between the client company and the supplier company
- 3. Early contract renegotiation and termination
- 4. Difference in project management practices between client company and the supplier company
- 5. Client company unable to measure the performance of the supplier
- 6. Supplier Technical/Security and Political issues

6.1.4 Adopting Team Software Process (TSP) and IT offshoring issues

Table 69 shows a summary of the status of hypothesis 1.4 that investigated the relationship between adopting Team Software Process and the frequency of IT offshoring issues experienced.

H1.4 There is a relationship between adopting TSP model and the IT offshoring issues.

Hypoth	esis 1.4	*Status	Strength of
		Significantly	Association
There is	s a relationship between adopting TSP and	Associated	
H1.4.1	Over expenditure.	No	0
H1.4.2	Poor execution plan.	Yes	0.304
H1.4.3	Difference in interpretation of project requirements.	Yes	0.384
H1.4.4	Poorly developed and documented requirements.	Yes	0.304
H1.4.5	Poor tracking and managing requirement changes.	Yes	0.324
H1.4.6	Lack of a full communication plan.	Yes	0.464
H1.4.7	Communication and coordination problems.	Yes	0.424
H1.4.8	Language barriers	Yes	0.517
H1.4.9	Time-zone differences	No	0
H1.4.10	Cultural differences	Yes	0.492
H1.4.11	Incomplete and unclear contract issue.	Yes	0.303
H1.4.12	Early contract renegotiation and termination issue.	Yes	0.304
H1.4.13	Difference in project management practices.	No	0
H1.4.14	Unable to measure the performance of the supplier issue.	No	0
H1.4.15	Supplier security and political issues.	No	0
H1.4.16	Insufficient previous experience of the supplier issue.	No	0
H1.4.17	Lack of supplier standardized working methods issue.	No	0
*P=.05/	68 = 0.0007352 (Bonferroni's Adjustment)		

Table 69: Summary of H1.3 Adopting (TSP) and IT Offshoring Issues

The analysis showed a significantly associated relationship (p=0.0007352) between

adopting the Team Software Process (TSP) industrial standards and ten issues (60%):

- 1. Poor execution plan specifically timing and type of work transferred to the supplier company
- 2. Poorly developed and documented requirements by the client company
- 3. Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by the client company
- 4. Difference in interpretation of project requirements between the client company and the supplier
- 5. Lack of a full communication plan between the client company and the supplier company

- 6. Communication and coordination problems between the client company and the supplier company
- 7. Language barriers between the client company and the supplier company
- 8. Cultural differences between the client company and the supplier company
- 9. Incomplete and unclear contract
- 10. Early contract renegotiation and termination

However, the analysis did not show a significant relationship between adopting People-

CMM and seven (40%) offshoring issues:

- 1. Over expenditure due to hidden costs
- 2. Time-zone differences between the client company and the supplier company
- 3. Difference in project management practices between client company and the supplier company
- 4. Client company unable to measure the performance of the supplier
- 5. Lack of supplier standardized working methods
- 6. Supplier technical/security and political issues
- 7. Insufficient previous experience of the supplier
- 6.2 CMM/CMMI Maturity Level Achieved and IT Offshoring Issues

Based on the statistical analysis in Appendix F, the research showed that

achieving higher maturity levels of CMMI is associated with managing and mitigating

critical issues associated with IT offshored development.

6.2.1 CMMI-DEV/SVC maturity level achieved and IT offshoring issues

H2.1: There is a relationship between the CMMI-DEV/SVC maturity level achieved and the issues experienced by the client firm.

Table 70: H2.1-CMMI-DEV/SVC Maturity Level Achieved and IT Offshoring Issues

Hypothe	esis 2.1	*Status Significantly	Strength of Association
There is	a relationship between CMMI-DEV/SVC ML achieved and	Associated	
H2.1.1	Over expenditure issue.	Yes	0.769
H2.1.2	Poor execution plan specifically timing.	Yes	0.609
H2.1.3	Difference in interpretation of project requirements.	Yes	0.542
H2.1.4	Poorly developed and documented requirements.	Yes	0.532
H2.1.5	Poor tracking and managing requirement changes.	Yes	0.566
H2.1.6	Lack of a full communication plan.	Yes	0.545
H2.1.7	Communication and coordination problems.	Yes	0.613
H2.1.8	Language barriers between client and supplier.	No	0
H2.1.9	Time-zone differences.	No	0
H2.1.10	Cultural differences.	No	0
H2.1.11	Incomplete and unclear contract issue.	Yes	0.498
H2.1.12	Early contract renegotiation and termination issue.	Yes	0.642
H2.1.13	Difference in project management practices.	Yes	0.474
H2.1.14	Unable to measure the performance of supplier.	Yes	0.584
H2.1.15	Supplier technical/security and political issues.	No	0
H2.1.16	Insufficient previous experience of supplier.	Yes	0.624
H2.1.17	Lack of supplier standardized working methods.	Yes	0.645
*P=.05/5	1 (17*3) = 0.00098039 (Bonferroni's Adjustment)		

Table 70 shows a summary of the status of hypothesis 2.1 investigating the relationship between adopting CMMI for Development/Services maturity level achieved and the frequency of IT offshoring issues experienced. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMMI for DEV/SVC maturity level achieved and thirteen issues (77%). The majority of the following relationships indicated a strong association with Cramer's V above 0.60:

- 1. Over expenditure due to hidden costs
- 2. Poor execution plan specifically timing and type of work transferred to the supplier company
- 3. Difference in interpretation of project requirements between the client company and the supplier
- 4. Poorly developed and documented requirements by the client company
- 5. Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by the client company
- 6. Lack of a full communication plan between the client company and the supplier company
- 7. Communication and coordination problems between the client company and the supplier company

- 8. Incomplete and unclear contract
- 9. Early contract renegotiation and termination
- 10. Difference in project management practices between client company and the supplier company
- 11. Client company unable to measure the performance of the supplier
- 12. Insufficient previous experience of the supplier
- 13. Lack of supplier standardized working methods

The analysis showed that when IT offshoring companies achieved a higher maturity level they reported less frequent IT offshoring issues experienced (77%). The results are consistent with the literature, that experience with CMM and CMMI demonstrates that companies appraised to higher levels of CMM or CMMI experience less frequent issues. Increasingly, the industry requires suppliers to be appraised to CMM or CMMI level 3 or higher (Lutteroth et al., 2007).

However, the analysis did not show a significant relationship between adopting CMMI for

Development/Services and:

- 1. Language barriers between the client company and the supplier company
- 2. Time-zone differences between the client company and the supplier company
- 3. Cultural differences between the client company and the supplier company
- 4. Supplier technical/security and political issues

Therefore, this may suggest, consistent with literature, that IT services and software development offshoring projects pose substantial issues and challenges to the client companies in managing these projects (Ebert et al., 2008). In IT service offshoring, language differences, time zone differences and/or cultural differences. Additionally, complexity increases due to the higher degree of geographical dispersion among team members and supplier political and security issues increases (Holmström et al., 2008, Yalaho and Nahar, 2009, McIvor, 2000, Raffo and Setamanit, 2005). Therefore, there is a

need to utilize different methods to effectively and efficiently mitigate the issues and challenges of offshoring.

6.2.2 CMMI-ACQ maturity level achieved and IT offshoring issues

H2.2: There is a relationship between the CMMI-ACQ maturity level achieved and the IT

offshoring issues.

Hypothe	esis 2.2	*Status	Strength of
There is	a relationship between adopting CMMI-ACQ ML achieved and	Significantly	Association
		Associated	
H2.2.1	Over expenditure issue.	Yes	0.769
H2.2.2	Poor execution plan.	Yes	0.609
H2.2.3	Difference in interpretation of project requirements.	Yes	0.542
H2.2.4	Poorly developed and documented requirements.	Yes	0.532
H2.2.5	Poor tracking and managing requirement changes.	Yes	0.566
H2.2.6	Lack of a full communication plan.	Yes	0.545
H2.2.7	Communication and coordination problems.	Yes	0.613
H2.2.8	Language barriers between client company and supplier.	No	0
H2.2.9	Time-zone differences.	No	0
H2.2.10	Cultural differences.	No	0
H2.2.11	Incomplete and unclear contract issue.	Yes	0.498
H2.2.12	Early contract renegotiation and termination.	Yes	0.642
H2.2.13	Difference in project management.	Yes	0.474
H2.2.14	Unable to measure performance of supplier.	Yes	0.584
H2.2.15	Supplier technical/security and political issues.	No	0
H2.2.16	Insufficient previous experience of the supplier issue.	Yes	0.502
H2.2.17	Lack of supplier standardized working methods.	Yes	0.498
*P=.05/5	51 (17*3) = 0.00098039 (Bonferroni's Adjustment)		

Table 71: H2.2 -CMMI-ACO Maturity Level (ML) Achieved and IT Offshoring Issues

Table 71 shows a summary of the status of hypothesis 2.1 investigating the relationship between adopting CMMI for Acquisition maturity level achieved and the frequency of IT offshoring issues experienced.

The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMMI for Acquisition

maturity level achieved and thirteen issues (77%), the majority of the following

relationships indicated relatively strong association with Cramer's V above 0.40:

- 1. Over expenditure due to hidden costs
- 2. Poor execution plan specifically timing and type of work transferred to the supplier company
- 3. Difference in interpretation of project requirements between the client company and the supplier
- 4. Poorly developed and documented requirements by the client company
- 5. Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by the client company
- 6. Lack of a full communication plan between the client company and the supplier company
- 7. Communication and coordination problems between the client company and the supplier company
- 8. Incomplete and unclear contract
- 9. Early contract renegotiation and termination
- 10. Difference in project management practices between client company and the supplier company
- 11. Client company unable to measure the performance of the supplier
- 12. Insufficient previous experience of the supplier
- 13. Lack of supplier standardized working methods

The analysis showed that when IT offshoring companies achieved a higher maturity

level, they reported fewer IT offshoring issues experienced (77%). However, the analysis

did not show a significant relationship between adopting CMMI for Development/Services

and:

- 1. Language barriers between the client company and the supplier company
- 2. Time-zone differences between the client company and the supplier company
- 3. Cultural differences between the client company and the supplier company
- 4. Supplier technical/security and political issues

Therefore, this may suggest, consistent with literature, that IT services and software development offshoring projects pose substantial issues and challenges to the client companies in managing these projects (Ebert et al., 2008) (Holmström et al., 2008, Yalaho and Nahar, 2009, McIvor, 2000, Raffo and Setamanit, 2005). Therefore, there is a need to utilize different methods to effectively and efficiently mitigate the issues and challenges of offshoring.

6.2.3 People-CMM maturity level achieved and IT offshoring issues

H2.3: There is a relationship between CMM-people maturity level achieved and the IT

offshoring issues.

Hypothesis 2.3		**Status	
		Significantly	
There is a relationship between adopting People-CMM ML achieved and the		Associated	
H2.3.1	Over expenditure issue.	No	
H2.3.2	Poor execution plan.	*No	
H2.3.3	Difference in interpretation of project requirements.	*No	
H2.3.4	Poorly developed and documented requirements by the client company issue.	*No	
H2.3.5	Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by client company issue.	*No	
H2.3.6	Lack of a full communication plan issue.	*No	
H2.3.7	Communication and coordination problems.	*No	
H2.3.8	Language barriers between the client company and the supplier issue.	*No	
H2.3.9	Time-zone differences.	*No	
H2.3.10	Cultural differences.	*No	
H2.3.11	Incomplete and unclear contract issue.	*No	
H2.3.12	Contract renegotiation and termination issue.	*No	
H2.3.13	Difference in project management practices between client and supplier.	No	
H2.3.14	Unable to measure the performance of the supplier issue.	*No	
H2.3.15	Supplier technical/security and political issues.	*No	
H2.3.16	Insufficient previous experience of the supplier issue.	*No	
H2.3.17	Lack of supplier standardized working methods.	*No	
*Results may differ with more data (small sample 36 valid cases)			
**P=.05/51 (17*3) = 0.00098039 (Bonferroni's Adjustment)			

Table 72: H2.3 - People-CMM Maturity Level Achieved and IT Offshoring Issues

Table 72 shows a summary of the status of hypothesis 2.3 investigating the relationship between adopting CMMI for People-CMM maturity level achieved and the frequency of IT offshoring issues experienced.

The analysis did not show a significant relationship between CMMI for People-CMM maturity level achieved and IT offshoring issues. However, it was not possible to find a significant relationship between the maturity level achieved and issues experienced when applying People-CMM. There can be various explanations for the lack of statistical significance and I will discuss 2 of them:

- Of the total responses, only 14.7% companies considered practicing People-CMM.
- Of the 14.7% companies, 2% of the companies reported "CMMI applied but no maturity level number was determined" option and 1.7% of the companies did not know their maturity level. This lowered the People-CMM maturity level responses to 11%.

For hypothesis 2.3, the results may differ with more data collected. This is due to a small sample (36) of valid cases.

6.3 CMM/CMMI practices and IT offshoring issues

Table 73 shows a summary of the status of hypothesis 3 investigating the relationship between adopting CMM/CMMI industry standards best practices and the frequency of IT offshoring issues experienced.

The investigation showed that the more frequently the IT offshoring company routinely performed the CMM/CMMI industry standard practices they reported fewer IT

223

offshoring issues. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices and the IT offshoring issues (92%).

Hypothesis	Issues and CMM/CMMI Practices	*Status Significantly Associated	Strength of Association
H3.1	Issue 1: OVER EXPENDITURE and CMM/CMMI Practices PR1		
H3.1.1	<u>PR1</u> : Establishes and maintains a project plan as the basis for managing the project	Yes	0.611
H3.1.2	PR2: Establishes and maintains the overall project plan.	Yes	0.692
H3.1.3	<u>PR3</u> : Estimates the project's effort and cost for work products and tasks based on estimation rationale	Yes	0.651
H3.1.4	<u>PR4</u> : Establishes and maintains the project's budget and schedule, milestones, constraints, dependencies	Yes	0.591
H3.1.5	<u>PR5</u> : Monitors offshoring supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract	Yes	0.606
H3.1.6	PR6: Manages invoices submitted by the supplier	Yes	0.541
Н3.2	Issue 2: DIFFERENCES IN INTERPRETATION OF PROJECT REQUIREMENTS BETWEEN THE CLIENT AND THE SUPPLIER and CMM/CMMI Practices PR7 to PR9		Strength of Association
H3.2.1	<u>PR7</u> : Develops an understanding with offshoring supplier on the meaning of requirement	Yes	0.451
H3.2.2	<u>PR8</u> : Validates requirements to ensure that the resulting product performs as intended in the end user's environment	Yes	0.525
H3.2.3	PR9:Obtains commitment to requirements from project participan	ts Yes	0.446
Н3.3	Issue 3: POORLY DEVELOPED AND DOCUMENTED REQUIREMENTS BY THE CLIENT COMPANY and CMM/CMMI Practices PR10 and PR11		Strength of Association
H3.3.1	<u>PR10:</u> Stakeholder needs, expectations, constraints and interfaces are collected and translated into customer requirements	Yes	0.561
H3.3.2	PR11: Maintains bidirectional traceability among requirements and work products	Yes	0.651
H3.4	Issue 4: POOR TRACKING AND MANAGING REQUIREMENT CHANGES BY CLIENT COMPANY and PR12 to PR14		Strength of Association
H3.4.1	<u>PR12</u> : Manages changes to requirements as they evolve during the project.	Yes	0.640
H3.4.2	<u>PR13</u> : Ensures that project plans and work products remain aligned with requirements	Yes	0.614
<u>H3.4.3</u>	<u>PR14</u> : Customer Interface Manager leads the team in estimating and documenting the impact of every change in requirement and works with the Configuration Control Board (CCB) to get approval for changes to those requirements	Yes	0.657
H3.5	Issue 5: LACK OF A FULL COMMUNICATION PLAN BETWI CLIENT AND THE SUPPLIER and PR15 to PR19	EEN THE	Strength of Association
H3.5.1	<u>PR15</u> : Establishes and manages the coordination and collaboration between the project and relevant stakeholders	¹ Yes	0.655

Table 73: Results of the practices and IT offshoring issues

H3.5.2	<u>PR16</u> : Team members track actual results and performance against plans on a weekly basis. Team members track progress against individual plans on a daily basis.	Yes	0.693
Н3.5.3	PR17: Develops a documented plan to be used to communicate group commitments and to coordinate and track work performed.	Yes	0.646
H3.5.4	PR18: Team managers are responsible for coordination across all project teams	Yes	0.677
H3.5.5	<u>PR19</u> : Communication and coordination practices are institutionalized to ensure are performed as managed processes	Yes	0.635
H3.6	Issue 6: COMMUNICATION AND COORDINATION PROBLEMS BETWEEN THE CLIENT AND THE SUPPLIER and CMM/CMMI Practices PR20 to PR23		Strength of Association
H3.6.1	<u>PR20</u> : Representatives of the client company project's software engineering group work with representatives of the supplier engineering groups to monitor and coordinate technical activities and resolve technical issues	Yes	0.515
H3.6.2	<u>PR21</u> : Selects team roles, including the role of Supplier Interface Manager, who is the liaison between the team and the supplier company representative, and is responsible for requirements change management	Yes	0.411
H3.6.3	PR22: Communicates quality issues and ensures the resolution of noncompliance issues with the staff and managers	Yes	0.601
H3.6.4	PR23: Establishes and maintains a documented policy for conducting its Communication and Coordination activities	Yes	0.549
H3.7	Issues: 7) LANGUAGE BARRIERS 8) TIME-ZONE DIFFERENCES 9) CULTURAL DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE CLIENT AND THE SUPPLIER and CMM/CMMI Practices PR24 to PR29		Strength of
	SUPPLIER and CMM/CMMI Practices PR24 to PR29		Association
H3.7.1a-c	SUPPLIER and CMM/CMMI Practices PR24 to PR29 PR24: Client Company ensures that the workforce has the skills to share information and coordinate their activities efficiently	Yes Language + Cultural	Association .458 Language .411 -Cultural
H3.7.1a-c H3.7.2a-c	SUPPLIER and CMM/CMMI Practices PR24 to PR29 PR24: Client Company ensures that the workforce has the skills to share information and coordinate their activities efficiently PR25: Client Company establishes a culture for openly sharing information and concerns across organizational levels as well as among team members	Yes Language + Cultural Yes (Language , Cultural)	Association .458 Language .411 -Cultural .400 - Language .395 -Cultural
H3.7.1a-c H3.7.2a-c H3.7.3a-c	SUPPLIER and CMM/CMMI Practices PR24 to PR29 PR24: Client Company ensures that the workforce has the skills to share information and coordinate their activities efficiently PR25: Client Company establishes a culture for openly sharing information and concerns across organizational levels as well as among team members PR26: Client Company establishes project teams as well as their responsibilities, authorities and interrelationships	Yes Language + Cultural Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes (Language , Cultural)	Association .458 Language .411 -Cultural .400 - Language .395 -Cultural .438 - Language .447 -Cultural
H3.7.1a-c H3.7.2a-c H3.7.3a-c H3.7.4a-c	SUPPLIER and CMM/CMMI Practices PR24 to PR29 PR24: Client Company ensures that the workforce has the skills to share information and coordinate their activities efficiently PR25: Client Company establishes a culture for openly sharing information and concerns across organizational levels as well as among team members PR26: Client Company establishes project teams as well as their responsibilities, authorities and interrelationships PR27: Client Company establishes and maintains open and effective project teams' communication and coordination plan	Yes Language + Cultural Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes (Language , Cultural)	Association .458 Language .411 -Cultural .400 - Language .395 -Cultural .438 - Language .447 -Cultural .455 Language .465 -Cultural
H3.7.1a-c H3.7.2a-c H3.7.3a-c H3.7.4a-c H3.7.5a-c	SUPPLIER and CMM/CMMI Practices PR24 to PR29 PR24: Client Company ensures that the workforce has the skills to share information and coordinate their activities efficiently PR25: Client Company establishes a culture for openly sharing information and concerns across organizational levels as well as among team members PR26: Client Company establishes project teams as well as their responsibilities, authorities and interrelationships PR27: Client Company establishes and maintains open and effective project teams' communication and coordination plan PR28: Client Company team managers are responsible to track and resolve inter-group issues	Yes Language + Cultural Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes (Language , Cultural)	Association .458 Language .411 -Cultural .400 - Language .395 -Cultural .438 - Language .447 -Cultural .455 Language .465 -Cultural .422 Language .326 -Cultural
H3.7.1a-c H3.7.2a-c H3.7.3a-c H3.7.4a-c H3.7.5a-c H3.7.6a-c	SUPPLIER and CMM/CMMI Practices PR24 to PR29 PR24: Client Company ensures that the workforce has the skills to share information and coordinate their activities efficiently PR25: Client Company establishes a culture for openly sharing information and concerns across organizational levels as well as among team members PR26: Client Company establishes project teams as well as their responsibilities, authorities and interrelationships PR27: Client Company establishes and maintains open and effective project teams' communication and coordination plan PR28: Client Company team managers are responsible to track and resolve inter-group issues PR29: Maintains effective work-groups, interpersonal problems are addressed quickly and meetings are managed to ensure that work-group time is used most effectively	Yes Language + Cultural Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes (Language , Cultural)	Association .458 Language .411 -Cultural .400 - Language .395 -Cultural .438 - Language .447 -Cultural .455 Language .465 -Cultural .422 Language .326 -Cultural .402 Language .367- Cultural
H3.7.1a-c H3.7.2a-c H3.7.3a-c H3.7.4a-c H3.7.5a-c H3.7.6a-c H3.8	SUPPLIER and CMM/CMMI Practices PR24 to PR29 PR24: Client Company ensures that the workforce has the skills to share information and coordinate their activities efficiently PR25: Client Company establishes a culture for openly sharing information and concerns across organizational levels as well as among team members PR26: Client Company establishes project teams as well as their responsibilities, authorities and interrelationships PR27: Client Company establishes and maintains open and effective project teams' communication and coordination plan PR28: Client Company team managers are responsible to track and resolve inter-group issues PR29: Maintains effective work-groups, interpersonal problems are addressed quickly and meetings are managed to ensure that work-group time is used most effectively Issue 10: INCOMPLETE AND UNCLEAR CONTRACT and CMN Practices PR30 to PR34	Yes Language + Cultural Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes (Language , Cultural) Yes	Association .458 Language .411 -Cultural .400 - Language .395 -Cultural .438 - Language .447 -Cultural .455 Language .465 -Cultural .422 Language .326 -Cultural .402 Language .367 - Cultural

H3.8.2	<u>PR31</u> : Stakeholder needs, expectations, constraints and interfaces are collected and translated into customer requirements	Yes	0.581
	PR32: Requirements are refined and elaborated into contractual		
H3.8.3	requirements.	Yes	0.537
H3.8.4	PR33: Establishes and maintains formal contract management plan	Yes	0.539
H3.8.5	PR34: Establishes and maintains contractual requirements.	Yes	0.490
1101010	Issue 11: FARLY CONTRACT RENEGOTIATION AND TERMI	NATION	01120
H3.9	and CMM/CMMI Practices PR35 and PR36		
H3.9.1	PR35: Establishes and maintains negotiation plans to use in	Yes	0.453
	completing a supplier agreement.		
H3.9.2	<u>PR36</u> : Insures that agreements with suppliers are satisfied by both the project and the supplier.	Yes	0.566
-	Issue 12: INSUFFICIENT PREVIOUS EXPERIENCE OF THE SI	IPPLIER	Strength of
H3.10	and CMM/CMMI Practices PR 37 to PR 39		Association
H3 10 1	DR37: Salacts suppliers based on an evaluation of their ability to		1155001001011
115.10.1	meet specified requirements and established criteria	Yes	0.520
H3 10 2	PP38: Client Company identifies and qualifies potential suppliers	Vas	0.537
H2 10 2	<u>PD20</u> G L to L L Company identifies and qualifies potential suppliers	I Co	0.557
H3.10.3	PR39: Selects suppliers using a formal evaluation	Yes	0.655
H3.11	Issue 13: UNABLE TO MEASURE PERFORMANCE OF THE SU	JPPLIER	Strength of
	and CMM/CMMI Practices PR40 to PR48		Association
H3.11.1	PR40: Establishes and maintains quantitative objectives to address		
	quality and process performance, based on customer needs and	Yes	0.486
	business objectives.		
H3.11.2	<u>PR41</u> : Manages the project using statistical and other quantitative		
	techniques to determine whether or not the project's objectives for	Yes	0.507
	quality and process performance will be satisfied.		
H3.11.3	PR42: Performs root cause analysis of selected issues to address		
	deficiencies in achieving the project's quality and process	Yes	0.470
	performance objectives.		
H3.11.4	PR43: Manages corrective actions to closure when the project's	Yes	0.520
	performance or results deviate significantly from the plan	105	0.020
H3.11.5	PR44: Periodically reviews the project's progress, performance	Yes	0.537
	and issues experienced.	105	0.0007
H3.11.6	PR45: Reviews the project's accomplishments and results at	Yes	0.489
	selected project milestones.		
H3.11.7	<u>PR46</u> : Establishes and maintains records of quality assurance	Yes	0.580
112 11 0	activities.		
H3.11.8	<u>PR47</u> : Monitors the actual project performance and progress	Yes	0452
112 11 0	DD 48. Ensures that the sumpling concentration activities of the form		
H3.11.9	<u>PR48</u> : Ensures that the supplier agreement is satisfied before	Yes	0.465
	I sup 14. SUDDI JED TECHNICAL (SECUDITY /DOL ITICAL ISS)	UES and	Strongth of
H3.12	CMM/CMMI Practices PR49 to PR51	UES and	Association
H3.12.1	PR49: Selects supplier technical solutions to be analyzed and	Vac	0.400
	analysis methods to be used.	res	0.400
LI2 12 2	PR50: Conducts technical reviews with the supplier as defined in	Vas	0.446
пэ.12.2	the supplier agreement.	res	0.440
H3 12 2	PR51: Evaluates and categorizes each identified issue using	Vas	0 305
Н3.12.3	defined risk categories and determines its relative priority.	1 08	0.566 Strength of Association 0.520 0.537 0.655 Strength of Association 0.486 0.507 0.470 0.520 0.520 0.537 0.489 0.537 0.489 0.580 0.489 0.580 0.465 Strength of Association 0.400 0.446 0.305

H3.13	Issue 15: DIFFERENCE IN PROJECT MANAGEMENT PRACTICES BETWEEN THE CLIENT AND THE SUPPLIER and the CMM/CMMI Practices PR52 to PR56		Strength of Association
H3.13.1	<u>PR52</u> : Selects suppliers based on an evaluation of their ability to meet specified requirements and established criteria	Yes	0.491
H3.13.2	PR53: Identifies and qualifies potential suppliers	Yes	0.547
H3.13.3	PR54: Selects, monitors, and analyzes supplier processes	Yes	0.607
H3.13.4	PR55: Selects suppliers using a formal evaluation	Yes	0.607
H3.13.5	<u>PR56</u> : Establishes and maintains a usable set of organizational process assets, work environment standards, rules for teams	Yes	0.538
H3.14	Issue 16: POOR EXECUTION PLAN SPECIFICALLY TIMING AND TYPE OF WORK TRANSFERRED TO THE SUPPLIER and CMM/CMMI Practices PR57 to PR60		Strength of Association
H3.14.1	PR57: Establishes and maintains the offshoring strategy	Yes	0.507
H3.14.2	PR58: Establishes and maintains plan for performing offshoring	Yes	0.507
H3.14.3	PR59: Determines the type of acquisition for each product	Yes	0.476
H3.14.4	PR60: Plan transition to operations	Yes	0.443
H3.15	Issue 17: LACK OF SUPPLIER STANDARIZED WORKING METHODS and CMM/CMMI Practices PR61 to PR64		Strength of Association
H3.15.1	<u>PR61</u> : Evaluates supplier technical solutions (designs) to confirm that contractual requirements continue to be met	Yes	0.634
H3.15.2	<u>PR62</u> : Selects suppliers based on an evaluation of their ability to meet specified requirements and established criteria	Yes	0.614
H3.15.3	PR63: Selects, monitors, and analyzes supplier processes	Yes	0.658
H3.15.4	PR64: Selects suppliers using a formal evaluation	Yes	0.707
*P=.05/64 = 0.00078125 (Bonferroni's Adjustment)			

- Issue 1: Over expenditure due to hidden costs issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR1 to PR6 and the IT offshoring issue of over expenditure (100%). Cramer's V above .60 indicates a strong association between applying PR1 to PR5 and the issue of over expenditure as shown in Table 73. In contrast, PR 5 indicates relatively strong association with over expenditure with Cramer's V =.541.
- Issue 2: Difference in interpretation of project requirements between the client company and the supplier issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR7 to PR9 and the IT

offshoring issue 2 (100%). Cramer's V above .40 indicates a relatively strong association between applying PR1 to PR5 and the issue of this issue shown in Table 73.

- Issue 3: Poorly developed and documented requirements by the client company issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR10 to PR11 and ITI offshoring issue 3 the IT offshoring issue 4 (100%). There is a strong association between PR11 and with Cramer's V=0.651.
- Issue 4: Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by the client company issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR12 to PR14 and the IT offshoring issue 4 (100%). Cramer's V above .60 indicates a strong association between applying PR12 to PR14 and this issue.
- Issue 5: Lack of a full communication plan between the client company and the supplier company issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR15 to PR19 and the IT offshoring issue 5 (100%). Cramer's V above .60 indicates a strong association between applying PR15 to PR19 and this issue shown in Table 73.
- Issue 6: Communication and coordination problems between the client company and the supplier company issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR20 to PR 23 and the IT offshoring issues 7 (100%). Cramer's V above .40 indicates a relatively strong

association between applying PR20, PR21 and PR23 and this issue. PR22 showed a strong association with this issue and Cramer's V=0.601.

- Issue 7: Language barriers between the client company and the supplier company issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR24 to PR29 and the IT offshoring issue 7 (100%). Cramer's V above .40 indicates a relatively strong association between applying PR24 to PR29 and this issue.
- However, for issue 8: Time-zone differences between the client company and the supplier company issue. The analysis did not show a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR24 to PR29 and the IT offshoring issue 8.
- Issue 9: Cultural differences between the client company and the supplier company issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR24 to PR29 and the IT offshoring issue 9 (100%). Cramer's V above .40 indicates a relatively strong association between applying PR24 to PR29 and this issue.
- Issue 10: Incomplete and unclear contract issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR30 to PR34 and the IT offshoring issue 10 (100%). Cramer's V above .40 indicates a relatively strong association between applying PR31 to PR34 and this issue. PR30 showed a strong association with this issues and Cramer's V=0.660.

- Issue 11: Early contract renegotiation and termination issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR35 and PR36 and the IT offshoring issue 11 (100%). Cramer's V above .40 indicates a relatively strong association between applying PR35 to PR36 and this issue.
- Issue 12: Insufficient previous experience of the supplier issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR37 to PR39 and the IT offshoring issue 12 (100%). Cramer's V above .40 indicates a relatively strong association between applying PR37 to PR38 and this issue. PR39 has a strong association with this issue and Cramer's V=0.655.
- Issue 13: Client Company unable to measure the performance of the supplier issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR40 to PR48 and this issue (100%). Cramer's V above .40 indicates a relatively strong association between applying PR40 to PR48 and this issue.
- Issue 14: Supplier technical/security and political issues 14. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR49 to PR51 and the IT offshoring issue 14 (100%). Cramer's V above 0.40 indicates a relatively strong association between applying PR49 to PR50 and this issue. However, PR51 has a moderate association with this issue and Cramer's V=0.305.
- Although the practices PR49 to PR51 showed a significant association with the issue of Supplier technical/security and political issues. Practicing it did not mitigate the issue completely. This might be because there are no practices

targeting the security and political issues. Further investigation is needed for different sets of practices and methods needed to manage and mitigate the offshoring issues of Supplier Security and Political issues.

- Issue 15: Difference in project management practices between Client Company and the supplier company issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR52 to PR56 and this issue (100%). Cramer's V above .40 indicates a relatively strong association between applying PR52, PR53 and PR56 and this issue. However, PR54 andPR55 show a strong association with this issue and Cramer's V above 0.60.
- Issue 16: Poor execution plan specifically timing and type of work transferred to the supplier company issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR57 to PR60 and this IT offshoring issue (100%). Cramer's V above .40 indicates a relatively strong association between applying PR57 to PR60 and this issue shown in Table 73.
- Issue 17: Lack of supplier standardized working methods issue. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices PR61 to PR64 and this IT offshoring issue (100%). Cramer's V above .60 indicates a strong association between applying PR61 to PR64 and this issue shown in Table 73.

6.4 CMM/CMMI and projects success factors (performance outcomes)

H4.1: There is a relationship between adopting industrial standards and the offshored projects success factors (performance outcomes).

H4.2: There is a relationship between maturity levels achieved and the offshored projects' success factors (performance outcomes).

H4.3: There is a relationship between performing industry standards practices and the offshored projects' success factors (performance outcomes).

6.4.1 Adopting CMM/CMMI models and project success factors

Table 74 shows a summary of the status of hypothesis 4.1 investigating the relationship between adopting each of CMM/CMMI and the IT offshored project's success factors.

H4.1: There is a relationship between adopting industrial standards and the offshored projects success factors (performance outcomes).

		*Status	Strength of
Hypoth	esis 4.1	Significantly	Association
		Associated	
There	There is a relationship between adopting CMMI-DEV/SVC industrial standards and the		
H4.1.1	Offshored projects' outcomes of Time/Schedule.	Yes	0.721
H4.1.2	Offshored projects' outcomes of Cost/Budget.	Yes	0.714
H4.1.3	Offshored projects' outcomes of Expected Quality.	Yes	0.665
The	ere is a relationship between adopting CMMI-ACQ industrial standards	and the	
H4.1.4	Offshored projects' outcomes of Time/Schedule.	Yes	0.699
H4.1.5	Offshored projects' outcomes of Cost/Budget.	Yes	0.706
H4.1.6	Offshored project's outcomes of Expected Quality.	Yes	0.671
There is a relationship between adopting People-CMM industrial standards and the			
H4.1.7	Offshored projects' outcomes of Time/Schedule.	Yes	0.361
H4.1.8	Offshored projects' outcomes of Cost/Budget.	Yes	0.351
H4.1.9	Offshored projects' outcomes of Expected Quality.	Yes	0.377
There is a relationship between adopting TSP industrial standards and the			
H4.1.10	Offshored projects' performance outcomes of Time/Schedule.	Yes	0.394
H4.1.11	Offshored projects' performance outcomes of Cost/Budget.	Yes	0.373
H4.1.12	Offshored projects' performance outcomes of Expected Quality.	Yes	0.432
*P=0.05	5/12 =0041666 (Bonferroni's Adjustment)		

Table 73: Results of Adopting CMM/CMMI Models and Project's Success Factors

The analysis showed a significant relationship between adopting each of the four CMM/CMMI models under investigation (DEV/SVC, CMMI for ACQ, People-CMM and TSP) and the projects' success factors: (1) Time/Schedule, (2) Budget and (3) Expected Quality (100%).

Cramer's V above 0.60 indicates a strong association between applying CMMI-DEV/SVC and CMMI-ACQ and the projects' success factors: (1) Time/Schedule, (2) Budget, (3) Expected Quality. Cramer's V above 0.40 states that a relatively strong association between People-CMM and TSP with projects' success factors.

The investigation indicated that IT offshoring companies that adopted any of the CMM/CMMI models (CMMI for DEV/SVC, CMMI for ACQ, People-CMM and TSP)

reported better results on their offshored projects on three factors: (1) Time/Schedule, (2) Cost/Budget and (3) Expected Quality.

This is consistent with the literature, that CMM/CMMI models instruct companies to establish and maintain supplier assessment rules/policies/standards and determining the type of acquisition, selecting suppliers and establishing supplier agreements (Chrissis et al., 2006, Vivatanavorasin et al., 2006). These models have been used by software organizations around the world as templates for: improving productivity, quality, reducing costs, time to market and increasing customer satisfaction (Curtis et al., 2010).

Issues associated with offshoring require the client company to be precise in terms of their requirements. Therefore, offshore suppliers often rely heavily on Capability Maturity Model (CMM) or Capability Maturity Model Integrated (CMMI) processes to ensure that business requirements are properly documented (Adler et al., 2005, Rottman and Lacity, 2008). Based on more than 400 projects from 19 information sources, it was confirmed that investment in CMM/CMMI programs leads to improved software development and maintenance (Harter et al., 2000).

6.4.2 CMM/CMMI maturity level achieved and project success factors

Table 75 shows a summary of the status of hypothesis 4.2 investigating the relationship between CMM/CMMI maturity level achieved and the project success factors of (1) Time/Schedule, (2) Cost/Budget and (3) Expected Quality.

H4.2: There is a relationship between maturity levels achieved and the offshored

projects' success factors (performance outcomes).

Hypothe	sis 4.2	Status Significantly Associated	Strength of association	
	There is a relationship between CMMI- DEV/SVC maturity le	evel achieved and	l	
H4.2.1	Offshored project's performance outcomes of Time/Schedule.	Yes	0.647	
H4.2.2	Offshored projects 'performance outcomes of Cost/Budget.	Yes	0.695	
H4.2.3	Offshored projects 'performance of Expected Quality.	Yes	0.647	
There is a relationship between CMMI-ACQ maturity level achieved and				
H4.2.4	Offshored project's performance outcomes of Time/Schedule.	Yes	0.689	
H4.2.5	Offshored project's performance outcomes of Cost/Budget.	Yes	0.613	
H4.2.6	Offshored project's performance outcomes of Expected Quality.	Yes	0.665	
	There is a relationship between People-CMM maturity level achieved and			
H4.2.7	Offshored project's performance outcomes of Time/Schedule.	*No	0	
H4.2.8	Offshored project's performance outcomes of Cost/Budget.	*No	0	
H4.2.9	Offshored project's performance outcomes of Expected Quality.	*No	0	
*Results may change with more data collected (small sample n=36)				
* P=0.05	79 =0.0055555 (Bomerrom's Aujustment)			

Table 74: Results of CMM/CMMI Maturity Level Achieved and Project Success Factors

The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMMI for DEV/SVC and CMMI for ACQ maturity level achieved and the projects' success factors: (1) Time/Schedule, (2) Cost/Budget and (3) Expected Quality (100%).

Cramer's V above 0.60 indicates a strong association between CMMI-DEV/SVC and CMMI-ACQ maturity models and the projects' success factors: (1) Time/Schedule, (2) Cost/Budget and (3) Expected Quality as shown in Table 75.

The analysis showed that companies that achieved higher maturity levels of 3 and above reported better results on their offshored projects in terms of (1) Time/Schedule, (2) Cost/Budget and (3) Expected Quality. This is consistent with literature that showed
experience with CMM and CMMI demonstrates that outsourcing organizations appraised to higher levels of CMM or CMMI improved their ability to deliver projects on the agreed upon schedule, cost and quality. Increasingly, the industry requires suppliers to be appraised to CMM or CMMI level 3 or higher (Lutteroth et al., 2007).

However, the analysis did not show a significant relationship between People-CMM maturity level and project success factors. This might be due to the small sample size of n= 36. The results might be different with more data collected.

6.4.3 CMM/CMMI practices and project success factors

Table 76 shows a summary of the status of hypothesis 4.3 investigating the relationship between performing CMM/CMMI industry standards practices and the project success factors of (1) Time/Schedule, (2) Cost/Budget and (3) Expected Quality.

		Time/	Cost/	Expected
		Schedule	Budget	Quality
Hypothesis	CMM/CMMI Practices	*Status		
		Significantly Associated /		
	DD1. Establishes and maintains a mainst plan as the basis	Vaal	Van /	Van /
H4.3.1	for managing the project	Y es/	Yes /	Y es /
H432	PR2: Establishes and maintains the overall project plan	0.577 Yes/ 0.670	Ves/ 634	Ves0 754
114.3.2	PR2 : Estimates the project's cost for work products and	Vos/	Vos/	Vos/
H4.3.3	tasks based on estimation rationale	0.634	0.600	0.709
LI / 2 /	PR4: Establishes and maintains the project's budget and	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
п4.3.4	schedule, milestones, dependencies	0.581	0.550	0.644
НИ 3 5	PR5: Monitors offshoring supplier project progress and	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
114.3.3	performance as defined in contract	0.689	0.652	0.669
H4.3.6	PR6: Manages invoices submitted by the supplier	Yes/ .634	Yes/ 0.600	Yes/ 0.600
н <i>и</i> з 7	PR7: Develops an understanding with offshoring supplier	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
114.3.7	on the meaning of requirement	0.479	0.421	0.481
LI / 2 9	PR8:Validates requirements to ensure that resulting	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
п4.3.8	product performs as intended in end user's environment	0.497	0.497	0.502
114.2.0	PR9: Obtains commitment to requirements from project	Yes/	No	Yes/
п4.3.9	participants	0.421	INO	0.432
H4 3 10	PR10: Stakeholder needs, expectations, constraints and	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
114.5.10	are collected and translated into customer requirements	0.592	0.539	0.673
H4 3 11	PR11: Maintains bidirectional traceability among	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
	requirements and work products	0.585	0.534	0.584
H4.3.12	PR12: Manages changes to requirements as they evolve	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
	during the project.	0.607	0.555	0.590
H4.3.13	PR13: Ensures that project plans and work products	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
	remain aligned with requirements	0.671	0.568	0.564
	PR14: Customer Interface Manager leads the team in			
H4.3.14	in requirement and works with the Configuration Control	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
	Board (CCB) to get approval for changes to those	0.694	0.591	0.657
	requirements			
	PR15: Establishes and manages the coordination and	N 7 /	NZ I	NZ I
H4.3.15	collaboration between the project and relevant	Y es/	Y es/	Yes/
	stakeholders	0.034	0.000	0.709
H4.3.16	PR16: Team members track actual results and	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
	performance against plans on a weekly basis.	0.599	0.560	0.746
H4.3.17	PR17: Develops a documented plan to be used to	Ves/	Ves/	Ves/
	communicate inter-group commitments and to coordinate	0.616	0 579	0 754
	and track the work performed.	0.010	0.577	0.751
H4.3.18	PR18: Managers are responsible for the coordination	Yes/	Yes/	Yes
	across all project teams	0.652	0.617	/0.731
114 2 10	PR19: Client company communication and coordination	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
н4.3.19	practices are institutionalized to ensure they are	0.693	0.652	0.688
	performed as managed processes			

Table 75: Results of CMM//CMMI Practices and Project's Success Factors

H4.3.20	PR20: Representatives of the client company project's software engineering group work with representatives of the supplier engineering groups to monitor and coordinate technical activities and resolve technical issues	Yes/ 0.485	No	Yes/ 0.464
H4.3.21	PR21: Selects team roles, including the role of Supplier Interface Manager, who is the liaison between the team and the supplier company representative, and is responsible for requirements change management	Yes/ 0.475	No	Yes/ 0.405
H4.3.22	PR22: Communicates quality issues and ensures the resolution of noncompliance issues with the staff and managers	Yes/ 0.505	Yes/ 0. 413	Yes/ 0.543
H4.3.23	PR23: Establishes and maintains a documented policy for conducting its Communication and Coordination activities	Yes/ 0.452	No	Yes/ 0.438
H4.3.24	PR24: Ensures that workforce has skills to share information and their activities efficiently	Yes/ 0.421	No	Yes/ 0.405
H4.3.25	PR25: Establishes a culture for openly sharing information and concerns across organizational levels as well as among team members	Yes/ 0.452	No	Yes/ 0.491
H4.3.26	PR26: Establishes project teams as well as their responsibilities, authorities and interrelationships	Yes/ 0.398	No	Yes/ 0.491
H4.3.27	PR27: Establishes and maintains open and effective project teams' communication and coordination plan	Yes/ 0.414	No	Yes/ 0.455
H4.3.28	PR28: Managers are responsible to track and resolve inter-group issues.	Yes/ 0.436	No	No
H4.3.29	PR29: Maintains effective work-groups, interpersonal problems are addressed quickly to ensure that work-group time is used most effectively.	Yes/ 0.463	Yes/ 0.418	Yes/ 0.454
H4.3.30	PR30: Establishes and maintains a mutual understanding of contract with selected suppliers and based on acquisition needs.	Yes/ 0.620	Yes/ 0.569	Yes/ 0.623
H4.3.31	PR31: Requirements are refined and elaborated into contractual requirements.	Yes/ 0.536	Yes/ 0.587	Yes/ 0.594
H4.3.32	PR32: Establishes and maintains a formal contract management plan.	Yes/ 0.551	Yes/ 0.551	Yes/ 0.554
H4.3.33	PR33: Establishes and maintains contractual requirements.	Yes/ 0.551	Yes/ 0.500	Yes/ 0.504
H4.3.34	PR34: Establishes and maintains negotiation plans to use in completing a supplier agreement.	Yes/ 0.421	No	Yes/ 0.432
H4.3.35	PR35: Insures that agreements with suppliers are satisfied by both the project and the supplier.	Yes/ 0.569	Yes/ 0.514	Yes/ 0.529
H4.3.36	PR36: Selects suppliers based on an evaluation of their ability to meet specified requirements and criteria	Yes/ 0.551	No	Yes/ 0.554
H4.3.37	PR37: Identifies and qualifies potential suppliers	Yes/0.554	Yes/ 0.503	Yes/ 0.565
H4.3.38	PR38: Selects suppliers using a formal evaluation	Yes/ 0.611	Yes/ 0.559	Yes/ 0.580
H4.3.39	PR39: Establishes and maintains quantitative objectives to address quality and process performance, based on customer needs and business objectives.	Yes/ 0.458	Yes/ 0.458	Yes/ 0.522
H4.3.40	PR40: Manages the project using statistical quantitative techniques to determine whether the project's objectives for quality performance will be satisfied.	Yes/ 0.477	No	Yes/ 0.487

H4.3.41	PR41: Performs root cause analysis of selected issues to	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
	process performance objectives.	0.497	0.401	0.502
H4.3.42	PR42: Manages corrective actions to closure when	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
	project's performance deviate significantly from plan	0.469	0.407	0.459
H4.3.43	PR43: Periodically reviews the project's progress,	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
	performance and issues experienced.	0.435	0.365	0.483
H4.3.44	PR44: Reviews the project's accomplishments and results	Yes/	No	Yes/
	at selected project milestones.	0.452	INO	0.439
H4.3.45	PR45: Establishes and maintains records of quality	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
	assurance activities.	0.537	0.479	0.538
H4.3.46	PR46: Monitors the actual project performance and	Yes/	No	No
	progress against the project plan	0.418	NU	NO
H4.3.47	PR47: Ensures that the supplier agreement is satisfied	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
	before accepting the acquired product	0.426	0.371	0.419
H1 3 18	PR48: Selects supplier technical solutions to be analyzed	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
114.3.40	and analysis methods to be used.	0.652	0.617	0.677
114 2 40	PR49: Conducts technical reviews with the supplier as	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
114.3.47	defined in the supplier agreement.	0.708	0.670	0.746
H4.3.50	PR50: Evaluates and categorizes each identified issue	Ves/	Ves/	Ves/
	using defined risk categories and parameters and	0 747	0 707	0 741
	determines its relative priority.	0.747	0.707	0.741
	PR51: Establishes and maintains a usable set of	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
H4.3.51	organizational process assets, work environment	0.552	0.500	0.545
	standards, rules and guidelines for teams			
H4.3.52	PR52: Establishes and maintains the offshoring strategy	Yes/ 0.516	Yes/0.473	Yes/ 0.506
нл 3 53	PR53: Establishes and maintains the plan for performing	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
114.5.55	the offshoring	0.570	0.473	0.506
нл 3 5л	PR54: Determines the type of acquisition for each product	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
114.3.34	or product component to be offshored	0.496	0.501	0.546
HA 3 55	PR55: Plan transition to operations specifically timing	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
114.3.33	and type of work transferred to the supplier	0.568	0.412	0.561
H4.3.56	PR56: Evaluates supplier technical solutions to confirm	Yes/	Yes/	Yes/
	that contractual requirements continue to be met	0.554	0.452	0.565
H4.3.57	PR57: Selects, monitors and analyzes supplier processes	Yes/0.611	Yes/0.559	Yes/0.580
* P=0.05/1	71 (57*3) =0.0002923 (Bonferroni's Adjustment)			

After applying the Bonferroni correction p=0.0002923, the analysis showed a significant relationship between performing CMM/CMMI industry standards practices (100% of the practices were significantly associated) and the project success factor of Time/Schedule. The majority of the relationships between CMM/CMMI practices and

Time/Schedule indicated either strong association with Cramer's V above 0.60 or relatively strong association with Cramer's V above 0.40.

The analysis indicated a significantly associated relationship between performing CMM/CMMI industry standard practices (77% of the practices) and the project success factor of Cost/Budget with the Bonferroni correction p=0.0002923. The majority of the relationships between CMM/CMMI practices and Cost/Budget indicated either a strong association with Cramer's V above 0.60 or a relatively strong association with Cramer's V above 0.40.

Moreover, the analysis showed a significantly associated relationship between performing CMM/CMMI industry standard practices (97% of the practices) and the project success factor of Expected Quality with applying the Bonferroni correction p=0.0002923. The majority of the relationships between CMM/CMMI practices and Expected Quality indicated either a strong association with Cramer's V above 0.60 or a relatively strong association with Cramer's V above 0.40.

This is consistent with the literature, that CMM/CMMI practices have been used by software organizations around the world as templates for: improving productivity, improving quality, reducing costs, improving time to market and increasing customer satisfaction (Chrissis et al., 2006, Vivatanavorasin et al., 2006). Research studies have consistently shown results regarding improved productivity, increased quality and reductions in cycle time (Herbsleb and Grinter, 1999, Harter et al., 2000, Curtis et al., 2001, Curtis et al., 2010).

Chapter 7: Conclusions, Contributions, Limitations and Future Research

This chapter provides an interpretation of the research results and discussions found in chapters 5 and 6. It is divided into conclusions, contributions, limitations and future research.

7.1 Conclusions

IT service and software development offshoring is becoming a dominant paradigm in the IT service and software development industry (Rottman and Lacity, 2008, Raffo and Setamanit, 2005). The literature indicates that 20% of offshoring software development contracts are cancelled in the first year, more than 25% of all offshored software development projects are cancelled outright before completion and 80% of offshoring IT projects overrun their budgets (Kendall et al., 2007).

IT services and software development offshoring projects pose significant issues and challenges to the client companies in managing these projects (Ebert et al., 2008). In IT service offshoring, delivery occurs under the additional conditions of distance between the service supplier and the client in terms of physical distance, language barriers, time zone differences or cultural differences, security and political issues of supplier. Additionally, the complexity of the IT offshoring projects increase due to the higher degree of geographical dispersion among team members (Holmström et al., 2008, Yalaho and Nahar, 2009, McIvor, 2000, Raffo and Setamanit, 2005). Therefore, there is a need to utilize different methods to effectively and efficiently mitigate the issues and challenges of offshore outsourcing.

A growing number of organizations are using the Software Engineering Institutes' (ESI) Capability Maturity Model (CMM) and Capability Maturity Model Integrate (CMMI) to improve their IT service and software development process. The CMM/CMMI standards are adopted internationally and have received great publicity in the software development industry (Biberoglu and Haddad, 2002). There is limited research and investigation of CMM/CMMI best practices and how they mitigate the issues and challenges of *offshoring* of IT services and software development projects (Sengupta et al., 2006b, Lasser and Heiss, 2005, Prikladnicki et al., 2007, Ebert, 2007, Ebert et al., 2008, Gopal et al., 2002b). This empirical study examined the relationship between CMM/CMMI software process development and 1) the issues and challenges of offshoring IT services project performance outcomes of (1) Time/Schedule, (2) Cost/Budget and (3) Expected Quality.

7.1.1 Conclusion of adopting CMM/CMMI models and IT offshoring issues

Table 77 shows a summary of the status of hypothesis 1 that investigated the relationship between adopting CMM/CMMI models and the frequency of IT offshoring issues.

Hypothesis 1	*Status			
	/Cramer's V			
	H1.1	H1.2	H1.3	H1.4
	Adopting	Adopting	Adopting	Adopting
Issues	CMMI for	CMMI for	People-	TSP – CMM
155005	DEV/SVC	ACQ	CMM	
	Significantly	Significantly	Significantly	Significantly
	Associated	Associated	Associated	Associated
Over expenditure due to hidden costs	Yes/.610	Yes/.769	No	No
Poor execution plan	Yes/.707	Yes/.609	Yes/.307	No
Difference in interpretation of project requirements	Yes/.659	Yes/.542	Yes/.427	Yes/.384
Poorly developed and documented requirements	Yes/.685	Yes/.532	Yes/.382	Yes/.304
Poor tracking and managing requirement	Ves/ 681	Ves/ 566	Ves/ 3/12	Ves/ 32/
changes	103/.001	103/.500	103/.342	103/.324
Lack of a full communication plan	Yes/.641	Yes/.545	Yes/.499	Yes/.464
Communication and coordination problems	Yes/.703	Yes/.613	Yes/.453	Yes/.424
Language barriers	No	No	Yes/.387	Yes/.517
Time-zone differences	No	No	No	No
Cultural differences	No	No	Yes/.413	Yes/.492
Incomplete and unclear contract	Yes/.617	Yes/.498	Yes/.335	Yes/ .320
Early contract renegotiation and termination	Yes/.589	Yes/.642	No	No
Difference in project management practices	Yes/.639	Yes/.474	No	No
Unable to measure performance of supplier	Yes/.672	Yes/.584	No	No
Supplier technical/security and political	No	No	No	No
Insufficient previous experience of supplier	Ves/ 6/15	Ves/ 624	Ves/31/	Ves/310
Lack of supplier standardized working	105/.045	1 05/.024	105/.314	105/.510
methods	Yes/.626	Yes/.645	Yes/.296	No
*P=0.05/68 (17*4) = 0.0007352 (Bonferroni's	s Adjustment)			

Table 76: Summary of Results of Four CMM/CMMI Models and IT Offshoring Issues

The analysis of hypothesis 1 showed a statistically associated relationship between adopting CMMI for DEV/SVC and CMMI for ACQ models and IT offshoring issues (77%).

However, the results did not show a significant relationship with 25% of the IT offshoring issues of Language Barriers, Time-zone Differences, Cultural Differences and Supplier Political and Security issues.

Therefore, this may suggest, consistent with the literature, that IT services and software development offshoring projects pose significant issues and challenges to the client companies in managing these projects (Ebert et al., 2008). In IT service offshoring, delivery occurs under the additional condition of distance between the service supplier and the client in terms of physical distance, time zone differences or cultural differences. Additionally, complexity increases due to the higher degree of geographical dispersion among team members (Holmström et al., 2008, Yalaho and Nahar, 2009, McIvor, 2000, Raffo and Setamanit, 2005). Therefore, there is a need to utilize different methods to effectively and efficiently mitigate the issues and challenges of offshoring.

By contrast, Hypotheses 1.3 and 1.4 analyses showed surprising results. There was a statistically association relationship between adopting People-CMM and TSP and language barriers and cultural differences between the client company and the supplier company as in Table 77. Whereas, these two issues did not show a significance when adopting CMMI for DEV/SVC and CMMI for ACQ that are mostly adopted by IT offshoring companies as shown in Table 77. This may suggest that there is a need to utilize and incorporate different practices from TSP and People along with CMMI for DEV/SVC and CMMI for ACQ to effectively and efficiently mitigate the issues of Language Barriers and Cultural Differences.

Companies that adopted CMM/CMMI models did not manage the issues of (1) Time-zone differences between the client company and the supplier company issue and (2) Supplier Technical/Security and Political issues. This may suggest that a different set of practices and methods are required in the CMM/CMMI models to mitigate these issues as shown in Table 77.

- **Finding 1:** US IT companies applying CMM/CMMI models have fewer issues associated with IT offshoring.
- **Finding 2:** When US IT companies utilize and incorporate different practices from TSP and People-CMM into CMMI-DEV/SVC and CMMI-ACQ, they have fewer offshoring issues related to language barriers and cultural differences.
- **Finding 3:** US IT companies applying CMM/CMMI models did not mitigate the offshoring issues of: 1) Time-zone difference between the client company and the supplier company and 2) Supplier Security and Political Issues.

Hypothesis 2		CMMI-DEV /SVC	CMMI-ACQ
		ML Achieved	ML Achieved
		*Status	*Status
There is	a relationship between CMMI maturity level	Significantly	Significantly
achieved	and the	Associated	Associated
H2.1.1	Over expenditure issue.	Yes	Yes
H2.1.2	Poor execution plan.	Yes	Yes
H2.1.3	Difference in interpretation of project requirements.	Yes	Yes
H2.1.4	Poorly developed and documented requirements.	Yes	Yes
H2.1.5	Poor tracking and managing requirement changes.	Yes	Yes
H2.1.6	Lack of a full communication plan.	Yes	Yes
H2.1.7	Communication and coordination problems.	Yes	Yes
H2.1.8	Language barriers.	No	No
H2.1.9	Time-zone differences.	No	No
H2.1.10	Cultural differences.	No	No
H2.1.11	Incomplete and unclear contract issue.	Yes	Yes
H2.1.12	Contract renegotiation and termination issue.	Yes	Yes
H2.1.13	Difference in project management practices.	Yes	Yes
H2.1.14	Unable to measure the performance of the supplier.	Yes	Yes
H2.1.15	Supplier technical/security and political issues.	No	No
H2.1.16	Insufficient previous experience of the supplier issue.	Yes	Yes
H2.1.17	Lack of supplier standardized working methods.	Yes	Yes
*P=.05/	51 (17*3) = 0.000980392 (Bonferroni's Adjustment)		

7.1.2 Conclusion of CMM/CMMI maturity level achieved and IT offshoring issues

Table 77: Summary of Results of H2 Maturity Level Achieved and IT offshoring issues

The analysis of hypothesis 2 showed a statistical significance between adopting CMMI for DEV/SVC and CMMI for ACQ maturity levels achieved and IT offshoring issues (77%) as shown in Table 77.

Therefore, this may suggest, consistent with IT outsourcing literature, that IT services and software development offshoring projects pose substantial issues and challenges to the client companies in managing these projects (Ebert et al., 2008). Experience with CMM and CMMI demonstrates that outsourcing organizations appraised to higher levels of CMM or CMMI improve the ability to deliver projects on the agreed

upon schedule, cost, and quality. Increasingly, the industry requires suppliers to be appraised to CMM or CMMI level 3 or higher (Lutteroth et al., 2007).

- **Finding 4:** US IT companies achieving higher maturity levels of CMMI have fewer issues associated with IT offshoring compared with lower maturity levels.
- 7.1.3 Conclusion of performing CMM/CMMI practices and IT offshoring issues

The investigation showed that the more frequently the IT offshoring company routinely performed the CMM/CMMI industry standard practices they reported fewer issue with IT offshoring issues. The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMM/CMMI industry standards practices and the IT offshoring issues (92%) as shown in Table 73.

- **Finding 5:** US IT companies routinely performing industry practices have fewer issues associated with IT offshoring.
- 7.1.4 CMM/CMMI and projects success factors (project performance outcomes)
- 1 Adopting CMM/CMMI models and project success factors

The analysis showed a significantly associated relationship between adopting each of the four CMM/CMMI models under investigation (DEV/SVC, CMMI for ACQ, People-CMM and TSP) and the projects' success factors: (1) Time/Schedule, (2) Budget and (3) Expected Quality (100%) as shown in Table 74. 2 - CMM/CMMI maturity level achieved and project success factors

The analysis showed a significant relationship between CMMI for DEV/SVC and CMMI for ACQ maturity level achieved and the projects' success factors: (1) Time/Schedule, (2) Cost/Budget and (3) Expected Quality (100%) as shown in Table 75.

3 - Performing CMM/CMMI practices and project success factors

The analysis showed a significantly associated relationship between performing CMM/CMMI industry standards practices (100% of the practices were significantly associated) and the project success factor of Time/Schedule. The analysis also indicated a significantly associated relationship between performing CMM/CMMI industry standard practices (77% of the practices) and the project success factor of Cost/Budget. Moreover, the analysis showed a significantly associated relationship between performing CMM/CMMI industry standard practices (97% of the practices) and the project success factor of Cost/Budget. Moreover, the analysis showed a significantly associated relationship between performing CMM/CMMI industry standard practices (97% of the practices) and the project success factor of Expected Quality as shown in Table 76.

This is consistent with the literature, that CMM/CMMI practices have been used by software organizations around the world as templates for improving productivity, quality, reduce costs, time to market and increasing customer satisfaction (Chrissis et al., 2006, Vivatanavorasin et al., 2006). Research studies have consistently shown results regarding improved productivity, increased quality and reductions in cycle time (Herbsleb and Grinter, 1999, Harter et al., 2000, Curtis et al., 2001, Curtis et al., 2010). Finding 6: US IT companies applying CMM/CMMI models and routinely performing their industry practices have better project outcomes regarding (1) Time/Schedule, (2) Cost/Budget and (3) Expected Quality.

Hypothetical Scenarios

To explain the statistical results presented in chapters 5 and 6, eight possible hypothetical scenarios are developed based on the company background and the targeted goal. Adopting CMM/CMMI models and performing multiple CMM/CMMI practices may help in mitigating the IT offshoring issues.

Table 78 presents eight hypothetical cases. Each scenario provides the offshoring type (offshore outsourcing or offshore insourcing) and the practices and maturity level for each practice that a specific type of company might want to use in order to attain its targeted results.

For example, a US IT client company may have management problems with a goal of mitigating the issues of inability to measure supplier performance. These companies, regardless of their size and offshoring strategy, routinely perform the following practices and achieve the maturity levels in order to attain their goals:

 Establish and maintain quantitative objectives to address quality and process performance based on customer needs and business objectives (CMMI-DEV/SVC, CMMI-ACQ- Maturity Level 4).

- 2. Manage the project using statistical and other quantitative techniques to determine whether or not the project's objectives for quality and process performance will be satisfied (CMMI-DEV/SVC, CMMI-ACQ-Maturity Level 4).
- Performs root cause analysis of selected issues to address deficiencies in achieving the project's quality and process performance objectives (CMMI-DEV/SVC, CMMI-ACQ- Maturity Level 4).
- Manage corrective actions to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI-DEV/SVC, CMMI-ACQ-Maturity Level 2).
- 5. Periodically review the project's progress, performance and issues experienced (CMMI-DEV/SVC, CMMI-ACQ-Maturity Level 2).
- Review the project's accomplishments and results at selected project milestones (CMMI-DEV/SVC, CMMI-ACQ-Maturity Level 2).
- Establish and maintain records of quality assurance activities (CMMI-DEV/SVC, CMMI-ACQ-Maturity Level 2).
- Monitor the actual project performance and progress against the project plan (CMMI-DEV/SVC, CMMI-ACQ-Maturity Level 2).
- 9. Ensure that the supplier agreement is satisfied before accepting the acquired product (CMMI-DEV/SVC, CMMI-ACQ-Maturity Level 2).

These companies can either adopt CMMI-DEV/SVC or CMMI-ACQ and will achieve their goal of mitigating the issue of inability to measure supplier performance when they achieve maturity level 2. However, companies will not perform the first three practices until they achieve maturity level 4. Thus, companies will realize better results when achieving maturity level 4. In the case of US IT offshoring companies with Cultural and/or Language problems, regardless of their size or type of offshoring, these client companies need to apply People-CMM and/or TSP for mitigation and perform the following practices:

- Ensuring that the workforce has the skills to share information and coordinate their activities efficiently (P-CMMI Maturity Level 2)
- Establish a culture for openly sharing information and concerns across organizational levels as well as among team members (P-CMM Maturity Level 3)
- Establish and maintains open and effective project teams' communication and coordination plan (P-CMM Maturity Level 2)
- Maintain effective work groups, ensure that interpersonal problems are addressed quickly and meetings are managed to ensure that work group time is used most effectively (P-CMM – Maturity Level 2)
- Establish project teams as well as their responsibilities, authorities and interrelationships (TSP)
- Team's managers are responsible to track and resolve intergroup issues (TSP)

This is the major contribution of this study. Based on the results obtained from the statistical analyses, the decision maker can identify the CMM/CMMI models and practices which will most likely contribute to his/her company's goals.

Company	Goal	Industrial CMM/CMMI Best Practices and maturity level
	Mitigate over expenditure due to hidden	• A project plan is established and maintained as the basis for managing the project (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2).
	costs incurred by the client company	• Establish and maintain the overall project plan. (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2).
		• Estimate the project's effort and cost for work products and tasks based on estimation rationale (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2).
		• Establish and maintain the project's budget and schedule, milestones, constraints, dependencies (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2)
		• Monitor supplier project progress and performance (effort, and cost) as defined in the contract (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2)
	Mitigating the	• Manage invoices submitted by the supplier (CMMI ACQ, ML2).
	poor execution	• Establish and maintain the acquisition strategy (CMMI ACQ, ML2)
	plans: timing and type of work transferred to the supplier	• Establish and maintain the plan for performing the process (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, ML2).
		• Determine the type of acquisition for each product or product component to be acquired (CMMLDEV_CMMLSVC_ML2)
1: US IT offshoring client		 Plan transition to operations and support (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2).
want to mitigate		• Monitor transition to operations and support (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, and ML2).
problems when offshoring		• Establish and maintain quantitative objectives to address quality and process performance, based on customer needs and business objectives (CMMI ACO, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, and ML4).
	Mitigating the inability to measure supplier performance	• Manage the project using statistical and other quantitative techniques to determine whether or not the project's objectives for quality and process performance will be satisfied (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML4).
		 Perform root cause analysis of selected issues to address
		deficiencies in achieving the project's quality and process performance objectives (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, MI 4)
		 Corrective actions are managed to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan (CMMI ACO, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, MI 2)
		 Periodically review the project's progress, performance and issues (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2).
		• Review the project's accomplishments and results at selected project milestones (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, MI.2).
		 Establish and maintain records of quality assurance activities (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2).
		• Actual project performance and progress are monitored against the project plan (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2).

Table 78: Hypothetical Scenarios

		• Ensure that the supplier agreement is satisfied before accepting the acquired product (CMMI ACQ, ML2).
	Mitigating the differences in interpretation of project requirements between client and supplier	 Develop an understanding between client and supplier on the meaning of requirements (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, ML2) (TSP-CMM) Validate requirements to ensure that the resulting product performs as intended in the end user's environment (CMMI ACQ, ML2). Obtain commitment to requirements from project participants (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, ML2), (TSP-CMM).
2. US IT offshoring client companies with requirements management	Managing the of poorly developed and documented requirements	 Stakeholder needs, expectations, constraints, and interfaces are collected and translated into customer requirements (CMMI ACQ, ML2). Maintain bidirectional traceability among requirements and work products (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, ML2).
problems	Mitigating the poor tracking and managing requirement changes	 Manage changes to requirements as they evolve during the project (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, ML2). Ensure that project plans and work products remain aligned with requirements (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, ML2). The Customer Interface Manager leads the team in estimating and documenting the impact of every requirements change and works with the Configuration Control Board (CCB) to get approval for changes to requirements (TSP-CMM).
3. US IT Offshoring	Managing the lack of a full communicatio n plan between client and supplier	 Establish and manage coordination and collaboration between the project and relevant stakeholders (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, ML3). Team members track actual results and performance against plans on a weekly basis. Team members track progress against individual plans on a daily basis (TSP-CMM). A documented plan is used to communicate intergroup commitments and to coordinate and track the work performed (TSP-CMM). Team's managers are responsible for coordination across all project teams (TSP-CMM). Communication and Coordination practices are institutionalized to ensure they are performed as managed processes (P-CMM, ML2).
client companies with communication problems	Mitigating the communicatio n and coordination problems between the client and the supplier	 Representatives of the client project's software engineering group work with representatives of the supplier engineering groups to monitor and coordinate technical activities and resolve technical issues (TSP-CMM) Select team roles, including the role of Supplier Interface Manager, who is the liaison between the team and the supplier company representative and is responsible for requirements change management (TSP-CMM). Communicate quality issues and ensure the resolution of noncompliance issues with the staff and managers (CMMI ACQ, CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2). The organization establishes and maintains a documented policy for conducting its Communication and Coordination activities (P-CMM, ML2).

4. US IT offshoring client companies that are experiencing unique issues of offshoring	Mitigating the: 1) Language barriers 2) Cultural differences	 Ensure that the workforce has the skills to share information and efficiently coordinate their activities (P-CMM, ML2). Establish a culture for openly sharing information and concerns across organizational levels and among team members (P-CMM, ML3) Establish project teams and their responsibilities, authorities, and interrelationships (TSP-CMM). Establish and maintain open and effective project teams' communication and coordination plan (P-CMM, ML2). Team's managers are responsible to track and resolve intergroup issues (TSP-CMM). To maintain effective workgroups, interpersonal problems are addressed quickly and meetings are managed to ensure that workgroup time is used most effectively (P-CMM, ML2).
5. US IT offshoring client company experiencing time-zone differences with their supplier	Mitigate Time- zone differences between the client and the supplier	Further investigation is needed for different sets of practices and methods to manage and mitigate offshoring issues of Time-zone difference between the client company and the supplier company.
6. US IT offshoring client companies experiencing contract problems	Mitigate the contracts that are unclear or incomplete Mitigating the	 Establish and maintain a mutual understanding of the contract with selected suppliers and end users based on acquisition needs and the suppliers' proposed approaches (CMMI ACQ, ML2). Stakeholder needs, expectations, constraints, and interfaces are collected and translated into customer requirements (CMMI ACQ, ML2). Customer requirements are refined and elaborated into contractual requirements (CMMI ACQ, ML2). Establish and maintain a formal contract management plan (CMMI ACQ, ML2) Establish and maintain contractual requirements that are based on client company requirements (CMMI ACQ, ML2) Establish and maintain negotiation plans to use in completing a
	contract renegotiation and termination	 supplier agreement (CMMI ACQ, ML2). Agreements with suppliers are satisfied by both the project and the supplier (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, ML2)
7. US IT offshoring client companies that are experiencing problems with the supplier	Alleviating the differences in project management style and/or practices between the client and the supplier	 Select suppliers based on an evaluation of their ability to meet specified requirements and established criteria (CMMI ACQ, ML2). Select, monitor, and analyze supplier processes (CMMI ACQ, ML2). Identify and qualify potential suppliers (CMMI ACQ, ML2). Suppliers are selected using a formal evaluation (CMMI ACQ, ML2). Establish and maintain a usable set of organizational process assets, work environment standards, and rules and guidelines for teams (CMMI DEV, CMMI SVC, CMMI ACQ, ML3).

	Managing the no previous experience of the supplier	 Select suppliers based on an evaluation of their ability to meet specified requirements and established criteria (CMMI ACQ, ML2). Identify and qualify potential suppliers (CMMI ACQ, ML2). Suppliers are selected using a formal evaluation (CMMI ACQ, ML2).
	Mitigating the lack of supplier	 Select, monitor, and analyze supplier processes, (CMMI ACQ, ML2). Suppliers are selected using a formal evaluation (CMMI ACQ,
	standardized working methods	 ML2). Select suppliers based on an evaluation of their ability to meet specified requirements and established criteria (CMMI ACQ, ML2).
		 Supplier technical solutions are evaluated to confirm that contractual requirements continue to be met (CMMI ACQ, ML3).
8. US IT offshoring client	Mitigating the supplier	There are no practices targeting the security and political issues.
companies that experience security issues and technical problems	security/ political issues	Further investigation is needed for different sets of practices and methods needed to manage and mitigate the offshoring issues of: Supplier security and political issues.

7.2 Contributions

This research contributes to the existing body of knowledge on the offshoring of IT services from the client management perspective. This research is an exploratory investigation designed to gather and analyze data indicating whether disciplined development methods of CMM/CMMI can mitigate issues and challenges associated with IT service offshoring projects.

This research has important implications for practice and research. From the practitioner's standpoint, the results provide a benchmark to investigating CMM/CMMI

best practices and their effect on managing and mitigating critical issues associated with offshore development.

From a research standpoint, this research fills the gap in investigating CMM/CMMI industrial standards and best practices to manage and mitigate the issues and challenges of IT offshoring projects from the client firm perspective.

This research investigated industrial standards and best practices to manage and mitigate issues and challenges throughout the whole lifecycle of executed offshore outsourcing projects in the IT services industry from a client firms' managerial perspective.

To the client company's decision makers, the results of this research could be a useful guide to improving their current state of offshoring their IT services and software development processes in order to improve project success and performance outcomes.

This dissertation also identified the most appropriate standards and practices used in offshoring of IT services projects. These practices can help develop a CMMI module specifically for IT offshoring. The dissertation also provides a classification of companies with respect to their IT offshoring issues. This classification may serve as a tool for decision makers who are seeking to identify the right practice to mitigate certain IT offshoring issues achieve better project's outcomes.

7.3 Limitations

There are a number of research limitations that need to be considered. These limitations fall within the categories of target population, methodology and research design.

7.3.1 Limitation of targeted population

There are five limitations in this study that are related to the target population. The first limitation in this category is that this study was restricted to the US IT offshoring services companies. Conducting this study in another country would help to make the results more generalizable. Studies such as (Aron et al., 2008, Beaumont and Sohal, 2004, Bernroider, 2002, Bhalla et al., 2008, Burmistrov, 2006, Christiansen, 2007, Yalaho and Wu, 2002) demonstrated that offshoring for IT services do not change significantly from one country to another.

The second limitation in this category is that it focused on client companies located in the US and did not get any data from offshoring supplier companies. CMM/CMMI models are now used worldwide (Rothenberger et al., 2010, Zubrow, Zubrow, 2003). The literature indicates that offshoring IT suppliers achieved higher maturity levels in CMM/CMMI models compared with US IT companies. In order to fully understand the IT offshoring, it is necessary to investigate IT offshoring and CMM/CMMI models from both the supplier company and client company managerial perspective. The third limitation from the targeted population category is the case of selecting potential survey respondents. The survey was sent to managers in US IT companies that offshored their IT and software development projects. The survey was directed at US IT offshoring company managers and surveyed them about adopting CMM/CMMI models, CMM/CMMI maturity levels achieved, and their offshoring issues and if they were routinely performing CMM/CMMI practices. However, upper level managers may not have been part of implementing the CMM/CMMI models, their practices or managing the related projects in the first place. Therefore, they may not have an accurate assessment or perspective on the routine practices.

The fourth limitation in this category is regarding the IT offshoring issues, adoption of CMM/CMMI models, the maturity level achieved and routinely performed practices. Upper level managers may only have an approximate idea of the offshoring issues experienced and whether CMM/CMMI practices were routinely performed. This might be a question better posed to IT managers, project managers or software engineer managers who may have more accurate assessments. Results from middle management personnel were not possible due to a lack of direct contact information. Thus, the limitation of the survey was that contacts were limited to top or high level IT management in such companies.

The final limitation from the targeted population category is that the conclusions are based on the responses of the decision makers. Their responses are assumed to reflect what their companies are actually doing. Validation of the results by the experts helped to reduce the significance of this limitation.

7.3.2 Limitation of methodology

As described in Chapter 4: Data Collection, invitations to participate in a web-based survey were delivered through four follow-ups (including the original contact). The original contacts were made by sending emails using Qualtrics software with three subsequent follow-ups using direct emails. In this research, based on Dillman's Tailored Design Method, care was taken to create respondent trust, increase rewards and ensure that emails were not flagged as spam through the following techniques (Dillman, 2000, Dillman et al., 2009):

- *Rewards:* monetary incentives, align with professional groups, make questions interesting, offer summary of results.

- Trust: university sponsorship, follow-ups to make completion appear important.
- *Emails are not flagged as spam*: carefully select the Sender Name and Address and the Subject Line Text for email communication and appeal to respondents in the Subject Line Text, whereby responding they would be helping complete a PhD dissertation.

Researchers using survey research have indicated experience with low response rates for similar types of surveys (Tucker, 2011). Although this study obtained a slightly

better response rate compared to other similar studies (Tucker, 2011), we believe data collection was limited because we did not have a way of knowing exactly how many emails actually got into the email inbox of the managers of the targeted IT companies. From the randomly selected sample, the first wave of invitations from Qualtrics software generated 236 email failures due to emails being no longer active, emails no longer available or invalid emails. An additional 2734 invitees (22%) were asked to be removed for the following reasons: they were federal government contractors and could not participate in any survey (1,265), they were IT and software engineer staffing companies (913), they were wholesalers/retailers for IT and software development (378), or they declined to take the survey and had asked to be removed from the mailing list without mentioning any reason (178). The limitation of the survey was the uncertainty whether survey invitees received the email or whether the invitation was flagged as spam. Knowing these outcome(s) could assist in assessing the response rate issue. It is a limitation of the method in that it is uncertain whether every single invitee did indeed receive the email or the email was flagged as spam. Knowing all of this information could assist in more accurately assessing response rate issue.

7.3.3 Limitation of research design

There are four limitations related to the research design.

The first limitation is that this research was limited by the set of relationships (correlations) that were tested. The tests included: applying CMM/CMMI models \rightarrow IT offshoring issues, CMM/CMMI maturity level achieved \rightarrow IT offshoring issues, routinely

performing CMM.CMMI practices \rightarrow IT offshoring issues, applying CMM/CMMI models \rightarrow Offshored project's performance outcomes, CMM/CMMI maturity level achieved \rightarrow Offshored project's performance outcomes, routinely performing CMM/CMMI practices \rightarrow Offshored project's performance outcomes. Beyond these tests, testing other relationships using the same variables is possible and meaningful and these other relationships are described in section 7.4 Future Research. The set of relationships was restricted based on the structure of the research hypotheses and the interests of the investigators.

The second limitation related to research design was that only a limited number of CMM/CMMI models were tested: (1) CMMI for Development/Services, (2) CMM for Acquisition, (3) People-CMM and (4) TSP.

This research focused on companies that applied one of the four CMM/CMMI models and could not conduct additional analysis for companies that adopted multiple CMM/CMMI models because that would (1) reduce the robustness of the claims one could make on the current analyses and (2) deviates from a pure application of the scientific method. As mentioned before, testing other relationships using the same variables is possible and meaningful. These other relationships are described in section.

The third limitation related to research design was that this research was limited to CMM/CMMI quality standard models. Of the total responses received (n=451), 19% applied CMMI-DEV/SVC and 18% applied CMM-ACQ. 18% of the companies did not adopt any quality standard models. 10% of the companies adopted TSP and PMBOK, and

9% adopted ISO-9000-3. Other models applied (2%): Agile, Lean Agile, ITIL, ISO-9001-2008 and their own methods (internal systems, in-home methods, home-grown, homemade, home-grown standards) as illustrated in Figure 46. Besides this limitation, testing other relationships such as applying ISO-9003 model \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues, applying PMBOK \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues, ISO-9000 \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues is possible and meaningful. These other relationships are described in section 7.4 Future Work. The set of relationships was restricted based on the structure of the research hypotheses and the interests of the investigators.

A fourth limitation is the resulting non-significance of People-CMM maturity level achieved \rightarrow IT offshoring issues, People-CMM maturity level achieved \rightarrow offshored project's performance outcomes and sample size concerns. In the study, four CMM/CMMI models were selected and respondents were surveyed about these models. The results of analysis were surprising where People-CMM maturity level achieved were not found to be a significant part of the research model. A lack of significance was somewhat expected since the People-CMM is mainly adopted by human resource training departments. However, sample size is a limitation of this study. It may be possible that with a larger sample size, the People-CMM maturity level achieved may have a larger significance in the model.

7.4 Future research

Further research is recommended in multiple areas. First, it would be interesting to expand the testing relationships beyond CMM/CMMI quality standards models. As

discussed in the limitations section 7.3 and as shown in Figure 46, respondents reported adopting other quality standards models such as ISO-9000 and ISO-9003 and PMBOK. Testing relationships between adopting these models and IT offshoring issues will be a good future research.

For future research, it will be interesting to test companies that adopted more than one CMM/CMMI model such as CMMI-DEV/SVC + CMMI-ACQ, CMMI-DEV/SVC \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues, TSP + CMMI-DEV/SVC + P-CMM \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues, CMMI-DEV/SVC + CMMI-ACQ + TSP + People-CMM \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues, CMMI-ACQ and TSP \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues. Examples of future research testing relationships are provided in Table 79.

Table 79: Future Research Relationship Tests

Test	Testing relationships between adopting multiple CMM/CMMI models and IT					
	offshoring issues					
1.	CMMI-DEV/SVC + CMMI-ACQ + P-CMM + TSP \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues					
2.	CMMI-DEV/SVC + CMMI-ACQ \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues					
3.	CMMI-DEV + P-CMMI → IT Offshoring issues					
4.	CMMI-DEV + TSP \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues					
5.	CMMI-ACQ + CMMI-DEV/SVC → IT Offshoring issues					
6.	CMMI-ACQ + P-CMM \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues					
7.	CMMI-ACQ + TSP \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues					
8.	P-CMM + CMMI-DEV/SVC → IT Offshoring issues					
9.	P-CMM + CMMI-ACQ \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues					
10.	P-CMM + TSP \rightarrow IT Offshoring issues					

In this research, statistical significance was used in hypotheses testing. For future research, it will be interesting to expand statistical significance methodology to practical significance and effect size (ES). Statistical significance focuses on whether a research result is due to chance or sampling variability while practical significance seeks to assess whether the result is useful in the real world (Kirk, 1996).

Effect Size (ES) is an index that quantifies the degree to which the study results should be considered negligible or important regardless of the sample size. The ES has two major differences over statistical significance testing: (a) it is independent of size of the sample and (b) it is a scale-free index. Therefore, ES can be viewed in different studies regardless of the sample size, the original scales of variables (Kirk, 1996, Trusty et al., 2004).

Because of the two important differences of the effect size (independent of sample size and scale-free characteristic), some professional research journals recently began to recommend, and some require, that the authors report the effect size outcomes in their submitted empirical articles (Hojat and Xu, 2004).

Additionally, the researcher noticed that multiple companies applied home-made methodologies or home-grown standards. These companies reported fewer issues regarding Time-Zone differences and Supplier Political and Security issues. It would be interesting to conduct qualitative research with these companies to learn about their practices that could mitigate these issues. Bibliography

- 2006. SCAMPI Upgrade Team, Appraisal Requirements for CMMI, Version 1.2 (ARC, V1.2). Pittsburgh, PA: Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie, Mellon.
- 2010a. CMMI Product Team, CMMI for Acquisition. *In:* 1.3, V. (ed.). Pittsburgh, PA: Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University.
- 2010b. CMMI Product Team, CMMI for Development, CMMI-DEV, V1.3. Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania: Carnegie Mellon, Software Engineering Institute (SEI).
- 2010c. CMMI Product Team, CMMI for Services, CMMI-SVC, V1.3. Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania: Carnegie Mellon Software Engineering Institute (SEI)
- AAEN, I., ARENT, J., MATHIASSEN, L. & O., N. 2001. A conceptual map of software process improvement *Scandinavian Journal of Information Systems* 13, 8-12.
- ADLER, P., MCGARRY, F., TALBOT, W. & BINNEY, D. 2005. Enabling process discipline: Lessons from the journey to CMM level 5. *MIS Quarterly Executive*, 4, 215-227.
- AGRAWAL, V., FARRELL, D. & REMES, J. 2003. Offshoring and beyond. *Mckinsey Quarterly special Edition*, 4, 24-34.
- AL-SENAIDI, S., LIN, L. & POIROT, J. 2009. Barriers to adopting technology for teaching and learning in Oman. *Computers & Education*, 53, 575-590.
- ALALI, B. & PINTO, A. Project, systems and risk management processes interactions. Portland International Center for Management of Engineering and Technology (PICMET), 2009 Portland, Oregon. August 2-6, 1377-1386.
- ALLEN, M. B. 1993. International students in academic libraries: A user survey. *College & Research Libraries*, 54, 323-333.
- ALLEN, S. & CHANDRASHEKAR, A. 2000. Outsourcing services: The contract is just the beginning. *Business Horizons*, 43, 25-34.
- ALLEN, T. J. 1977. Managing the Flow of Technology, Cambridge, MA, MIT Press.
- AMBERG, M. & WIENER, M. 2005. Lessons learned in IT offshoring. *Proceedings of ISOneWorld and Convention, Enabling Executive IS Competencies*. Las VegasNevada, USA.
- AMITI, M. & WEI, S. 2005. Fear of service outsourcing *Economic Policy*, 20, 308-347.
- APPLEGATE, L. & MONTEALEGRE, R. 1991. Eatern Kodac organization: Managing is through strategic alliances. *Harvard Business School Case*. 9-192-030.
- APRIL, A., HAYES, J. H., ABRAN, A. & DUMKE, R. 2005. Software maintenance maturity model (SMmm): The software maintenance process model. *Journal of Software Maintenance and Evolution: Research and Practice*, 17, 197-223.
- ARMSTRONG, J. & OVERTON, T. 1977. Estimating nonresponse bias in mail surveys. *Journal of marketing research*, 14, 396-402.
- ARON, R., BANDYOPADHYAY, S., JAYANTY, S. & PATHAK, P. 2008. Monitoring process quality in off-shore outsourcing: A model and finding from multi-country survey. *Journal of Operations Management*, 26, 303-321.
- ARON, R. & J.SINGH 2005. Getting offshoring right. *Harvard Business Review*, 83, 135-154.

- ASPRAY, W., MAYADAS, F. & VARDI, M. 2006. Globalization and offshoring of software, a report of the ACM job migration task force. Association for Computing Machinery (ACM).
- ATKINSON, P. 1999. Project management: Cost, time and quality, two best guesses and a phenomenon, its time to accept other success criteria. *International Journal of Project Management*, 17, 337-342.
- AUBERT, B., RIVARD, S. & PATRY, M. 1996. A transaction cost approach to outsourcing behavior: Some empirical evidence. *Information & Management*, 30, 51-64.
- AUBERT, B. A., PATRY, M. & RIVARD, S. 2005. A framework for information technology outsourcing risk management. *The DATA Base for Advances in Information Systems*, 36, 9-28.
- BABAR, M., VERNER, J. & NGUYEN, P. 2007. Establishing and maintaining trust in software outsourcing relationships: An empirical investigation. *The Journal of Systems and Software*, 80, 1438-1449.
- BAGACHI, P. K. & VIRUM, H. 1998. Logistical alliances: Trends and prospects in integrated Europe. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 19, 191-213.
- BAGCHI, P. K. & VIRUM, H. 1998. Logistical alliances: Trends and prospects in integrated europe. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 19, 191-213.
- BAHLI, B. & RIVARD, S. 2005. Validating measures of information technology outsourcing risk factors. *Omega*, 33, 175-187.
- BAKER, M. J. 2006. Editorial. Journal of Customer Behavior, 5, 197-200.
- BALAJI, S. & AHUJA, M. K. Critical team level success factors of offshore outsourced projects: A knowledge integration perspective. Proceedings of the 38th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 2005 Los Alamitos, CA. 52–59.
- BARNES, J., DUNE, P. & W., G. 1997. Self-service and technology. Advances in Services Marketing and Management, By Teresa A. Swartz, David E. Bowen, Dawn Iacobucci. Greenwich: Jai Press.
- BARTHELEMY, J. 2001. The hidden costs of IT outsourcing. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 42, 60-70.
- BATESON, J. E. G. 1979. *Why We Need Services Marketing*, Boston, Division of Research, Graduate School of Business Administration, Harvard University.
- BEAUMONT, N. & SOHAL, A. 2004. Outsourcing in Australia. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 24, 688–700.
- BEHKAMI, N. A. 2012. Examining Health Information Technology Implementations: Case of the Patient-centered Medical Home.
- BENTLEY, W. & DAVIS, P. T. 2010. *Lean Six Sigma Secrets for CIO*, Danvers, MA, CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group.
- BERNROIDER, E. 2002. Factors in SWOT analysis applied to micro, small-to-medium, and large software enterprises: An Austrian study. *European Management Journal*, 20, 562-573.
- BERRY, L. 1980. Services marketing is different. *The Journal of Business (Chicago, Ill.)*, 30, 24-29.

- BERRY, L. L. & PARASURAMAN, A. 1991. *Marketing Services: Competing Through Quality*, New York, Free Press
- BEULEN, E., FENEMA, P. V. & CURRIE, W. 2005. From application outsourcing to infrastructure management: Extending the offshore outsourcing service portfolio. *European Management Journal*, 23, 133-144.
- BEULEN, E. & P., R. 2003. IT outsourcing contracts: Practical implications of the incomplete contract theory. *Proceedings of the 36th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS'03)*. Hawaii: System Sciences.
- BHALLA, A., SODHI, M. S. & SON, B. 2008. Is more offshoring better? An exploratory study of western companies offshoring IT-enabled services to S.E. Asia *Journal* of Operations Management 26, 322-335.
- BHAT, J. M., GUPTA, M. & MURTHY, S. N. 2006. Overcoming requirements engineering challenges: Lessons from offshore outsourcing. *IEEE Software*, 23, 38-44.
- BIBEROGLU, E. & HADDAD, H. 2002. A survey of industrial experiences with CMM and the teaching of CMM practices. *Journal of Computing Sciences in Colleges*, 18, 143-152.
- BLOEMER, J., BRIJS, T., SWINNEN, G. & VANHOOF, K. 2002. Identifying latently dissatisfied customers and measures for dissatisfaction management. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 20, 27-37.
- BOCK, S. 2008. Supporting offshoring and nearshoring decisions for mass customization manufacturing processes. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 184, 490-508.
- BOEHM., B., ABTS, C., BROWN, A. W., CHULANI, S., CLARK, B. K., HOROWITZ, E., MADACHY, R., REIFER, D. & STEECE, B. 2000. Software Cost Estimation with Cocomo II, New York, Prentice Hall.
- BOWEN, J. 1990. Development of a taxonomy of services to gain strategic marketing insights. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 18, 43-49.
- BROOKS, E. P. 1987. No silver bullet: Essence and accidents of software engineering. *IEEE Computing* 20, 10-19.
- BROWN, J. D. 1996. *Testing in Language Programs*, Upper Saddle River, NJ, Prentice Hall Regents.
- BURMISTROV, I. 2006. A new destination for offshore usability: Russia? *Interactions*, 13, 22-24.
- BUTLER, K. 1995. The economic benefits of software process improvement. *Cross Talk,* July, 14-17.
- CAMPBELL, P. L. 2005. A CobiT Primer. Livermore, California: Sandia National Laboratories.
- CARMAN, J. M. & LANGEARD, E. 1980. Growth strategies for service firms. *Strategic Management Journal*, 1, 7-22.
- CARMEL, E. 1999. *Global Software Teams: Collaborating Across Borders and Time Zones*, Upper Saddle River, NJ, Prentice Hall.
- CARMEL, E. 2006. Building your information systems from the other side of the world: How infosys manages time zone differences. *MIS Quarterly Executive*, 5, 43-53.

- CARMEL, E. 2007. Why 'nearshore' means that distance matters. *Communications of the ACM* 50, 40-46.
- CARMEL, E. & ABBOTT, P. 2006. Configurations of global software development: Offshore versus nearshore. *Proceedings of the 2006 International Workshop on Global Software Development for the Practitioner*. Shanghai, China: ACM.
- CARMEL, E. & AGARWAL, R. 2001. Tactical approaches for alleviating distance in global software development. *IEEE Software*, 18, 22-29.
- CARMEL, E. & AGRAWAL, R. 2002a. The maturation of offshore sourcing of information technology work. *MIS Quarterly Executive*, 20, 65-78.
- CARMEL, E. & AGRAWAL, R. 2002b. The maturation of offshore sourcing of information technology work *MIS Quarterly Executive*, 20, 65-78.
- CARMEL, E. & BEULEN, E. 2005. Governance in Offshore Outsourcing Relationships. Offshore Outsourcing of Information Technology Work, Cambridg, UK., Cambridg University Press.
- CARMEL, E. & TJIA, P. 2005. *Offshoring Information Technology: Sourcing and Outsourcing to a Global Workforce*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- CHANG, S.-I., YEN, D. C., NG, C. S.-P. & CHANG, W.-T. 2012. An analysis of IT/IS outsourcing provider selection for small-and medium-sized enterprises in Taiwan. *Information & Management*, 49, 199-209.
- CHAUDHURY, V. & SABHERWAL, R. 2003. Portfolios of control in outsourced software development projects. *information Systems Research*, 14, 291-314.
- CHESBROUGH, H. & SPOHRER, J. 2006. A research manifesto for services science. *Communications of the ACM*, 49, 35-40.
- CHOUDHURY, V. & SABHERWAL, R. 2003. Portfolios of control in outsourced software development projects. *Information systems Research*, 14, 291-314.
- CHRISSIS, M., KONRAD, M. & SCHRUM, S. 2006. CMMI: Guidelines for Process Integration and Product Improvement, Boston, MA, Pearson Education, Inc. .
- CHRISTIANSEN, H. M. 2007. Meeting the challenge of communication in offshore software development. *Proceedings of the Software Engineering Approaches for Offshore and Outsourced Development Conference*. Zurich, Switzerland: Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg.
- CIO 2002. Outsourcing directions and decisions for 2003: Survey results, expert analysis, point to the hottest market trends. *CIO Custom Publishing*.
- COLOMBO, M. G. 2003. Alliance form: A test of the contractual and competence perspectives. *Strategic Management Journal* 24 1209-1229.
- CONNER, K. P. 1991. A historical comparison of resource-based theory and five school of thought within industrial organization economics: Do we have a new theory of the firm? . *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 17, 121-154.
- COOK, C., HEATH, F. & THOMPSON, R. L. 2000. A meta-analysis of response rates in web-or internet-based surveys. *Educational and psychological measurement*, 60, 821-836.
- COOPER, D. & PAMELA, S. 2008. Business Research Methods, Irwin, McGraw-Hill.
- CORREA, C. M. 1996. Strategies for software exports from developing countries. *World Development*, 24, 171-182.

- CRAMTON, C. D. 2001. The mutual knowledge problem and its consequences for dispersed collaboration. *Organization Science*, 12, 346-371.
- CRAMTON, C. D. & WEBBER, S. 2005. Relationships among geographic dispersion, team processes, and effectiveness in software development work teams. *Journal of Business Research*, 58, 758-765.
- CRESWELL, C., SCHNIERING, C. A. & RAPEE, R. M. 2005. Threat interpretation in anxious children and their mothers: comparison with nonclinical children and the effects of treatment. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 43, 1375-1381.
- CURTIS, B., HEFLEY, W. & MILLER, S. 2001. People Capability Maturity Model (P-CMM). *In:* 2.0, V. (ed.). Pittsburgh, PA: Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University.
- CURTIS, B., HEFLEY, W. & MILLER, S. 2010. People CMM: A Framework for Human Capital Management, New York, Addison-Wesley.
- CURTIS, B., KRASNER, H. & ISCOE, N. 1988. A field study of the software design process for large systems *Communiaitons of the ACM*, 31, 1268-1287.
- CUSUMANO, M., MACCORMACK, A., KEMERER, C. F. & CRANDALL, B. 2003. Software development worldwide: The state of the practice. *IEEE Software*, 20, 28-34.
- DABHOLKAR, P. A. 1994. Technology-based service delivery: a classification scheme for developing marketing strategies. *Advances in Services Marketing and Management*, 3, 241-271.
- DABHOLKAR, P. A. 1997. Technology-based services delivery: A classification scheme for developing marketing strategies. *Advances in Services Marketing and Management, By Teresa David, E. Bowen, and S. Brown.* Greenwich: Jai Press.
- DAHLBERG, T. & NYRHINEN, M. A new instrument to measure the success of IT outsourcing. Proceedings of the 39th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 2006 Los Alamitos, CA, 1-10.
- DAIM, T. 1998. Technology Evaluation and Acquision Strategies and their Implications in the U.S. Electronics Manufacturing Industry. Doctor of Philosophy, Portland State University.
- DARBY, M. R. & KARNI, E. 1973. Free competition and the optimal amount of fraud. *Journal of Law and Economics*, 16, 67-88.
- DAVEY, H. & ALLGOOD, B. 2002. Offshore development, building relationships across international boundaries: A case study. *Information Strategy: The Executive's Journal*, 18, 13-16.
- DAVIS, N. & MULLANEY, J. 2003. The Team Software Process (TSP) in Practice: A Summary of Recent Results. Pittsburgh, PA: Carnegie Mellon, Software Engineering Institute.
- DEDRICK, J., KRAEMER, K. L., DUNKLE, D. & CARMEL, E. 2009. Offshore Software Development: Survey Results. *The University of California, Irvine*.
- DEVLIN, B. & ROEDER, K. 1999. Genomic control for association studies. *Biometrics*, 55, 997-1004.

- DHAR, S. & BALAKRISHNAN, B. 2006. Risks, benefits, and challenges in global IT outsourcing: Perspectives and practices. *Journal of Global Information Management*, 14, 59-89.
- DIBBERN, J., WINKLER, J. & HEINZL, A. 2008. Explaining variations in client extra costs between software projects offshored to India. *MIS Quarterly*, 32, 333-366.
- DILLMAN, D. A. 2000. *Mail and internet surveys: The tailored design method*, Wiley New York.
- DILLMAN, D. A. & BOWKER, D. K. 2001. The web questionnaire challenge to survey methodologists.
- DILLMAN, D. A., SMYTH, J. D. & CHRISTIAN, L. M. 2009. Internet, mail, and mixed-mode surveys: the total design method. Hoboken. NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- DILLMAN, D. A., TORTORA, R. D. & BOWKER, D. Principles for constructing web surveys. 1998.
- DILLON, W. & GOLDSTEIN, M. 1984. Multivariate Analysis, John Wiley and Sons.
- DION, R. 1993. Process improvement and the corporate balance sheet. *IEEE Software*, 10, 28-35.
- DONNELLY, J. H., JR. 1976. Marketing intermediaries in channels of distribution for services. *The Journal of Marketing*, 40, 55-70.
- DUBEY, P. 2003. *The Voyage East: An Executives' Guide to Offshore Outsourcing*, New York, iUniverse.
- DUBIE, D. 2008. Offshore outsourcing not suited for small shops. www.networkworld.com.
- Ebert, C. (2013). Global Software Engineering: Lessons from Industry. In *Global* Software Engineering Workshops (ICGSEW), 2013 IEEE 8th International Conference on (pp. 49-73).
- EBERT, C. 2007. Optimizing supplier management in global software engineering. Internaltional Conference of Global Software Engineering (ICGSE) Munich, Germany
- EBERT, C., MURTHY, B. K. & JHA, N. N. 2008. Managing risks in global software engineering: Principles and practices *IEEE International Conference on Global Software Engineering*. Bangalore
- EDVARDSSON, B., GUSTAFSSON, A. & ROOS, I. 2005. Service portraits in service research: A critical review. *International Journal of Service Industry Management*, 16, 107-121.
- ELLRAM, L. M., TATE, W. L. & BILLINGTON, C. 2008. Offshore outsourcing of professional services: A transaction cost economics perspective. *Journal of Operations Management*, 26, 148-163.
- ENGARDIO, P. 2006. The future of outsourcing: How it is transforming whole industries and changing the way we work *Business Week*.
- ERBER, G. & SAYED-AHMED, A. 2005. Offshore outsourcing. *Intereconomics*, 40, 100-112.
- ERICKSON, J. M. & RANGANATHAN, C. Project management capabilities: Key to application development offshore outsourcing. Proceedings of the 39th Annual
Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 2006 Los Alamitos, CA. 199–208.

- EVARISTO, J. R., SCUDDER, R., DESOUZA, K. C. & SATO, O. 2004. A dimensional analysis of geographically distributed project teams: A case study. *Journal of Engineering Technology and Management*, 21, 175-189.
- FARAJ, S. & SPROULL, L. 2000. Coordinating expertise in software development teams. *Management Science*, 46.
- FERGUSON, E. 2004a. Impact of offshore outsourcing on CS/IS curricula. *Journal of Computing Sciences in Colleges*, 19, 68-77.
- FERGUSON, E., MCCRACKEN, D., ROBBERT, M. & KUSSMAUL, C. 2004. Offshore Outsourcing: Current Conditions & Diagnosis. Executive Board of the ACM Special Interest Group on Computer Science Education (SIGCSE) Norfolk, Virginia, USA.: ACM.
- FERGUSON, R. B. 2004b. Bringing it home again: Hidden offshoring costs frustrate IT. *e-Week* [Online], 21.
- FIELD, A. 2005. Discovering Statistics Using SPSS, London, Sage Publications.
- FILL, C. & VISSER, E. 2000. The outsourcing delimma: A composite approach to the make or buy decision. *Management Decision*, 38, 43-50.
- FISHER, L. M. 1998. Here comes front office automation. *Strategy & Business*, 13, 53-65.
- FITZGERALD, B. & O'KANE, T. 1999. A longitudinal study of software process improvement. *Software IEEE*, 16, 37-45.
- FITZGERALD, G. & WILLCOCKS, L. 1994. Contracts and partnerships in the outsourcing of IT *15th International Conference on Information Systems*. Vancouver, Canada: ICIS.
- FRANCESCHINI, F., GALETTO, M., PIGNATELLI, A. & VARETTO, M. 2003. Outsourcing: Guidelines for a structured approach. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 10, 246-260.
- GARCIA, S., GRAETTINGER, C. & KOST, K. 2006. Proceedings of the First International Research Workshop for Process Improvement in Small Settings, 2005. Pittsburgh, PA: Carnegie Mellon, Software Engineering Institute.
- GIBSON, D., R. GOLDENSON, D. & KOST, K. 2006. Performance Results of CMMI-Based Process Improvement. Pittsburgh, PA: Carnegie Mellon, Software Engineering Institute.
- GOKHALE, A. A. 2007. Offshore outsourcing: A Delphi study. *Journal of Information Technology Case and Application Research* 9, 6-18.
- GOLD, T. 2004. *Outsourcing Software Development Offshore: Making it Work*, New York, Auerbach Publications.
- GOLDENSON, D. & GIBSON, D. 2003. Demonstrating the Impact and Benefits of CMMI: An Update and Preliminary Results. Pittsburgh, PA: Carnegie Mellon University, Software Engineering Institute.
- GOLDER, A. 2004. Companies unhappy with results in 50% of IT deals. *Supply Management*, 9, 10-10.

- GONZALEZ, R., GASCO, J. & LIOPIS, J. 2005. Information systems outsourcing risks: A study of large firms. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 105, 45-62.
- GOO, J., KISHORE, R., RAO, H. R. & NAM, K. 2009. The role of service level agreements in relational management of information technology outsourcing: An empirical study. *MIS Quarterly*, 33, 1-28.
- GOPAL, A., MUKHOPADHYAY, T. & KRISHNAN, M. 2002a. The role of software processes and communication in offshore software development. *Communications of the ACM*, 45, 193-200.
- GOPAL, A., MUKHOPADHYAY, T. & KRISHNAN, S. 2002b. The role of software processes and communication in offshore software development. *Communications of the ACM*, 45, 193-200.
- GOPAL, A., SIVARAMAKRISHNAN, K., KRISHNAN, M. & MUKHOPADHYAY, T. 2003. Contracts in offshore software development: An empirical analysis. *Management Science*, 49, 1671-1683.
- GOTTSCHALK, P. & SOLLI-SAETHER, H. 2006. Maturity model for IT outsourcing relationships. *Industrial Management & Data systems*, 106, 200-212.
- GRAZIANO, A. & RAULIN, M. 2006. Research Methods, Allyn & Bacon.
- GREAVER-II, M. F. 1999. Strategic Outsourcing: A Structured Approach to Outsourcing Decisions and Initiatives., New York American Management Association.
- GREENE, P., KANG, U., FAHN, S., BRIN, M., MOSKOWITZ, C. & FLASTER, E. 1990. Double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of botulinum toxin injections for the treatment of spasmodic torticollis. *Neurology*, 40, 1213-1213.
- GREENEMEIER, L. 2002. Offshore outsourcing grows to global proportions. Informationweek.com [Online], February 11. Available: <u>http://www.informationweek.com/story/IWK20020207S0011</u> [Accessed February 11/2002, 12:00AM].
- GRIGORIAN, A. 2010. An analysis of the match between supply and demand of business incubator services: the case of IT incubation in Armenia.
- GRONROOS, C. 1994. From marketing mix to relationship marketing : Towards a paradigm shift in marketing. *Management Decision*, 32, 4-20.
- GRONROOS, C. 2007. Service Management and Marketing: Customer Management in Service Competition, Chichester, England, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. .
- GROSSE, C. 2002. Managing communication within virtual intercultural teams. *Business Communication Quarterly*, 65, 22-38.
- GROVER, V., J., M. & TENG, J. 1996. The effect of service quality and partnership on the outsourcing of information systems functions. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 12, 89-116.
- GRÖNROOS, C. 2001. Service Management and Marketing : A Customer Relationship Management Approach, Chichester, West Sussex Wiley.
- GRÖNROOS, C. 2007. In Search of a New Logic for Marketing : Foundations of Contemporary Theory, Chichester, England; Hoboken, NJ, John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

- GUMMESSON, E. 2007. Exit services marketing enter service marketing. *Journal of Customer Behaviour*, 6, 113-141.
- GUMMESSON, E., FISK, R. P., GROVE, S. J. & JOHN, J. 2000. Services Marketing Self-portraits : Introspections, Reflections, and Glimpses from the Experts, Chicago, Ill., American Marketing Association (pp. 109-132).
- GUPTA, S. 2002. Demystifying offshore outsourcing despite the risks, the benefits can be great. *CMA Management*, 76, 36-39.
- GURUNG, A. & PRATER, E. 2006. A research framework for the impact of cultural differences on IT outsourcing. *Journal of Global Information Technology Management*, 9, 24-44.
- HAIR, J., ANDERSON, R., TATHAM, R. & BLACK, W. 1995. *Multivariate Data Analysis*, New Jersey, Prentice Hall.
- HALL, M. 2003. Outsourcing deals fail half the time. Computer World, 37, 10.
- HALVEY, J. K. & MELBY, B. M. 2007. Business Process Outsourcing: Process, Strategies, and Contracts, Wiley.
- HAN, H., LEE, J. & SEO, Y. 2008. Analyzing the impact of a firm's capability on outsourcing success: A process perspective *Information & Management*, 45, 31-42.
- HANNA, R. & DAIM, T. 2007a. Critical success factors in outsourcing: Case of software industry. *Portland International Center for Management of Engineering and Technology (PICMET)*. Portland, Oregon.
- HANNA, R. & DAIM, T. 2007b. Decision making in the service business: A sector comparison of information technology acquisition. *International Journal of Innovation and Technology Management*, 4, 41-58.
- HANNA, R. & DAIM, T. 2009a. Information technology acquisition in the service sector. *International Journal of Services Sciences*, 3, 21-39.
- HANNA, R. & DAIM, T. 2009b. Managing offshore outsourcing in the software industry *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management Journal* 21, 881-897.
- HARTER, D. E., KRISHNAN, M. S. & SLAUGHTER, S. A. 2000. Effects of process maturity on quality, cycle time, and effort in software product development. *Management Science*, 46, 451–466.
- HARTMAN, D. E. & LINDGREN, J. H. 1993. Consumer evaluations of goods and services: Implications for services marketing. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 7, 4 -15.
- HEFLEY, B. & LOESCHE, E. A. 2010. eSourcing Capability Model for Client Organizations (eSCM-CL), Van Haren Publishing.
- HEFLEY, W. & CURTIS, B. 1998. People CMM Based Assessment Method Description. Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania: Carnegie Mellon Software Engineering Institute (SEI)
- HERBSLEB, J. & GRINTER, R. 1999. Splitting the organization and integrating the code: Conway's law revisited. *International Conference on Software Engineering* (*ICSE99*). Los Angeles, CA.

- HERBSLEB, J., PAULISH, D. & BASS, M. 2005a. Global software development at Siemens: Experience from nine projects. *International Conference on Software Engineering* St. Louis, Missouri, U.S.A.: ACM.
- HERBSLEB, J., PAULISH, D. & BASS, M. 2005b. Global software development at Siemens: Experience from nine projects. *International Conference on Software Engineering*. St. Louis, Missouri, U.S.A.: ACM.
- HERBSLEB, J. D. & GOLDENSON, D. R. A system survey of CMM experience and results. Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Software Engineering(ICSE), March 25-30 1996a Berlin, Germany. 323-330.
- HERBSLEB, J. D. & GOLDENSON, D. R. A system survey of CMM experience and results. Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Software Engineering(ICSE), March 25-30 1996b Berlin, Germany. 323-330.
- HERBSLEB, J. D., ZUBROW, D., GOLDENSON, D. R., HAYES, W. & PAULK, M. 1997a. Software quality and the capability maturity model. *Communication of the ACM*, 40, 30-40.
- HERBSLEB, J. D., ZUBROW, D., GOLDENSON, D. R., HAYES, W. & PAULK, M. 1997b. Software quality and the capability maturity model. *Communication of the ACM* 40, 30-40.
- HILL, T. P. 1977. On goods and services. Review of Income & Wealth, 23, 315-338.
- HIRSCHHEIM, R. & LACITY, M. 2000. The myths and realities of information technology insourcing. *Communications of the ACM* 43, 99-107.
- HIRSCHHEIM, R., LOEBBECKE, C. & NEWMAN, M. Offshoring and its implications for the information systems discipline. Proceedings of the 26th International Conference on Information Systems, 2005 Las Vegas, NV. 003–1018.
- HOFFMANN, T. 1996. JP Morgan to save \$50 million via outsourcing pact. *Computer World*, 30, 10.
- HOJAT, M. & XU, G. 2004. A visitor's guide to effect sizes–statistical significance versus practical (clinical) importance of research findings. *Advances in health sciences education*, 9, 241-249.
- HOLM, S. 1979. A simple sequentially rejective multiple test procedure. *Scandinavian journal of statistics*, 65-70.
- HOLMSTRÖM, O., H., FITZGERALD, B. & CONCHUIR, O. 2008. Two-stage offshoring: An investigation of the irish bridge. *MIS Quarterly*, 32, 257–279.
- HONKALA, S., HONKALA, E. & AL-SAHLI, N. 2006. Consumption of sugar products and associated life-and school-satisfaction and self-esteem factors among schoolchildren in Kuwait. *Acta Odontologica*, 64, 79-88.
- HU, Y., MO, X., ZHANG, X., ZENG, Y., DU, J. & XIE, K. 2012. Intelligent Analysis Model for Outsourced Software Project Risk Using Constraint-based Bayesian Network. *Journal of Software (1796217X)*, 7.
- HUBER, R. 1993. How continental bank outsourced its crown jewels. *Harvard Business Review*, 7, 121-129.
- HULLAND, J., CHOW, Y. H. & LAM, S. 1996. Use of causal models in marketing research: A review. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 13, 181-197.

- HUMPHREY, W. 2000a. The Team Software Process (TSP). *Technical report*. Pittsburgh, PA: Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University.
- HUMPHREY, W. 2000b. The Team Software Process (TSP). *Technical report*. Pittsburgh, PA: Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University.
- HUMPHREY, W. 2005a. Why big software projects fail: The 12 key questions. CrossTalk The Journal of Defense Software Engineering, the Software Engineering Institute.
- HUMPHREY, W., DAVIS, N. & MCHALE, J. 2003. Relating the Team Software Process (TSP) to the Capability Maturity Model for Software (SW-CMM). Pittsburgh, PA: Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon.
- HUMPHREY, W., SNYDER, T., WILLIS, R. & R., R. 1991. Software process improvement at Hughes Aircraft. *IEEE Software*, 8, 11–23.
- HUMPHREY, W. S. 2002. Winning With Software: An Executive Strategy. How to Transform Your Software Group into a Competitive Asset, Reading, MA, Addison-Wesley.
- HUMPHREY, W. S. 2005b. Why big software projects fail: The 12 key questions. *The Journal of Defense Software Engineering*, March 25-29.
- HYDER, E. B., HESTON, K. M., PAULK, M. C. & HEFLEY, B. 2009. eSourcing Capability Model for Service Provider (eSCM-SP). *CAPA*, 102, 0203.
- IACOVOU, C. L. & NAKATSU, R. 2008. A risk profile of offshore-outsourced development projects. *Communication of the ACM*, 51, 89-94.
- IBBS, C. W. & KWAK, Y. H. 2000. Assessing project management maturity. *Project Management Journal*, 31, 32–43.
- INSINGA, R. C. & WERLE, M. J. 2000. Linking outsourcing to business strategy. *Academy of Management Executive*, 14, 58-70.
- ISLAM, S. & HOUMB, S. 2011. Towards a framework for offshore outsource software development risk mangement model. *Journal of Software* 6, 38-47.
- IVERSEN, J. H., NIELSEN, P. A. & NØRBJERG, J. 2002. Problem diagnosis in SPI. Improving Software Organizations: From Principles to Practice Boston, MA: Addison Wesley.
- IVES, M. 2005. Identifying the contextual elements of project management within organizations and their impact on project success. *Project Management Journal* 36, 37-50.
- JAHNS, C., HARTMANN, E. & BALS, L. 2007. Offshoring:Dimensions and diffusion of a new business concept. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 12, 218–231.
- JENNEX, M. E. & ADELAKUN, O. A. 2003. Success factors for offshore information system development. *Journal of Information Technology Cases and Application*, 5, 12-31.
- JIANG, J., KLIEN, G., HWANG, H.-G., HUANG, J. & HUNG, S.-Y. 2004. An exploration of the relationship between software development process maturity and project performance *Information & Management*, 41, 279-288.
- JOHANSEN, J. & MATHIASSEN, L. Lessons learned in a national SPI effort. Proceedings of EuroSPI '98, Nov. 16-18 1998 Gothenburg, Sweden. 5-17.

- JOHANSSON, J., KRISHNAMURTHY, C. & SCHLISSBERG, H. 2003. Solving the solution problem. *The McKinsey Quarterly: The Online Journal of McKinsey & Co.* [Online], 3. Available: <u>http://www.levelfive.com.au/~levelfiv/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2009/09/Solving-the-Solutions-Problem.pdf</u> [Accessed Nov. 2007].
- JOHNSON, M. 1997. Outsourcing in Brief, Oxford Oxford Butterworth-Heinemann.
- JOHNSON, R. & WICHERN, D. 1992. *Applied Multivariate Statistical Analysis*, Prentice Hall, Prentice Hall.
- JONES, T. 1995. Managing the behavior of people working in teams: Applying the project management method. *International Journal of Project Management*, 13, 47-53.
- JØRGENSEN, M. 2014. Failure factors of small software projects at a global outsourcing marketplace. *Journal of Systems and Software*, 92, 157-169.
- KAKABADSE, A. & KAKABADSE, N. 2002. Trends in outsourcing: Contrasting USA and Europe. *European Management Journal*, 20, 189-198.
- KATHPALIA, L. S. & RAMAN, R. 2014. THE ROAD AHEAD FOR THE INDIAN IT AND ITES INDUSTRY CONSIDERING ITS SERVICE OFFERINGS, DOMESTIC MARKET AND TECHNOLOGY TRENDS. *Journal of Theoretical* & Applied Information Technology, 60.
- KEHOE, R. 1996. ISO 9000-3.: A Tool for Software Product and Process Improvement. Springer.
- KEININGHAM, T. L., COOIL, B., AKSOY, L., ANDREASSEN, T. W. & WEINER, J. 2007. The value of different customer satisfaction and loyalty metrics in predicting customer retention, recommendation, and share-of-wallet. *Managing Service Quality*, 17, 361-384.
- KENDALL, R., POST, D. E., CARVER, J. C., HENDERSON, D. B. & FISHER, D. A. 2007. A Proposed Taxonomy for Software Development Risks for High-Performance Computing (HPC) Scientific/Engineering Applications. Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania: Software Engineering Institute.
- KERN, T. 1997. The gestalt of an information technology outsourcing relationship: An exploratory analysis. *Proceedings of the Eighteenth International Conference on Information Systems*. Atlanta, Georgia, U.S.A.: Association for Information Systems
- KERN, T. & WILLCOCKS, L. 2000. Exploring information technology outsourcing relationships: Theory and practice. *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 9, 321-350.
- KHAN, N., CURRIE, W. L., WEERAKKODY, V. & DESAI, B. 2003. Evaluating offshore IT outsourcing in India: Supplier and customer scenarios. *Proceedings of the 36th Annual Hawaii International Conference on*. Hawaii: System Sciences.
- KING, W. 2005. Outsourcing becomes more complex. *Information Systems* Management, 22 89-90.
- KING, W. R. 2006. Offshoring decision time is at hand. *Information Systems Management*, 23, 102-103.

- KING, W. R. & TORKZADEH, G. 2008. Information systems offshoring research status and issues. *MIS Quarterly*, 32, 205-225.
- KIRK, R. E. 1996. Practical significance: A concept whose time has come. *Educational* and psychological measurement, 56, 746-759.
- KISHORE, R., SWINARSKI, M. E., JACKSON, E. & RAO, H. R. 2012. A Quality-Distinction Model of IT Capabilities: Conceptualization and Two-Stage Empirical Validation Using CMMi Processes. *Engineering Management, IEEE Transactions on*, 59, 457-469.
- KLIEM, R. 2004. Managing the risks of offshore IT development projects. *EDPACS: The EDP Audit, Control and Security Newsletter website,* 32, 12-20.
- KOH, C., ANG, S. & STRAUB, D. W. 2004. IT outsourcing success: A psychological contract perspective. *Information Systems Research*, 15, 356–373.
- KOTLARSKY, J., FENEMA, P. & WILLCOCKS, L. 2008. Developing a knowledgebased perspective on coordination: The case of global software projects. *Information & Management*, 45, 96-108.
- KOTLER, P. 1997. Marketing Management: Analysis, Planning, Implementation and Control: Color Transparencies, Upper Saddle River, Prentice Hall.
- KOTRLIK, J. W., WILLIAMS, H. A. & JABOR, M. K. 2011. Reporting and Interpreting Effect Size in Quantitative Agricultural Education Research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 52.
- KRAUT, R. & STREETER, L. 1995. Co-ordination in software development. *Communication of the ACM*, 38, 69-81.
- KRISHNA, S., SAHAY, S. & WALSHAM, G. 2004. Managing cross-cultural issues in global software outsourcing. *Communications of ACM*, 47, 62-66.
- KRONAWITTER, K., WENTZEL, C. & PAPADAKI, M. IT Application Outsourcing in Europe: Long-Term Outcomes, Success Factors and Implications for ITO Maturity. 2013. IEEE, 4456-4465.
- KRONAWITTER, K., WENTZEL, C. & PAPADAKI, M. IT Application Outsourcing in Europe: Long-Term Outcomes, Success Factors and Implications for ITO Maturity. 2013 2013. IEEE, 4456-4465.
- LACITY, M. & ROTTMAN, J. W. 2008. Offshore Outsourcing of IT Work: Client and Supplier Perspectives (Technology, Work and Globalization), New York Palgrave Macmillan.
- LACITY, M., WILLCOCKS, L. & ROTTMAN, J. W. 2008. Global outsourcing of back office service: Lessons, trends, and enduring challenges. *Strategic Outsourcing: An International Journal*, 1, 13-34.
- LACITY, M. C. & HIRSCHHEIM, R. 1993a. The information systems outsourcing bandwagon. *Sloan Management Review* 35, 73-86.
- LACITY, M. C. & HIRSCHHEIM, R. A. 1993b. Information systems outsourcing: Myths, metaphors, and realities, New York, NY, USA, John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- LACITY, M. C., LP WILLCOCKS, L. P. & FEENY, D. F. 1996. The value of selective IT sourcing. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 37, 13-25.

- LACITY, M. C. & WILLCOCKS, L. 2001. *Global Information technology outsourcing: In search of business advantage*, Global Information technology outsourcing: In search of business advantage, John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- LACITY, M. C. & WILLCOCKS, L. P. 1995. Interpreting information technology sourcing decisions from a transaction cost perspective: Findings and critique. *Accounting, Management and Information Technologies*, 5, 203-244.
- LACITY, M. C. & WILLCOCKS, L. P. 1998. An empirical investigation of information technology sourcing practices: Lessons from experience. *MIS Quarterly*, 22, 363-408.
- LAPLANTE, P. A., COSTELLO, T., SINGH, P., BINDIGANAVILE, S. & LANDON, M. 2004. Who, what, why, where, and when of IT outsourcing. *IT Professional* 6, 19-23.
- LASSER, S. & HEISS, M. 2005. Collaboration maturity and the offshoring cost barrier: The tradeoff between flexibility in team composition and cross-site communication effort in geographically distributed development projects *IEEE International Professional Communication Conference IPCC*. Limerick, Ireland.
- LAWRENCE, P. & KARR, J. 1996. Technology spending and alliances: New highs in financial services firms. *Journal of Retail Banking Services*, 17, 45-52.
- LEE, J. N., MIRANDA, S. M. & KIM, Y. M. 2004. IT outsourcing strategies: Universalistic, contingency, and configurational explanations of success. *Information Systems Research*, 15, 110–131.
- LEIBLEIN, M. J., REUER, J. J. & DALSACE, F. 2002. Do make or buy decisions matter? The influence of organizational governance on technological performance. *Strategic Management Journal*, 23, 817-833.
- LEVINA, N. & ROSS, J. 2003. From the vendor's perspective: Exploring the value proposition in information technology outsourcing *MIS Quarterly*, 27, 331-364.
- LEVITT, T. 1981. Marketing intangible products and product intangibles. *Harvard Business Review*, 81, 94-102.
- LEVITT, T. 1985. *Marketing Success Through Differentiation- Of Anything*, Boston, Mass., Graduate School of Business Administration, Harvard University.
- LOH, L. & VENKATRAMAN, N. 1992. Diffusion of Information Technology Outsourcing : Influence Sources and The Kodak Effect, Cambridge, Mass., Center for Information Systems Research, Sloan School of Management, Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- LONDE, B. L. 2004. Rising to the offshoring challenge-Part 2. Supply Chain Management Review, 8, 9-10.
- LONSDALE, C. & COX, A. 1998. *Outsourcing: A Business Guide to Risk Management Tools and Techniques*, London, London Earsgate Press.
- LOVELOCK, C. H. 1981. Why Marketing Management Needs to be Different for Services, Chicago, Marketing Science International
- LOVELOCK, C. H. 1991. Services Marketing, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., Prentice Hall.
- LOVELOCK, C. H. & WIRTZ, J. 2004. *Services Marketing: People, Technology, Strategy*, Upper Saddle River, N.J., Pearson/Prentice Hall.

- LUTTEROTH, C., LUXTON-REILLY, A., DOBBIE, G. & HAMER, J. A maturity model for computing education. ACE '07 Proceedings of the Ninth Australasian Conference on Computing Education 2007 Darlinghurst, Australia.
- MAJUMDAR, S., SIMONS, K. & NAG, A. 2011. Bodyshopping versus offshoring among indian software and information technology. *Information Technology and management*, 12, 17-34.
- MCFARLAN, F. W. & NOLAN, R. L. 1995. How to manage an IT outsourcing alliance. *Sloan Management Review*, 36, 9-23.
- MCHALE, J. 2003. The case for using TSP with CMM/CMMI Carnegie Mellon, Software Engineering Institute.
- MCIVOR, R. 2000. A practical framework for understanding the outsourcing process. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 5, 22-36.
- MEJIA, J., GARCIA, A. & MUÑOZ, M. A. 2013. TSPi to Manage Software Projects in Outsourcing Environments. *Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*. Springer.
- METTERS, R. 2007. A typology of offshoring and outsourcing in electronically transmitted services. *Journal of Operations Management*, 26, 198-211.
- MEUTER, M., OSTROM, A., ROUNDTREE, R. & BITNER, M. 2000. Self-service technologies: Understanding Customer satisfaction with technology-based service encounters. *Journal of Marketing*, 64, 50-64.
- MEYER, B. 2006. The unspoken revolution in software engineering *Computer* 39, 121-123.
- MICHELL, V. & FITZGERALD, G. 1997. The IT outsourcing market-place: Vendors and their selection. *Journal of Information technology*, 12, 223-237.
- MIOZZO, M. & SOETE, L. 2001. Internationalization of services: A technological perspective. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 67, 159-185.
- MIRANI, R. 2006. Client-vendor relationships in offshore applications development: An evolutionary framework. *Information Resources Management Journal*, 19, 72–86.
- MOE, N. B., ŠMITE, D., HANSSEN, G. K. & BARNEY, H. 2013. From offshore outsourcing to insourcing and partnerships: four failed outsourcing attempts. *Empirical Software Engineering*, 1-34.
- MOHR, M. & RUSSEL, S. North American product classification system: Concepts and process of identifying service products. Proceedings of the 17th Annual Meeting of the Voorburg Group on Service Statistics, 2002 Nantes, France.
- MOHTASHAMI, M., MARLOWE, T., KIROVA, V. & DEEK, F. P. 2006. Risk management for collaborative software development. *Information Systems Management*, 23, 20-30.
- MOMME, J. 2002. Framework for outsourcing manufacturing: Strategic and operational implications. *Computers in Industry*, 49, 59-75.
- MOMME, J. & HVOLBY, H.-H. 2002. An outsourcing framework: Action research in the heavy industry sector. *European Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management*, 8, 185-196.

- MUHAMMAD ALI, B., JUNE, M. V. & PHONG THANH, N. 2007. Establishing and maintaining trust in software outsourcing relationships: An empirical investigation. *Journal of Systems and Software*, 80, 1438-1449.
- NA, K., SIMPSON, J. T., LI, X., SINGH, T. & KIM, K. 2007. Software development risk and project performance measurement: Evidence in Korea. *The Journal of Systems and Software*, 80, 596-605.
- NAHAR, N., KAKOLA, T. & HUDA, N. Software production in developing and emerging countries through international outsourcing. Proceedings of the Information and Communication Technologies and Development: New Opportunities Perspectives & Challenges, 7th International Working Conference of IFIP WG 9.4, S., 2002 Bangalore, India Indian Institute of Management Bangalore, 292-310.
- NICHOLSON, B. & SAHAY, S. 2001. Some political and cultural issues in the globalization of software development: Case experience from Britain and India. *Information and Organization*, 11, 25-43.
- NICHOLSON, B. & SUNDEEP, S. 2004. Embedded knowledge and offshore software development. *Information and Organization*, 14, 329-365.
- NIEDERMAN, F. 2004. IT employment prospects in 2004: A mixed bag. *Computer*, 37, 69-77.
- NIESSINK, F. & VLIET, H. V. 2000. Software maintenance from a service perspective. Journal of Software Maintenance and Evolution: Research and Practice, 12, 103-120.
- NIOSI, J. & TSCHANG, T. 2009. The strategies of Chines and Indian software multinationals: Implications for internationalization theory. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 18, 269-294.
- NORMANN, R. & RAMIREZ, R. 1993. From value chain to value constellation: Designing interactive Strategy. *Harvard Business Review*, 71, 65-77.
- NÖHREN, M. & HEINZL, A. 2012. Measuring the Relative Efficiency of Global Delivery Models in IT Outsourcing. *The Dynamics of Global Sourcing. Perspectives and Practices.* Springer.
- OLSON, T. 2008. Using Baldrige performace criteria to strengthen CMMI measurable results. *INDIA CMMI Conference*. Lean Solution Institute, INC. (LSI).
- ONKVISIT, S. 1991. Is services marketing 'Really' different? *Journal of Professional Services Marketing*, 7, 3-17.
- ORLIKOWSKI, W. J. 2002. Knowing in practice: Enacting a collective capability in distributed organizing. *Organization Science*, 13, 249-273.
- OSHRI, I., KOTLARSKY, J. & WILLCOCKS, L. P. 2008. Managing dispersed expertise in IT offshore outsourcing, lessons from Tata consultancy services. *MIS Quarterly Executive*, 6, 53-65.
- OVERBY, S. 2003. The hidden costs of offshore outsourcing. *CIO-FRAMINGHAM MA-* 16.22 (2003): 60-66.
- OZA, N. V., HALL, T., RAINER, A. & GREY, S. 2006. Trust in software outsourcing relationships: An empirical investigation of Indian software companies. *Information and Software Technology*, 48, 345-354.

- PAI, A. K. & BASU, S. 2007. Offshore technology outsourcing: Overview of management and legal issues. *Business Process Management Journal*, 13, 21-46.
- PALLANT, J. 2010. SPSS Survival Manual: A Step by Step Guide to Data Analysis Using SPSS, Open University Press.
- PALVIA, P. 1995. A dialectic view of information systems outsourcing: Pros and cons. Journal of Information Processing and Management, 38, 265-267.
- PARHI, P., KARLSON, A. K. & BEDERSON, B. B. Target size study for one-handed thumb use on small touchscreen devices. In *Proceedings of the 8th Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services*. ACM, 2006.
- PARKER, R. A. & REA, L. M. 1997. Designing and conducting survey research: a comprehensive guide. John Wiley & Sons.
- PATANE, J. R. & JURISON, J. 1994. Is global outsourcing diminishing the prospects for American programmers? *Journal of Systems Management*, 45, 6-11.
- PAULISH, D. & PICHLER, R. 2004. Agile practices for global software development. *Cutter Consortium, Executive Update,* 5, 1-6.
- PAULK, M. C., CURTIS, B., CHRISSIS, M. B. & WEBER, C. V. 1993. Capability Maturity Model, CMM for Software, Version 1.1. Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania: Software Engineering Institute (SEI), Carnegie Mellon University
- PERRY, D. E., SIM, S. E. & EASTERBROOK, S. M. Case studies for software engineers. Proceedings of the 26th International Conference on Software Engineering (ICSE) 2004. 736-738.
- PERSSE, J., R. 2006. Process Improvement Essentials: CMMI, Six Sigma, and ISO 9001 Sebastopol, CA, O'Reilly Media.
- PFANNENSTEIN, L. L. & TSAI, R. J. 2004. Offshore outsourcing: Current and future effects on American IT industry. *Information Systems Management*, 22, 72-80.
- PFEFFER, J. 1992. Understanding power in organizations. *California Management Review*, 34, 29-51.
- PHILIPS, M. 2011. CMMI for Acquisition (CMMI-ACQ) Primer, Version 1.3. Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania: Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University.
- POKSINSKA, B., DAHLGAARD, J. J. & ANTONI, M. 2002. The state of ISO 9000 certification: a study of Swedish organizations. *The TQM Magazine*, 14, 297-306.
- PRIKLADNICKI, R. & AUDY, J. Comparing offshore outsourcing and the internal offshoring of software development: A qualitative study. Americas Conference on Information Systems (AMCIS), 6 - 9 August 2009 San Francisco, California.
- PRIKLADNICKI, R., AUDY, J., DAMIAN, D. & OLIVEIRA, T. 2007. Distributed software development: practices and challenges in different business strategies of offshoring and onshoring. *International Conference on Global Software Engineering (ICGSE)*. Munich, Germany
- PRIKLADNICKI, R., AUDY, J. & EVARISTO, R. 2003. Global software development in practice lessons learned. *Software Process Improvement and Practice* 8, 267-281.
- PRIKLADNICKI, R., AUDY, J. L. N. & EVARISTO, R. An empirical study on global software development: Offshore insourcing of IT projects. Proceedings of the

International Workshop on Global Software Development, International Conference on Software Engineering (ICSE 2004), 24 May 2004 Edinburgh, Scotland, UK, . 53-58.

- PRIKLADNICKI, R., AUDY, J. L. N. & EVARISTO, R. A reference model for global software development: Findings from a case study. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Global Software Engineering (ICGSE'06), October 2006 Florianopolis 18-28.
- QU, Z. & BROCKLEHURST, M. 2003. What will it take for China to become a competitive force in offshore outsourcing? An analysis of the role of transaction costs in supplier selection. *Journal of Information Technology*, 18, 53-67.
- RADA, J. 1987. Information technology and services. *The Emerging Service Economy, Giarini*. Oxford [Oxfordshire]; New York: Pergamon Press.
- RAFFO, D. & SETAMANIT, S. 2005. A simulation model for global software development project. *The International Workshop on Software Process Simulation and Modeling*. St. Louis, MO.
- RAMANUJAN, S. & JANE, S. 2006. A legal perspective on outsourcing and offshoring. Journal of American Academy of Business, 8, 51-58.
- RAMASUBBU, N., KRISHNAN, M. S. & KOMPALLI, P. 2005. Leveraging global resourcers: A process maturity framework for managing distributed development. *IEEE Software*, 22, 80-86.
- RAO, M. T. 2004. Key issues for global IT sourcing: Country and individual factors. *Information Systems Management*, 21, 16-21.
- RATHMELL, J. M. 1966. What is meant by services? *The Journal of Marketing*, 30, 32-36.
- RATHMELL, J. M. 1974. *Marketing in the Service Sector*, Cambridge, Mass., Winthrop Publishers.
- RAYPORT, J. F. & SVIOKLA, J. 1995. Exploiting the virtual value chain. *Harvard Business Review*, 73, 14-24.
- RAYPORT, J. F. & SVIOKLA, J. J. 1994. Managing in the marketspace. *Harvard Business, Review*, 72, 2-11.
- REGAN, W. J. 1963. The service revolution. The Journal of Marketing, 27, 57-62.
- REISS, G. 1995. Project Management Demystified: Today's Tools and Techniques, London, Spon.

REYNOLDS, R., WOODS, R. & BAKER, J. D. 2006. Handbook of Research on Electronic Surveys and Measurements, Hershey, PA, USA, Idea Group Inc. .

- RIBBENS, S., DEWULF, J., KOENEN, F., MINTIENS, K., DE SADELEER, L., DE KRUIF, A. & MAES, D. 2008. A survey on biosecurity and management practices in Belgian pig herds. *Preventive veterinary medicine*, 83, 228-241.
- RICE, W. R. 1989. Analyzing tables of statistical tests. Evolution, 43, 223-225.
- RIVARD, S. & AUBERT, B. 2007. *Information Technology Outsourcing* New York, M.E. Sharpe.
- ROBINSON, M. & KALAKOTA, R. 2004. Offshore Outsourcing: Business Models, ROI And Best Practices, Alpharetta, GA, USA, Mivar Press, Inc. .

- ROMER, P. M. 1986. Increasing returns and long-run growth. *The Journal of Political Economy*, 94, 1002-1037.
- ROPPONEN, J. & LYYTINEN, K. 2000. Components of software development risk: How to address them? A project manager survey. *Software Engineering, IEEE Transactions on*, 26, 98-112.
- ROSCOE, J. T. & BYARS, J. A. 1971. An investigation of the restraints with respect to sample size commonly imposed on the use of the chi-square statistic. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 66, 755-759.
- ROTHENBERGER, M. A., KAO, Y.-C. & VAN WASSENHOVE, L. N. 2010. Total quality in software development: An empirical study of quality drivers and benefits in Indian software projects. *Information & management*, 47, 372-379.
- ROTTMAN, J. W. & LACITY, M. 2006. Proven practices for effectively offshoring IT work. *Sloan Management Review*, 47, 56-63.
- ROTTMAN, J. W. & LACITY, M. 2008. A US client's learning from outsourcing IT work offshore. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 10, 259-275.
- ROURKE, L. & ANDERSON, T. 2004. Validity in quantitative content analysis Educational Technology Research and Development, 52, 1042-1629.
- SADLOWSKI, M. 1998. Worldwide services: Market definitions. *SVCS-EU-GU-9801* Dataquest, research report,.
- SAKTHIVEL, S. 2005. Virtual workgroups in offshore systems development. Information and Software Technology, 47, 305-318.
- SAKTHIVEL, S. 2007. Managing risk in offshore systems development. *Communications of the ACM*, 50, 69-75.
- SALANT, P. & DILLMAN, D. A. 1994. *How to Conduct Your Own Survey*, New York, John Wiley & Sons.
- SALLÉ, M. 2004. IT Service Management and IT Governance: Review, comparative analysis and their impact on utility computing. Palo Alto, CA: Hewlett-Packard Company.
- SAWYER, S. 2004. Software development teams: Considering three software development team archetypes and their implications. *Communications of the ACM*, 47, 95-99.
- SCHLESINGER, L. A. & HESKETT, J. L. 1991. The service driven company. *Harvard Business Review*, 69, 71-81.
- SCHONLAU, M., FRICKER, R. & ELLIOTT, M. 2002. Conducting Research Surveys via E-mail and the Web, California, RAND Distribution Services.
- SCHUMACHER, J., JAMRA, R. A., BECKER, T., OHLRAUN, S., KLOPP, N., BINDER, E. B., SCHULZE, T. G., DESCHNER, M., SCHMÄL, C. & HÖFELS, S. 2005. Evidence for a relationship between genetic variants at the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) locus and major depression. *Biological psychiatry*, 58, 307-314.
- SCHWALBE, K. 2010. Information Technology Project Managment Boston, MA, Cengage Learning, Inc.

- SENGUPTA, B., CHANDRA, S. & SINHA, V. A research agenda for distributed software development. Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Software engineering May 20-28 1006 Shanghai, China ACM New York.
- SENGUPTA, B., CHANDRA, S. & SINHA, V. A research agenda for distributed software development. Proceedings of the 28th International Conference on Software Engineering, May 20-28 2006a Shanghai, China. ACM New York.
- SENGUPTA, B., CHANDRA, S. & SINHA, V. A research agenda for distributed software development. Proceedings of the 28th International Conference on Software Engineering May 20-28 2006b Shanghai, China ACM New York.
- SETAMANIT, S., WAKELAND, W. & RAFFO, D. Planning and improving global software development process using simulation. Proceedings of the 2006 International Workshop on Global Software Development for the Practitioner (GSD '06), 2006 New York, USA. ACM, 8-14.
- SETAMANIT, S., WAKELAND, W. & RAFFO, D. 2007. Using simulation to evaluate global software development task allocation strategies. *Software Process: Improvement and Practice*, 12, 491-503.
- SHARMA, R., APOORVA, S., MADIREDDY, V. & JAIN, V. 2008. Best practices for communication between client and vendor in IT outsourcing projects. *Journal of Information Technology, and Organizations*, 3, 61-93.
- SHOSTACK, G. L. 1977. Breaking free from product marketing. *The Journal of Marketing*, 41, 73-80.
- SIMÕES, C. & MONTONI, M. 2014. Applying statistical process control in small sized evolutionary projects: Results and lessons learned in the implementation of CMMI-DEV maturity level 5 in synapsis Brazil. *Journal of Software Engineering Research and Development*, 2, 2.
- SMITH, H. A. & MCKEEN, J. D. 2004. Developments in practice XIV: IT outsourcing how far can you go? *Communication of the AIS*, 14, 508-520.
- SOETE, L. 1987. The newly emerging information technology sector. *Technical Change* and Full Employment By Freeman, C. and Soete, L. . Oxford, UK; New York, NY, USA: B. Blackwell.
- SOKMEN, N. Turkisk software producing ICT companies approaches in establishment of their subcontractor selection and management processes. Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology (PICMET) 2009 Proceedings August 2-6 2009 Portland,Oregon.
- SOLOMON, M. R., SURPRENANT, C., CZEPIEL, J. & GUTMAN, E. 1985. A Role theory perspective on dyadic interactions: The service encounter. *Journal of Marketing*, 49, 99-111.
- STEINER, G. 1969. Top Management Planning, New York, Macmillan.
- STRATMAN, J. K. 2008. Facilitating offshoring with enterprise technologies: Reducing operational friction in the governance and production of services. *Journal of Operations Management*, 26, 275-287.
- SUDRAJAT, I. 2008. Supply chain integration practices in the US electronics industry, Portland State University.
- SUE, V. & RITTER, L. 2007. Conducting Online Surveys, California, Sage Publication.

- SUTHERLAND, J., JAKOBSEN, C. & JOHNSON, K. Scrum and CMMI level 5: The magic potion for code warriors. Proceedings of the 41st Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, Jan. 7-10 2008 Waikoloa, HI
- SWARTZ, T. A., BOWEN, D. E. & BROWN, S. W. 1992. Fifteen years after breaking free: Services then, now and beyond. Advances in Services Marketing and Management, 1992, 1, 1-21.
- TAFTI, M. 2005. Risk factors associated with offshore IT outsourcing. *Industrial* Management & Data Systems, 105, 549-560.
- TIWANA, A. 2004. Beyond the black box: Knowledge overlaps in software outsourcing. *IEEE Software*, 21, 51-58.
- TRENT, R. J. & MONCZKA, R. M. 2005. Achieving excellence in global sourcing. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 47, 24-32.
- TROUTEAUD, A. R. 2004. How You Ask Counts A Test of Internet-Related Components of Response Rates to a Web-Based Survey. Social Science Computer Review, 22, 385-392.
- TRUSTY, J., THOMPSON, B. & PETROCELLI, J. V. 2004. Practical guide for reporting effect size in quantitative research in the Journal of Counseling & Development. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 82, 107-110.
- TUCKER, T. R. 2011. Supply Chain Orientation: Refining a Nascent Construct.
- VAKASLAHTI, P. 1998. Process improvement frameworks a small case study with people capability maturity model. *Software Process Improvement and Practice*, 3, 225-234.
- VARGO, S. & LUSCH, R. 2004. The four service marketing myths: Remnants of a good-based, manufacturing model. *Journal of Service Research*, 6, 324-335.
- VENKATRAMAN, N. 1997. Beyond outsourcing: Managing IT resources as a value center. *Sloan Management Review*, 38, 51-64.
- VIJAYAN, J. 2004. Offshore outsourcing poses privacy perils. *Computer World*, 38, 10-14.
- VIVATANAVORASIN, C., PROMPOON, N. & SURARERKS, A. 2006. A process model design and tool development for supplier agreement management of CMMI: Capability level 2. XIII Asia Pacific Software Engineering Conference (APSEC'06). Bangalore, India: IEEE Computer Society.
- VOGEL, D. & CONNOLLY, J. 2005. Best practices for dealing with offshore software development. *Handbook of Business Strategy*. Westwood, MA: Intertech Engineering Associates, Inc.
- VON WANGENHEIM, C. G., SILVA, D. A. D., BUGLIONE, L., SCHEIDT, R. & PRIKLADNICKI, R. 2010. Best practice fusion of CMMI-DEV v1. 2 (PP, PMC, SAM) and PMBOK 2008. *Information and software technology*, 52, 749-757.
- WANG, E. T. G. 2002. Transaction attributes and software outsourcing success: An empirical investigation of transaction cost theory. *Information Systems Journal*, 12, 153–181.
- WEBSTER, M., ALDER, C. & MUHLEMANN, A. P. 1999. Subcontracting within the supply chain for electronic assembly maufacture. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 17, 827-841.

- WESTNER, M. & STRAHRINGER, S. 2010. The current state of IS offshoring in Germany: Project characteristics and success patterns. *Journal of Information Technology Management*, 21, 49-70.
- WIDMALM, S. E., GUNN, S. M., CHRISTIANSEN, R. L. & HAWLEY, L. M. 1995. Association between CMD signs and symptoms, oral parafunctions, race and sex, in 4–6-year-old African-American and Caucasian children. *Journal of oral rehabilitation*, 22, 95-100.
- WILKIN, D. & SMITH, A. G. 1987. Variation in general practitioners' referral rates to consultants. *The Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners*, 37, 350.
- WILLCOCKS, L., FEENY, D. & OLSON, N. 2006. Implementing core IS capabilities: Feeny-Willcocks IT governance and management framework revisited. *European Management Journal*, 24, 28-37.
- WILLCOCKS, L. P. & KERN, T. 1998. IT outsourcing as strategic partnering: The case of the UK inland revenue. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 7, 29-45.
- WILLCOCKS, L. P. & LACITY, M. C. 1999. IT outsourcing in insurance services: Risk, creative contracting and business advantage. *Information Systems Journal*, 9, 163-180.
- WILLIAMS, T. 1995. A classified bibliography of recent research relationg to project risk management. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 85, 18-38.
- WILLIAMSON, O. E. 1985. *The Economic Institutions of Capitalism*, Macmillan, New York, Free Press.
- WIND, Y. & RANGASWAMY, A. 2000. *Customerization: The Next Revolution in Mass Customization,* Cambridge, MA, Marketing Science Institute.
- WOLAK, R., KALAFATIS, S. & HARRIS, P. 1998. An investigation into four characteristics of services. *Journal of Empirical Generalisations in Marketing Science*, 3, 22 43.
- WYCKHAM, R. G. 1975. Marketing of services: An evaluation of the theory. *European Journal of Marketing*, 9, 59-67.
- WÜLLENWEBER, K., D BEIMBORN, D. & WEITZEL, T. 2008. The impact of process standardization on business process outsourcing success. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 10, 211–224.
- YALAHO, A. 2006. A conceptual model of ICT-supported unified process of international outsourcing of software production. 10th IEEE International Enterprise Distributed Object Computing Conference Workshops (EDOCW'06). Hong Kong, China: IEEE Computer Society.
- YALAHO, A., N. NAHAR, KAKOLA, T. & WU, C. 2005. A conceptual process framework for IT-supported international outsourcing of software production. *The IEEE International Workshop on Bunisness Services Networks (BSN)*. Hong Kong: IEEE.
- YALAHO, A. & NAHAR, N. Risk management in offshore outsourcing of software production using the ICT-supported unified process model: A cross-case study. Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering & Technology (PICMET) 2008. 1721-1748.

- YALAHO, A. & NAHAR, N. 2009. The ICT—supported unified process model of offshore outsourcing of software production: Exploratory examination and validation. *International Journal of Innovation and Technology Management*, 6, 59-96.
- YALAHO, A. & WU, C. 2002. A conceptual framework for IT-supported international outsourcing of software production. Jyvaskyla Department of Computer Science and Information Systems. Jyvaskyla University of Jyvaskyla: 186.
- YALAHO, A., WU, C., NAHAR, N. & KAKOLA, T. IT supported international outsourcing of software production: An explorative case study. Mehdi Khosrow-Pour, D.B.A. (Ed.) Proceedings of the 14th Information Resources Management Association International Conference, June 2004 New Orleans, US. 844-852.
- YANG, D.-H., KIM, S., NAM, C. & MIN, J.-W. 2007. Developing a decision model for business process outsourcing. *Computers & Operations Research*, 34, 3769-3778.
- ZEITHAML, V. 1981. *How Consumer Evaluation Process Differ Between Goods and Services,* Chicago, American Marketing Association, .
- ZEITHAML, V. A., PARASURAMAN, A. & BERRY, L. L. 1985. Problems and strategies in services marketing. *The Journal of Marketing*, 49, 33-46.
- ZIKMUND, W. 1999. Business Research Methods, Dryden, Harcourt.
- ZUBROW, D. Current trends in adoption of the CMMI® Product Suite. *Computer* Software and Applications Conference, 2003. Proceedings. 27th Annual International. IEEE, 126-129.

	UNIVERSITY
To Start the Survey	Please click <u>NEXT >></u> at the bottom of this page.
Informed Conser	Form
You are being contacted	or your knowledge and expertise in the IT and software development industry. We would like to invite you
respond to a survey abo	"Managing issues through the lifecycle of IT service off-shoring projects ".
We are asking experts to	o are working in the IT service and software development companies that off-shores part or all of its projec
to a country outside the	nited States. Your feedback to this survey is very important and will help further the understanding of the
most appropriate standa	Is and best practices used to manage and mitigate issues throughout the life cycle of implemented off-shor
projects in the IT service	and software development industry from a client firms' managerial perspective.
You will be asked to cor	vlete a short questionnaire about issues and practices in your offshored IT and software projects. The
questionnaire consists of	10 questions and will take approximately 10 minutes.
Prize drawing: To than	respondents for their participation, we are offering \$100 Amazon gift cards to three randomly selected
participants who answe	d all the questions in the survey. The winner may choose to donate this amount to the charity of their choi
If you choose, you can	ter the drawing by keying in your e-mail address at the end of the survey.
Risks are minimal for in	Ivement in this study. The survey instrument has been approved by a rigorous and federally compliant
Internal Review Board a	Portland State University. No identification data is collected (unless you voluntarily provide it in order to get
additional feedback), ar	will not be reported. All data will remain confidential with the research team.
All data obtained from p	ticipants will be kept confidential and will only be reported in an aggregate format (by reporting only combin
results and never report	g individual ones). All questionnaires will be concealed. No one other than the primary investigator and
assistant researchers w	have access to them. The data collected will be stored until it has been deleted by the primary investigator
Participation in this rese	ch study is completely voluntary. You have the right to withdraw at anytime or refuse to participate entirely
you desire to withdraw,	ease close your internet browser. This work is being done in partial fulfillment for a doctoral degree at Portl
State University. If you I	ve questions regarding this study, you many contract Rosine Hanna at rosine@pdx.edu. If you have conce
or problems about your	articipation in this study or your rights as a research subject, please contact the Human Subjects Research
Review Committee, Offi	of Research and Sponsored Projects, Research and Strategic Partnerships, Market Center Building Suite
620, 1600 SW 4th Ave.	vortland Oregon 97207 USA, (503) 725-4288/ 1-877-480-4400.
	Survey Completion

reporting.	n/company name	s will be solely	y used for statis	tical purposes a	nd to track re	sponses and never for
1. Organizat (*optional)	ion/Company					
2. State (*re	quired)					
3. Approxim employees (ate number of *required)]		
 Yes No 5. Your Fu 	nctional Area: (*	required)				
 Yes No Your Fu Offshore is Chief Executiv Officer 	nctional Area: (* s contracting proj e Project Manager	required) jects out to c Information Systems Manager	ountries outsic Software Engineering Manager	le the US or ov Engineering Manager	vning subsidi Customer Interface Manager	aries outside the US Other (Please indicate
 Yes No Your Fu Offshore is Chief Executive Officer 	nctional Area: (* s contracting pro e Project Manager	required) jects out to c Information Systems Manager	ountries outsic Software Engineering Manager	le the US or ov Engineering Manager	vning subsidi Customer Interface Manager	aries outside the US Other (Please indicat
 Yes No Your Fu Offshore is Chief Executiv Officer Generative Approxir years 	nctional Area: (* s contracting proj Project Manager nate number of IT	required) jects out to c Information Systems Manager	ountries outsic Software Engineering Manager In company off	le the US or ov Engineering Manager Shored in the p	vning subsidi Customer Interface Manager	aries outside the US Other (Please indicat
 Yes No Your Fu Offshore in Chief Executive Officer G. Approxing years 1-5 	nctional Area: (* s contracting proj Project Manager nate number of IT	required) jects out to c Information Systems Manager	ountries outsic Software Engineering Manager In company off- 16-25	le the US or ov Engineering Manager Shored in the p	vning subsidi Customer Interface Manager Manager	aries outside the US Other (Please indicat

Section 2: Research Questions

Question 1 of 10

The table below lists issues that may challenge a company's ability to implement IT off-shoring for service and software development. For each indicate the <u>frequency</u> with which your company faced that issue while implementing your IT off-shoring in the past 2 years.

 Supplier company (Subcontractor) is the company or party that supplies IT process or software development services based on a contract or agreement. Supplier company (Subcontractor) could also be a subsidiary that is located outside the US.

	Always	Almost Always	Occasionally	Rarely	Never
Over expenditure due to hidden costs	0	ø	Ø	Ø	ø
Poor execution plan specifically timing and type of work transferred to the supplier	0	0	O	Θ	0
Difference in interpretation of project requirements between your company and your supplier	ø	©	Ø	©	0
Poorly developed and documented requirements by your company	0	0	0	0	0
Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by the your company	Ø	©	©	ø	ø
Lack of a full communication plan between your company and the supplier	0	O	0	0	0
Communication and coordination problems between your company and the supplier	Ø	0	©	0	0
Language barriers between your company and the supplier	0	0	0	0	0
Time-zone differences between your company and the supplier	0	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø
Cultural differences between your company and the supplier	0	0	O	0	0
Incomplete and unclear contract	0	0	Ø	0	Ø
Contract renegotiation and termination	0	0	O	0	0
Difference in project management practices between your company and the supplier	ø	0	©	0	ø
Unable to measure the performance of the supplier	0	\odot	0	0	0
Supplier technical/security and political issues	0	0	Ø	0	Ø
Insufficient previous experience of the supplier	0	0	Ø	0	0
Lack of supplier standardized working methods	0	0	Ø	0	0

Question 2 of 10

Please indicate the extent to which the overall off-shored IT projects' deliverables were received on time in the past 2 years. (Please chose the one that best fits your overall experience with the off-shored IT projects).

	Earlier than planned time	On time	About 20% more than planned time	50% more than planned time	Double or more of the planned time
Projects Time/ Schedule	0	0	©	0	0

0% 100%

>> Question 3 of 10 Please indicate the extent to which the overall off-shored IT projects' deliverables were received on <u>cost/budget</u> in the past 2 years. (Please chose the option that best fits your overall experience with the off-shored IT projects). Less than estimated budget More than 10% of estimated budget More than 20% of estimated budget More than 50% of estimated budget On budget as estimated Projects Cost/Budget 0 0 0 0 0 0% 100%

>>

projocio redenomo	Very Good	Good	Adequate	Poor	Bad
ject's Quality	0	0	Ø	0	0
	0%	-	100%		
					_
Capability Maturity organizations improv project, a division, or	Model Integration (CI ve their performance. C r an entire organization	MMI) is a proc MMI can be u	ess improvement a sed to guide proce	approach that h ss improvemen	elps It across a
Capability Maturity organizations improv project, a division, or Yes	Model Integration (CI re their performance. C r an entire organization	MMI) is a proc MMI can be u	ess improvement a sed to guide proce	approach that h ss improvemen	elps t across a
Capability Maturity organizations improv project, a division, or Yes No	Model Integration (CI ve their performance. C r an entire organization	MMI) is a proc MMI can be u	ess improvement a sed to guide proce	approach that h ss improvemen	elps t across a
Capability Maturity organizations improv project, a division, or Yes No	Model Integration (CI ve their performance. C r an entire organization	MMI) is a proc MMI can be u	ess improvement a sed to guide proce	approach that h	elps t across a
Capability Maturity organizations improv project, a division, or Yes No Question 5.1 of 10 Please indicate the <u>r</u> for Services (SVC)	Model Integration (CI re their performance. C r an entire organization	MMI) is a proc MMI can be u npany achieve	ess improvement a sed to guide proce	approach that h ss improvemen <u>velopment (DE</u>	elps t across a V) / CMMI
Capability Maturity organizations improv project, a division, or Yes No Question 5.1 of 10 Please indicate the <u>r</u> for <u>Services (SVC)</u> Maturity Level 1	Model Integration (CI re their performance. C r an entire organization <u>naturity level</u> your cor	MMI) is a proc MMI can be u npany achieve	ess improvement a sed to guide proce	approach that h iss improvemen velopment (DE	elps t across a <u>V) / CMMI</u>
Capability Maturity organizations improv project, a division, or Yes No Question 5.1 of 10 Please indicate the <u>r</u> for Services (SVC) Maturity Level 1 Maturity Level 2	Model Integration (CI re their performance. C r an entire organization	MMI) is a proc MMI can be us	ess improvement a sed to guide proce	approach that h ss improvemen velopment (DE	elps t across a <u>V) / CMMI</u>
Capability Maturity organizations improv project, a division, or Yes No Question 5.1 of 10 Please indicate the <u>r</u> for Services (SVC) Maturity Level 1 Maturity Level 2 Maturity Level 3	Model Integration (CI re their performance. C an entire organization	MMI) is a proc MMI can be u	ess improvement a sed to guide proce	approach that h ss improvemen velopment (DE	elps t across a <u>V) / CMMI</u>
Capability Maturity organizations improv project, a division, or Yes No Question 5.1 of 10 Please indicate the <u>r</u> for Services (SVC) Maturity Level 1 Maturity Level 2 Maturity Level 3 Maturity Level 4	Model Integration (CI re their performance. C r an entire organization	MMI) is a proc MMI can be u	ess improvement a sed to guide proce	approach that h iss improvemen velopment (DE	elps t across a <u>V) / CMMI</u>

Not Answered

Que Doe mpl	estion 6 of 10 as your company apply <u>Capability Maturity Model Integration CMMI for Acquisition</u> when lementing <u>off-shoring.</u> IT service and software development?	
5.1	Yes	-
5.1	No	
ues lea	stion 6.1 of 10 ase indicate the <u>maturity level</u> your company achieved in <u>CMMI Acquisition</u>	
	Maturity Level 1	
2.1	Maturity Level 2	
2	Maturity Level 3	
	Maturity Level 4	
2	Maturity Level 5	
5	CMMI for Acquisition applied but no maturity level number was determined	
5 1	Not Answered	
	D% 100%	
Que	vestion 7.1 of 10 ease indicate the maturity level your company achieved in People Capability Maturity Model	
0	Maturity Level 1	
0	Maturity Level 2	
0	Maturity Level 3	
0	Maturity Level 4	
0	Maturity Level 5	
0	People Capability Maturity Model applied but no maturity level number was determined	
0	Not Answered	
	0% 100%	
		>>
Qu Do and	uestion 8 of 10 ses your company apply <u>Team Software Process (TSP)</u> when implementing <u>off-shoring</u> IT service d software development?	
0	Yes	
0	No	
	752 47752	
	0%	

	ISO-9000			
1	ISO-9000-3			
(C)	eSCM-CL			
	eSCM-SP			
171	Project Management Body of	Knowledge (PMBOK)		
n	Others (please specify)			
	Not Answered			
		av.	1002	

Question 10 of 10 Please indicate the <u>frequency</u> your company performs routinely each of the following "<u>industry</u> <u>standards" practices</u> when off-shoring IT projects.

	Always	Frequently	Occasionally	Rarely	Never
Establishes and maintains a project plan as the basis for managing the project	0	ø	Ø	ø	Ø
Establishes and maintains the overall project plan	0	0	O	0	0
Estimates the project's effort and cost for work products (parts of the product, services, processes, specifications) and tasks based on estimation rationale	0	0	0	Ø	Ø
Establishes and maintains the project's budget, schedule, milestones, constraints and dependencies	0		O	0	0
Monitors off-shoring supplier project progress and performance (effort and cost) as defined in the contract	Ø	Ø	ø	O	O
Manages invoices submitted by the supplier	0	0	0	0	0
Develops an understanding with off-shoring supplier on the meaning of requirements	0	O	O	O	O
Validates requirements to ensure that the resulting product performs as intended in the end user's environment	0	0	O	0	0
Obtains commitment to requirements from project participants	Ø	ø	Ø	ø	O
Manages changes to requirements as they evolve during the project.	0	0	0	0	0
Ensures that project plans and work products (parts of the product, services, processes, specifications) remain aligned with requirements	ø	O	0	O	Ø
Customer Interface Manager leads the team in estimating and documenting the impact of every change in requirement and works with the Configuration Control Board (CCB) to get approval for changes to those requirements	0	O	0	0	0
Representatives of your company project's software engineering group work with representatives of the supplier engineering groups to monitor and coordinate technical activities and resolve technical issues	0	Ø	ø	6	0
Selects team roles, including the role of Supplier Interface Manager, who is the liaison between the team and the supplier company representative, and is responsible for requirements change management	0	0	0	0	0

Communicates quality issues and ensures the resolution of noncompliance issues with the staff and managers	©	Ø	ø	©	©
Establishes and maintains a documented policy for conducting its Communication and Coordination activities	0	O	0	O	\odot
Establishes and maintains quantitative objectives to address quality and process performance, based on customer needs and business objectives.	0	Ø	ø	0	ø
Manages the project using statistical and other quantitative techniques to determine whether or not the project's objectives for quality and process performance will be satisfied.	0	0	0	0	0
Performs root cause analysis of selected issues to address deficiencies in achieving the project's quality and process performance objectives.	0	0	0	0	0
Manages corrective actions to closure when the project's performance or results deviate significantly from the plan	0	\odot	O	0	0
Periodically reviews the project's progress, performance and issues experienced	©	0	0	ø	0
Reviews the project's accomplishments and results at selected project milestones	0	\odot	\odot	0	0
Establishes and maintains records of quality assurance activities	O	0	0	O	©
Monitors the actual project performance and progress against the project plan	0	\odot	\odot	0	0
Ensures that the supplier agreement is satisfied before accepting the acquired product	©	0	0	0	•
Establishes and maintains the off-shoring strategy	0	0	0	O	0
Establishes and maintains the plan for performing the off-shoring	Ø	0	0	O	©
Determines the type of acquisition for each product or product component to be off-shored	0	\odot	\odot	0	0
Plan transition to operations specifically timing and type of work transferred to the supplier	©	0	0	0	0
Collects and translates stakeholder needs, expectations, constraints and interfaces into customer requirements	O	ø	Ø	Ø	Ø
Maintains bidirectional traceability among requirements and work products	0	Ø	O	O	Θ
Establishes and manages the coordination and collaboration between the project and relevant stakeholders	0	0	0	0	0
Project's team members track actual results and performance against plans on a weekly basis. And project's team members track progress against individual plans on a daily basis.	0	0	Ο	0	0
Develop a documented plan to be used to communicate inter-group commitments and to coordinate and track the work performed	Ø	Ø	0	Ø	Ø
Managers are responsible for the coordination on their project teams	0	0	0	O	O
Communication and coordination practices are institutionalized to ensure they are performed as managed (formally defined) process	Ø	Ø	0	Ø	Ø
Ensures that the workforce has the skills to share information and coordinate their activities efficiently	O	O	0	O	0
Establishes a culture for openly sharing information and concerns across organizational levels as well as among team members	0	0	\odot	0	0
Establishes project teams as well as their responsibilities, authorities and interrelationships	O	Ø	Ø	O	0
Establishes and maintains open and effective project teams' communication and coordination plan	Ø	0	O	\odot	0
Managers are responsible to track and resolve inter-group issues	\odot	0	\odot	\odot	\odot
Maintains effective work-groups, interpersonal problems are addressed quickly and meetings are managed to ensure that work- group time is used most effectively	O	0	©	0	0
Establishes and maintains a mutual understanding of the contract with selected suppliers and end users based on acquisition needs and the suppliers' proposed approaches	0	0	0	0	0
Requirements are refined and elaborated into contractual requirements	0	0	0	0	ø
Establishes and maintains a formal contract management plan	0	0	Ø	O	0
Establishes and maintains contractual requirements	O	ø	ø	O	0
Selects supplier technical solutions to be analyzed and analysis methods to be used	0	0	O	Ø	0
Conducts technical reviews with the supplier as defined in the supplier agreement	ø	Ø	0	0	Ø

•	0	0	٢	0
0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0
0	0		0	
0	ø	0	Ø	0
0		0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0
0	O		0	0
100%				
	0			0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Appendix B: Service Characteristics

Based on the literature Table appendix B provides many considerations associated with service characteristics of intangibility, heterogeneity, inseparability, and perishability (IHIP).

Service Characteristics	Considerations
Intangibility	 Several studies suggest that intangibility cannot be used to differentiate evidently between all products and services because the intangible-tangible concept is hard for people to grasp. Especially in cases where an item contains mix of tangible and intangible qualities, it is difficult to classify it in terms of product or service such as "Restaurant Meal" (Bowen, 1990, Onkvisit, 1991, Wyckham, 1975, Wolak et al., 1998). Based on the assumption that intangibles can rarely be tried out, inspected, or tested before purchasing. Actually, almost all tangible goods can't be reliably tested or experienced beforehand like computers, dishwashers, frozen pizza, shampoo, detergents or even canned sardines. Therefore, most testable, feel-able, smell-able goods (tangibles) are, just promises, before they are purchased (Levitt, 1981). Most services processes involve some goods which imply that services have a tangible characteristic (Vargo and Lusch, 2004). Several studies have noted that by intangibility criteria there are no pure services or goods. Their argument is based on the observation that basically all goods have a service element, whereas fundamentally all services have some form of tangible representation (Shostack, 1977, Swartz et al., 1992). All products have elements of tangibility and intangibility (Levitt, 1981, Levitt, 1985). Several researchers argued that goods have little value in and of themselves – for example what is marketed in automobile is not "steel and chrome" (tangible) but the intangible benefits such as transportation, status, comfort and power (Shostack, 1977, Gronroos, 1994, Kotler, 1997, Normann and Ramirez, 1993, Schlesinger and Heskett, 1991)
Inseparability of Production and Customer Consumer and producer must interact simultaneously for the service to be received (Vargo and Lusch, 2004).	 The ability to alter and customize goods to the customers' demands and preferences means that many goods also have that inseparability characteristic (Levitt, 1981). The customer is also involved in the evolution of many tangible goods (e.g., automobile, houses, and personal computers). The customer's participation in customizing the good to meet his/her needs suggests that goods also have the inseparability characteristic (Darby and Karni, 1973, Hartman and Lindgren, 1993). Lovelock called inseparability "a dangerous oversimplification" and argued that many offerings that are typically classified as services, such as financial, entertainment, and information technology services, are partially, if not fully, "produced" separate from the consumer (Lovelock and Wirtz, 2004). Dell and others (computer manufacturers) use direct connections with their customers through the enhanced technologies to bring customers virtually inside their business so they can meet their customers' needs faster and more efficiently than anybody else (Vargo and Lusch, 2004). Levis's individualized deign of denim jeans, Cannondale's customized bicycles, and Acumin's individualized vitamin formulation (Wind and Rangaswamy, 2000). Most IT-based services don't require face-to-face interaction with seller such as half of the all retail banking transactions are currently accomplished without the help of a bank employee (Lawrence and Karr, 1996). Another examples are automated airline ticketing, hotel reservations and rooms checkout, self-scanning at retail stores, home shopping using the internet, student can register for university courses and collect their grades online and some schools provide online classes where students and teacher interact virtually on the internet

Table A-B	-1• I	ist of	the	considerations	associated	with	the	service	charac	teristics
I auto A-D.	-1. L	JSt OI	unc	constactations	associated	with	unc	SUIVICE	charac	luistics

	(Dabholkar, 1997, Dabholkar, 1994). Federal Express package and tracking and online			
	brokerage services (Meuter et al., 2000).			
	• There are many services that do not require the customer directly such as car repair,			
	dry cleaning, information and financial services, and goods transportation (Edvardssor et al., 2005).			
	• Although services are typically perceived differently from customers that do not			
	automatically mean that there cannot be homogeneous delivery of some services. For example, the homogeneous delivery of a university lectures to all students (Vargo and Lusch, 2004).			
	• Services such as medical procedures, airline transportation, or the provision of information through commercial databases, are as homogeneous as the manufacture of the airplanes, medical instruments, and computers (Vargo and Lusch, 2004).			
	• Service providers such as retail banks offer highly standardized services (Gummesson			
Heterogeneity (Non-	et al., 2000). Lovelock argued that controlled processing services, such as education (mental-stimulus-processing), are often offered homogeneously (Lovelock and Wirtz, 2004).			
standardization)	• Several services are characterized by standardization through IT such as internet-based and telecom services or through machine-intensive service operations such as ATMs (Edvardsson et al., 2005). Credit cards and cash machines provide standardized and firmly controlled services (Gummesson, 2007).			
	• For more than a century, transportation and electricity services has been industrialized (Gummesson, 2007).			
	• Macdonald's and Starbucks represent successful replication of business process as franchise, wherever you go you will have the same taste and same experience (Chesbrough and Spohrer, 2006).			
	 "The claim that services cannot be stored is nonsense. Services are stored in systems, buildings, machine, knowledge, and people" (Gummesson et al., 2000). ETM is a store of homogeneous cash withdrawals (Vargo and Lusch, 2004). 			
	• Customers that participate in some service process acquire knowledge which represents part of the stored service's value (Lovelock and Wirtz, 2004).			
Perishability (Cannot be	• Tangible goods are perishable, several products have limited lives, bananas rot, bread gets old and rotten, and automobiles corrosion and become inoperative (Vargo and Lusch, 2004, Grönroos, 2001, Gummesson, 2007).			
inventoried)	• From a demand point of view, all goods are subject to perishability, try selling 5 years old car, or last generation computer ship, the previous season's cloth it will lose it is perceived value and thus the price will be perished considerably, because consumer needs, tastes, styles, and expectations change over time (Vargo and Lusch, 2004, Gummesson, 2007).			
	• Service companies store service capabilities: a hotel is a "store of rooms", a "hospital is a store of medical knowledge, equipment and procedure" (Grönroos, 2001) (Gummesson, 2007).			

Appendix C: Content Validation

Expert Panel comments on Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4, Q6 and Q10 and the changes applied to Survey questions

Question 1					
	Inte.	Easy	Comments	Changes done and answers	
Exp 3	5	1	Why not look for each of these answers based on 'supplier' and 'client'? What is the role of the company answering this survey, client or the supplier? Maybe it can be either	The focus of this research is on the Client companies	
Exp 7	4	2	Consider explaining very briefly what you mean by "supplier" in this survey.	A brief explanation of supplier and client was provided in the question	
Expt 9	5	3	Issue 1 - who is the "Client" - the text of this issue confused me. Issue 11 - do you mean "early contract termination"? Issue16 – do you mean "insufficient previous experience ."?	 Definition of supplier is added. The word client company was removed from the question and replaced by "your company". Issue 11 changed "Contract termination" to Early Contract Termination" Changed "No Previous experience of the supplier" to "Insufficient previous experience ". 	
Exp 14	4	3	First question is too vague. "No previous experience of the supplier" better worded as "Insufficient previous experience of the supplier". Last question is unclear.	Changed "No previous experience of the supplier" to "Insufficient previous experience of the supplier".	
Exp1 5	4	4	Good list of issues.		
Exp 16	5	4	I like the balance and wording in the five response categories. I'm a little worried about the 'always' and 'never' categories though. Anchoring the intended meaning of the end points can be crucial for getting well-distributed replies. Engineers sometimes can be very literal, in which case the end categories are worded fine. 'Almost always' often can be a better break point from 'very frequently' though. However the 'never' category might be just fine here to distinguish rarity across the items. Nice job overall.	Changed "Very Frequently" to "Almost Always".	
Question 2					
	Intnt	Easy	Comments	Changes	
Expt 3	4	1	Should they answer this question based on all the projects during the last 5 years? Or should they answer it based on the last 2 years projects?	Based on their overall experience with the offshored projects of the past 2 years	

Table A-C-1: Expert Panel Comments and changes applied to the Survey Questions

Expt 4	4	2	Since you are asking about projects over a 5 year period, this question may be difficult to answer. Some projects will be early, some late, some on time. Maybe ask about the overall experience of the projects in the last 2 years etc.	The question asks about the overall experience of the offshored projects "Please indicate the extent to which the overall projects' deliverables were received on time in the past 2 years. (Please choose the one that best fits your overall experience with the off- shored IT projects)."
Expt 7	2	2	Should they answer this question based on all the projects during the last 5 years? Or should they answer it based on the latest project? Please indicate clearly. During the past 5 years they might have had projects that are on time and projects that are very late and even projects that are never finished.	Changed to overall projects in the past 2 years
Expt 15	4	4	Change last selection to something like "Double or more of the planned Time".	Changed to Double or more of the planned time
Expt 16	4	3	 I presume that the response categories are closer to your intent, i.e., the extent to which the projects' deliverables were received on time. I'd drop the reference to satisfaction. The response categories that you're currently using for the single question are discrete, not continuous. So you should ask the respondents to please choose the one that best fits their experience. (Speaking of which it's often useful to include such instructions, in parentheses after the question mark.) 	Please indicate the extent to which the overall projects' deliverables were received on time in the past 2 years. (Please choose the one that best fits your overall experience with the off- shored IT projects)." Dropped the reference to satisfaction.
		-	Question 3	
	Intnt	Easy	Comments	Changes
Expt 3	Intnt 4	Easy 1	Comments same comment as question #2 - maybe ask for an experience of 2 years since it is easier to remember	Changes Changed the question to 2 years of experience instead of 5 years.
Expt 3 Expt 4	Intnt 4 4	Easy 1 2	Comments same comment as question #2 - maybe ask for an experience of 2 years since it is easier to remember I have the same comment as questions #2 - i.e., perhaps asks for an overall experience on 2 years of experience.	Changes Changed the question to 2 years of experience instead of 5 years. The question asks about the overall offshored projects (Please indicate the extent to which the overall off-shored projects' deliverables were received on cost/budget in the past 2 years. (Please chose the option that best fits your overall experience with the off-shored IT projects)).
Expt 3 Expt 4 Expt 7	<u>Intnt</u> 4 4 4 2	Easy 1 2 2	Comments same comment as question #2 - maybe ask for an experience of 2 years since it is easier to remember I have the same comment as questions #2 - i.e., perhaps asks for an overall experience on 2 years of experience. Should they answer this question based on all the projects during the last 5 years? Or should they answer it based on the latest project? Please indicate clearly. During the past 5 years they might have had projects that are on time and projects that are very late and even projects that are never finished.	Changes Changed the question to 2 years of experience instead of 5 years. The question asks about the overall offshored projects (Please indicate the extent to which the overall off-shored projects' deliverables were received on cost/budget in the past 2 years. (Please chose the option that best fits your overall experience with the off-shored IT projects)). the answer should be based on the overall offshored projects and overall experience with offshored projects

Question 4					
	Intnt	Easy	Comments	Changes applied	
Expt	3	3	Would it be better to treat functionality and quality as	will consider quality only for this	
1	5	5	distinct? Intro text only mentions functionality.	question	
Expt	4	2	Mixing functionality and quality makes it difficult to	will focus on quality	
2			Functionality and quality are two different things	will focus on quality only	
Expt	4	1	which make it difficult to answer. May want to put	will focus on quality only	
3			them in two questions		
Expt 4	4	3	This might be better represented as two questions - one on functionality and another on quality. The term functionality might need some description. I assume that you are asking whether the project's requirements were fully satisfied (e.g., service provided as specified) or not. The quality question may be answered somewhat different. For example, perhaps the service was provided as specified, by the quality was poor. If you are only interested in satisfaction, when having the two concepts (functionality & quality) in the same question is probably ok.	Will focus on quality and will describe it as the service was provided as specified in the contract. Project requirements were fully satisfied.	
Expt 5	5	3	As there could be multiple offshore projects, with varying functionality/quality performance, perhaps consider rewording "the level of your" to instead say "your average level of"	Overall project's	
Expt 6	5	2	During the past 5 years they might have had projects that are on quality and projects that are very low quality and even projects that are never finished or no quality. Maybe 2 years is easier to remember.	That is why they will provide their judgment based on their overall experience with the offshored projects in the past 2 years	
Expt 7	2	2	Should they answer this question based on all the projects during the last 5 years? Or should they answer it based on the latest project? Please indicate clearly. It is better to ask the respondents about their overall experience in the past 2 years.	Respondents will provide their judgment based on their overall experience with the offshored projects in the past 2 years	
Expt 11	5	2	Functionality and quality can be different in different areas/phases. Areas of poor functionality and poor quality are likely to be remembered even if they are only a small part of the whole.	Managers will provide their judgment based on their overall experience with the offshored projects in the past 2 years	
Expt 16	4	3	 The average level of satisfaction to the extent to which the projects' deliverables were received on expected quality. The response categories that you're currently using for the single question are discrete, not continuous. So you should ask the respondents to please choose the one that best fits their experience. (Speaking of which it's often useful to include such instructions, in parentheses after the question mark.) I'd replace neither 'Neither Good nor Bad 'with' Adequate, which gets better at the notion of mixed results. 	Please indicate your average level of satisfaction to the extent to which the overall off-shored IT projects' deliverables were received on expected quality in the past 2 years. (Please choose the option that best fits your overall experience with the off-shored IT projects). Option "Neither good nor bad" was changed to "Adequate".	

Question 6						
	Intnt	Easy	Comments	Changes		
Expt 1	1	1	These managers may not be aware of the organization's maturity level, which can vary across organizational units and models.	The focus of the research is to gather information about IT managers that offshore IT projects and if they are part of the CMM/CMMI models and not on the organizational level.		
Expt 2	4	2	Q 6.1 - same comment as Q 5.1. (Q 6.1 ignores possibility of using Capability Levels.)	Added Capability level in the options		
Expt 4	4	3	Same comment as question #5 regarding the term "applies". (The question text that says "applies CMMI" is a little vague. A company may have completed a CMMI appraisal, in which case they can indicate the CMMI maturity level achieved. Or the company may be pursuing a maturity level (i.e., have not completed an appraisal yet) but are targeting a particular maturity level.)	Option added that indicate "CMMI Model(s) applied but no maturity level number was determined"		
Expt 9	4	5	Again, as for the last question, I would suggest changing the wording for the first part to: "Does your company", since you are looking for a yes/no answer.	Text of the question changed to "Does your company apply CMMI."		
Expt 16	4	2	This one is better than the previous question since acquisition is a separate model. Note again though that a single screening question is all that you need if you really do want to distinguish among all of the sundry CMMI models.	Question changed 'Applies' was removed and changed to "Does your company apply CMMI." Within the option the companies will have the chance to give their level, if they are in the processes of appraisal.		
Question 10						
	Intnt	Easy	Comments	Changes Applied		
Expt 1	5	2	It's a long list - some people may lose patience,	Discuss with committee distributing the 58 practices into 4 questionnaires.		
Expt 3	4	1	list is too long for managers to answer - they don't have time	Discuss with committee distributing the 58 practices into 4 questionnaires.		
Expt 4	5	4	Question #7 uses the term "managed process" - probably only companies who are actively using CMMI will know what that means - maybe you could say something like "managed (formally defined) process".	In question 7: Changed managed process to managed (formally defined) process.		

Expt 5	5	2	 General: Each of the 29 items starts with the words "Client company." If you are sending it to the companies in the USA that offshore to outside the USA, would that make them client companies, anyway I would remove these two words and add them to the instruction for the overall question. This then also brings focus to the verb that often follows, which should make evaluating each item easier (and would improve my rating in #32). You might also consider splitting such a long list into two questions. Most of the items have a verb following "Client company" and these items could go into the first question with the remaining items (that have a more irregular structure) into the second question. Fourth item is compound. I'd either split into two items or delete the second item ("team members individual plans daily"), which might make sense as I don't know too many managers who know what their team members do on a daily basis (unless they've adopted the TSP) but perhaps it is important enough to keep and make its own item. Sixth item, consider replacing "across all project teams" with "on their project teams" Seventh item: unless the respondent is CMMI savvy, "managed process" is a heavy termperhaps delete the item as it looks like you have other items covering pieces of "managed process?" 11th item: I think the item becomes ambiguous at the end as to who does the analysis. Perhaps replace "to be analyzed and analysis methods to be used" with "the client company will analyze and the analysis methods to be used." 25th item: I'd reword to say "Client company selects supplier process to monitor and analyze and then monitors and analyzes these" (or similar wording). The problem with the current wording is that it almost sounds as if the client company selects which processes the supplier will use which is not the intent here. 	Removed the word Client company – two questions at the general questions insure that the respondents are working in a company that offshore outside the USA. This insures that they are the client company and thus the word client company could and should be removed. Removed the client company words and brought the focus to the verb(s) that follows. Fourth item: Since the practices mapped on a one-to-one basis with specific CMM/CMMI practices. Will keep this as one item. Sixth item: Changed "across all project teams" to "on their project teams". Seventh item: Changed "managed process" to managed (formally defined) process. 11th item: Establishes and maintains open and effective project teams' communication plan and coordination plan. 18th item: changed to "Selects and analyze supplier technical solutions and analysis methods to be used". 25th item "client company"
Expt 6	4	1	This is too much information. Having in mind project managers just has a few minutes, well I'd quit	
Expt 9	5	4	In previous questions you have asked for details of levels of CMMI adherence. I just wonder does that mean that the respondent, when they get to this question, will feel compelled to tick the "Always" box, if they have a level of CMMI? / / I have checked the "Easy" box because I think the respondent may have a bit of chasing to do to determine if these points happen on all projects.	
Expt 10	5	3	It's a long list - some people may lose patience and focus.	
Expt 11	4	4	Item 28: the term "technical solutions" may not be recognized by non-CMMI users as "designs".	28th item (last one) the word "designs" was added "Evaluates supplier technical solutions (designs) to confirm that contractual requirements continue to be met"

Expt 12	4	3	May want to shorten this list. Looks like too much "cut and paste" from CMMI (not everyone speaks "CMMI" terminology). I would also number this list. The term "Client Company" is also strange. I recommend using two standard terms like "Supplier" and "Organization" (or even "Your Organization"). FYI - "Organization" is a better term than "Company" if you plan to survey government, academia, and non-profits.	Discussed with committee members distributing the 58 practices into 4 questionnaires. They are ok with it. Each questionnaire will have 14 practices and removed the word "client company" and provided the word "your company" in the question stem.
Expt 16	4	1	First of all I'd merge and shorten the two sentences in the 'question', e.g., 'Please indicate the frequency has performed each of the following "industry standard" practices when off-shoring projects.' Notice my use of full quotes around industry standards. 'Institutionalize' is standards-speak too. I'd drop that. Since the task you're asking folks to complete isn't stated as an interrogative question, you could add a second sentence that defines institutionalize without using the term. The list of practices is way too long. You're asking for test fatigue to set in there. You should break up the list into two or three sets of sub question if you're really interested in that level of detail. I'd suggest that you prune the list down though. In fact it was so long that I just skimmed though it without proof-reading the text	Question changed to "Please indicate the frequency your company has performs routinely each of the following "industry standards" practices when off- shoring IT projects." Institutionalize is dropped and replaced with routinely.

Appendix D: Validation of Research Results

Email and Document emailed to expert panel, results were validated in phone calls meetings that took 30-45 minutes.

Hello (Name),

Thank you for your feedback on my survey validation. Your feedback was extremely important to my research as well as to the field of IT service off-shoring and your feedback enhanced the survey instrument.

This research investigated CMM/CMMI best practices and their effect on managing and mitigating critical issues associated with off-shore development. The research focused on:

- 1) Four CMMI/CMM models (MMI-Development/Services, CMMI-Acquisition, People-CMM and Team Software Process (TSP)).
- 2) Seventeen IT Offshoring issues
- 3) Fifty Seven CMMI/CMM best practices
- 4) Three Project performance outcomes (Time/Schedule, Cost/Budget and Expected Quality).

Using a web-based survey, data was collected from Information Technology and software development firms across the United States. The survey population consisted of those who work on offshore IT and software development projects. Quantitative methods were used to test the proposed hypotheses. As promised, I am pleased to share the results of the research with you and it would be most appreciated if you would validate the results.

The research achieved eight results that are listed in the attached document. Please scan the results and, if you agree or disagree, please provide your feedback by replying to this email rosine@pdx.edu or call (503) 679-4998.

Thank you for taking the time to validate the results of this research. Your participation in this research expert panel is very important and greatly appreciated as it adds not only to the completion of my doctoral dissertation but also to the body of knowledge in this growing area of off-shoring IT services.

Best regards,

Rosine

1. Summary

Managing issues through the lifecycle of IT service off-shoring projects

Western countries' information technology and software intensive firms are increasingly producing software and IT services in developing countries. With this swift advancement in off-shoring, there are many issues that can be investigated to enable companies to maximize their benefit from off-shoring. However, significant challenges can happen throughout the lifecycle of off-shoring IT service projects which may turn the potential benefits into losses. This research investigates CMM/CMMI best practices and their effects on managing and mitigating critical issues associated with off-shore development.

Using a web-based survey, data was collected from approximately 430 Information Technology and software development firms in the US. Respondents were invited to participate via email. The survey population consisted of Information Technology and software engineering managers who work on offshore IT and software development projects. Quantitative methods were used to test the proposed hypotheses.

2. The research focused on:

2.1 Four CMM/CMMI models:

- i. CMMI-Development/Services
- ii. CMMI-Acquisition
- iii. People-CMM
- iv. Team Software Process (TSP)

2.2 17 IT Offshoring issues

- 1. Over expenditure or hidden costs incurred by the client
- 2. Difference in interpretation of project requirements between the client and the supplier
- 3. Poorly developed and documented requirements by the client company
- 4. Poor tracking and managing requirement changes by the client company
- 5. Lack of a full communication plan between the client and the supplier
- 6. Communication and coordination problems between the client and the supplier
- 7. Language barriers
- 8. Time-zone differences between the client and the supplier
- 9. Cultural differences between the client and the supplier
- 10. Incomplete and unclear contract
- 11. Early contract renegotiation and termination
- 12. Difference in project management practices between the client and the supplier
- 13. Unable to measure the performance of the supplier
- 14. Supplier technical/security and political issues
- 15. No previous experience of the supplier
- 16. Absence or lack of supplier's standardized working methods
- 17. Poor execution of the plan and timing of the transition to the supplier

2.3 Three Project performance outcomes (1- Time/Schedule, 2- Cost/Budget and 3- Expected Quality)

2.4 57 CMM/CMMI best practices

3. Research Questions:

Q1. What is the impact of client firms adopting CMM/CMMI industry standards on the frequency of issues experienced by client firms when offshoring IT service projects?

Q2: What is the relationship between the CMM/CMMI maturity level achieved and the frequency of issues experienced by client firms when offshoring IT service projects?

Q3: What is the relationship between performing CMM/CMMI industry standards practices and the frequency of issues experienced by client firms when offshoring IT service projects?

Q4: What is the impact of adopting and practicing CMM/CMMI industry standards on the offshored projects' performance outcomes?

4. Hypothesis of the research

H1: There is a relationship between adopting CMM/CMMI Models and the IT offshoring issues.
H2: There is a relationship between the CMM/CMMI maturity level achieved and the IT offshoring issues.
H3: There is a relationship between performing CMM/CMMI practices and the IT offshoring issues.
H4: There is a relationship between adopting and performing CMM/CMMI industrial standards and the offshored project performance outcomes.

5. Findings:

Finding 1: Applying CMM/CMMI models have fewer issues associated with IT offshoring.Finding 2: Achieving higher maturity levels of CMM/CMMI have fewer issues associated with IT offshoring.

Finding 3: Applying CMM/CMMI models and routinely performing industry practices have fewer issues associated with IT offshoring.

- Finding 4: Applying CMM/CMMI models and routinely performing industry practices have better project performance outcomes.
- **Finding 5:** Utilizing and incorporating different practices from TSP and People into CMMI-DEV/SVC and CMMI-ACQ have fewer offshoring issues of language barriers and cultural differences.
- **Finding 6:** Adopting and practicing CMM/CMMI models did not mitigate the offshoring issues of: 1) Time-zone difference between the client company and the supplier company and 2) Supplier security and political issues.

6. Hypothetical Scenarios

To explain the statistical results, eight possible hypothetical scenarios are developed based on the company background and targeted goal. Adopting CMM/CMMI models and performing multiple CMM/CMMI practices may help in mitigating the IT offshoring issues as shown in table 78.
Appendix E: SEI CMMI/CMMI Data Information

÷	۵	0	î	Move to Inbox	Q 7	More *		a a					
Softw	Software Engineering Institute <info@sei.cmu.edu> 10/26/11 😭</info@sei.cmu.edu>											*	¥
HiR	osine,												
The s cente priva infori A cur	SEI receives no er, the SEI is no te property and mation at their rrent list of corr	umerous req bt able to rele I it is kept cor discretion. opanies who	uests from i ase any infi nfidential wi have compl	users to reveal the ide ormation about an ap thin the SEI. An appra eted <u>appraisals</u> aga	entity and/or i praised orga iisal's results iinst the CMN	maturity level of (nization's identit ; are owned by th 11 Model, and pro	irganization y or its matu 1e appraisa wided us wi	ns. As a feder: urity level. The al sponsor; ac ith written auti	ally funded res SEI treats all cordingly, the s horization for th	earch and dev appraisal info sponsor may p nis release of i	velopme rmation publicize informat	ent as e this tion, is	
avail	available on our Web site. (Note: clicking on any company listing will provide more detailed information regarding the appraisal.)												
Sinc Cons	Since written authorization must be received from the sponsor of each appraisal posted, there are companies that are using CMMI that are not on this list. Consequently, this list cannot be perceived as an indicator of all, or an exact count of organizations in the world that are using SEI models or appraisal methods.												
In ter the a	ms of more ge nonymity of the	eneral inform e appraised o	ation regard organization	ling appraisal results s.	, please con	sult the commur	iity <u>maturit</u>	<u>ty profiles</u> . Ti	hese give over	all numbers w	/hile pre	serving	g
Spec	ifically see pa	ge 19 of the f	ollowing do	cument <u>www.sei.cr</u>	mu.edu/cmr	ni/casestudies	/profiles/p	odfs/upload	/2011MarCM	<u>MI.pdf</u> .			
Than	ik you,												
Kara	Quinto												

Figure: A-E-1: Email received from SEI



Published Appraisal Results

	Filter Results					
	Model/Constellation:	CMMI-E	DEV v1.3	•		
	Maturity Level:	Maturity	Level 5	•		
	Year:	2014		•		
	Country	Select (Country	•		
	country.	Analy	iller Class Filler			
		Apply F				
Organization Organizational Unit			Team Leader Sponsor	Appraisal End Date	Model (Representation): Maturity Level	
Advanced Information Services Inc. Software Development			Edward Weller Girish Seshagiri	03/07/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5	^
AKS Software Limited Software Development and Delivery function			Rajarshi Kumar Das Anil Kumar Saxena	03/12/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5	
CenturyLink Technologies India Private Ltd Software Development, Maintenance and Testing p	projects - Bangalore and	Noida	Sankararaman Dhandapani Harsch Bhatnagar	01/24/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5	
China National Software & Service Company, Ltd. General Products R&D Center			Frank Koch Xin Xie xuerong zhao	01/23/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5	E
China Sciences MapUniverse Technology Co., Ltd R&D, Quality, and HR Divisions		Patrick O'Toole Xin Yao	03/20/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5		
CSC Vietnam Ltd. Development, Maintenance and Testing Projects m	anaged from HCM City	Vietnam	Gururaj Managuli Phuong Ngo	01/24/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5	
CVIC SE Business Middleware Co., Ltd Software Research and Development Center			Shane Atkinson jianping cheng	05/06/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5	
CVIC Software Engineering Co. Ltd Software Research and Development Center			Shane Atkinson jianping cheng	04/24/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5	
EPAM Systems KFT Development Projects for the Banking, Business In lines	nformation and Travellin	g business	Jose Luis Iparraguirre Balazs Fejes	03/28/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5	
Fujian Newland Software Engineering CO.,LTD. BOSS Product Dept., CRM Product Dept., BI Prod Dept.,Quality Management Dept., Project Manager	luct Dept., NMS Product ment Dept. and HR Dept		Mary Sakry Jinfa Lin	03/26/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5	
Hangzhou Golden Software System Inc. R&D Department			Kieran Doyle Bin Hu Qisheng Li	01/22/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5	
Heinsohn Business Technology S.A. Software Factory Projects & Products			Louis Poulin Luis Fernando Jaramillo	01/31/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Continuous):Maturity Level 5 CMMI-SVC v1.3(Continuous):Maturity Level 1	
Hewlett-Packard Enterprise Services Applications Services, Global Delivery - India (Ma	maged Development Wo	rk)	Kaliappan Marappa Sumanth Tarigopula	03/28/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5	
HEXAWARE TECHNOLOGIES LTD Development Centers in India and Mexico			Rajiv Nag Venkatramanan Ramachandran	02/26/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5 CMMI-SVC v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5	
HITSS SOLUTIONS S.A. de C.V.			Giuseppe Magnani	02/14/2014	CMMI-DEV v1.3(Staged):Maturity Level 5	•

Figure: A-E-2: SEI website - Published Appraisal Results

Appendix F: Statistical Results

Chi-square test was applied to test all the hypotheses using p=0.05 as the critical significance level:

- H1: The relationship between adopting CMM/CMMI industrial standards and the IT offshoring issues.
- H2: The relationship between CMM/CMMI industrial standards Maturity level achieved and the frequency of issues experienced.
- H3: The relationship between MM/CMMI industrial standards practices and the frequency of issues experienced.
- H4.1: The relationship between adopting CMMM/CMMI industrial standards and the project success factors.
- H4.2: The relationship between CMM/CMMI industrial standards maturity levels achieved and the project success factors.
- H4.3: The relationship between CMM/CMMI industrial standards practices and the project success factors.

Hypothesis 1

Hypothesis 1 tests the relationship between four CMM/CMMI models and the frequency of issues experienced by the client companies. Hypothesis 1.1 tests the relationship between companies that applied only CMMI for Development (DEV)/Services(SVC) and companies that did not apply any quality standard model and the 17 issues of offshoring IT projects; Hypothesis 1.2 tests the relationship between companies that applied only CMMI for Acquisition and companies that did not apply any quality standard model and the 17 issues of offshoring IT projects; Hypothesis 1.3 tests the relationship between companies that used only People CMM and companies that did not apply any quality standard models and the 17 issues of offshoring IT projects; 1.4 tests the relationship between companies that applied only TSP and companies that did not apply any quality standard model and the 17 issues of offshoring IT projects.

Bonferroni's correction was used when multiple comparisons were drawn from a single sample. Hypothesis tests the 17 issues 4 times with 4 industrial standards. Bonferroni correction (adjusted) p-value= 0.05/(17*4) = 0.05/68 = 0.0007352

H1.1 There is a relationship between adopting CMMI development/services and the IT offshoring issue.
H1.2 There is a relationship between adopting CMMI acquisition and the IT offshoring issues.
H1.3 There is a relationship between adopting CMM people and the IT offshoring issues.
H1.4 There is a relationship between adopting CMM TSP and the IT offshoring issues.

Statistical results are available as a PDF supplemental File (8,850KB).